

Evaluation of Acylation Stimulating Protein (ASP) and adipokines in relationship with determinants of obesity and its consequences

Thèse

REZA REZVANI

Doctorat en nutrition

Philosophiæ doctor (Ph.D.)

Québec, Canada

© Reza Rezvani, 2014

Résumé

L'obésité est associée avec plusieurs désordres métaboliques d'envergure dont le diabète, les maladies cardiovasculaires et la stéatose hépatique. De nouvelles études visant le développement des traitements efficaces contre l'obésité et ses complications ont été entreprises afin d'élucider les mécanismes pathophysiologiques par lesquels l'obésité induit ou amplifie ses conséquences négatives. Le tissu adipeux sécrète plusieurs hormones ou adipokines qui sont impliquées dans la régulation du poids corporel ainsi que l'homéostasie métabolique. La protéine stimulant l'acylation (ASP) est une adipokine stimulant la synthèse des triglycérides et leur stockage au niveau du tissu adipeux (et ceci, en agissant à travers son récepteur : le C5L2).

Cette thèse se penche sur diverses populations humaines et évalue les changements au niveau de différentes adipokines, plus particulièrement l'ASP, en lien avec les facteurs déterminants de l'obésité. Cet objectif global s'est concrétisé à travers quatre études : I) L'évaluation des niveaux d'adipokines chez des patients consommant des breuvages édulcorés au glucose ou au fructose afin de déterminer les effets de la composition de la diète sur la fonction du tissu adipeux, II) Une étude transversale évaluant le lien entre l'ASP et les facteurs de risque cardiométabolique dans une population à risque, III) une étude chez des femmes souffrant d'obésité sévère qui ont subi une chirurgie bariatrique, afin de déterminer les associations entre l'expression hépatique des récepteurs liés au facteur du complément C3 avec les niveaux d'hormones sexuelles et d'adipokines postchirurgie, et IV) l'évaluation des niveaux sanguins d'adipokines ainsi que de l'expression du C3 et des récepteurs qui y sont reliés dans les tissus adipeux viscéral vs sous-cutané en lien avec le syndrome métabolique, les hormones sexuelles et le profil métabolique.

Nous avons démontré que l'ASP et son récepteur offraient différentes réponses en fonction du sexe, de la présence d'un désordre métabolique, des niveaux d'hormones sexuelles, de l'organe impliqué ainsi que de la composition de la diète : tous des facteurs déterminants pour l'obésité. En conclusion, ces résultats suggèrent que l'ASP agit comme

médiateur entre les facteurs exogènes et les évènements biologiques menant à l'obésité et ses conséquences métaboliques.

Abstract

Obesity is associated with many major metabolic disorders, especially diabetes, cardiovascular disorders and fatty liver disease. Aimed at developing effective therapies for obesity and its complications, new research has intensified to elucidate the pathophysiological mechanisms by which obesity induces or amplifies its major adverse consequences. Adipose tissue, as an endocrine organ, secretes several hormones termed "adipokines" that are involved in energy homeostasis and weight regulation. Dysfunction of adipokine pathways has been recognized as a key etiological factor of obesity-induced disorders. Acylation stimulating protein (ASP) is an adipokine that stimulates triglyceride synthesis and storage in adipose tissue by enhancing glucose and fatty acid uptake. ASP acts via its receptor C5L2.

This thesis investigates several human populations under varying external and internal conditions and evaluates changes in adipokines, in particular ASP and its related proteins, in association with obesity determinants. This overall aim is achieved through four studies including the following: I) evaluation of adipokines in healthy overweight/obese adults consuming glucose- or fructose-sweetened beverages to determine the effects of diet composition on adipose tissue function II) a cross-sectional population-based study to determine fasting serum ASP and its relationships with cardiometabolic risk factors in a relatively high risk adult population III) a study on severely-obese pre/post-menopausal women, who underwent bariatric surgery, to determine associations of hepatic gene expression of complement C3 related receptors, sex hormones, adipokines and metabolic profiles as well as evaluating obesity improvement after surgery IV) a study on women with a wide age and BMI range to determine plasma adipokine levels and adipose tissue depot gene expression of C3 and related receptors in association with metabolic syndrome criteria, ovarian hormones and metabolic profile.

I found different responses of ASP and its receptor according to gender, metabolic disorder, sex hormone levels, organ involvement and diet composition: all factors critical as

obesity determinants. The results presented here demonstrate that ASP may mediate the link between obesity-related exogenous factors and biologic events that lead to obesity consequences. In conclusion, these findings validate that obesity is a low-grade inflammatory status with multi-organ involvement, evidencing sex differences and dynamic interactions between immune and metabolic response determinants.

Table of contents

Résumé	iii
Abstract	v
Table of contents	vii
List of Tables	xi
List of Figures	xiii
Abbreviations	XV
Dedication	xvii
Acknowledgment	xix
Avant-Propos	xxi
Chapter 1	1
Introduction	1
1.1 General Introduction	1
1.1.1 Energy balance	2
1.1.2 Components of Energy Intake	2
1.1.3 Components of Energy Expenditure	2
1.1.4 Components of storage	3
1.1.5 Body composition	3
1.1.6 Fat storage	4
1.1.7 Regulation of body weight and energy balance	4
1.2 Obesity	6
1.2.1 Epidemiology of obesity	7
1.2.2 Obesity Determinants	9
1.2.2.1 Internal environment factors	9
1.2.2.2 External environment factors	10
1.3 Dietary macronutrients	12
1.3.1 Fat	12
1.3.2 Carbohydrate	13
1.3.3 Glucose vs. Fructose	14
1.3.4 High Fructose consumption	15
1.4 Sex difference in obesity	18
1.4.1 Sex differences in energy metabolism	18
1.4.2 Sex differences in postprandial state	19
1.4.3 Sex differences in body fat distribution	19
1.4.4 Sex differences in cardiometabolic risk	21
1.4.5 Depot-Specific Adipose Tissue Sex Steroids	22
1.5 Sex hormones and obesity in women	23
1.5.1 Estrogen	23

1.5.1.1 Estrogen effects on insulin function and glucose homeostasis	24
1.5.1.2 Estrogen effects on obesity and fat distribution	24
1.5.1.3 Estrogen has anti-inflammatory properties	25
1.5.2 Progesterone	26
1.6 Endocrine function of adipose tissue and adipokines	27
1.6.1 Adipocyte function and metabolic inflammation	28
1.7 Key adipokines in obesity-induced metabolic disorders	30
1.7.1 Leptin	30
1.7.2 Adiponectin	31
1.7.3 Acylation stimulating protein (ASP)	33
1.7.1.1 ASP and lipid metabolism	33
1.7.1.2 ASP and Insulin	34
1.7.1.3 ASP-C5L2 pathway, extension of ASP functions	34
1.8 Obesity and Contribution of inflammation	36
1.8.1 Complement system; links between metabolism and inflammation	37
1.8.2 C5L2-C5aR interaction	39
1.9 Obesity consequences	40
1.9.1 Health consequences of obesity and morbidity	40
1.9. 2 Cardiovascular risk factors and obesity	41
1.9. 3 Metabolic Syndrome	42
1.9. 3.1 Prevalence of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular diseases	44
1.9. 3.2 Pathogenesis of metabolic syndrome	44
1.9. 3.3 Diagnosis of metabolic syndrome: waist circumference challenge	47
1.9.4 Fatty liver	48
1.9. 4.1 Fatty liver and the complement system; confluence of metabolic and	
inflammation	49
1.10 Metabolically Healthy Obese, a controversial issue?	52
1.10.1 Defining "metabolically healthy obesity"	52
1.10.2 Mortality and the metabolically healthy obese	53
1.10.3 Determinants of metabolically healthy obese	54
1.11 Obesity treatment	56
1.11.1 Do we need a gender-specific approach for obesity?	59
1.12 Objectives and hypotheses	61
Chapter 2	63
2.1 Résumé	64
2.2 Abstract	65
2.3 Introduction	66
2.4 Methods	68
2.4.1 Study design	68
2.4.2 Subjects	68
2.4.3 Plasma Assays	69

2.4.4 Statistical analysis	
2.5 Results	
2.6 Discussion	
2.7 Conclusion	
2.8 References	
Chapter 3	
3.1 Résumé	
3.2 Abstract	
3.3 Introduction	
3.4 Methods	
3.4.1 Sample population	
3.4.2 Measurement of risk factors	
3.4.3 Definitions	
3.4.4 Data statistical analysis	
3.5 Results	
3.6 Discussion	
3.7 References	
Chapter 4	
4.1 Résumé	
4.2 Abstract	
4.3 Introduction	
4.4 Methods	
4.4.1 Study subjects	
4.4.2 Study design and criteria for metabolic syndrome	
4.4.3 Clinical and Plasma Measurements	
4.4.4 Adipose tissue Sampling and Analysis:	
4.5 Statistics	
4.6 Results	
4.6.1 Relationship of ASP with sex hormones, anthropometric	values and metabolic
profile	
4.6.2 Comparison of adipokines and sex hormones with metab	olic profiles between
Lean, Overweight, and Obese MHO and MSO groups:	
4.6.3 Association of metabolic syndrome score with adipoking	es and sex hormones 126
4.6.4 mRNA expression of C3 and receptors C5L2, C5aR and	C3aR in adipose tissue
4.7 Discussion	
4.8 References	
Chapter 5	
5.1 Résumé	
5.2 Abstract	
5.3 Introduction	

5.4 Materials and Method	. 143
5.4.1 Ethics Statement	. 143
5.4.2 Study subjects	. 143
5.4.3 Clinical and Plasma Measurements	. 144
5.4.4 Liver Sampling and Analysis	. 145
5.5 Statistics	. 146
5.6 Results	. 147
5.6.1 Relationship of Hormone Status with Gene Expression	. 147
5.6.2 Hepatic Complement Gene Expression and Metabolic Profile	. 150
5.6.3 C5L2/C5aR Ratio and Metabolic Parameters	. 152
5.6.4 Relationship of C5L2/C5aR ratio with bariatric surgery outcome	. 154
5.7 Discussion	. 157
5.8 Conclusion	. 161
5.9 Refrences	. 162
Chapter 6	. 169
Summary and discussion	. 169
6.1 Summary	. 169
6.2 Metabolic syndrome and obesity, current concepts	. 170
6.3 Obesity determinants	. 171
6.3.1 Adipose tissue dysfunction model	. 171
6.3.2 Adipose tissue dysfunction and diet	. 172
6.3.2.1 Leptin	. 173
6.3.2.2 Adiponectin	. 174
6.3.2.3 ASP	. 174
6.3.3 Adipose tissue dysfunction and sex hormones	. 177
6.3.3.1 Distribution of ASP in regional adipose tissue	. 177
6.3.3.2 Influence of ovarian sex hormone on ASP production	. 178
6.3.3.3 Influence of sex hormones in ASP function	. 179
6.4 Adipose tissue dysfunction, ASP and obesity related consequences	. 180
6.4.1 ASP and energy re-partitioning	. 181
6.4.2 ASP and inflammation	. 182
6.4.3 Fatty liver; an example for association of ectopic fat and inflammation	. 183
6.4.4 ASP and cardiometabolic risk factors	. 184
6.5 ASP resistance	. 186
6.6 Bariatric surgery outcome	. 188
6.7 Conclusion	. 189
Bibliography	. 191

List of Tables

WHO classification of BMI	.6
Metabolic syndrome diagnostic criteria	13
Bariatric surgery indications	56
Outcome and covariable concentrations before and after consumption of glucos	se
- sweetenrd beverages	78
Characteristics of the study population according to sex) 7
Spearman correlation coefficients of ASP with certain variables according to	
disorders) 9
Spearman correlation coefficients of ASP with certain variables according to	
)0
Baseline characteristics, anthropometric measurements, and metabolic analysis	,
ants	21
Comparison of Non-Obese, Metabolically Healthy Obese (MHO) and Obese	
polic Syndrome (MSO) groups12	24
Characteristics of pre- and postmenopausal Obese Women14	18
	WHO classification of BMI

List of Figures

Figure 1.1	Energy balance; Components of energy intake and energy expenditure	3
Figure 1.2	Changing intake of fructose and high-fructose corn syrup intake plotted again	inst
the increasi	ng prevalence of obesity	16
Figure 1.3	Cross-sectional abdominal magnetic resonance grey-level images of an obes	se
woman and	an obese man	19
Figure 1.4	Architectural organization and proximity of principal metabolic and immune	e
cells in adip	bose tissue and liver	36
Figure 1.5	Generation of complement products and functions	38
Figure 1.6	Obesity- related complications	40
Figure 1.7	Proposed mechanisms by which visceral obesity could be linked to the	
atherothron	botic-inflammatory abnormalities of insulin resistance	46
Figure 1.8	Biliopancreatic diversion with Duodenal Switch	57
Figure 2.1	Effects of glucose or fructose consumption on fasting and postprandial plasm	na
ASP concer	ntrations	71
Figure 2.2	Effects of metabolic syndrome risk factors (MSRF) and gender on the change	ges
in postprane	dial plasma ASP concentrations in subjects consuming glucose or fructose	73
Figure 2.3	Effects of glucose or fructose consumption on fasting plasma adiponectin	
concentratio	ons in overweight and obese subjects.	75
Figure 2.4	Effects of glucose or fructose consumption on fasting leptin concentrations.	76
Figure 2.5	Effects of glucose or fructose consumption on 24-h leptin profiles	77
Figure 3.1	Geometric mean serum ASP concentrations in women and men without and	
with CHD,	metabolic syndrome, type-2 diabetes and hypertension	98
Figure 4.1	Association of acylation stimulating protein (ASP) with ovarian hormones an	nd
metabolic p	rofile	122
Figure 4.2	Acylation stimulating protein (ASP), adiponectin and ovarian hormone leve	ls
in subjects	based on obesity and metabolic syndrome	125
Figure 4.3	Correlation of circulating progesterone levels with gene expression of C3 and	nd
related rece	ptors in subcutaneous and omental adipose tissue.	127
Figure 4.4	Gene expressions relative to progesterone in Non-obese and Obese subjects.	
-		128
Figure 5.1	Association of liver C5L2 mRNA expression with circulating estrogen level	S.
		149
Figure 5.2	Hepatic mRNA Expression relative to Metabolic Parameters.	151
Figure 5.3	Association of hepatic C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio with menopausal status and	l
metabolic p	rofile	153
Figure 5.4	Metabolic profile after surgery.	155
Figure 5.5	Plasma liver enzyme levels relative to C5L2/C5aR Expression.	156

Abbreviations

AO	Abdominal obesity	
ALT	Alanine transaminase	
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase	
ApoA1/B	Apolipoprotein A1/B	
AKt	Protein kinase B	
ASP	Acylation stimulating protein	
AST	Aspartate transaminase	
AT	Adipose tissue	
BMI	Body weight index	
BPD	Biliopancreatic Diversion	
BW	Body weight	
CHD	Coronary heart disease	
C5L2	C5a-like receptor 2	
CVD	Cardiovascular diseases	
DM	Diabetes Mellitus	
DNL	De novo lipogenesis	
E1	Estrone	
E2	Estradiol	
FSH	Follicular stimulating hormone	
FCH	Familial combine hyperlipidemia	
GGT	Gamma glutamyl transpeptidase	
HDL	High-density lipoprotein	
HFCS	High-fructose corn syrup	
GLU	Glucose	
IL	Interleukin	
IR	Insulin resistance	
KO	Knockout	
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein	
MAb	Monoclonal antibody	
MAC	Membrane attack complex	
MetS	Metabolic syndrome Met S	
MHO	Metabolically healthy obese	
NAFLD	Non alcoholic fatty liver disease	
NEFA	Non-Estrified Fatty Acids	
PAb	Polyclonal antibody	
PCOS	Polycystic ovary syndrome	
RYGB	Roux-en-Y gastric bypass	
SAT	Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue	
SBP	Systolic blood pressure	
SC	Subcutaneous	
SSBs	Sucrose-sweetened beverages	
TARF	The Turkish Adult Risk Factor	
T2D	Type 2 diabetes	

Total cholesterol
Thermal effect of food
Triglyceride
Visceral adipose tissue
White Adipose Tissue
Waist Circumference
World health organization
Waist-to-hip ratio
Wild Type

Dedication

Dedicated to my parents, my wife and my son; Artin.

Acknowledgment

I would not have been able to complete this journey without the aid and support of countless people over the past four years. My first and sincere appreciation goes to my supervisor Dr. Katherine Cianflone for taking me on as a graduate student and believing in me. I would also like to thank her for being open to ideas and for her excellent guidance, caring, patience, and providing me with an excellent atmosphere for conducting research. Besides my supervisor, I would like to express my deep gratitude and respect to my co-director Dr. André Tchernof, for his invaluable support, guidance and knowledge over the years.

I want to acknowledge my research team at the research center at Laval Hospital, including all past and present students and research professionals, for their friendship, endless supports, and for making Quebec feel like home. In particular, I would like to acknowledge Marc Lapointe for his assistance throughout my doctorate degree and especially for his assistance with the preparation of this thesis including the translation of text to French, and administrative help. I would also like to thank Mélanie Cianflone for her help with the preparation of the manuscripts.

All of the manuscripts presented in this thesis represent collaborative research efforts. I would like to generally acknowledge all of my collaborators for their assistance in my formation as a researcher and guidance throughout the research process. They have generously provided their guidance, feedback and time, which have greatly enriched my doctoral experience.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank my family: my parents, for supporting me spiritually throughout my life, and my wife for being patient and supportive. Without their support, I would not have been able to complete my doctoral degree. I have benefited greatly from the encouragement, enthusiasm, and wisdom of all of those involved in my graduating in PhD.

Avant-Propos

This work was carried out in the laboratory of Dr. Katherine Cianflone in the research center of *"Institut Universitaire de Cardiologie et de Pneumologie de Québec"* at Laval university from September 2009 to march 2014. The work was supported by grants from the Obesity Training Program, the CRIUCPQ and CIHR. This is a manuscript-style thesis comprised of four published manuscripts presented as Chapter 2-5.

Chapter Two is composed of the manuscript entitled "Effects of Sugar-sweetened Beverages on circulating Acylation Stimulating Protein, Leptin & Adiponectin: Associations with Metabolic Parameters" co-authored by Reza Rezvani, Katherine Cianflone, John P. McGahan, Lars Berglun, Nancy L. Keim, Steven C. Griffen, Peter J. Havel, Kimber Stanhope, and has been published in the journal *Obesity (Silver Spring)* in December 2013. The study was conceived and executed by Dr. Kimber L. Stanhope and her team. My contribution to this study includes measuring the adipokine hormones in the plasma samples, performing statistical analysis of the data, contributing to the development of the hypothesis, and writing the manuscript.

Chapter Three contains the manuscript "Apparent sex-specific divergence of Acylation Stimulating Protein (ASP) levels with respect to metabolic parameters of pathogenic and clinical relevance" co-authored by Reza Rezvani, Altan Onat, Gunay Can and Katherine Cianflone, which has been published in the *Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism* in February 2012. Dr. Altan Onat and his team performed the recruitment, the study protocol, and collection of samples. My contribution to the study includes measuring ASP in the blood samples, performing statistical analysis, contributing to the development of the hypothesis and writing the manuscript.

Chapter Four contains the manuscript entitled "Cross sectional associations of Acylation Stimulating Protein (ASP) and adipose tissue gene expression with estradiol and progesterone in pre and postmenopausal women" co-authored by Reza Rezvani, Abhishek

Gupta, Jessica Smith, Pegah Poursharifi, Picard Marceau, Louis Pérusse, Claude Bouchard, André Tchernof and Katherine Cianflone, which was accepted for publication in the Journal of *Clinical Endocrinology* in June 2014. I had a principal role in implantation, study design, statistical analysis, and writing the manuscript. Dr Abhishek Gupta and Dr Pegah Poursharifi helped me in plasma measurements and gene expression experiments. Samples were provided by Dr. Picard Marceau, Dr. Louis Pérusse and Dr. André Tchernof. In addition, I would also like to thank the collaboration of the members of the department of bariatric surgery, IUCPQ and tissue bank of Laval hospital.

Chapter Five contains the article "Complement receptors C5aR and C5L2 are associated with metabolic profile, sex hormones and liver enzymes in obese women pre and post bariatric surgery" co authored by Reza Rezvani, Jessica Smith, Marc Lapointe, Picard Marceau, Andre Tchernof, Katherine Cianflone and was accepted for publication in the *Journal of Obesity* in February 2014. Dr Picard Marceau supervised recruitment and collection of samples. My contribution to this manuscript includes assisting in the development and design of the project, performing of the laboratory assays for adipokines in blood and sex hormones and gene expression experiments, statistical analysis, and writing the manuscript.

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 General Introduction

Over last three decades, obesity rates have more than doubled globally and are now considered as a major health hazard. In some countries the prevalence rates of overweight and obesity have increased so dramatically that healthy-weight adults are now in the minority (1) Because of the numerous harmful health consequences associated with obesity, there has been a parallel increase in obesity-related investigations aimed at preventing obesity.

Most people in most countries are no longer at risk of a negative energy balance, which was common in our "hunter-gatherer days" (2). Instead, humans face a new problem that coincided with the start of industrialization: positive energy balance. Although we live in the 21st century, humans carry the history of thousands of centuries of ancestral genes that have been naturally selected to store energy for long periods of limited food availability and even starvation (3). This genetic background helps protect against weight loss and not weight gain. However, the obesity epidemic has only existed for a few decades. Our sedentary life style, diet composition and individual genetic susceptibility collectively affect energy balance and body weight over time. Thus, various combinations of factors can cause a positive energy balance leading to overabundant fat storage: excess food intake, decreased energy expenditure, or a combination of both, the latter often being observed in obese patients.

1.1.1 Energy balance

Human physiology is consistent with the first law of thermodynamics "energy can be neither created nor destroyed " or, put another way, "Energy intake = Energy expenditure" (4). This simple concept of energy balance is a statement of the principle of energy conservation in human and helps us to understand the development of an overweight state and obesity, which, by definition, is an excessive accumulation of energy stored as body fat. Thus, for most cases, this equation can be changed to (5):

Energy intake = Energy expenditure + change in body macronutrient stores

For humans, energy intake is the amount of chemical energy entering the body from the food and fluids we consume that can be liberated via metabolism and thus is measured as metabolizable energy. Energy expenditure is the heat released by the body through resting metabolism, the thermic effects of meals, and physical activity. Prospective studies (6)(7) have illustrated that research on weight maintenance and weight loss should consider the effects of the intervention on energy balance overall and not just energy intake or energy expenditure alone (5).

1.1.2 Components of Energy Intake

Energy intake includes 3 major macronutrient groups—carbohydrate (CH), protein (Pr), and fat (Figure 1.1) and a smaller component from alcohol. The net absorption of dietary energy components ($\sim 2-10\%$) varies among individuals and is dependent on diet composition, food preparation, and intestinal factors (8). Energy yielding nutrients for carbohydrate (4 kcal/g), fat (9 kcal/g), protein (4 kcal/g) and alcohol (7 kcal/g) represent population averages for metabolizable energy, which is the amount of fuel actually available to cells for biological processes.

1.1.3 Components of Energy Expenditure

Absorbed carbohydrates, proteins, and fats are transformed *in vivo* to substrates that can ultimately either be oxidized to produce metabolically useful energy that drives biological processes or they may be stored. Expended energy reflects fuels metabolized for

growth, body maintenance needs, physical activity, pregnancy and lactation, and many other processes. Total energy expenditure is composed primarily of I) the resting energy Expenditure (REE) or basal metabolic rate (BMR), II) the thermic effect of food (TEF) and III) energy expenditure derived from physical activity (PA) (Figure 1.1) (8).



Figure 1.1 Energy balance; Components of energy intake and energy expenditure

1.1.4 Components of storage

Carbohydrate is stored mainly in the form of intracellular glycogen in skeletal muscles and liver. The total mass of glycogen (relative to total body energy stores) is small and turnover is rapid; maximal amounts are observed in the postprandial state. *Protein* in body takes many specific forms and, as with glycogen, is associated with water but at a lower value per gram. *Lipid* in the form of triglycerides, which are present within different tissues such as adipose tissue and liver, is the largest source of stored energy in most adults and has no water associated with it (9). A lean adult has in average 35 billion adipocytes, each containing ~ 0.4 –0.6 μ g triglyceride and a severely obese can have four times as many adipocytes, each containing twice as much lipid (8).

1.1.5 Body composition

Any imbalance between utilization of these components relative to diet composition, will lead to an alteration in body composition. The energy stored per unit body weight of carbohydrate, protein and lipid is different, especially when accounting for the associated intracellular water (9). Therefore, changes in body weight are expected when the macronutrient composition of the diet is altered, even when the energy content of the diet is held constant, particularly over the short term (8).

At a molecular level, body composition consists of six major components; water, lipids, protein, carbohydrates, bone minerals and soft tissue minerals. Among several models describing body composition, the two-component model is most commonly used, and divides the body into I) fat mass (FM), which includes fat from all body sources including brain, bone marrow (skeleton) and adipose tissue and II) fat-free mass (FFM), which include water, protein, and mineral components (9). Given this definition, to achieve long-term weight loss, the loss of fat mass while maintaining FFM is desirable (10). It should be noted that "lean body mass" is different from "fat free mass" and represents primarily muscle, a major determinant of the resting metabolic rate, which varies with changes in hydration and dehydration (9).

1.1.6 Fat storage

Fat mass is the most variable component in body composition, ranging from 5% to 60% (11) of body weight, and is affected by age, gender and ethnicity as well as environmental factors. Fat distribution refers to the relative amount of fat in compartments where fat in adipose tissue and non-adipose tissue are stored. The main depots are in adipose tissue including the subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) (stores > 80% of total body fat) and visceral adipose tissue (VAT) (10-20% in men and 5-10% in women of total body fat) compartments (11). In non adipose tissue locations, there are small but important amounts in intra-muscular, perivascular, and liver locations.

1.1.7 Regulation of body weight and energy balance

For a traditional Inuit hunter or fisherman in northern Québec, a higher percentage of fat mass could likely be beneficial, preventing excessive loss of body heat during winter. A pregnant woman or a breast-feeding mother needs sufficient body fat to support conception, fetal growth and post-natal feeding. At the most simple level (Figure 1.1), regulation of energy balance is simply a case of balancing food intake against the energy used by the body, but this is not so simple. Many factors are involved in regulating body weight and composition such as neurochemicals, body fat stores, protein mass, hormones and postprandial factors. Energy intake and expenditure are both regulated by the central nervous system, with the hypothalamus playing a central role (12), although clearly some aspects are also subject to voluntary control. It is important to remember that in the period of human evolution, the most of these systems have arisen based on pressure to conserve energy in the face of shortage, rather than limiting it at times of excess (3).

The hypothalamus receives signals from the periphery, both in the short term, indicating the end of a meal, and also in the long term, signaling body energy stores (13) These signals are integrated and help determine future food intake, and also, to some extent, energy expenditure. Short-term controls are concerned primarily with factors governing hunger, appetite, and satiety (14). Satiety is associated with the postprandial state when excess food is being stored and hunger is associated with the post-absorptive state when those stores are being mobilized (14). The hunger signals are much stronger than those for satiety and it is easier to supersede the signals for satiety (12). Long-term regulation seems to involve a feedback mechanism in which a signal from the adipose mass is released when normal body composition is disturbed, as when weight loss occurs (13). Adipocytes secrete hormones also termed Adipokines, which act as signaling molecules involving both short and long-term controls (15).

1.2 Obesity

Obesity is a complex, multifactorial state of excessive fat involving environmental (social and cultural), genetic, physiologic, metabolic, behavioral, and psychological components (16). Obesity can be defined as a chronic "disease" as it increases the risk of medical illness and premature death. A simple and convenient way of defining obesity and overweight promulgated by the World Health Organization (WHO) and the Canadian National Institute of Health (CNIH) is based on body mass index (BMI).

Classification	Principal cut-off points	Risk of BMI
(WHO)	Kg/m ²	Co-morbidities
Underweight	<18.50	Low*
Normal range	18.50-24.99	Average
Overweight	25.00-29.99	Increase
Obese class I	30.00-34.99	Moderate-severe
Obese class II	35.00-39.99	Moderate-severe
Obese class III	≥40.00	Severe

Table 1.1 WHO classification of BMI

* increases in risk of other medical problems, http://www.who.int/nmh/publications

Classification of overweight and obesity is based on data gathered from populationbased epidemiology studies that evaluated the relationship between obesity and rates of mortality and morbidity that are adiposity related (Table 1.1). BMI (calculated as weight/height² in units of kg/m²) between 25 and 29.9 is considered to be overweight. Obesity is characterized by an excess of body fat and is usually diagnosed based on a BMI greater than 30 kg/m² and is further subdivided into Class I–III (Table1.1).

There is some evidence to suggest that Asian populations have different associations between BMI, percentage of body fat, and health risks than do European populations (17). A WHO expert consultation identified further potential public health action points (23.0, 27.5, 32.5, and 37.5 kg/m2) along the continuum of BMI, and proposed methods by which countries could make decisions about the definitions of increased risk

for their population (17). Therefore, China (18) uses a BMI of 28 for obesity and Japan (19) uses a BMI cut-off of 25 kg/m^2 as a cut-off.

1.2.1 Epidemiology of obesity

The global epidemic of obesity is now recognized as one of the most important public health problems facing the world today. The prevalence of obesity has increased dramatically worldwide over the last decades. For example the prevalence of obesity has nearly doubled between 1980 and 2008 (20). According to the World Health Organization (WHO) report, 35% of adults aged 20 yrs and older were overweight (34% men and 35% women) in 2008 including 10% men and 14% women being considered as obese (WHO 2010) (21).

The 2010 International Obesity Task Force (IOTF) analysis (22) estimated that approximately 1.0 billion adults are overweight (BMI: 25-29.9) and a further 475 million are obese. When Asian-specific cut-of points for the definition of obesity (BMI>28) are taken into account, the number of adults considered obese globally is over 600 million (22). The IOTF estimates that up to 200 million school-age children are either overweight or obese, 40-50 million of which are classified as obese (23). Up to one-third of adults in some Westernized countries are obese and very few countries remain unaffected by obesity (24). By 2015, the WHO predicts that these numbers will increase to 2.3 billion overweight and 700 million obese (24) Predictions suggest that if this secular trend continues with undiminished strength, by 2030 up to 57.8% of the world's adult population (3.3 billion people) could be either overweight or obese (25).

In the United States, the 2010 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) estimated that the age-adjusted obesity prevalence was 35.7% with no sex differences (26). The age-adjusted prevalence of overweight and obesity combined (BMI \geq 25 kg/m²) was 68.8% in 2010 with a mean BMI of 28.7 kg/m² in the US population. However, data from the last decade (1999–2010) suggest that the prevalence of obesity may have plateaued in the USA (27).

In Canada, the prevalence of obesity is lower than in the United States. Based on nationally representative surveys the prevalence of obesity in Canadian adults increased from 10% in 1970-72 to 26% (27% men, 25% women) in 2009-11 (28). Furthermore in Canada, 29% of men and 41% of women reach cut-off values for waist circumference (WC; above 102 cm in men and 88 cm in women) suggesting the presence of abdominal obesity, with mean WC values of 95.1 cm for men and 87.3 cm for women (28). The prevalence of obesity in children has tripled since 1981, and based on the World Health Organization BMI growth standards, 12% of Canadian school-age children were obese in 2009/11(28).

According to the IOTF report in 2010, in the European Union, approximately 60% of adults and over 12 million children are overweight or obese. A recent European study concluded that in a worst-case scenario almost every third European adult might be obese by the year 2015 (29). While the distribution in America demonstrates a high proportion of overweight and obese people (62% and 26% respectively, in both sexes), South East Asia shows the lowest prevalence (14% overweight in both sexes and 3% for obesity) (21). Growth in population size, population aging, urbanization and changes in lifestyle, including increases in total calorie intake and reductions in physical activity, all contribute to an epidemic of overweight and obesity in developing regions (25).

1.2.2 Obesity Determinants

Two key issues have been highlighted in obesity review articles. First, obesity results from an imbalance in energy intake and energy expenditure. And second, obesity develops from a complex interaction between a variety of factors including genetic, physiologic, environmental, psychological, social, economic, and even political.

On the other hand, maintenance of a healthy body weight and body composition, which is important for the achievement of lifelong health, occurs through successful energy balance maintenance within a normal range (30). Energy balance systems (31) are themselves governed by the interaction with both internal and external environmental factors. Therefore, to understand the causes of obesity it is necessary to know what factors are involved in regulating energy balance.

1.2.2.1 Internal environment factors

Genetic factors: It is well known that genetic factors influence the body's tendency to store energy either as fat or as lean body tissue. The heritable factors are likely to be responsible for 45–75% of the inter-individual variation in BMI (32). Obesity clusters within families and recent data show that this is not just due to traditional genetic transmission or similar familial environments but may also be due to epigenetic factors (33). The presence of obesity and accompanying metabolic derangements, especially insulin resistance, during pregnancy have been shown to transmit or imprint characteristics in offspring in animal models (34). In one study of (35) children aged 2.5–25 yrs born either before or after maternal bariatric surgery, improvements in cardiometabolic markers sustained into adolescence were attributable to an improved intrauterine environment particularly in children born after maternal bariatric surgery (36).

However, although the genetics of obesity is a highly researched area, just a small number of rare single genetic abnormalities have been discovered. Leptin deficiency is a monogenic defect that has been found in a very small number of humans with severe, early onset obesity (37). A pronounced feature in such people is increased appetite, with hyperphagia as the predominant problem; the metabolic rate is normal. These subjects may also have problems with fertility due to hypogonadotropic hypogonadism (38). The molecular bases of the classical obesity syndromes, such as Prader-Willi syndrome and Bardet-Beidl syndrome have been definitely associated with defects in imprinted genes on chromosomes (39).

Neuroendocrine factors: The neuroendocrine causes of obesity include hypothyroidism, Cushing's syndrome, growth hormone deficiency, hypogonadism, and polycystic ovary syndrome (40). Eating disorders, notably binge eating disorders and night eating syndrome, also give rise to obesity. The industrially produced substances that can affect endocrine function may also be a contributing factor to the etiology of obesity. They include dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane, some polychlorinated biphenols and some alkylphenols that may act by disturbing endogenous hormonal regulation (41).

Psychiatric factors: Obesity is not regarded as a psychiatric disorder, but the risk of obesity is increased in patients with psychiatric disorders such as depression and anxiety. On the other hand, obese people suffer from stigmatization and discrimination in many life domains.

1.2.2.2 External environment factors

The food and diet composition have shifted in ways that promote overeating. The Westernization of diets, with an increase in availability of high caloric foods, especially of fat, and also over-consumption of refined carbohydrates and fructose, certainly contribute to the epidemic of obesity (42). This type of foods tends to be energy dense, is usually inexpensive and easy to prepare with heavy marketing for both adults and children: these factors contribute to increased daily caloric intake (43). Experimental studies show that consumption of such food leads to diminished satiety vs. consumption of less energy dense foods, and encourages overconsumption, suggesting that the peripheral and hypothalamic regulatory systems are less sensitive to a high fat diet (44)(45). These high calorie products are frequently consumed by millions of peoples who are struggling to meet the economic and scheduling demands of today's fast-paced lifestyle.

Physical activity levels have also dramatically decreased in the past several decades (46). It has been estimated that less than half of US adults engaged in recommended levels of physical activity in 2005 (47). There is less access to physical activity, less physical education in schools (48) and more time is spent on sedentary behaviors such as television watching, using the Internet, smartphones and playing video games (49). The innumerable advances in technology developed over the past few decades have made many tasks more efficient, but in the process have ultimately decreased the number of calories expended (i.e., TV remote controls, automatic garage door opener, sit-down lawnmowers etc.).

Medications that can cause weight gain include antidepressants, antidiabetic drugs, anticonvulsants, antipsychotic medication, beta-blockers, and steroid hormones. Weight gain is associated with several commonly used medications including psychotropic medications, diabetic treatments, antihypertensives, steroid hormones and contraceptives, antihistamines, and protease inhibitors. The deleterious effects of drug-induced weight gain include increased risks for developing type 2 diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, as well as poor medication compliance (50).

1.3 Dietary macronutrients

Dietary macronutrient effects on body weight depend not only on the amount consumed, but also on their type. Thus, a diet high in carbohydrates and/or fat will encourage weight gain (51). However, the development of complicated obesity will depend on whether carbohydrates are simple or complex, and whether fats are saturated or polyunsaturated (52)(53). The current obesity epidemic is thought to be largely attributable to excessive consumption of palatable foods, high in refined (simple) sugars and saturated fats (51) resulting in higher energy intake. It should be kept in mind that the weight loss achieved is associated with the duration of the diet and restriction of energy intake, but not with restriction of carbohydrates

1.3.1 Fat

Fat refers to the class of nutrients known as lipids. The lipid family includes triglycerides, phospholipids and sterols. Fat is a more concentrated energy source than other energy nutrients (9 kcal/g fat vs 4 kcal/g sugar and protein). Studies on humans and animals have demonstrated that diets high in saturated fats induce weight gain, insulin resistance, and hyperlipidemia (54).

Numerous cross-sectional studies have clearly shown positive associations between the proportion of total energy intake covered by fat and body fatness (55). Increasing lowfat and fat-free dairy products have been recommended in the Dietary Guidelines for Americans (DGA) for achieving nutrient adequacy, disease prevention and overall good health (56). A recent systemic review and meta-analysis of 33 randomized controlled trials in adults has shown that lowering the proportion of energy intake from total fat was associated with lower body weight (by 1.6 kg), BMI, WC as well as small but statistically significant improvements in lipid profile and blood pressure, suggesting a lack of harm on other major cardiovascular risk factors (57).

By contrast, a number of longitudinal studies have been unable to establish any association between self-reported dietary fat and carbohydrate intakes, and subsequent weight change (55). Especially in the case of fat intake vs. weight change, the results on

intake of saturated (SFA), or polyunsaturated (PUFA) fatty acids against development of obesity indicate both a positive (58) or no significant association (59). Furthermore, results of a longitudinal association study between dairy consumption and changes of body weight and waist circumference in the Framingham Heart Study (60) showed no beneficial relation of total low-fat dairy or skim/low-fat milk with long-term change in weight or WC. Therefore, the strength of the data providing evidence for a causal link between dietary fat and obesity has been challenged by new questions on dietary fat effects on obesity.

Consequently, it has been suggested that saturated fat should be replaced by monounsaturated fat rather than by carbohydrate. Field et al. (58) showed associations of mono-unsaturated fatty acid (MUFA) with protection against weight gain, however this finding was not confirmed in another study (59). Studies on the role of trans-fatty acids (TFA) suggested that TFA, when substituted for carbohydrates or PUFA, were associated with increased waist circumference (60). Field et al. also (58) found a positive association between TFA intake and weight gain. Hence, all theses studies showed that high intake of TFA predict weight gain. The lack of multiple data on specific combinations prevents us from making a stronger conclusion.

Therefore, the focus on dietary fat may likely be a distraction from the more significant causes of obesity and metabolic disorders. Increasing evidence now suggests that the rise in consumption of carbohydrates, particularly refined sugars high in fructose, appears to be at least one potentially important contributing factor (61).

1.3.2 Carbohydrate

Dietary carbohydrates include simple (sugars) and complex (starches and fibers) carbohydrates. Disaccharides and starches are a major source of energy. In the course of digestion (62), they are hydrolyzed by specific glycosidase to their monosaccharide components, which are absorbed into the circulation from the intestine. The monosaccharaides are then transported to cells in various tissues, traversing the cell membrane through facilitative transporters. Glucose is transported into cells of many different tissues through the GLUT family of transporters. Inside cells, glucose is phosphorylated, and can be converted to glycogen primarily in liver and skeletal muscle, or

it can be routed through the energy releasing pathways of glycolysis and the tricarboxylic acid cycle in all cell for ATP production (9).

Howard et al. reported that higher intake of total carbohydrates protected against weight gain in women (63), but Halkjaer et al. (64) did not find such an association between carbohydrate intake and change in body weight or waist circumference. The source of carbohydrates may be relevant, however, since Halkjaer et al. reported a positive association between change in waist circumference and carbohydrates from foods with simple sugars, potatoes and from refined grains in women. By contrast, they also found that high carbohydrate intake from vegetables (women only) and fruit protected against an increase in waist circumference.

1.3.3 Glucose vs. Fructose

Glucose (62)(9), commonly known as blood sugar, serves as an essential energy source for all the body's activities. Glucose is one of the two sugars in every disaccharide and the unit from which the polysaccharides are made almost exclusively. One of these polysaccharides, starch, is the chief food source of energy for all the world's people; another, glycogen, is an important storage form of energy in the body.

Fructose (62)(9) is the sweetest of the natural sugars. Surprisingly, fructose has exactly the same chemical formula as glucose (C6H12O6) but its structure differs. Fructose occurs naturally in fruits and honey; other sources include products such as soft drinks, ready-to eat cereals, and desserts that have been sweetened with high-fructose corn syrup.

Fructose has some differences from glucose (62)(65)(66)(9); I) Fructose differs from glucose by the presence of a keto group attached to carbon 2 of the molecule, whereas glucose presents an aldehyde group at carbon 1. II) Its metabolism differs markedly from that of glucose due to its almost complete hepatic extraction and rapid hepatic conversion into glucose, glycogen, lactate, and fat. III) Fructose is absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract by a mechanism different from glucose absorption. Fructose is transported into the enterocyte through a specific fructose transporter, GLUT5, located at the apical pole of the enterocyte. Contrary to glucose, this process does not require ATP hydrolysis and is
independent of sodium absorption. IV) Glucose directly stimulates insulin release from the pancreatic β -cell, but fructose does not. V) Fructose also enters muscle and other cells without depending on insulin, whereas most glucose enters cells in an insulin-dependent manner and finally, VI) Once inside the cell, fructose can enter the pathways that provide the triglyceride backbone (glycerol) more efficiently than glucose.

Fructose was initially thought to be advisable for patients with diabetes due to its low Glycemic Index (67) (68), which is indicative of plasma glucose and insulin response to foods. However, a growing body of evidence in animal studies clearly indicates that long-term consumption of fructose is associated with increased risk of diabetes through effects on adiposity and independently through other metabolic effects (66). Although the evidence is controversial in humans (69), high fructose intake has indeed been shown to cause dyslipidemia and to impair hepatic insulin sensitivity (70) (71) (72).

1.3.4 High Fructose consumption

In 2009, the American Heart Association released a scientific statement calling for reductions in added sugar intake to 100 to 150 kcal/day for most Americans as a means of reducing obesity and cardiovascular disease risk (73). Over the past several decades, daily caloric intake has increased by 150 to 300 kcal (differing by age and sex), and about 50% of the increased calories have come from the consumption of caloric-sweetened beverages (74). Overall, the world average sugar consumption per capita has increased by 16% over the past 20 years, from 56 g/day in 1986 to 65 g/day in 2007 (65). South America and Oceania are the highest sugar consumers, followed by Europe, while low sugar consumption is recorded for Asia and Africa (65). Over the last few decades, fructose has become a major constituent of our modern diet (74). Dietary fructose comes from two principal sources, food such as fruits and vegetables, and from refined products that contain sucrose as high-fructose corn syrup (62).

Interestingly, the patterns of development of the obesity epidemic and overconsumption of sugar-sweetened beverages have overlapped over the last few decades (75). This is shown by the changing intake of fructose and high-fructose corn syrup (HFCS)

intake plotted against the increasing prevalence of obesity (Figure 1.2) (76). Although this pattern cannot prove the role of HFCS as a culprit, it provides testable evidence for a potential role of fructose in development of obesity.



Figure 1.2 Changing intake of fructose and high-fructose corn syrup intake plotted against the increasing prevalence of obesity.

Adapted from Bray et al. 2004

It is commonly assumed that high-fructose corn syrup contains 42–55 % fructose and in some brands, up to 65% (77). The consumption of HFCS has increased largely because of the increased consumption of beverages and foods sweetened with HFCS, including carbonated and noncarbonated beverages and juices, breakfast cereals, bread and other baked goods, canned fruits, jams and jellies, condiments, and prepared desserts (74). In the Longitudinal Study of Child Development in Quebec (1998–2002)(78), 6.9% of children who were non-consumers of sugar-sweetened beverages between meals, from the age of 2.5–4.5 years, were overweight, compared with 15.4% of children who consumed sugar-sweetened soft drinks 4–6 times or more per week between meals.

Thus, high consumption of fructose, as occurs with the increasing consumption of soft drinks and the use of high-fructose corn sweeteners, may be a 'fat equivalent' (76). In contrast to a high-fructose diet, a diet that is high in glucose does not lead to hypertension, elevated plasma triglycerides, insulin resistance or hyperinsulinemia. It therefore seems that fructose is more damaging sugar component in terms of cardiovascular risk (79).

Several mechanisms have been suggested for the effects of fructose that come from drinking either HFCS or sucrose-sweetened beverages (71)(79)(80). 1) An increase in overall energy intake due to consumption of soft drinks supplementing a regular diet is the most obvious mechanism. In general, energy obtained from soft drinks is not completely compensated for by a reduction in energy intake from other foods. 2) Fructose is metabolized primarily in the liver where it is converted to fructose-1-phosphate from which it can readily become a substrate for the backbone of the triglyceride molecule. 3) The metabolism of fructose in the liver generates adenosine 5'phosphate that is a substrate for conversion to uric acid through a process that alters nitric oxide generation. 4) The fructose consumption reduced post-meal insulin exposure may lead to reduced activation of lipo protein lipase (LPL) in SAT and less triglyceride (TG) uptake in SAT, thus increased TG uptake/accumulation in VAT (53). 5) In the liver, fructose-containing sugar will upregulate de novo lipogenesis (DNL), which will increase liver lipid levels, and also concurrently inhibit fatty acid oxidation (53).

Furthermore, there is now growing evidence to challenge the view that fructose metabolism occurs primarily in the liver and kidney, suggesting that its role in the brain may have important implications for neuronal function (81). Recently, van der Borght's group raised the possibility that there is at least some neurobiological evidence for the detrimental effect of high fructose consumption on cognition (82). These finding reviewed by Yon MA et al. (77) show that in rats, appetite-related and inflammatory signals appear to mediate impaired hippocampal neurogenesis resulting from the chronic intake of fructose, at concentrations much lower than those consumed by humans, and these effects are independent of obesity. Whether or not this phenomenon extends to brainstem regions of feeding regulation may depend on fructose concentration and the duration of consumption interacting with the site of the neurogenic niche (77). About 10 % (w/v) of fructose appears sufficient to impair hippocampal neurogenesis in rodents (83)(84).

1.4 Sex difference in obesity

The prevalence of obesity is higher in women than in men in most countries around the world. It has long been recognized that men and premenopausal women differ in their fat distribution, which is called 'gynoid' and 'android' (for women and men respectively) (85). Despite the generally lower population prevalence of obesity in men, obese men are at substantial risk of obesity-related chronic diseases because of fat accumulation in abdominal, visceral depots (86). Because of the significantly increased cardiometabolic risk associated with abdominal fat in men (and postmenopausal women), it is important to understand mechanisms that determine where fat accumulates.

1.4.1 Sex differences in energy metabolism

It is well recognized that body size and fat-free mass are strong determinants of energy expenditure (EE) (87). In one cross-sectional study including white adults, lean mass contributed to 63%, fat mass to 6%, and age to 2% of the variability of basal metabolic rate between subjects (88). Because women tend to have less weight, less height, less fat-free mass but more fat mass than men at any given BMI, it is not surprising that in absolute terms women have lower EE. Furthermore, the decline in resting EE with age has been found to be greater in women than in men, suggesting that women may be at greater risk for obesity with aging (89).

However, lower total and physical activity energy expenditure, as well as resting energy expenditure, in women than in men have been reported (90). These differences may be at least partly explained by body composition differences (91). Physical activity energy expenditure is related to percent body fat in men but not in women (92)(90). In addition, it has been reported that physical training programs are not associated with significant fat loss in women suggesting that women may compensate for higher energy expenditure by increasing energy intake to a greater extent than do men (93). A stronger relationship between body composition and type of food intake also has been demonstrated in women than men (90). Women with higher fat intake and lower carbohydrate intake were found to have a significantly higher percentage of body fat but this was not true for men (90).

1.4.2 Sex differences in postprandial state

Higher postprandial lipemia (circulating triglycerides and non-esterified fatty acids) in men compared with women in response to food intake has been previously reported (94). However, visceral adipose tissue accumulation was a significantly important contributing factor to the exaggerated postprandial triglyceride response in men (95). Previously, it has been shown that postprandial lipemia can be predicted by fasting triglyceridemia, and men have been reported to have substantially higher fasting triglyceride levels than do women (96). Liver fat content, which is significantly higher in men than in women, is also associated with postprandial lipemia (97)(98). The sex hormone estrogen has been suggested to contribute to postprandial triglyceride levels (99).

1.4.3 Sex differences in body fat distribution

Body fat distribution is significantly different between men and women. Multiple studies have shown the importance of adipose tissue distribution (86) (100). Men tend to have central fat distribution by storing fat in their trunk and abdomen, whereas women tend to store fat in their hips and thighs (peripheral fat distribution) (100).





Adapted from Geer EB, Shen W. Gend Med. 2009;6 Suppl 1:60-75.

Therefore, compared with women, men generally have more VAT and less SAT, as measured by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or computerized tomography (CT) scans

(Figure 1.3). It is well recognized that estrogen-deficient postmenopausal women tend to accumulate more abdominal and visceral fat while premenopausal women accumulate more lower body (gluteo-femoral) fat. Interestingly, the sex difference in abdominal vs. gluteo-femoral fat cell size persists even in extreme obesity; the increases in thigh fat mass in women are related to increased fat cell hyperplasia rather than increased fat cell size (101). The tendency towards a peripheral fat distribution in women is associated with improved insulin sensitivity (102), compared with the central fat distribution observed in men which is associated with elevated postprandial insulin, non-esterified fatty acids, and triglyceride levels (94). The association of fatty liver with visceral adiposity, dyslipidemia (103), and insulin resistance may explain the increased insulin resistance observed in men compared with women.

Explanations for the associations between increased visceral adiposity, hepatic fat accumulation and hepatic insulin resistance have been proposed. Some hypotheses propose increased free fatty acids (FFAs) supply to the liver from inflamed, hypertrophied adipose tissue (104) as well as the combination of decreased adiponectin production coupled with increased proinflammatory cytokines TNF- α and IL-6 production from adipose tissue (105)(106). Sex dimorphism in regional adiposity has been clearly demonstrated across age groups such as in the study by Kotani et al. (107). Cross sectional studies have shown that visceral adipose tissue deposition was found to increase with age mostly in men and in menopausal and postmenopausal women (100).

Sex differences in body fat distribution appear to be largely a result of differences in sex hormones between men and women. Previously, Krotkiewski et al. (108)(109) suggested that sex hormones might be involved in regulating the typical gender differences in regional body fat distribution. It has been well recognized that the sex hormone estrogen is key in maintaining the sex-specific fat distribution patterns in humans (85). In female rats, ovariectomy increases (110) visceral fat and decreases subcutaneous fat and estrogen treatment reverses this effect (111)(112). The same result after administration of exogenous estradiol to male rats has been illustrated when compared to male rats not given estrogen (112). Previously, research has shown that male and female aromatase-knockout (ArKO) mice, which are estrogen-deficient and have elevated testosterone, accumulate more intra-

abdominal adipose tissue with increased adipocyte size in the gonadal and intra-renal depots (113). In addition, Male ArKO mice also develop fatty liver, as do aromatase-deficient men, and this is reversible with estradiol treatment (114).

Sex differences have also been investigated on effects of sex hormones on lipoprotein lipase activity and lipolysis. Higher adipose tissue LPL activity (promoting fat storage) has been shown specifically during lactation in femoral adipocytes (subcutaneous adipocytes) compared with abdominal adipocytes in premenopausal women but not in postmenopausal women (115). Furthermore, estrogen treatment in postmenopausal women restores LPL activity of the femoral adipocytes and decreases lipolytic response in subcutaneous adipocytes but not in abdominal adipocytes (116). It has been shown that ovariectomized female rats are significantly less sensitive to leptin's anorexic action in the brain and that estradiol treatment reverses this leptin resistance. Furthermore, responsiveness to central leptin in male mice is enhanced by peripheral estradiol administration (112).

1.4.4 Sex differences in cardiometabolic risk

The presence of central adiposity, regardless of gender, is a risk factor for development of insulin resistance and diabetes (117), thus premenopausal women typically have decreased cardiometabolic risk relative to men and posmenopausal women. In the Diabetes Prevention Program's population of 3234 patients, baseline waist circumference was the strongest predictor of diabetes in both sexes (118). Several epidemiological studies suggest that a high waist-to-hip ratio is a better predictor of all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality than a large waist circumference alone (119). Furthermore, numerous evidences suggest that a larger hip circumference (larger gluteo-femoral fat stores) are protective against both CVD and metabolic risk in multiple ethnic groups, independent of waist circumference or abdominal fat (120). The cutoff points for increased risk in men are larger than those for women in the diagnostic criteria of the metabolic syndrome (eg, waist circumference of 102 vs 88 cm, respectively) (117).

More interestingly, transplantation of subcutaneous fat (inguinal region) into the intra-abdominal compartment of male mice on a high-fat diet resulted in significant protective effects on adiposity, insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance (121). It would be interesting to see if similar or even greater protective effects could be conferred from transplanting female subcutaneous fat, given that in humans, the protective effect of a large hip circumference with regards to CVD morbidity and mortality was significant only in women, with just borderline significance on total mortality in men (122).

Divergent roles of visceral and subcutaneous fat in terms of cardiometabolic risk factors can be explained by differences in histology and metabolic activity of these two fat tissues. Specifically, visceral adipocytes are more sensitive to catecholamine-induced lipolysis and less sensitive to insulin's antilipolytic effect than are subcutaneous adipocytes (123)(124). This higher sensitivity to catecholamines and lipolytic activity may lead to enhance delivery of free faty acids (FFA) directly via the portal system to the liver, resulting in elevated FFA, glucose and very-low-density lipoproteins in circulation, and decreased hepatic insulin clearance (125). Therefore, increases in visceral adipose tissue contribute to dyslipidemia, enhanced gluconeogenesis, and insulin resistance (125).

Many studies (reviewed in (86)) have shown that women have larger low density lipoprotein (LDL) particles than men. High levels of small, dense LDL particles are associated with an increased coronary hearth disease (CHD) risk. Carr et al. (126) suggested that higher hepatic lipase activity in men, which affects LDL and high density lipoprotein (HDL) heterogeneity and is responsive to testosterone stimulation, might also explain the gender difference in the cardiovascular risk profile. In addition, women have larger HDL particles than men, a phenotype generally associated with an overall low-risk lipoprotein-lipid profile (100). It has been demonstrated that although premenopausal women had more total body fat than men, they also had lower visceral adipose tissue accumulation and a better metabolic risk profile (100).

1.4.5 Depot-Specific Adipose Tissue Sex Steroids

Adipose tissue distribution per se may contribute to gender differences in insulin resistance via metabolism and release of sex hormones. Although the adrenal glands and gonads are the primary source of sex hormones in circulation, adipose tissue can contribute up to 50% of circulating testosterone in premenopausal women and 100% of circulating

estrogen in postmenopausal women (127). Adipose tissue aromatase in adipose tissue converts androgens to estrogens: androstenedione to estrone and testosterone to estradiol. Furthermore, adipose tissue 17β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (17βHSD) mediates the conversion of weak androgens or estrogens to their more potent counterparts: androstenedione to testosterone and estrone to estradiol (125). Expression of 17βHSD in subcutaneous adipose tissue is relatively less than aromatase, whereas visceral adipose tissue expresses more 17βHSD than aromatase. Thus, more visceral adipose tissue may express relatively more 17βHSD and as a consequence more local androgen production. Furthermore, mice with targeted ablation of aromatase have increased visceral adiposity, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, and hepatic steatosis (128)(113).

1.5 Sex hormones and obesity in women

The average obese female encounters many obstacles to achieving a healthy life because of a complex mix of social, cultural, and physiologic factors. Obese women often have disturbances in sex hormone metabolism, and as a result, menstrual irregularities and infertility more than non-obese women.

1.5.1 Estrogen

At least in part, gender differences in body composition; fat distribution and energy homeostasis may be due to the effect of sex hormones. The decrease in insulin sensitivity with menopause, and subsequent improvement with estrogen replacement, suggests that estrogen has a favorable effect on insulin sensitivity and may play a role in glucose homeostasis in women (reviewed in (125)). Even in men, complete lack of estrogen synthesis or activity is associated with insulin resistance (129). It has been shown that in males, insulin resistance increases during adolescence, despite significant decreases in adiposity whereas in females, body fat significantly increases but insulin resistance does not significantly change (110). Thus, insulin resistance occurs independently of increasing lean and decreasing fat mass, possibly due to the relative decrease in estrogen in males compared with females.

1.5.1.1 Estrogen effects on insulin function and glucose homeostasis

Estrogen may be protective against the development of insulin resistance and diabetes. Human and animal studies have shown that estrogen plays a role in the maintenance of glucose homeostasis and substrate metabolism. In humans, it has been demonstrated that women have a higher 17β -estradiol concentration than men during exercise, which was associated with significantly more lipid and less carbohydrate metabolism (130). In animals, estrogen is protective against hyperglycemia in diabetes, by reducing hepatic glucose production and enhancing glucose transport in the muscle (125)(131). Estrogen also has antioxidant properties; a protection against oxidative stress has been shown in mice, mediated via increase in gene expression, including those encoding antioxidant enzymes superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase (132). Furthermore, in conditions of oxidative stress, estrogen has been found to protect pancreatic β -cell function and survival (131). Finally, pregnancy as a high estrogen state is characterized by reducing insulin sensitivity (insulin resistance), but other hormonal changes during pregnancy also affect insulin sensitivity (110).

1.5.1.2 Estrogen effects on obesity and fat distribution

Estrogen may have protective effects against obesity, in particular visceral obesity, in humans and in animals (125). Studies in animals suggest that the sex hormone estrogen may have a role in the prevention of obesity (131). Tara M. D'Eon et al have demonstrated that ovariectomized animals have increased adiposity compared with animals with intact ovaries (133) (133). Estrogen treatment significantly reduced adipose mass and adipocyte size in these animals, possibly via decreased expression of lipogenic genes in adipose tissue, liver, and skeletal muscle. They suggested that in muscle, estrogen appears to promote the use of lipid as fuel by partitioning FFAs toward oxidation and away from TG storage by upregulating the expression of peroxisome proliferation activator receptor- δ .

Estrogen may also have beneficial effects on adipose tissue distribution. Previously, Kotani et al in 1994 (107) evaluated the role of aging on adipose tissue distribution and demonstrated that, compared with premenopausal women, visceral adipose tissue in postmenopausal women was significantly larger. In another study, women receiving hormone replacement therapy (HRT) had lower waist circumferences than did the neverusers, again suggesting that estrogen may reduce central adiposity in humans (134). The preferential deposition of adipose tissue in the subcutaneous in women versus deposition in the viscera in men may be related to the higher level of estrogen in women compared with men (125).

Of the two types of estrogen receptors (ER α and ER β), ER α appears to be the one involved in the regulation of fat distribution (85). Silencing of ER α in the ventromedial nucleus of hypothalamus in female mice results in increased body weight, decreased energy expenditure, increased visceral adiposity and decreased leptin sensitivity (135). In male ER knockout mice, the obesity-promoting effect and disturbed lipoprotein profile appear to be mediated specifically through ER α , as ER α knockouts exhibit increased fat mass while ER β knockout mice do not (136). Association of polymorphisms in the estrogen receptor alpha gene with body fat distribution has been shown in human studies. Okura et al.(137) have demonstrated that ER α gene polymorphisms predict abdominal obesity in women, but not in men, suggesting a possible sex dimorphism in the effects of ER α (137).

1.5.1.3 Estrogen has anti-inflammatory properties

Human studies have shown that increased proinflammatory cytokine levels typically produced by immune cells, including tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α), interlukin-1 and 6 (IL-1, IL-6), are associated with menopause and theses levels are substantially lower in women receiving hormone replacement therapy (138). Animal studies also have shown that circulating levels of TNF- α were significantly higher in ovariectomized rats compared with estrogen-replaced ovariectomized rats or those with endogenous estrogen production (139). These elevations in TNF- α were associated with impaired vascular function due to decreased nitric oxide levels. Given the association between increased proinflammatory markers and obesity-related complications such as insulin resistance (140), the association between estrogen and decreased cytokines may play a role in gender differences in insulin resistance.

1.5.2 Progesterone

Some studies have shown that progesterone levels are changed in obese women. Women who were obese had 20% lower progesterone levels compared with more lean women (BMI<20) averaging 43 years in age (141). Another study among older premenopausal (mean age 47 years) women also found lower (-35%) daily levels of progesterone among obese compared to normal weight women (142). A very recent study showed that compared with normal weight women, obese women averaged lower levels of progesterone (-15%,), luteal hormone (LH: -17%), follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH: - 23%) and higher free estradiol (+22%) across the menstrual cycle (143). The decrease in progesterone has been explained as a consequence of the decreased mean levels of LH throughout the cycle including the luteal phase.

The effects of progesterone on adipose tissue function are less investigated; however, a series of *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies has suggested that progesterone may act as a lipogenic hormone (144). Studies identifying progesterone receptors in mature human adipocytes are limited (145). Gray and Wade (146) were able to identify progesterone binding sites in adipose tissue from ovariectomized-adrenalectomized rats that were primed with estrogen. Progesterone was reported to stimulate fat storage by enhancing lipoprotein lipase activity (147) and increasing the expression of transcription factors that control synthesis of fatty acid synthase (148). In 1997, Björntrop initially suggested that progesterone could be involved in female fat distribution pattern through its antiglucocorticoid effects (149). This notion was partially supported by studies showing progesterone binding with high affinity to glucocorticoid receptors inhibiting abdominal fat accumulation stimulated by cortisol (147). Zhang Y. et al (2008) demonstrated that preadipocytes and mature adipocytes efficiently generate progesterone metabolites (such as $20-\alpha$ hydroxyl-progesterone), which is more consistent with relative modest effects of progesterone on abdominal fat cell differentiation (150). Progesterone is also involved in the complex regulation of appetite, yet it does not significantly influence feeding behavior in ovariectomized rats, except when administered at non-physiological, pharmacological doses (151). However, in the presence of estrogen, progesterone does stimulate appetite and promote weight gain (152).

1.6 Endocrine function of adipose tissue and adipokines

Obesity is the result of hypertrophy and hyperplasia of adipocytes and consequently the expansion of white adipose tissue (WAT). The main roles of WAT are the storage of triglycerides during positive energy balance and fatty acid release when the energy balance is negative. This regulation is achieved through endocrine, paracrine and autocrine pathways that allow adipocytes to regulate the metabolism in other fat cells located in liver, muscle, brain and pancreas (153).

Adipose tissue function is categorized into three parts (reviewed in (154)): 1) lipid metabolism (lipogenesis and lipolysis) including fat storage and free fatty acid release 2) glucose metabolism, adipose tissue catabolizes triglycerides providing glycerol and fatty acids that participate in glucose metabolism in liver and other tissues 3) production and secretion of adipokines, which include hormones, cytokines and other proteins with specific biological functions.

In obese subjects, white adipocytes have increased release of free fatty acids via lipolysis leading to an overflow of lipids, which has been considered a key reason for obesity-associated insulin resistance and hepatosteatosis for several decades (155). Adipokines mediate the crosstalk between adipose tissue and other key metabolic organs, especially the liver, muscle, and pancreas, as well as the CNS (156). Given this notion, dysfunctions in adipokine pathways can result in impaired organ communications and metabolic abnormalities in multiple tissues, thereby constituting a critical pathological component in the development of metabolic disease (157).

As a secretory organ, adipose tissue displays several unusual characteristics (158). First, adipose tissue is composed of distinct cell types: mature adipocytes and stromal-vascular cells as well as various immune cells (macrophages, T cells, neutrophils, lymphocytes) all of which may contribute to a variable extent to adipose tissue secretory function. Second, adipose tissue is heterogeneous. The different fat depots (visceral and subcutaneous) are different not only in terms of metabolic capacities, but also in adipokine secretion pattern, which may have local indirect consequences on AT by autocrine or

paracrine mechanisms and/or may directly impact the liver for substances produced by intra-peritoneal fat. When the contribution of each depot to systemic levels of adipokines is considered, it should be kept in mind that intra-abdominal fat only represents 15% of total fat in lean and obese individuals (159). Moreover, organs other than AT may contribute to systemic levels of some adipokines.

1.6.1 Adipocyte function and metabolic inflammation

Hotamisligil et al. (1993) (reviewed in (160)) postulated the first functional link between obesity and inflammation by showing that adipose tissue in obese mice secretes TNF α , and they also demonstrated that adipocyte-derived TNF α plays a direct role in obesity-induced insulin resistance. Over the years, this has evolved into a concept of "metabolic inflammation", which has been widely accepted as an important mechanistic connection between obesity and its complications (Hotamisligil 2006) (161). It has been demonstrated that adipose tissue produces an array of cytokines and chemokines such as IL6 and MCP1, which either positively or negatively regulate systemic glucose and lipid metabolism. In 2003, two studies reported that obesity induces macrophage infiltration of adipose tissue in both mice and humans (162)(163), providing an explanation for the source of adipose-derived cytokines but more importantly, demonstrating for the first time the close juxtaposition between immune and metabolic cells in a metabolic organ.

Obesity induces a shift to activated macrophages in adipose tissue leading to increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines and reactive oxygen species (ROS), which induce insulin resistance (164). In recent years, nearly all major immune cells have been identified in adipose tissue and are actively involved in the endocrine function of adipose tissue in systemic metabolic regulation (160). Furthermore, the close physical and signaling interactions between immune and metabolic cells also exist in all major metabolic organs of obese subjects especially the liver, muscle, and pancreas, indicating that metabolic inflammation is a universal feature and a pathological basis for obesity-induced metabolic dysfunction (160).

Several potential underlying causes for obesity-induced adipose inflammation have been proposed in recent years (160). Adipose tissue expansion in the development of obesity can cause hypoxia, which induces compensatory angiogenesis. Infiltrated macrophages in adipose tissue have also been proposed to be a mechanism to remove apoptotic cells (165). In addition, endotoxemia associated with altered gut permeability and obesity might potentiate adipose inflammation (166).

On the other hand, "Inflammation during obesity, is not all bad" (167). Macrophages and proinflammatory cytokines are essential for adipose remodeling and adipocyte differentiation and might be necessary for the body to adapt to the excess energy and maintain metabolic homeostasis (160). Expression of proinflammatory cytokines (leptin, IL-1, TNF- α , IL-6, etc.) is enhanced in adipocytes, macrophages, and lymphocytes (167). On the other hand, to control chronic inflammation, the anti-inflammation molecules (adiponectin, IL-10, etc.) are activated to balance the inflammatory impact (167).

The inflammation may act in the peripheral organs/tissues as well as in the central nervous system to regulate energy balance (168)(169). In the periphery, inflammation may induce fat mobilization and oxidation to promote energy expenditure and may induce energy disposal through glucose excretion in urine as a result of insulin resistance and hyperglycemia. In the central nervous system (CNS), inflammation may inhibit food intake and activate neurons for energy expenditure. If this feedback system is deficient (called "inflammation resistance"), energy expenditure will be interrupted and fat will accumulate in the body, thereby increasing adiposity (168). The anti-inflammatory molecules tend to promote energy (fat and glucose) storage and improve insulin action, whereas the proinflammatory activities facilitate weight loss and yet impair insulin action (167). However, more studies are needed to fully understand the mechanism of beneficial inflammatory responses associated with various stages of obesity.

1.7 Key adipokines in obesity-induced metabolic disorders

1.7.1 Leptin

Leptin is one of the most potent adipocytokines in metabolic regulation and energy hemostasis. Leptin plays a central role in regulating food intake, energy expenditure and neuroendocrine function by signaling nutritional status to other organs especially the hypothalamus (170). Leptin stimulates oxidation of fatty acids in muscles by activating AMP-activated protein kinase (171) and regulates lipogenesis in liver by inhibiting the fatty acid synthesis pathway (172). Therefore, leptin prevents the accumulation of lipids in nonadipose tissues, which can lead to functional impairments known as "lipotoxicity". Antidiabetic beneficial effects of leptin are independent of its regulation of body weight and energy intake (173).

All these effects are mediated mainly via activation of two multiple pathways downstream of leptin receptors (174). The energy balance regulation of leptin is mediated by activation of the JAK–STAT pathway, which is essential for regulation of energy balance and controls expression of anorexic neuropeptides (175). The anti-diabetic effect of leptin is mediated by centrally activating the phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT pathway that stimulates insulin sensitivity in the peripheral tissues (176).

Leptin also has proinflammatoty properties that contribute to its overall effects in body weight regulation through suppressing energy intake and enhancing energy expenditure (168). In addition, leptin has been implicated in a number of immune dysfunctions (177). Interestingly, inflammation induced by metabolic stress also negatively regulates leptin signaling in a manner similar to insulin receptor signaling (178).

Many studies have shown that leptin concentrations are significantly higher in women than men, a finding associated with the higher body fat and intramyocellular content observed in women (125). This difference has been explained by sex hormone effects and different adipose tissue distribution. In men, androgens have a negative association with leptin concentrations (179), and androgen treatment decreases leptin levels in hypogonadal men (180). Estrogen increases leptin concentration (181) and higher leptin

concentrations in women are associated with larger adipocytes and significantly higher expressions in SAT versus VAT (182). Such evidence highlights the role of leptin as a metabolic signal of energy sufficiency (183) as well as leptin resistance observed in states of increased adiposity (184).

Long-term leptin treatment improves hepatic and peripheral glucose metabolism in insulin resistant lipodystrophic patients and improves liver histology (185) (185). Leptin receptors are expressed on hepatic stellate cells and leptin is believed to be involved in liver fibrosis (186). Leptin-deficient mice develop obesity; however, they fail to develop liver fibrosis during steatohepatitis or in response to chronic toxic liver injury (187). Restoration of physiological levels of circulating leptin, but not correction of the obese phenotype by dietary manipulation, restored fibrosis indicating an essential role in developing liver fibrosis (188).

1.7.2 Adiponectin

Adiponectin, a hormone secreted almost exclusively by adipose tissue, is identified as an abundantly-secreted adipokine (189). Adiponectin is an insulin-sensitizing hormone. Adiponectin lowers glucose production in the liver (190) and improves insulin sensitivity in the muscle and liver by increasing FFA oxidation (191). Recombinant adiponectin can enhance insulin action and partially reverse insulin resistance in obese mice (191). Most animal studies (192)(191) but not all (193) have reported that adiponectin deficiency develops into insulin resistance and is associated with inflammatory markers in adipose tissue and reduced responsiveness to PPAR γ . Adiponectin has also antiatherogenic effects as reported previously (reviewed in (160)). In addition, a protective effect in ischemic heart disease through AMPK and cyclooxygenase 2 pathways has been demonstrated (194) Adiponectin signaling is mediated by two adiponectin receptors, adipoR1 and R2 (195). Adiponectin receptors knockout causes lipid accumulation, inflammation, and insulin resistance (196). Clinical studies demonstrated that plasma adiponectin levels decrease in obesity-induced disorders and type 2 diabetic patients (197). Adiponectin levels are also negatively associated with adiposity and fasting glucose (198). Recently, a multi-ethnic meta-analysis indicated that numerous genetic loci associated with adiponectin levels influence the risk of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes (199).

Adiponectin also has anti-inflammatory effects that contribute to its protective role against metabolic stress in obesity. Adiponectin suppresses TNF α production in obese mice (200), and adiponectin-deficient mice have high levels of TNF α in adipose tissue (201). Low levels of plasma adiponectin are associated with increased C-reactive protein in humans (202). Adiponectin enhances the clearance of apoptotic cells by facilitating their opsonization and uptake by macrophages (203). Some of the anti-atherogenic effects of adiponectin are also mediated by its role in the suppression of inflammatory responses. Adiponectin inhibits nuclear factor- κ B (NF κ B) activity and its downstream adhesion molecules leading to reduced monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells (204). In addition, adiponectin confers vascular-protective activities by suppressing the apoptosis of endothelial cells (205)

It has been reported that adiponectin levels are significantly higher in women than in men (206), even after adjusting for differences in BMI (207). This study also found that lower adiponectin levels were more closely associated with hyperglycemia and diabetes in women than in men. Potential reasons for lower adiponectin levels in men than in women may be due to the inhibitory effect of androgens on adiponectin levels (208), higher visceral adiposity, or lower insulin sensitivity in men.

In the liver, adiponectin increases insulin sensitivity and regulates FFA metabolism by suppressing lipogenesis and activation of FFA oxidation (209). Adiponectin levels correlate negatively with liver fat and hepatic insulin resistance in non alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) (210) suggesting that hypoadiponectinemia is part of a metabolic disturbance characterized by central fat accumulation. Moreover, low adiponectin levels are associated with more extensive inflammation in NAFLD patients (211), suggesting an antiinflammatory role of adiponectin in controlling hepatic inflammation. This is highlighted by the fact that adiponectin administered in ob/ob mice alleviates liver steatosis and attenuates inflammation in NAFLD mouse models (212).

1.7.3 Acylation stimulating protein (ASP)

ASP is a 76-amino acid protein, which was recognized early on as an adipokine hormones produced by adipose tissue. In 1988, Cianflone and Sniderman conducted the first studies demonstrating that a protein component detected in circulating blood is responsible for the increased intracellular triglyceride (TG) esterification rates in human skin fibroblasts (213). This protein that was named based on its function—acylation-stimulating protein (ASP)—and was recognized to be identical to C3adesArg (214). Three proteins of the alternative complement system are involved in ASP production: C3, factor B and adipsin, all of which are synthesised and secreted by adipocytes (reviewed in (215)). The concentration and the structure of any one of these precursors may influence immune reaction as well as production of ASP. Following activation of the alternative complement pathway, C3 is proteolytically cleaved by C3 convertase to the chemotactic proinflammatory protein C3a and then immediately desarginated by carboxypeptidase N to a derivative C3a-desArg/ASP.

ASP in circulation increases substantially with overweight and obesity (216), and decreases with weight loss (217). ASP and its component proteins (C3, B and adipsin) have also been shown to be significantly increased in Type 2 diabetes and also in some studies of Type I diabetes (215). Even in non-obese Type 2 diabetics, plasma ASP and C3 levels are increased. ASP also increases in cardiovascular diseases, dyslipidemia as well as metabolic disorders such as familial combined hyperlipidemia (FCHL) and polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) (215)(218)(219).

1.7.1.1 ASP and lipid metabolism

ASP increases triglyceride synthesis in fat-storing cells (reviewed in (215)). The effect is achieved through different ways: 1) ASP stimulates fatty acid incorporation into adipose triglycerides (FIAT). These effects are believed to involve activation of diacylglycerol acyltransferase, the final enzyme of the TG pathway. 2) ASP stimulates glucose transporters (GLUT4, GLUT1) to increase glucose intake in adipose tissue. 3) ASP inhibits intracellular lipolysis via inhibition of hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL)-mediated lipolysis.

1.7.1.2 ASP and Insulin

Previously, insulin was believed to be the major hormone that up-regulated triglyceride synthesis in adipocytes. These effects involve increased lipoprotein lipase activity, increased glucose transport and inhibition of lipolysis by hormone sensitive lipase (HSL) (reviewed in (220)). ASP, however, has been proven to markedly stimulate TG synthesis in a number of cell lines from mice and humans (215). For both FIAT and glucose transport, the effects of ASP are additive and independent to those of insulin (215)(221) a well-recognised lipogenic hormone. In the studies by Van Harmelen et al. (222), in the presence of both insulin and ASP, the combined effect was a reduction in net fatty acid output from the adipocytes, with almost complete (97%) re-esterification and storage of the fatty acid available. Thus, in combination with insulin, ASP can provide a powerful drive for fat storage, at least in isolated cells.

1.7.1.3 ASP-C5L2 pathway, extension of ASP functions

ASP manifests its metabolic and insulin-like effects on human adipocytes via its only known receptor C5L2. C5L2 was discovered in 2000 as a putative orphan receptor (GPR77) (223). C5L2 is expressed in various tissues of myeloid and non-myeloid origin and transcripts were detected in brain, placenta, ovary, testis, spleen and colon (reviewed in (223)). Surface expression of C5L2 was detected in lung, liver, heart, kidney, in adipose tissue and in skin fibroblasts as well as in neutrophils (223). C5L2, initially proposed as a nonfunctional receptor, has been shown to be actively involved in inflammatory conditions such as insulin resistance, asthma, and coronary artery disease (224)(225).

Animal models of the ASP–C5L2 pathway deficiency have been investigated (reviewed in (226)). *ASP*-knockout (KO) mice lacking ASP precursor protein C3 (C3KO), and the *C5L2*-KO mice (C5L2KO), lacking the ASP receptor have been examined. C3KO mice showed a delay in TG clearance, an effect that can be reversed with ASP injection (227)(228)(229) and also show reduced triglyceride synthesis in adipose tissue and increased food consumption. These mice were obesity resistant as they also exhibit increased energy, despite increased food intake. In addition, on a high fat diet, excess fuel in ASP-deficient mice is directed towards increased free fatty oxidation as an energetic fuel

in the skeletal muscle instead of being stored in adipocytes. Consequently, C3KO prevents lipotoxicity in the muscle through augmented lipid transport and mitochondrial usage (227)(228). Interestingly, C5L2KO mice showed some metabolic consequences that are quite similar to C3KO mice supporting the role of C5L2 as a functional ASP receptor, but still remaining controversial. These studies showed beneficial effects of C5L2 disruption. By contrast, in the presence of a high-fat-high-sucrose diet, the absence of C5L2 has been shown to increase insulin resistance (229). Other studies with C5L2KO mice have demonstrated a pathophysiological role for C5L2 in insulin resistance, and lipid metabolism (230)(231)(232)(233).

The significant changes in adipose tissue mass in ASP-deficient mice studies suggest that ASP action on adipose tissue may be mediated in several ways. I) ASP has acute effects on postprandial clearance of TG (lipemia) via influence on adipose tissue storage (234). II) ASP may participate in the recruitment of preadipocytes to become adipocytes (220). In addition, changes in feeding behavior, overall energy expenditure, and physical activity profile suggest effects that are centrally mediated (228). All these studies raise the possibility that ASP actions may not be limited to adipose tissue itself.

1.8 Obesity and Contribution of inflammation

Inflammation, a crucial component of the immune system is a routine response of innate immunity. Chronic inflammation – also called low-grade inflammation – is been associated with the development of several metabolic diseases. During the past decade, low-grade inflammation has come to be regarded as a key feature of obesity, atherosclerosis and type 2 diabetes (T2D) (235).

Two major metabolic organs can help to clarify this concept: liver and adipose tissue. These two organs have a special architectural organization, which is the contiguity of metabolic (adipocyte and hepatocyte) and immune cells (macrophages and Kupfer cells) as well as access to the blood network (Figure 1.4).



Figure 1.4 Architectural organization and proximity of principal metabolic and immune cells in adipose tissue and liver.

Adapted from G. S. Hotamisligil, Nature, vol. 444, no. 7121, pp. 860-7, Dec. 2006.

This arrangement of elements allows an interaction of immune and metabolic cells while both sets of cells have their own distinct roles. In addition, these organs can also signal to other organs, including the pancreas, brain and muscles. The interrelated functions in immune and metabolic cells in adipose and liver can therefore affect whole-body energy homeostasis and the inflammatory state (161). In mice studies, it has been found that obesity induces a proinflammatory profile of classically- activated macrophages (M1) in adipose tissue resulting in immune cell recruitment and low-grade inflammation (236).

1.8.1 Complement system; links between metabolism and inflammation

Complement system: The complement system is an ancient danger-sensing system that recognizes exogenous threats such as conserved microbial motifs as well as endogenous threats including altered-self molecules (e.g. following injury or hypoxia, virus-infection or tumor-related) and apoptotic cells (237). However, the complement system has been implicated in a multitude of processes in the course of development, degeneration, and regeneration (reviewed in (238)). Liver and adipose tissue can generate most of the complement factors. The complement cascade can be activated through three distinctive pathways: the classical, alternative and lectin pathways. The alternative pathway acts as an amplification loop for the classical and lectin pathways and can account for more than 80% of the total activation of the complement system (239) (Figure 1.5).

Anaphylatoxines: The cleavage of C5 and C3 has a central role in complement system activation. Breakdown products - C5a and C3a – are part of the anaphylatoxin family, together with C4a, and induce several biological responses (240). The C3a and C5a are anaphylatoxins with highly potent chemoattractant activity. They regulate vasodilation, increase the permeability of small blood vessels, and induce contraction of smooth muscles (241). In addition to their pro-inflammatory properties they regulate tissue regeneration and tissue fibrosis as well as CNS development (241)(238). In spite of the numerous proinflammatory effects, the main role of C3a appears to be in Th2-type inflammatory reactions. The protection of host from complement activation is through expression of complement regulatory proteins and factors (242), whereas carboxypeptidases (CpN serve

to degrade anaphylatoxins into their less immune active, desarginated (desArg) forms (238) (Figure 1.5).

Complement receptors: The anaphylatoxins bind to a family of three receptors, which belong to the superfamily of G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCR); the C3a receptor (C3aR), C5a receptor (C5aR) and C5a receptor-like 2 (C5L2). C5L2 also been postulated as a receptor for C5a, C5adesArg, C3a and C3adesArg. C5L2 may contribute to signaling induced by C5a and C3a through dimerization with other GPCRs such as C5aR or others (241). It has been suggested that C5L2 is a signaling receptor for ASP (C3adesArg) (243), but may also act as a decoy receptor for C5a, although the exact molecular signaling pathway remains controversial.



Figure 1.5 Generation of complement products and functions.

Adapted from Altan Onat et al. Complement C3 and cleavage products in cardiometabolic risk Clinica Chimica Acta, 2011, 1171 – 1179

1.8.2 C5L2-C5aR interaction

Both C5L2 and C5aR are expressed on myeloid and non-myeloid cells such as adipocytes and preadipocytes, although C5aR mRNA levels are typically higher than C5L2 (244)(245). The two receptors, C5aR and C5L2, have been proposed to have closely linked physical and functional interactions (244)(246) and this has been implicated in inflammatory conditions such as sepsis (247)(248). Likewise, it has been demonstrated that C5aR and C5L2 are both capable of forming homo- and heterodimers (246). Interestingly, both ASP and C5a have been found to stimulate internalization/colocalization of C5aR and C5L2 in J774 macrophages and 3T3-L1 adipocytes (246). The consequences of homo- or heterodimerization are not yet clear; however, this could be linked to alternative signaling or regulatory cell- and ligand-dependent responses to severe inflammatory conditions or metabolic modulations. Although there are only a few studies using C5aR and/or C5L2 antibodies/antagonists or knockout models, the results are consistent with coupling of C5aR and C5L2 in immunity and adipocyte function and signaling are not yet clear.

Roy et al. suggested an immune-metabolic role for C5aR in energy expenditure and fat storage in *in vivo* studies using C5aRKO mice (251), while Lim et al. demonstrated C5a effects on lipid and glucose metabolism in adipocytes by using a C5aR-selective antagonist which interfered with C5a-mediated fatty acid uptake (250). Recently, the well-defined proinflammatory C5a-C5aR pathway has been targeted for pharmacological therapy via inhibition of C5 cleavage, C5a blocking antibodies or C5aR antagonists for treatment of sepsis, cardiovascular diseases, autoimmune disorders, asthma, and psoriasis (251). However, the consequences of interfering with the C5a-C5aR pathway could also have a metabolic impact on C5L2 signaling and this requires clear knowledge and consideration of C5L2 and its ligand- and tissue-specific effects (225).

1.9 Obesity consequences

1.9.1 Health consequences of obesity and morbidity

The health consequences of obesity range from a number of complications that impact nearly all organ systems and results in an increase risk of deadly complications (Figure 1.6). WHO has estimated that worldwide 2.8 million people worldwide die each year as a result of being overweight or obese, and an estimated 35.8 million (2.3%) of global disability-adjusted life-years are caused by overweight or obesity (252).



Figure 1.6 Obesity- related complications

Garrow, J.S. "Obesity and related diseases", 1988, ISBN: 0-443-03798-1

In one large, pooled analysis of prospective studies (253), both overweight and obesity (and possibly underweight) were associated with increased all-cause mortality in

analyses restricted to participants who never smoked and did not have diagnosed cancer or heart disease. The lowest all-cause mortality was generally observed in the BMI range of 20.0 to 24.9. Longer follow-up attenuated the associations with lower BMI levels (253). On average, a BMI of 30–35 reduces life expectancy by 2–4 years while severe obesity (BMI>40) reduces life expectancy by 10 years (254).

Obesity is a major risk factor for several common and important diseases (Figure 1.6) T2D, CVD and certain cancers and is thought to contribute to many more (42). Diabetes and CVD are, together with cancer and chronic respiratory disease, the world's biggest killers, causing an estimated 35 million deaths each year (255). However, although obesity is a risk factor for insulin resistance (IR) and T2D, and a significant risk factor for CVD, not every obese patient is insulin resistant or at high risk of T2D and CVD (256). In Canada, obesity is a major contributor to morbidity and mortality. For instance, 61% to 74% of type 2 diabetes cases, 17% to 32% of osteoarthritis cases, 14% to 21% of colorectal cancers, 8% to 14% of depression cases, and 20% of premature deaths that occur in Canadian adults are estimated to be directly attributable to obesity (28).

1.9. 2 Cardiovascular risk factors and obesity

The global cardiovascular risk is the probability of suffering from a coronary event or stroke in a given period of time (257). There are a number of well-defined classical risk factors for CVD, including smoking, high levels of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), low levels of high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), T2D, and hypertension (117)(258). However, a substantial number of high-risk individuals do not manifest these risk factors. For this reason, it is important to identify tools that can be used together to provide a broader assessment of a patient's overall risk. The most widely used instruments for assessing of cardiovascular disease are the Framingham Risk Score, based on a long-term observational study of a population, and validated on divergent populations, and PROCAM (Prospective Cardiovascular Munster Study) calculator (reviewed in (258)). As mentioned, although obesity is a risk factor for insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes, and a significant risk factor for cardiovascular disease, not every obese patient is insulin resistant or at high risk of T2D and cardiovascular disease (256). This explains why obesity has been an ill-defined modifiable CVD risk factor compared with others such as hypertension, smoking and cholesterol (high LDL)/low HDL) (258).

1.9.3 Metabolic Syndrome

The metabolic syndrome (MetS) refers to a clustering of cardiovascular risk factors that include insulin resistance, obesity, atherogenic dyslipidemia and hypertention (259). The modern concept of MetS began when Reaven proposed that insulin resistance provided a common mechanism underlying the associated abnormalities of blood pressure, HDL-C, triacylglycerol and glucose tolerance (255). Reaven did not include abdominal obesity, which has also been hypothesized to be an underlying factor as part of the condition (260). This pathophysiological concept was not desined for clinical or epidemiological use (255).

There are currently several separate definitions to identify individuals with the metabolic syndrome (Table 1.2). The initial WHO and EGIR classifications required the measurement of insulin resistance and are primarily used in the research environment (261). ATP III classified components of MetS that related to cardiovascular disease. According to ATP III, underlying risk factors for CVD are obesity (especially abdominal obesity), physical inactivity, and atherogenic diet. The major risk factors are cigarette smoking, hypertension, elevated LDL-C, low HDL-C, family history of premature CHD, and aging, and emerging risk factors included elevated TG, small LDL particles, insulin resistance, glucose intolerance, proinflammatory state, and prothrombotic state (262).

Definitions of MetS that were published by the AHA/NHLBI and the IDF enabled clinicians to identify patients at risk for this disorder; but the criteria of these definitions differed slightly (263) (Table 1.2). The five screening variables used to identify those with MetS are waist circumference, circulating levels of triglycerides and of HDL-C, fasting glycemia and blood pressure. In October 2009, these two panels (AHA/NHLBI & IDF) met again and generated in a combined definition of MetS (263). They included the waist circumference cutoff points that are specific to country and population, considering the ethnic heterogeneity of patients.

NO	CRITERIA FOR METABOLIC SYNDROME	OBESITY		DYSLIPIDEMIA		BLOOD PRESSURE	GLUCOSE	INSULIN RESISTANCE (IR)	OTHER
		MALE	FEMALE	MALE	FEMALE				
1	WHO (5th or 6 th + ≥2 criteria) 1999	WHR>0.90 and/ or BMI >30 kg/m2	WHR>0.85 and/or BMI >30 kg/m2	TG ≥150 mg/dL (≥1.7 mM); HDL-C < 35mg/dL (0.9mM)	TG≥150 mg/dL (≥1.7 mM); HDL-C <39 mg/dL (<1mM)	≥140/90 mmHg	T2D, impaired glucose tolerance, impaired fasting glucose	IR measured under hyperinsulinemi ceau glycaemic conditions	urinary albumin excretion rate ≥ 20 ug/min or albumin:creatine ≥30mg/g
2	EGIR	WC>94 cm	WC>80 cm	TG≥177 mg/dL(≥2 mM); HDL-C < 39mg/dL (<1mM)		≥140/90 mmHg or on medication	fasting glucose >110 mg/dL (≥6.1mM)	IR	-
3	NCEP-ATP III (≥3criteria)	Abdominal obesity WC ≥ 88 cm	Abdominal obesity WC ≥ 102 cm	TG≥150 mg/dL(≥1.7 mM); HDL-C <40mg/dL or on therapy	TG≥150 mg/dL; HDL-C <50mg/dL or on therapy	≥130/85 mmHg or on therapy	fasting glucose >110 mg/ dL(≥6.1mM)	-	-
4	AHA/NHLBI or updated NCEP criteria 2005	WC>88 cm (Asian≥80)	WC >102 cm (Asian ≥ 90)	TG≥150 mg/dL (≥1.7 mM); HDL-C <40mg/dL (1.0 mM) or on therapy	TG≥150 mg/dL (≥1.7 mM); HDL-C <50mg/dL or on therapy	≥130/85 mmHg or on therapy	fasting glucose >110 mg/ dL(≥6.1mM)	-	-
5	IDF (1st+ ≥2 other criteria) 2005	Ethnicity-specific WC (≥90 cm for men and ≥80 for women)		TG≥150 mg/dL(≥1.7 mM); HDL-C <40mg/dL(1.03) or on therapy	TG≥150 mg/dL (≥1.7 mM); HDL-C < 50mg/dL(1.03) or on therapy	≥130/85 mmHg or on thrapy	fasting glucose >110 mg/dL(≥5.6 mM)	-	-

 Table 1.2 Metabolic syndrome diagnostic criteria

Adapted from Gupta A, Gupta V. Metabolic syndrome: what are the risks for humans? BioScience Trends. 2010; 4(5): 204-212.

1.9. 3.1 Prevalence of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular diseases

The prevalence of metabolic syndrome has increased dramatically in recent years. The increasing prevalence of metabolic syndrome contributes to an increase in the prevalence of CVD and diabetes. Various studies based on the results of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) indicate that over a 10- to 15-year period, the prevalence of obesity, MetS and diabetes has increased by 35%, 48%, and 19%, respectively (reviewed in (264)). Prevalence of MetS will clearly vary depending on the definition applied, the ethnicity and age of the study population (261). The prevalence of MetS is approximately 34.6% in the United States, 17.8–34.0% in Europe and 12.8–41.1% in Asia (265). The prevalence increases linearly from the age of 20 until age 50, when it reaches a plateau (260). Hispanics and African-Americans have the greatest risk for developing MetS, followed by Caucasians. Asians have the lowest risk, at least in the United States (260). One report suggested that MetS could be responsible for approx 7% of total mortality, regardless of the cause, and up to 17% of CVD (266). Similarly, a report from the Framingham Heart Offspring Study showed that the contribution of MetS to the risk of CVD was 34% in men and 16% in women (267). In that analysis, the components of the syndrome that contributed most to the CVD outcomes were high blood pressure (33%) and low HDL-cholesterol (25%). A meta-analysis of 37 longitudinal studies found a 78% increased risk for CVD events and death in people with MetS (268).

1.9. 3.2 Pathogenesis of metabolic syndrome

There is no accepted central underlying mechanism (255), but based on current definitions of metabolic syndrome, it may be divided into four central features:

1- Insulin resistance: In insulin resistance, three predominant tissues that use glucose; adipose, muscle and liver, do not respond appropriately to insulin, and circulating glucose levels remain high, which leads to pathological states. Insulin increases local blood flow in tissues through the activation of endothelial nitric oxide (NO), leading to vasodilation effects in capillary (few minutes) and in larger-resistance vessels (by 2 hours) (reviewed in (259)). Both of these effects contribute to increased delivery of glucose and

insulin into tissues. The vascular effects of insulin couple glucose homeostasis with blood flow and contribute to glucose metabolism at physiological concentrations of insulin (269). Thus, insulin signaling coordinately affects peripheral glucose use, vascular tone and blood flow. In insulin resistance, inhibition of PI3K pathway, which mediates the metabolic effects of insulin (glucose, lipid and protein metabolism), leads to a reduction in endothelial nitric oxide production, resulting in endothelial dysfunction (259). This abnormality, in addition to a reduction in GLUT4 translocation, leads to decreased skeletal muscle glucose uptake (270). Hence, the mechanisms that contribute to insulin resistance can also affect vascular function (reviewed in (259)).

2- Visceral adiposity: Visceral fat in comparison with the subcutaneous tissue, represent a metabolically active organ, strongly related to insulin resistance (271). Adipocytes from visceral fat have a very different histology and biology from subcutaneous fat (100). Subcutaneous fat tissue is characterized by small, insulin-sensitive adipocytes, without vascular stroma and cellular infiltration. Fat taken from visceral compartments and composed of large, insulin resistance adipocytes, has a well-developed vasculature with infiltration of inflammatory cell (272).

In a review article by J.P. Déspres et al. (117), 3 scenarios have been proposed to explain the relation of visceral adiposity to the metabolic syndrome (Figure 1.7): (1) The "portal/visceral hypothesis" proposes that the hyperlipolytic state of the omental adipose tissue contributes to expose the liver high concentrations of free fatty acids into portal vein of obese subjects leading to hyperinsulinemia, hyperglycemia (increased hepatic glucose production), and hypertriglyceridemia (increased VLDL-apolipoprotein B secretion). (2) The "endocrine paradigm hypothesis" postulates that adipose tissue, as an endocrine organ, is a source of adipokines and inflammatory cytokines which contribute to the metabolic consequences of the presence of visceral obesity. (3) Ectopic adipose tissue depots, which surround organs and blood vessels, are a result of the relative inability of subcutaneous adipose tissue to act as a protective metabolic sink because of its inability to expand (lipodystrophy) or because it has become hypertrophied, dysfunctional and insulin resistant.



Figure 1.7 Proposed mechanisms by which visceral obesity could be linked to the atherothrombotic-inflammatory abnormalities of insulin resistance

Adapted from Després J et al. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2008; 28:1039-1049

3- Atherogenic dyslipidemia: Insulin resistance and visceral obesity are associated with atherogenic dyslipidemia. The key features of atherogenic dyslipidemia are high plasma triglyceride levels, low HDL cholesterol levels and increases in small, dense LDL (272) . Insulin resistance leads to atherogenic dyslipidemia in three proposed mechanisms (reviewed in (269)): First, insulin normally suppresses lipolysis in adipocytes; so impaired insulin signaling increases lipolysis, resulting in increased FFA levels. In the liver, FFAs serve as a substrate for the synthesis of triglycerides. FFAs also stabilize the production of apoB, the major lipoprotein of VLDL particles, resulting in more VLDL production. Second, insulin normally degrades hepatic apoB through PI3K-dependent pathways, so insulin resistance directly increases VLDL production. Third, insulin regulates the activity of lipoprotein lipase, the rate-limiting and major mediator of VLDL clearance.

4- Endothelial dysfunction: All the components of MetS can individually impair endothelial function (265). Endothelial dysfunction is the final common pathway between many cardiovascular risk factors and the development of atherosclerosis (259). Several mechanisms are implicated in the pathogenesis of endothelial dysfunction. Decreased NO availability appears to play a major role and may result from reduced NO production and/or increased inactivation by reactive oxygen species (273). In addition, reduced availability of other vasodilating agents (including prostacyclin and endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factors) and/or increased production or activity of vasoconstrictive substances (including endothelin-1 and angiotensin II) are also implicated (265).

1.9. 3.3 Diagnosis of metabolic syndrome: waist circumference challenge

Regarding the association between visceral adiposity and the presence of the features of metabolic syndrome, the measurement of waist circumference (WC) has been proposed as a crude anthropometric correlate of abdominal and visceral adiposity (271). In IDEA study (International Day for the Evaluation of Abdominal Obesity), which evaluated 168,000 patients on five continents, it was clearly found that, independent of BMI, waist circumference was consistently associated with the prevalence of T2D (274). In addition, at any given BMI value, patients with diabetes had a higher WC, showing the clear discriminating value of the WC (275). Imaging studies have revealed that this association between risk of diabetes and enlarged waist circumference is attributable mainly to visceral adipose tissue accumulation, which has been shown to be a major risk factor for the development of T2D (276). The NCEP-ATP III made an index of abdominal adiposity (assessed by WC) and not obesity (assessed by BMI) as 1 of 5 criteria on which clinicians could diagnose the syndrome. However, the relationship of WC to abdominal adiposity, especially visceral or intra-abdominal obesity, is age- and gender- as well as ethnicity-dependent (100).

Some studies have indicated that African-American women have lower amounts of VAT for a given waist circumference, BMI, or WHR compared to white women (277). Thus, a given anthropometric measurement may represent different amounts of VAT and/or SAT in different racial/ethnic groups. Furthermore, if VAT is the underlying culprit

contributing to metabolic risk, current BMI and waist circumference cutoff points to define risk may overestimate or underestimate risk in different racial/ethnic groups (278). Regarding ethnicity, the IDF has recognized this problem and proposed to lower the WC cut-offs (which is a mandatory criterion in IDF evaluation of metabolic syndrome) for some ethnic groups (117). However, although WC is a fairly good correlate of amount of total abdominal fat, it cannot distinguish visceral adiposity from amount of subcutaneous abdominal fat (117).

As a simple initial screening approach distinguishing visceral obesity from subcutaneously obese patients, Després and his colleagues have previously proposed that the simultaneous presence of fasting hypertriglyceridemia and an increased WC (hypertriglyceridemia waist) could represent a simple clinical phenotype to identify patients with an excess of visceral adipose tissue (117). Recently, some studies have indicated that neck circumference may also be an independent correlate of metabolic risk factors above and beyond BMI and waist circumference (279).

1.9.4 Fatty liver

Alcoholic and nonalcoholic fatty liver diseases represent the two common metabolic disorders and important causes of liver disease. They both consist of a spectrum ranging from simple hepatic steatosis, to steatohepatitis, liver fibrosis and cirrhosis (280)(281). With the availability of magnetic resonance spectroscopy, very strong associations have been reported between liver fat content and features of the cardiometabolic risk profile predicting risk of type 2 diabetes and CVD (282)(283).

Considering that liver is a central organ for the control of carbohydrate and lipid metabolism (284) and a major site of insulin uptake and degradation as well as some study results (282)(285), it has been suggested that the associations between visceral adiposity and metabolic complications could be entirely explained by the concomitant increases in liver fat content, although reported correlations between coronary atherosclerotic calcification and visceral adipose tissue are stronger than with liver fat (286).

It has been suggested that a high liver fat content, associated with abdominal obesity, may result in a reduced hepatic extraction of insulin, leading to increased intrahepatic insulin exposure (286). In addition, hepatic glucose output is increased among subjects with a high liver fat content (287). This phenomenon contributes to insulin resistance and can explain the hyperglycemic state of type 2 diabetes.

The fatty liver releases more triglyceride-rich lipoproteins through an overproduction of large VLDL1 particles (103). Increased lipid availability also protects apolipoprotein B against its local degradation in the hepatocyte, explaining the elevated plasma apolipoprotein B concentrations observed among individuals with a high liver fat content (288). Thus, a high liver fat content can, by itself, largely explain the hyperinsulinemic, hyperglycemic, hypertriglyceridemic, and elevated apolipoprotein B dysmetabolic state of visceral obesity without involving a specific contribution of visceral adipose tissue (288). Steatosis and steatohepatitis could be derivable to the combined effects of insulin resistance and relative failure of adipokine mediators. Visceral fat has been postulated to play an important role via the release of free fatty acids and adipokines directly into the portal circulation. Indeed, the surgical removal of visceral, but not subcutaneous abdominal fat, improves peripheral and hepatic insulin sensitivity in some studies (289)(290).

Studies suggest that the contribution of FFAs derived from visceral fat lipolysis to hepatic triglyceride content is relatively small. Only 5%–20% of the fatty acids entering the portal circulation originate from visceral adipose tissue (291), the remainder is derived from upper and lower body subcutaneous fat. Furthermore, only ~60 % (277) of triglycerides within steatotic livers originate from adipose tissue–derived fatty acids (i.e., lipolysis) (292). However, the metabolic connection of visceral fat and hepatic fat is unlikely to be mediated via fatty acid delivery and uptake alone.

1.9. 4.1 Fatty liver and the complement system; confluence of metabolic and inflammation

Inflammatory response to steatosis and fat accumulation in hepatocytes can be linked via complement components. In alcoholic fatty liver disease, excessive ethanol consumption results in disturbances in lipid metabolism including increased lipogenesis, reduced lipolysis, reduced AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) activity, production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and pro-inflammatory cytokines, and activation of natural killer cells (reviewed in (293)).

In this context, C3-deficient mice have been found to be protected from alcoholinduced steatosis and from microvesicular and macrovesicular hepatic triglyceride accumulation (294)(295). In addition, C3-deficient mice on an ethanol diet have a decreased expression of lipogenic enzymes, elevated serum and liver adiponectin levels, and a reduced ethanol-mediated induction of serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) activity (294)(295)(296). Whereas, mice deficient in C5 are not protected from steatosis but instead display decreased serum ALT and hepatic inflammation (296). Thus, C3 and C5 may contribute through different mechanisms to the pathogenesis of alcohol-induced liver disease. A role for the classical complement pathway in alcoholic liver disease has also been demonstrated (297).

Patients with NAFLD showed increased C3 deposition and plasma C3 and ASP levels that correlate with insulin resistance (298)(299). The accumulation of C3 in biopsies of NAFLD patients is associated with higher hepatic lectin and classic complement pathway, as well as higher hepatocyte apoptosis, neutrophil infiltration, and IL-8 and IL-6 expression. All these factors are positively correlated with the degree of steatosis (300). Furthermore, patients with progressive Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis (NASH) have elevated expression of hepatic C3 (301). However, because liver function is decreased in cirrhosis, the serum concentrations of C3 and C4 are reduced in severe cirrhosis (302). Some, but not all (295)(303) rodent studies have reported that mice given a high-fat diet showed enhanced hepatic expression of Factor D/adipsin, a key component of the alternative pathway, suggesting a possible role for this complement component in the development of NAFLD (302). Interestingly, liver highly expresses C5L2 (243), which is associated in vitro (243) and in vivo (230) with triglyceride synthesis. C3-/- mice and C5L2-deficient mice on a high-fat diet are prone to develop enhanced hepatic steatosis as a result of increased hepatic triglyceride content, increased lipogenesis-related gene expression, hepatic glucose uptake, and reduced fatty acid oxidation, as determined by hydroxyacyl-
Coenzyme A dehydrogenase activity (230)(294)(296). Together, these findings, suggest a protective role for C3 and C5L2 in the development of hepatic steatosis.

The role of complement factor C3 in partial hepatectomy-induced liver regeneration has been investigated. Hepatectomy is associated with transient fat accumulation in the liver as a result of the induction of lipogenic enzymes (304). However, C3-deficient mice develop enhanced steatosis after partial hepatectomy. This effect is likely a result of the absence of ASP, as shown by ASP reconstitution experiments (305). Interestingly, complement is also linked to the regulation of the subsequent proliferative response. Mice deficient in either C3 or C5 show increased lethality and decreased regenerative potential after partial hepatectomy (306)(307)(308). Double deficiency in C3 and C5 results in an aggravated phenotype, which can be reversed by concomitant administration of C3a and C5a (306)(307).

Finally, a role for C5L2 and ASP in liver regeneration has also been suggested, since administration of ASP in C3–/– mice restores adequate liver regeneration (305). Given the detrimental actions of complement, and especially C3, as pro-inflammatory molecules in hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury (309), a delicate balance must exist between complement-mediated injury and regeneration (305). In particular, C3 deficiency or C3 inhibition protects mice from hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury (303). However, when is obesity, which normally exacerbates ischemia/reperfusion injury (303). However, when ischemia-reperfusion injury is combined with partial hepatectomy, C3 deficiency results in more severe hepatic injury (305).

1.10 Metabolically Healthy Obese, a controversial issue?

Since 1980, a range of metabolically healthy and unhealthy obese and non-obese phenotypes has been recognized (310). The obese phenotype may exist in the absence of metabolic abnormalities such as dyslipidaemia, insulin resistance, hypertension and an unfavorable inflammatory profile. These individuals are referred to as "metabolically healthy obese (MHO)". Similarly, not all non-obese individuals present a healthy metabolic profile.

1.10.1 Defining "metabolically healthy obesity"

Several definitions are currently used to describe metabolic health, resulting in a wide variation in prevalence estimates from 6–40 % of the obese population (reviewed in (311)). There are several limitations to defining "metabolically healthy obesity": Firstly, there is no standard metabolic health definition, different inclusion criteria have been used to distinguish metabolically healthy from unhealthy subjects thus making comparisons between studies difficult. For example, not all metabolic health definitions include insulin resistance (Aguilar-Salinas (312), Meigs (313)), blood pressure or fasting plasma glucose concentrations (Karelis (314)), while others consider inflammatory markers (Wildman (315)).

Secondly, the limitations in different methods to define obesity, in addition to BMI, ethnic and sex specific waist circumference cut-points and body fat percentage (BF%), derive from a range of body composition methods, and are also used to define abdominal and overall obesity, respectively (311). While waist circumference correlates with visceral adipose tissue, it does not take into account depot-specific body fat. On the other hand, BMI cannot recognize differences between lean and fat body mass, therefore persons of short stature or muscular build may be misclassified. The comparison of the association between BMI, WC and BF% with cardiovascular risk factors has shown that waist circumference and BF% were more strongly associated with MetS and CVD risk, respectively (316). In addition, data from a large cross-sectional study suggests that using BMI may underestimate obesity prevalence (317). Furthermore, recent examination of

markers of glucose metabolism according to obesity classification revealed that BF% might be a better determinant for pre-diabetes and T2D development (318).

1.10.2 Mortality and the metabolically healthy obese

A recent large systematic review and meta-analysis of 2.88 million individuals confirmed significantly higher all-cause mortality with obesity when all grades are combined (319). Interestingly, however, individuals obese with BMI 30 to <35 kg/ (grade 1) were not associated with higher mortality. These conflicting findings may be, at least in part, accounted for by different obesity-associated metabolic health phenotypes.

Conflicting results have been reported from a few prospective studies tracking the development of cardiometabolic disease and mortality in MHO (reviewed in (311)). These finding have reported that, for most metabolic health definitions, obese subjects, whether metabolically healthy or not, carry an elevated risk of CVD and mortality (reviewed in (311)). These findings suggest that the MHO phenotype is not as benign and apparently healthy as initially considered (311). In contrast a number of studies have reported MHO individuals not to be at increased risk of CVD and all-cause mortality (320).

It has been suggested that the MHO phenotype starts in childhood and persists into adulthood (321). Whether the metabolic health status of obese individuals transitions between healthy and unhealthy states over time is unclear, but it may account for the observed decreasing MHO prevalence with age (321). However it is possible that transition between MHO and metabolically unhealthy obese over the follow-up period, as well as a lack of a unique MHO definition and different follow-up times, may account for conflicting findings regards CVD and mortality outcomes (311). Previous prospective studies have considered the MHO phenotype as a static condition. A recent longitudinal study found that persistent MHO status was associated with favorable cardiometabolic outcomes, but that MHO status was transient for one third of subjects (322) suggesting that metabolically unhealthy obese is a progressive phenotype along which MHO represents a dynamic intermediate stage. Future studies examining MHO would benefit from including longitudinal followup to allow differences in disease incidences, examination of transition between MHO and metabolically unhealthy obese, and all-cause mortality risk according to different MHO criteria to be ascertained (311).

1.10.3 Determinants of metabolically healthy obese

Diet and life style factors: Although it is clear that both diet composition and lifestyle factors such as physical activity are significant contributors to the obesity epidemic, evidence supporting the role of diet and physical activity in MHO has been inconsistent to date (323), which may reflect the range of metabolic health criteria used to define MHO as well as limited data available. Despite some conflicting findings, which may have arisen due to inconsistencies in how metabolic health was defined, collectively, these data suggest that the beneficial effects of physical activity on cardiometabolic risk factors are evident even among obese subjects (311).

Inflammatory markers: Some studies have shown more favorable inflammatory status among MHO subjects (reviewed in (311)). A small study of obese subjects undergoing bariatric surgery recently demonstrated that adipose tissue in MHO individuals is characterized by smaller fat cells, reduced macrophage infiltration and a more favorable inflammatory profile (324). In contrast Wildman et al., reported that despite not finding increased 10-year risk of CVD among metabolically healthy overweight/obese women these subjects still displayed abnormal levels of inflammatory markers (325). These conflicting findings may be accounted for by differences in ethnicity and age-group, small subject numbers in some studies and limited inflammatory profiling together with different metabolic health criteria being used to define MHO (reviewed in (326)). Indeed a recent comparative study investigating inflammatory markers according to different definitions of MHO concluded that the associations between pro-inflammatory cytokines and MHO are definition dependent (327).

Adipocytokines: Previously, one study examined a range of adipocytokines and did not report any differences between obese subjects with or without the MetS (328). On the other hand, higher adiponectin levels have been reported among MHO subjects (312)(329).

Data from mice studies suggest that increased adiponectin levels promote metabolic flexibility of adipose tissue (330). Thus the raised levels observed in MHO may partly account for their ability to maintain proper metabolic function under metabolically challenging circumstances (311). Another recent study has reported that metabolically healthy obese and non-obese subjects presented with lower complement component C3 concentrations and, depending on metabolic health definition, also lower levels of CRP, IL-6, TNF- α , plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) and WBCs and higher adiponectin concentrations (331).

These data suggest that significant differences in inflammatory profiles between MHO and metabolically unhealthy obese individuals (311)(326). Therefore, reduced inflammatory status increases the likelihood of metabolic health, particularly among obese subjects (320). These findings support the hypothesis that MHO adipose tissue has enhanced adipogenic capacity resulting in increased lipid storage and reduced metabolic dysfunction such as insulin resistance and lipotoxicity (311).

1.11 Obesity treatment

Obesity must be considered as a chronic disease associated with multiple comorbidities and, thus, any treatment approach must also be multifaceted and reflect the complex etiology of obesity. The two main non-surgical approaches for the treatment of obesity and related complications are lifestyle interventions and pharmacotherapy.

The guidelines published by the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute in 1998, suggest "weight reduction of 5%–10% from baseline is associated with improvements in cardiometabolic risk", with consequent reductions in obesity-related morbidity and mortality rates (332) ((333)Pi-Sunyer, Becker DM, Bouchard, et al 1998). Weight should be lost at a rate of 1 to 2 pounds per week based on a calorie deficit of 500–1000 kcal/day" (333). The two main non-surgical approaches for the treatment of obesity and related complications are lifestyle interventions with adjunctive pharmacotherapy. Although lifestyle modification remains the cornerstone of obesity interventions, its effectiveness is frequently limited by significant weight regain in the long-term. Bariatric surgery has become a standard of care in managing patients with a BMI > 40 or BMI > 35 with serious obesity-related co-morbidities (Table 1.3).

T-LL 1 2	Devietnie		··· 1: 4:
Table 1.5	Bariatric	surgery	indications

INDICATIONS OF BARIATRIC SURGERY				
BMI ≥ 40				
BMI ≥35 with obesity-related comorbid conditions, such as				
 Hypertension Impaired glucose tolerance Diabetes mellitus Hyperlipidemia Obstructive sleep apnea 				
Documented failure of medical management (diet + exercise; medication)				
Psychological ability to undergo surgery				
Absence of other chronic disease				

Adapted from Abeles, Deborah, Shikora, Scott A 2004

Available procedures include laparoscopic and open Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB), sleeve gastrectomy, adjustable gastric band, vertical banded gastroplasty, duodenal switch and biliopancreatic diversion (334). RYGB is currently the most widely performed bariatric surgical procedure. In a meta-analysis of 136 studies including 22,094 patients, RYGB resulted in an average excess body weight loss of 62%, with resolution of diabetes in 84%, of hypertension in 68%, of obstructive sleep apnea in 81%, and improved hyperlipidaemia in 97% (335).

Biliopancreatic diversion (BPD) is one of the most effective operations. This technic has gained wide acceptance, especially in European and Canadian obesity clinics owing to an approximately 70% long term excess weight loss, ameliorating type 2 diabetes, and correcting many features of the metabolic syndrome (336). This operation is both restrictive and malabsorptive. It involves a partial gastrectomy, with the gastric remnant anastomosed to the distal ileum (Figure 1.8).



The proximal ileum is also anastomosed to the terminal ileum, creating a common channel approximately 50 to 100 cm from the ileocecal valve (337)(334). This approach leads to diversion of bile and pancreatic secretions to the distal small bowel, thereby creating a mild form of malabsorption and major changes in the secretion of gastrointestinal

peptides (338)(337). Biliopancreatic diversion (BPD) is one of the most effective operations: it significantly reduces the morbidity and mortality associated with severe obesity by inducing significant, long-term weight loss, ameliorating type 2 diabetes, and correcting many features of the metabolic syndrome (336). The diverting bile, and pancreatic secretions to the distal small bowel resulting in decreased fat absorption (339)(340) and major changes in the secretion of gastrointestinal peptides (341)(338)(342). Superior outcomes of diversionary procedures such as gastric bypass (343)(344) and BPD (343)(344) are related to altered hormonal signals associated with obesity and food intake.

Unlike non-surgery intervention, the effects of bariatric surgery seem to be sustained in the long term. The recently updated Swedish Obese Subjects Study demonstrated mean changes in body weight after bariatric surgery -23% (at 2 years), -17% (at 10 years), -16% (at 15 years) and -18% (at 20 years) (345). Despite proven efficacy and the fact that mortality from bariatric surgery is comparable to that of cholecystectomy or appendectomy in bariatric centers with high surgical volumes, it is estimated that less than 1% of obese subjects who qualify for bariatric surgery are the main hurdles for widespread use. Early complications of bariatric surgery are the main hurdles for widespread use. Early complications include anastomotic leaks, internal hernias, thromboembolic events, bowel obstruction, GI hemorrhage and wound complications. Late complications include gallstone formation, marginal ulceration, anastomotic stricture, incisional hernia, gastro-gastric fistula, dumping syndrome, micronutrient deficiencies and weight regain.

Current obesity treatment guidelines do not distinguish between MHO and metabolically unhealthy obese subjects, and recommend weight loss for all obese individuals, starting with lifestyle intervention (333). There is no suggestion that MHO individuals should not be treated, but stratification of obese individuals based on their metabolic health phenotype may be important in the early identification of those who should be prioritized for pharmacological and lifestyle intervention and in determining the most appropriate therapeutic strategy (311).

1.11.1 Do we need a gender-specific approach for obesity?

In spide of lacking strong evidence to support major gender differences in weight loss response to dietary restriction, some studies do suggest that females lose less weight with a comparable degree of energy restriction than do males even after matching for initial body weight (347). Women have been shown to lose less weight than men after bariatric surgery (348). As mentioned before, physical exercise as an approach to weight loss may be less effective in women than in men (86). Furthermore, studies consistently find that men lose more visceral fat during weight loss than do women (349), an effect also seen in mice subjected to caloric restriction or lipectomy (350). Postmenopausal women lose less visceral fat during weight reduction than premenopausal women (351), a finding likely related to the important role of estrogen in regulating abdominal fat stores in women as discussed above.

With regard to long-term regulation of body weight and energy balance, some studies have suggested that consuming more frequent, smaller meals is associated with lower body weight (352). It appears, however, that the effect of meal frequency on the regulation of energy balance differs between men and women; while the relationship between increased meal frequency and reduced appetite/body weight is strong in men, it is absent in women (353)(354). This difference has been explained by sex differences in fat-free mass, such that meal frequency is a function of energy expenditure only in those individuals with high fat-free mass (i.e. men) (354). These data raise this question that if consuming more frequent small meals throughout the day is more effective for weight regulation in men than women. However, a recent weight loss intervention has shown no difference in weight loss, reduction in waist circumference, and fat or lean mass when the same amount of energy is consumed as frequent meals or less frequent meals (85). Further research is needed, however, in order to determine whether this finding from epidemiological observations can be translated into clinical interventions.

Sex differences have also been reported in the reduction of health risk factors with weight loss. In the Diabetes Prevention Program, a large randomized trial of lifestyle vs. metformin in adults at high risk for developing diabetes, weight loss of >3% of body

weight produced a greater reduction in serum glucose, insulin and lipids in men than in women (355). In the Stanislas Family Study conducted in France (356), weight gain over 5 years was related to cardiometabolic risk factors in a sex-specific way. While weight gain worsened blood pressure, serum lipids and uric acid in both men and women, apolipoprotein A1 and several liver enzymes were worsened only in men, and serum high sensitivity C-reactive protein and haptoglobin (inflammatory markers) were worsened only in women (356).

1.12 Objectives and hypotheses

The global epidemic of obesity is now recognized as one of the most important public health problems facing the world today. It has become increasingly evident that white adipose tissue-derived adipokines mediate the link between obesity-related exogenous factors (diet, lifestyle) and various biologic events (such as pre and post menopausal status) that lead to obesity consequences (cardiometabolic disorders). Here, in this thesis, I present data on recently-described adipokines, with particular attention to the roles of ASP in such conditions.

In the first study, I investigated effects of diet, sugar-sweetened beverages, on circulating Acylation Stimulating Protein, Leptin & Adiponectin and their associations with metabolic parameters. I hypothesized that long-term sugar consumption leads to changes in circulating levels of the adipocyte hormones ASP, adiponectin, and leptin, both in the fasting and postprandial states.

In the second study, I evaluated fasting serum ASP in a relatively high-risk Turkish adult population in relationship with cardio-metabolic risk factors. I hypothesized that cardiometabolic risk factors in a high-risk population may be associated with high ASP levels.

In the third study, I investigated the association of circulating ASP and C3 related receptors in adipose depots with plasma levels of ovarian hormones and adiponectin as well as metabolic syndrome parameters among women (pre-menopausal and post-menopausal). I hypothesized that both circulating ASP levels and gene expression of related proteins in subcutaneous and omental adipose tissue would be influenced by sex hormones in women.

In the fourth study, I investigated ovarian sex hormones, adipokines and metabolic factors and their association with gene expression (mRNA) of ASP-related proteins in liver tissue of pre and postmenopausal severely obese women. I hypothesized that hepatic gene expression of immune complement C3-related receptors (C3aR, C5aR and C5L2) would be associated with pre/post-menopausal status and metabolic profile in severely obese.

Chapter 2

Effects of Sugar-sweetened Beverages on circulating Acylation Stimulating Protein, Leptin & Adiponectin: Associations with Metabolic Parameters

Reza Rezvani, Katherine Cianflone, John P. McGahan, Lars Berglund, Nancy L. Keim, Steven C. Griffen, Peter J. Havel, Kimber Stanhope.

Obesity (Silver Spring), 2013

2.1 Résumé

Des sujets consommant des breuvages édulcorés au fructose ou au glucose pour une période de 10 semaines ont démontré des gains de poids et une masse grasse comparables. Les sujets ayant reçu du fructose ont développé un volume de gras viscéral plus grand, une dérégulation lipidique et une baisse de sensibilité à l'insuline vs les sujets recevant du glucose. L'objectif de cette étude était d'évaluer l'effet de la consommation de glucose et de fructose sur la production d'adipokines et les relations avec le métabolisme et la sensibilité à l'insuline. Des sujets obèses ont reçu 25% de leur apport calorique journalier à partir de boissons sucrées au glucose ou au fructose pour 8 semaines suivi de 2 semaines de retour à une diète balancée.

Les concentrations postprandiales d'ASP étaient significativement élevées aux semaines 2 et 8 et ce changement corrélait avec leurs niveaux de triglycérides sanguins. L'adiponectine était significativement réduite à la semaines 10 dans les deux groupes et corrélait de façon inverse avec le volume de tissu adipeux intra-abdominal. Les profils de leptine étaient plus élevés avec le groupe obtenant du glucose et ceux-ci corrélaient avec les changements des niveaux d'insuline sur 24 heures. Ces changements des niveaux d'adipokines pourraient contribuer à la dysfonction métabolique induite par la consommation de fructose.

2.2 Abstract

Background: Subjects consuming fructose- or glucose-sweetened beverages for 10 weeks gained comparable amounts of body weight and fat mass. However, fructose consumption increased intra-abdominal fat volume, promoted lipid dysregulation, and decreased insulin sensitivity, but glucose consumption did not. Objective: To evaluate fructose and glucose consumption effects on plasma ASP, adiponectin, and leptin concentrations in these subjects, and to determine the relationship with changes in energy intake, body weight, adiposity, circulating triglycerides, and insulin sensitivity. Study design: 32 overweight/obese adults consumed glucose- or fructose-sweetened beverages that provided 25% of their energy requirements along with their usual ad libitum diets for 8 weeks. They then consumed the sweetened beverages for 2 weeks, as part of a standardized, energy-balanced diet. Plasma hormone and lipid concentrations were measured at baseline and 2, 8 and 10 weeks intervention, and body adiposity and insulin sensitivity were measured at baseline and 10 weeks. Results: Fasting and postprandial ASP concentrations were significantly increased at 2 and/or 8 weeks when the sugar-sweetened beverages were consumed with ad libitum diets. Increases in ASP correlated with changes in late-evening triglycerides concentrations. The presence of metabolic syndrome risk factors influenced changes of postprandial ASP. At 10 weeks fasting adiponectin levels were significantly decreased in both groups of subjects, with the decreases being inversely associated with baseline intra-abdominal fat volume. Sugar consumption increased fasting leptin concentrations and these increases were associated with the changes in body weight. 24-h leptin profiles were increased during glucose compared with fructose consumption, and correlated with changes of 24-h insulin levels. Conclusion: Sugar consumption increased ASP, fasting and postprandial leptin concentrations and decreased adiponectin. These changes were, respectively, associated with changes of postprandial triglycerides, body weight, 24-h circulating insulin concentrations and baseline intra-abdominal fat volume. These changes in adjockines may further contribute to fructose-induced metabolic dysfunction.

2.3 Introduction

Consumption of fructose at 25% of energy requirement for 10 weeks increased de novo lipogenesis (DNL), increased visceral adipose deposition, promoted lipid dysregulation, and decreased insulin sensitivity in older, overweight/obese men and women ⁽¹⁾. None of these adverse effects were observed in a group of subjects consuming glucose, who gained the same amount of weight as the subjects consuming fructose (\sim 1.4 kg) ⁽¹⁾. These results are important because they illustrate that the major dietary sugars, fructose and glucose, have markedly different metabolic effects in humans, and that the differences are independent of weight gain.

It is well known that the circulating concentrations of acylation stimulating hormone (ASP), leptin and adiponectin; adipocyte hormones which are regulators of lipid metabolism and/or insulin sensitivity; are affected by changes in body weight and body fat mass and distribution ^(2,3,4,5). Less is known about their modulation in response to the macronutrient content of the diet, and sugars in particular. The objective of this study was to determine the effects of fructose and glucose consumption on circulating ASP, leptin and adiponectin levels in the same subjects who consumed 25% of energy requirement as fructose- or glucose-sweetened beverages for 10 weeks ⁽¹⁾. We also investigated how the effects of fructose and glucose on these hormones related to the previously reported ⁽¹⁾ changes in energy balance, body adiposity, circulating lipids, and insulin sensitivity in these subjects.

ASP is identical to C3a-des-Arg, and is produced through interaction of three proteins of the alternate complement system: C3, factor B, and adipsin (factor D), all of which are synthesized and secreted by adipocytes ⁽⁵⁾. ASP increases triglyceride (TG) synthesis in adipose tissue through (i) increasing glucose transport via translocation of glucose transporters Glut 1, 2, and 3 ⁽⁶⁾; (ii) stimulating fatty acid uptake and esterification ⁽⁷⁾; through (iii) increasing the activity of enzymes related to fat storage, such as diacylglycerol-acyltransferase ⁽⁸⁾, thereby (iv) enhancing the efficiency of lipoprotein lipase (LPL) ^(9,10) which hydrolyses chylomicron TG ⁽¹¹⁾ by reducing fatty acid inhibition and (v) by inhibiting hormone sensitive lipase ⁽¹²⁾. Adiposity is an important determinant of

circulating ASP levels, which are elevated in obese subjects ⁽¹³⁾ and decrease with weight loss ⁽¹⁴⁾, although this is not the only determinant, as patients with metabolic dysfunction, such as type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease or polycystic ovary disease have increased ASP even in the absence of obesity ^(15,16,17,18). We hypothesize that, because subjects consuming fructose exhibited both increased weight gain and increased metabolic dysfunction, consumption of fructose would increase levels of ASP more than consumption of glucose.

Adiponectin has insulin-sensitizing effects that appear to be mediated in part by its effects to activate AMP kinase, increase fatty acid oxidation and decrease ectopic fat accumulation ^(3,19). Adiponectin has also been described as having anti-atherogenic and anti-inflammatory properties ⁽²⁰⁾. It prevents obesity-induced endothelial dysfunction by promoting nitric oxide production, suppresses activation and promotes repair of endothelial cells, and inhibits reactive oxygen species and apoptosis ⁽²¹⁾. Unlike ASP, circulating adiponectin concentrations are lowered in obese animals and humans, and are inversely correlated with visceral adipose ⁽¹⁹⁾. We hypothesize that, because consumption of fructose increased accumulation of visceral adipose, subjects consuming fructose will have greater decreases of adiponectin than subjects consuming glucose.

Leptin is a key regulator of energy homeostasis ^(22,23), which, along with insulin, acts in the hypothalamus and other areas of the brain to reduce energy intake and increase energy expenditure. Leptin can affect insulin sensitivity and this may be mediated by its effects to stimulate fatty acid oxidation, thus attenuating lipid accumulation in peripheral tissue ⁽²⁾. Like ASP, circulating leptin concentrations are positively associated with increased body adiposity ⁽²²⁾. However, in vitro studies in isolated adipocytes ⁽²⁴⁾ and in vivo studies in humans ^(25,26) have demonstrated that production of the adipocyte hormone leptin is strongly regulated by insulin-mediated glucose metabolism. Consumption of fructose compared to glucose results in lowered postprandial glucose and insulin excursions, therefore in short term studies, the 24-hour leptin area under the curve (AUC) was reduced by 25-30% when normal weight women ⁽²⁷⁾ and overweight men and women ⁽²⁸⁾ consumed meals accompanied with fructose- compared with glucose-sweetened

beverages. Thus, we hypothesize that sustained fructose consumption will lower 24-h circulating leptin profiles compared with sustained glucose consumption

2.4 Methods

2.4.1 Study design

The study design and methodology have been previously described ⁽¹⁾ and are detailed on the online supplement. Briefly, during the baseline phase of the study, subjects resided in the UCD Clinical and Translational Science Center's Clinical Research Center (CCRC) for 2 weeks and consumed an energy-balanced, high complex carbohydrate (55%) diet. Procedures conducted during the baseline CCRC visit included DXA scans for quantification of total body fat, abdominal computerized tomography scans for quantification of total, extra- and intra- abdominal fat area, oral glucose tolerance tests with deuterated glucose disposal for assessment of insulin sensitivity and 24-h serial blood collections. A detailed description of the 24-h serial blood collections is available on the online supplement. Subjects then began an 8-week outpatient intervention and consumed either fructose- (n=17) or glucose-sweetened (n=15) beverages at 25% of energy requirements with self-selected ad libitum diets. The subjects returned to the CCRC after 2 outpatient weeks for 2 days, and then again for the final 2 weeks of the intervention for inpatient metabolic studies, during which the glucose- or fructose-sweetened beverages were consumed as part of an energy-balanced diet. 24-h blood collections were conducted during baseline and after 2, 8 and 10 weeks of dietary intervention.

2.4.2 Subjects

The subjects were 40 to 72 years of age with BMIs of 25–35 kg/m². Details concerning recruitment and inclusion/exclusion criteria have been previously reported ⁽¹⁾ and are available on the online supplement. The subjects provided informed written consent and the study protocol was approved the Institutional Review Board of the University of California, Davis.

2.4.3 Plasma Assays

Plasma concentrations of fasting ASP, adiponectin, and leptin were measured in plasma samples collected or pooled from the 8:00, 8:30, 9:00-h timepoints. Postprandial concentrations of ASP were measured in samples pooled from the 22:00, 23:00, 23:30-h timepoints. Leptin concentrations were measured in samples collected from all 33 postprandial timepoints and the incremental 24-h AUC over the morning nadir was calculated by the trapezoidal method ⁽²⁷⁾. Plasma ASP was measured as previously described ⁽⁷⁾. Leptin, adiponectin, and insulin were measured by radioimmunoassay (Millipore Inc., St. Charles, MO). Triglyceride (TG) concentrations were determined with a Polychem Chemistry Analyzer (PolyMedCo, Inc., Cortdland, NY).

2.4.4 Statistical analysis

The absolute change (Δ from 2 wk, 8wk, 10wk when 25%E fructose or glucose/30%E complex carbohydrate was consumed compared with 0 wk when 55%E complex carbohydrate was consumed) for each outcome was analyzed with SAS 9.3 (SAS, Cary, NC) in a mixed procedures (PROC MIXED) model with time, sugar, gender and number of metabolic syndrome risk factors (MSRF) as factors. All models included adjustment for outcome concentration at 0wk (baseline). MSRF were those defined by the American Heart Association/National Heart Lung and Blood Institute (83, 84), with subjects grouped into 2 levels of MSRF (0 and 1 MSRF vs 2 and 3 MSRF). Insignificant 3way and 4-way interactions were removed if they decreased the precision of the model. Outcomes that were significantly affected by glucose or fructose consumption were identified as least squares means (LS means) of the change significantly different than zero. All outcomes were tested with the following continuous covariables: baseline value and the change (2 wk - 0 wk) in %body fat, total, extra-, and intra-abdominal fat, and insulin sensitivity index. The following time-level covariables were also tested: absolute change (Δ from 2 wk, 8wk, and 10wk compared with 0 wk) of body weight (ΔBW), previous day's energy intake, late-evening TG concentrations, and 24-h insulin AUC. Outcomes with significant interactions were further analyzed in sugar- or gender-specific RM models. Values are reported as mean ± standard error (SEM). A P<0.05 was considered statistically significant for all analyses.

2.5 Results

Baseline characteristics of the subjects have been previously reported and are available on the online supplement (Table S1). The absolute values of outcomes and covariables at all measured timepoints are provided in Table 2.1. There were no significant differences between the 2 experimental groups in any of the measured anthropomorphic characteristics or metabolic parameters at baseline. The P-values of the associations of anthropometric and metabolic parameter with sugar-induced changes in adipocyte hormone concentrations are shown on the online supplement (Table S2).

Consumption of fructose increased both fasting (Figure 2.1A) and postprandial (Figure 2.1B) ASP concentrations at 2wk (Fasting: P=0.0006; Postprandial: P=0.0015) and 8wk (Fasting: P=0.0007; Postprandial: P=0.0007), but not at 10wk. Consumption of glucose increased both fasting (P=0.031) and postprandial (P=0.020) ASP concentrations at 8wk only. The trend for ASP levels to be higher at 2wk and 8wk was significant in the postprandial state (P=0.0029, effect of time), and nearly so in the fasting state (P=0.054). The changes of fasting and postprandial ASP were not significantly affected by sugar (Fasting: P=0.16; Postprandial: P=0.29).

Three time-level covariates were tested, and the change of fasting ASP was significantly associated with the changes in late-evening TG concentrations (P=0.0051), but not changes in body weight or previous day's energy intake (Table S2). Simple regression analysis shows (Figure 2.1C) that the subjects with larger increases of the late evening TG peaks had greater increases of fasting ASP concentrations (r=0.510, P<0.0001). The change in the late-evening TG concentrations (P=0.046) was also a significant contributor to the variations in postprandial ASP. None of the continuous covariates tested in the model (baseline levels and the change (10wk – 0 wk) of %body fat, total, extra-, intra-abdominal fat, insulin sensitivity index) were associated with the changes of fasting or postprandial ASP (Table S2).



Figure 2.1 Effects of glucose or fructose consumption on fasting and postprandial plasma ASP concentrations.

Changes (Δ) at 2wk, 8wk and 10wk compared to baseline (0wk) in the fasting (A) and postprandial (B) ASP levels of subjects who consumed 25% of energy requirement as either glucose (n=15) or fructose-sweetened beverages (n=17). Effect of: Time** p<0.01 in PROC MIXED 4-factor (sugar, time, gender, MSRF) repeated measures (RM) model with outcome at 0wk (OutcomeB) as continuous covariable. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001, Least squares mean of the change different from zero. Results are presented as mean ± SEM. (C) Correlation between change (Δ) in fasting ASP and change (Δ) in late-evening (postprandial) triglyceride (TG) at 2wk, 8wk and 10wk.

The effects of gender (P=0.47) and MSRF (P=0.12) on the changes of fasting ASP were not significant, however the effect of plasma ASP concentrations at baseline was highly significant (P<0.0001). When subjects were divided into 2 equal groups based on baseline ASP concentrations, subjects with low ASP concentrations (<7.0 nmol/mL) had markedly higher changes in fasting ASP at 2wk (+9.1±1.3 vs -1.6±1.5 nmol/mL, P<0.0001) and 8wk (+8.5±1.1 vs -0.5±1.5 nmol/mL, P<0.0001) than subjects with high baseline ASP concentrations.

Subjects with 0-1 MSRF had greater increases of postprandial ASP levels at all three intervention time-points than subjects with 2-3 MSRF (P=0.019). The effects of MSRF were independent of the effects of baseline postprandial ASP concentrations, which, as with fasting ASP, were inversely associated with the changes in postprandial ASP (P=0.0007). In the postprandial state, the effects of gender (P=0.058) were nearly significant, and there was a significant sugar x gender x time effect (P=0.045), due to the women consuming fructose having larger increases of ASP than the men consuming fructose.

The sugar-specific models demonstrate that the significant effects of time and MSRF on postprandial ASP in the 2-sugar model were mainly mediated by consumption of fructose. In the glucose-specific model the effects of time (P=0.24), MSRF (P=0.98), and MSRF x time (P=0.88) were not significant (Figure 2.2A), nor were the effects of gender (P=0.83) and gender x time (P=0.79) (Figure 2.2C). In the fructose-specific model the effects of time (P=0.0003), MSRF (P=0.0087), and MSRF x time (P=0.0005) were all statistically significant (Figure 2.2B), as were the effects of gender (P=0.004) (Figure 2.2D).



Figure 2.2 Effects of metabolic syndrome risk factors (MSRF) and gender on the changes in postprandial plasma ASP concentrations in subjects consuming glucose or fructose.

Changes at 2wk, 8wk and 10wk compared to baseline (0wk) in postprandial ASP levels of subjects grouped by number of MSRF during consumption of glucose (A) (n=15) or fructose-sweetened beverages (B) (n=17). Changes at 2wk, 8wk and 10wk compared to baseline (0wk) in postprandial ASP levels of subjects grouped by gender during consumption of glucose (C) (n=15) or fructose-sweetened beverages (D) (n=17). Effect of: Time*** p<0.001, MSRF* p<0.05, MSRF x time*** p<0.001, gender* p<0.05, gender x time*** p<0.001 in sugar-specific PROC MIXED 3-factor (time, gender, MSRF) RM model with outcome at 0wk as continuous covariable. **P<0.01, ***P<0.001, ***P<0.0001, Least squares mean of the change different from zero.

The changes of fasting plasma adiponectin concentrations (Figure 2.3A) were not significantly affected by sugar (P=0.10), MSRF (P=0.37) or gender (P=0.087), but were affected by time (P<0.001). Compared to baseline (0wk) levels, adiponectin concentrations in subjects consuming glucose were increased at 2wk (P=0.023), and decreased at 10wk (P=0.028). Circulating adiponectin concentrations were unchanged at 2wk (P=0.77) and

decreased at 10wk (P=0.0011) in subjects consuming fructose. There was a significant effect of sugar x gender x time (P=0.039). Gender-specific models showed a significant effect of sugar x time in women (Figure 3B; P=0.0011), but not in men (Figure 2.3C; P=0.57), with women consuming glucose having larger increases of plasma adiponectin concentrations at wk2 and wk8 than at wk10.

The changes of fasting adiponectin concentrations were influenced by total (P=0.024) and intra-abdominal (P=0.036) fat volume at baseline (Table S2). The subjects who had lower baseline levels of total and intra-abdominal fat exhibited the greater decreases in adiponectin. Simple regression showed that the relationship between baseline intra-abdominal fat and the changes in adiponectin was especially strong at 10wk (P=0.0004, r=0.59, Figure 2.3D). The adiposity associations with adiponectin were independent of baseline adiponectin concentration, which was also a significant covariate in the model (P=0.0014). Subjects with high baseline levels of adiponectin at 10wk than subjects with low baseline levels (-0.5 \pm 0.2 ug/ml).

Both subjects consuming fructose (8wk: P=0.0081; 10wk: P=0.027) and glucose (8wk: P=0.023; 10wk: P=0.032) had significantly increased fasting leptin concentrations at 8wk and 10wk (Figure 4), but these changes were not significantly affected by sugar (P=0.84), time (P=0.36), MSRF (P=0.84), or gender (P=0.44). The changes of fasting leptin were significantly affected by the changes in body weight (P=0.010), with those subjects gaining the most weight having the largest increases of leptin. The change in %body fat from 0wk to10wk was a marginally significant contributor to the changes in fasting leptin (P=0.055), while the changes and baseline levels of total, extra-, and intra-abdominal fat were not (Table S2).



Figure 2.3 Effects of glucose or fructose consumption on fasting plasma adiponectin concentrations in overweight and obese subjects.

Changes (Δ) at 2wk, 8wk and 10wk compared to baseline (0wk) in the fasting (A) adiponectin levels of subjects who consumed 25% of energy requirement as either glucose (n=15) or fructose-sweetened beverages (n=17). Effect of: Time**** P<0.0001 in PROC MIXED 4-factor (sugar, time, gender, MSRF) RM model with outcome at 0wk as continuous covariable. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, Least squares mean of the change different from zero. Changes at 2wk, 8wk and 10wk compared to baseline (0wk) in fasting adiponectin levels of women (B) and men (C) during consumption of glucose (n=15) or fructose-sweetened beverages (B). Effect of: Time** P<0.05, Time**** P<0.0001, Sugar x time*** P<0.001 in gender-specific PROC MIXED 3-factor (time, sugar, MSRF) RM model with outcome at 0wk as continuous covariable. *P<0.05, Least squares mean of the change different from zero. Results are presented as mean ± SEM. (D) Correlation between th 10wk changes (Δ) in fasting adiponectin and baseline intra-abdominal fat volume.



Figure 2.4 Effects of glucose or fructose consumption on fasting leptin concentrations.

The changes in postprandial leptin were significantly affected by sugar (P=0.026) with subjects consuming glucose tending to have increased and subjects consuming fructose tending to have decreased 24-h leptin AUCs compared to when they consumed the baseline complex carbohydrate diet (Figure 2.5). These changes were not affected by time (P=0.51), MSRF (P=0.56), or gender (P=0.24) (Table 2.1). The change (10wk – 0wk) of %body fat (P=0.031) contributed significantly to the changes of the leptin AUC, and simple regression showed there was a strong positive relationship at 10wk (r=0.39; P=0.0015). The changes of the 24-h insulin AUC significantly affected the changes of 24-h leptin AUC (P=0.0035), while completely negating the significant effect of sugar (P=0.70) and lessening the effect of change of %body fat (P=0.093) on circulating leptin concentrations. Simple regression including all 3 intervention timepoints (Figure 2.5D) showed the expected positive relationship between the changes of the leptin and insulin AUCs (P<0.0001, r=0.40).

Changes (Δ) at 2wk, 8wk and 10wk compared to baseline (0wk) in the fasting leptin levels of subjects who consumed 25% of energy requirement as either glucose (n=15) or fructose-sweetened beverages (n=17). PROC MIXED 4-factor (sugar, time, gender, MSRF) RM model with outcome at 0wk as continuous covariable. *P<0.05, Least squares mean of the change different from zero.



Figure 2.5 Effects of glucose or fructose consumption on 24-h leptin profiles.

24-h circulating TG concentrations in subjects before and after 2, 8, and 10 weeks of consuming glucosesweetened beverages (A) (n=14) or fructose-sweetened beverages (B) (n=17). (C) Changes (Δ) at 2wk, 8wk and 10wk compared to baseline (0wk) in the 24-h leptin AUCs of the subjects who consumed glucose or fructose-sweetened beverages. Effect of: Sugar* P < 0.05 in PROC MIXED 4-factor (sugar, time, gender, MSRF) RM model. Mean ± SEM. (D) Correlation between changes (Δ) in 24-h leptin AUC and 24-h insulin AUC at 2wk, 8wk and 10wk.

	1	Committee Comb	6	Sugar	Eugon	Factors /	-
Variable	Sugar (n)	Complex Carb	2 wk	Sugar 8 witz	Sugar	Factors/	P value
Preceding	liet	Energy balance	Ad libitum	Ad lihitum	Energy balance	covariable	r value
Fasting ASP ^A	Glucose (n=15)	9.8 ± 1.4	11.3 ± 1.3	12.0 ± 1.3^{B}	9.7 ± 1.3	Sugar	0.16
(nmol/l)	Fructose (n=17)	7.0 ± 0.8	12.7 ± 1.3^{D}	12.0 ± 1.0 12.6 ± 1.1^{D}	9.0 ± 0.9	Gender	0.47
(12.7 ± 1.5	12.0 ± 1.1		MSRF	0.12
						Outcomen	<0.001
Postmundial ASPA	C_{1}	97+12	116+14	126 + 17 ^B	107+14	Sugar	0.29
(nmol /l)	Giucose (II=14)	0.2 ± 1.2	14.4 × 1.0 ^D	13.0 ± 1.7	20+11	Condor	0.25
(IIII01/1)	Fluctose (II=17)	9.2 ± 1.3	14.4 ± 1.8	14.0 ± 1.6	0.9 ± 1.1	MSDE	0.038
						MSKI Gurani Can danist	0.015
						Sugar×Gender×t	0.045
			P	01.10	P	Outcome _B	0.0007
Fasting Adiponectin ^A	Glucose (n=14) ^u	7.7 ± 1.1	8.6 ± 1.2 ^b	8.1 ± 1.2	7.0 ± 1.1^{B}	Sugar	0.1000
(ug/ml)	Fructose (n=17)	8.1 ± 1.2	8.2 ± 1.0	7.9 ± 1.1	$6.9 \pm 1.0^{\circ}$	Gender	0.087
						MSRF	0.37
						Sugar×Gender×t	0.039
						Outcome _B	0.0014
Fasting Leptin ^A	Glucose (n=15)	18.3 ± 3.5	19.6 ± 3.2	20.2 ± 3.4^{B}	19.7 ± 3.4^{B}	Sugar	0.84
(ng/ml)	Fructose (n=17)	17.3 ± 3.5	18.7 ± 3.1	19.3 ± 3.7^{B}	18.2 ± 3.5^{B}	Gender	0.46
						MSRF	0.84
						Outcome _B	0.072
24-h Leptin AUC ^A	Glucose (n=14)	71.2 ± 10.6	83.1 ± 21.3	81.0 ± 13.6	84.8 ± 15.9	Sugar	0.026
(ng/ml x 24-h)	Fructose (n=17)	78.9 ± 11.3	51.8 ± 11.3^{B}	58.1 ± 15.6	64.3 ± 11.6	Gender	0.24
						MSRF	0.56
						Outcome _B	0.24
Body Weight ^A	Glucose (n=15)	86.0 ± 2.8	868 + 28 ^D	875 ± 29^{D}	875 ± 30^{D}	Sugar	0.39
(kg)	Fructose (n=17)	85.5 ± 2.6	86.1 ± 2.0	86.9 ± 2.5	86.8 ± 2.6 ^D	Gender	0.11
	,		00.1 ± 2.7	00.7 1 2.0	00.0 1 2.0	MSRF	0.32
						Outcomen	0.01
Prior dou's energy intelse	Glucose (n=15)	2 376 + 72	2 205 + 107 ^C	2 902 + 147 ^D	2 376 + 72	Sugar	0.61
(kcal)	Eructose (n=17)	2,570 ± 72	2,093 ± 197	$2,003 \pm 147$	2,570 ± 72	Cender	0.0072
(Real)	Fluctose (II=17)	2,407 ± 72	3,232 ± 155	2,645 ± 170	2,407 ± 72	MSRE	0.0072
	Churchen (n=1E)	2024 + 24.6	2247 + 217	2272 + 20 5	2142 + 20.2	Sugar	0.23
Late-evening 1G peaks	Giucose (II=15)	202.4 ± 24.0	234.7 ± 21.7	227.2 ± 20.3	214.2 ± 20.3	Sugar	0.0069
(mg/di)	Fructose (n=17)	211.1 ± 28.3	$295.5 \pm 36.7^{\circ}$	$282.7 \pm 35.4^{\circ}$	274.9 ± 31.1^{5}	Gender	0.071
						MSRF	0.49
					C.	Outcome _B	0.018
24-h Insulin AUC ^A	Glucose (n=14)	596.1 ± 118.7	699.6 ± 112.0	693.0 ± 112.9	757.5 ± 129.6 [°]	Sugar	< 0.0001
(ng/ml x 24-h)	Fructose (n=17)	681.4 ± 112.6	426.1 ± 66.6^{E}	489.1 ± 85.8^{D}	480.4 ± 72.9^{D}	Gender	0.56
						MSRF	0.64
						Outcome _B	< 0.0001
Body Fat ^B	Glucose (n=15)	35.6 ± 2.1			36.1 ± 2.0^{G}	Sugar	0.84
(%)	Fructose (n=17)	33.6 ± 2.3			33.9 ± 2.2	Gender	0.33
						MSRF	0.86
Total Abdominal Fat ^B	Glucose (n=14)	765 ± 57			794 ± 53	Sugar	0.36
(cc)	Fructose (n=17)	683 ± 55			731 ± 51^{G}	Gender	0.11
						MSRF	0.61
Extra-Abdominal Fat ^B	Glucose (n=14)	522 ± 59			544 ± 61^{G}	Sugar	0.64
(cc)	Fructose (n=17)	476 ± 43			495 ± 38	Gender	0.82
						MSRF	0.40
Intra-Abdominal Fat ^B	Glucose (n=14) ^G	243 ± 21			250 ± 23	Sugar	0,059
(cc)	Fructose (n=17)	207 ± 21			235 ± 25^{H}	Gender	0.040
					233 ± 23	MSRF	0.043
Inculin Soncitivity ^B	Glucose $(n=14)$	0 236 + 0 036			0 210 + 0 021	Sugar	0.20 ^E
(mmolos 2H20/	Fructose $(n-17)$	0.250 ± 0.030			0.200 ± 0.021	Gender	0.030
h Insulin AUC)		5.237 ± 0.049			0.208 ± 0.040^{-1}	MCDE	0.033 ⁻
	1					1 UVLADS F	I 119"

Table 2.1 Outcome and covariable concentrations before and after consumption of glucose or fructose- sweetenrd beverages

2.6 Discussion

In this study we examined circulating concentrations of the adipocyte hormones, ASP, leptin and adiponectin in relationship with dietary effects and metabolic consequences of long-term fructose and glucose consumption in overweight and obese men and women. Consumption of fructose markedly increased plasma ASP levels at 2 and 8wk, but not at 10wk. Consumption of glucose also resulted in significant, although less marked, increases in ASP at 8wk. The changes in both fasting and postprandial ASP were associated with the changes of late-evening triglyceride concentrations.

Along with LPL and insulin, ASP has an important role in TG clearance from the blood for storage in adipose tissue. Principally, ASP stimulates reesterification of fatty acids for synthesis of TG within the adipocyte. The positive association between the changes in ASP and postprandial TG levels suggest that postprandial TG may be involved in the regulation of ASP production. We have suggested several mechanisms for the increased levels of postprandial TG in subjects consuming fructose including²⁵: 1. Increased DNL from fructose which increases hepatic lipid and VLDL production and secretion. 2. Decreased LPL activity due to lowered post-meal insulin responses, 3. Competition between VLDL and chylomicron for LPL binding sites. We also suggested that positive energy balance contributed to the increases in postprandial TG at 2 and 8wk²⁵. It is not known which, if any, of these mechanisms explain the association between the changes of ASP and postprandial TG. While there is evidence from in vitro studies which demonstrates that chylomicrons increase ASP production and VLDLs have minimal effect ⁽²⁹⁾, little is known about the regulation of ASP by circulating lipids/lipoproteins in vivo. The significant increases of postprandial ASP at 2 and 8wk in subjects consuming fructose, and the lack of increase at 10wk when they were consuming the energy balanced diet, suggest that positive energy balance may augment the effects of postprandial TG to increase ASP.

The very few studies that have investigated acute or chronic effects of macronutrients on human ASP concentration suggest ASP-mediated non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA) trapping (and re-esterification) could be an important determinant of a

healthy lipoprotein phenotype ⁽³⁰⁾. A diet high in trans fatty acids decreased fasting ASP levels compared with diets that were high in polyunsaturated fatty acids in hypercholesterolemic women⁽³¹⁾. The decrease was associated with reduced clearance of fatty acids and higher levels of apoB. In 141 healthy men and women the acute ASP response to a high fat/high-energy meal significantly predicted postprandial TG and NEFA clearance, and both ASP response and lipid clearance were inversely related to fasting plasma ASP levels ⁽³²⁾. Specifically this study shows that subjects with high plasma ASP had a decreased ASP response to an oral fat challenge compared with subjects with low plasma ASP. The present data are in accord with these acute effects, and demonstrate that subjects with low fasting ASP had significantly higher ASP responses after 2 and 8 weeks of exposure to fructose-induced postprandial hypertriglyceridemia than the subjects with high fasting ASP concentrations. Interestingly, we also show that subjects consuming fructose with 0-1 MSRF had higher postprandial ASP responses than those with 2-3 MSRF, and the effect of MSRF was independent of the effect of baseline postprandial ASP concentrations. Our results support the suggestion that ASP-mediated NEFA trapping could be associated with a healthy lipoprotein phenotype. Also supportive is a recent report that the adipose gene expression of factors related with lipid uptake and processing, such as ASP, LPL, low density lipoprotein receptor protein 1, and fatty acid binding protein 4 were lower in morbidly obese patients than in lean healthy persons ⁽³³⁾. Thus, although obesity results in high levels of circulating ASP, high ASP responses to diets that induce increased levels of TG may be an adaptive response to maintain metabolic equilibrium.

Fasting adiponectin concentrations were significantly decreased at 10wk in both groups of subjects, although there was a small, but significant increase of adiponectin at 2wk in subjects consuming glucose. As reviewed ⁽¹⁹⁾, there is evidence to suggest that adiponectin production by adipocytes may be regulated by insulin-stimulated glucose utilization. In 3T3-L1 cells, adiponectin production increased following insulin and high glucose treatment ⁽³⁴⁾, while adiponectin mRNA increased with augmentedinsulin-stimulated glucose uptake⁽³⁵⁾. Thus, the regulation of adiponectin production by insulin-stimulated glucose utilization may possibly explain the significant increase of adiponectin levels during consumption of glucose-, but not fructose-sweetened beverages at 2 weeks. The reversal of this effect, and the significant decrease in adiponectin measured in both

groups of subjects at 10 weeks could be attributed to their comparable weight gain as it is well documented that adiponectin levels are inversely related to adiposity. However, weight gain does not always result in reduced adiponectin levels as recently reported in young, healthy subjects who gained approximately 6 kg in 4 weeks by increasing fast food consumption and decreasing exercise; while fasting insulin, leptin and CRP increased, plasma adiponectin levels were unchanged ⁽³⁶⁾.

It is well-documented that visceral adiposity is an important determinant of plasma adiponectin concentrations in human⁽¹⁹⁾, however in the present study the changes of visceral fat did not correlate with the changes of adiponectin. Instead, baseline levels of abdominal and visceral adiposity were significant contributors, with higher levels of abdominal and visceral adiposity being more protective against decreases in adiponectin than lower levels. Similarly, low baseline levels of adiponectin were associated with smaller decreases of adiponectin. A potential explanation for these surprising, independent relationships is visceral adipocyte size. As reviewed by Swarbrick and Havel⁽¹⁹⁾, there is evidence to suggest that visceral adipocytes, which have been shown to produce more adiponectin than subcutaneous adipocytes, become less insulin-sensitive and secrete less adiponectin as they enlarge. Healthier subjects with higher baseline concentrations of adiponectin and lower amounts of visceral adipose are expected to have smaller, insulinsensitive visceral adipocytes that have a greater capacity for further enlargement. With enlargement these visceral adjocytes become less insulin-sensitive and produce less adiponectin. The subjects with lower baseline adiponectin concentrations and higher levels of visceral adipose are likely to have started with larger visceral adipocytes in which adiponectin production was already impaired. Therefore further enlargement of these cells had little effect on adiponectin concentrations.

Recently it was reported that higher adioponectin levels predicted weight gain in the participants in the Nurses' Health Study ⁽³⁷⁾. The authors suggested that high adiponectin production by adipocytes might be a sign of "healthy" adipose tissue with further capacity to store fat. However, in two other studies, higher baseline adiponectin concentrations were predictive of greater loss of weight and body fat in morbidly obese subjects after Roux-en-

Y gastric bypass surgery ^(38,39). Clearly, more research is needed to understand the association and role of adiponectin concentrations in metabolic disease.

Fasting leptin concentrations increased in both groups of subjects with the changes from baseline being significantly and positively associated with the changes of body weight. Of the 2-timepoint covariates, the change in total body fat (10wk - 0wk) showed a marginally significant and much stronger relationship to the changes of fasting leptin than the changes in total, intra- and extra-abdominal adipose. This is expected as it has been previously reported that leptin expression ⁽⁴⁰⁾ and secretion ⁽⁴¹⁾ is higher in subcutaneous adipose samples compared to visceral samples from the same subjects.

In contrast to fasting leptin, the 24-h circulating leptin profiles, as assessed by the 24-h AUCs, were differentially affected by the 2 sugars. In subjects consuming glucose, the leptin AUC tended to increase, and in subjects consuming fructose it tended to decrease. We have previously shown this differential effect of glucose and fructose consumption on 24-hour circulating leptin profiles in normal-weight women ⁽²⁷⁾ and in overweight men and women ⁽²⁸⁾ who consumed glucose- or fructose-sweetened beverages with meals for one day. To our knowledge this is the first study to document that the differential effects of fructose and glucose on 24-hour circulating leptin concentrations are sustained during long-term consumption of the 2 sugars.

Because we have reported that insulin-stimulated glucose utilization mediates leptin production and secretion by adipocytes ⁽²⁴⁾, we also tested the changes in 24-h glucose and insulin AUC, and the amplitude of the post-meal glucose and insulin peaks ⁽⁴²⁾ as time-level covariates in the statistical model for leptin AUC. These results showed that the 24-h insulin AUC was positively associated with the 24-h leptin AUC, and that the differential effects of fructose and glucose on circulating leptin profiles were dependent on their differential effects on 24-h insulin AUC.

When designing this study we had originally hypothesized that consumption of fructose compared to glucose would lead to a reduction of circulating leptin concentrations which would lead to increased energy intake and/or decreased energy expenditure and weight gain. To test this hypothesis, we included in the study protocol an 8-week outpatient

period during which subjects consumed their usual diets ad libitum along with the glucoseor fructose-sweetened beverages. It is interesting that 24-h circulating leptin levels were lowered in subjects consuming fructose compared with those consuming glucose, yet there were no differences in reported energy intake or weight gain between the 2 groups

2.7 Conclusion

In this study, long-term sugar consumption with ad libitum feeding leads to changes in circulating levels of the adipocyte hormones ASP, adiponectin, fasting and postprandial leptin. The changes of each of these hormones were associated with specific and distinct metabolic changes. Fasting and postprandial ASP were associated with postprandial triglycerides, adiponectin with baseline abdominal/visceral fat, fasting leptin with body weight, and 24-h leptin profiles with 24-h circulating insulin concentrations. More research is needed to determine if the changes observed in the adipocyte hormones are involved in the multiple metabolic derangements induced by consumption of fructose.

2.8 References

- 1. Stanhope KL, Schwarz JM, Keim NL, Griffen SC, Bremer AA, Graham JL et al. Consuming fructose-sweetened, not glucose- sweetened, beverages increases visceral adiposity and lipids and decreases insulin sensitivity in overweight/obese humans. J Clin Invest 2009; 119: 1322-1334.
- 2. Havel PJ. Update on adipocyte hormones: regulation of energy balance and carbohydrate/lipid metabolism. Diabetes 2004; 53: S143-S151.
- 3. Cnop M, Landchild MJ, Vidal J, Havel PJ, Knowles NG, Carr DR et al. The concurrent accumulation of intra-abdominal and subcutaneous fat explains the association between insulin resistance and plasma leptin concentrations: distinct metabolic effects of two fat compartments. Diabetes 2002; 51: 1005-1015.
- 4. Cnop M, Havel PJ, Utzschneider KM, Carr DB, Sinha MK, Boyko EJ et al. Relationship of adiponectin to body fat distribution, insulin sensitivity and plasma lipoproteins: evidence for independent roles of age and sex. Diabetologia 2003; 46: 459-469.
- 5. Cianflone K, Xia Z, Chen LY. Critical review of acylation-stimulating protein physiology in humans and rodents. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 2003; 1609: 127-143.
- 6. Germinario R, Sniderman AD, Manuel S, Pratt Lefebvre S, Baldo A, Cianflone K. Coordinate regulation of triacylglycerol synthesis and glucose transport by acylation-stimulating protein. Metabolism 1993; 42: 574-580.
- 7. Saleh J, Summers LK, Cianflone K, Fielding BA, Sniderman AD, Frayn KN. Coordination release of acylation stimulating protein and triacylglycerol clearance by human adipose tissue in vivo in the postprandial period. J Lipid Res 1998; 39: 884-891.
- 8. Yarsuel Z, Cianflone K, Sniderman AD, Rosenbloom M, Walsh M, Rodrigez MA. Effect of acylation stimulating protein on the triacylglycerol synthetic pathway of human adipose tissue. Lipids 1991; 16: 495-499.
- 9. Faraj M, Sniderman AD, Cianflone K. ASP enhances in situ lipoprotein lipase activity by increasing fatty acid trapping in adipocytes. J Lipid Res 2004; 4: 657-666.
- Paglialunage S, Julien P, Tahiri Y, Cadelies F, Bergeron J, Gaudet D et al. Lipoprotein lipase deficiency is associated with elevated acylation stimulating protein plasma levels. J Lipid Res 2009; 50: 1109-1119.

- 11. Taskinen MR, Kuusi T. Enzymes involved in triglyceride hydrolysis. Baillieres Clin Endocrinol Metlab 1987; 1: 639-666.
- 12. Van Harmelen V, Reynisdottir S, Cianflone K, Degreman E, Hoffstedt J, Nilsell K et al. Mechanisms involved in the regulation of free fatty acid release from isolated human fat cells by acylation stimulating protein and insulin. J Biol Chem 1999; 274: 18243-18251.
- 13. Sniderman AD, Maslowska M, Cianflone K. Of mice and men (and women) and the acylation-stimulating protein pathway. CurrOpin Lipidol 2000; 11: 291-296.
- 14. Faraj M, Jones P, Sniderman AD, Cianflone K. Enhanced dietary fat clearance in postobese women. J Lipid Res 2001; 42: 571-580.
- 15. Yang Y, Lu HL, Zhang J, Yu HY, Wang HW, Zhang MX et al. Relationships among acylation stimulating protein, adiponectin and complement C3 in lean vs obese type 2 diabetes. Int J Obes 20106; 30: 439-446.
- 16. Cianflone K, Zhang XJ, Genest J, Sniderman AD. Plasma acylation stimulating protein in coronary artery disease. Arterioscler Tromb Vasc Biol 1997; 17: 1239-1244.
- 17. Wu Y, Zhang J, Wen Y, Wang H, Zhang M, Cianflone K. Increased acylation stimulating protein, C-reactive protein, and lipid levels in young women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril 2009; 91: 213-219.
- 18. Oktenli C, Ozgurtas T, Dede M, Sanisoglu Y, Yenen M, Yesilova Z et al. Metformin decreases circulating acylation stimulating protein levels in polycystic ovary syndrome. Gynecol Endocrinol 2007; 23: 710-715.
- 19. Swarbrick MM, Havel PJ. Physiological, pharmacological, and nutritional regulation of circulating adiponectin concentrations in humans. Metab Syndr RelatDisord 2008; 6: 87-102.
- 20. Cui J, Panse S, Falkner B. The role of adiponectin in metabolic and vascular disease: a review. Clin Nephrol 2011; 75: 26-33.
- 21. Hui X, Lam KS, Vanhoutte PM, Xu A. Adiponectin and Cardiovascular Health: an Update. Br J Pharmacol 2011; Epub ahead of print:
- 22. Havel PJ. Peripheral signals conveying metabolic information to the brain: short-term and long-term regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis. Biol Med (Maywood) 2001; 226: 963-977.
- 23. Farooqi IS, O'Rahilly S. Leptin: a pivotal regulator of human energy homeostasis. Am J Clin Nutr 2009; 89: 980S-984S.

- 24. Mueller WM, Gregoire FM, Stanhope KL, Mobbs CV, Mizuno TM, Warden CH et al. Evidence that glucose metabolism regulates leptin secretion from cultured rat adipocytes. Endocrinology 1998; 139: 551-558.
- 25. Wellhoener P, Fruehwald-Schultes B, Kern W, Dantz D, Kerner W, Born J et al. Glucose metabolism rather than insulin is a main determinant of leptin secretion in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2000; 85: 1267-1271.
- 26. Griffen SC, Oostema K, Stanhope KL, Graham J, Styne DM, Glaser N et al. Administration of Lispro insulin with meals improves glycemic control, increases circulating leptin, and suppresses ghrelin, compared with regular/NPH insulin in female patients with type 1 diabetes. J ClinEndocrinol Metab 2006; 91: 485-491.
- 27. Teff KL, Elliott SS, Tschöp M, Kieffer TJ, Rader D, Heiman M et al. Dietary fructose reduces circulating insulin and leptin, attenuates postprandial suppression of ghrelin, and increases triglycerides in women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004; 89: 2963-2972.
- 28. Teff KL, Grudziak J, Townsend RR, Dunn TN, Grant RW, Adams SH et al. Endocrine and metabolic effects of consuming fructose- and glucose-sweetened beverages with meals in obese men and women: influence of insulin resistance on plasma triglyceride responses. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009; 94: 1562-1569.
- 29. Maslowska M, Scantlebury T, Germinario R, Cianflone K. Acute in vitro production of acylation stimulating protein in differentiated human adipocytes. J Lipid Res 1997; 38: 1-11.
- Van Oostrom AJ, van Dijk H, Verseyden C, Sniderman AD, Cianflone K, Rabelink TJ et al. Addition of glucose to an oral fat load reduces postprandial free fatty acids and prevents the postprandial increase in complement component 3. Am J Clin Nutr 2004; 79: 510-515.
- 31. Matthan NR, Cianflone K, Lichtenstein AH, Ausman LM, Jauhiainen M, Jones PJ. Hydrogenated fat consumption affects acylation-stimulating protein levels and cholesterol esterification rates in moderately hypercholesterolemic women. J Lipid Res 200; 42: 1841-1848.
- 32. Cianflone K, Zakarian R, Couillard C, Delplanque B, Despres JP, Sniderman A. Fasting acylation-stimulating protein is predictive of postprandial triglyceride clearance. J Lipid Res 2004; 45: 124-131.
- 33. Clemente-Postigo M, Queipo-Ortuño MI, Fernandez-Garcia D, Gomez-Huelgas R, Tinahones FJ, Cardona F. Adipose tissue gene expression of factors related to lipid processing in obesity. PLoS One 2011; 6: e24783-
- 34. Carvalho CR, Bueno AA, Mattos AM, Biz C, de Oliveira C, Pisani LP et al. Fructose alters adiponectin, haptoglobin and angiotensinogen gene expression in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Nutr Res 2010; 30: 644-649.
- 35. Zhu S, Sun F, Li W, Cao Y, Wang C, Wang Y et al. Apelin stimulates glucose uptake through the PI3K/Akt pathway and improves insulin resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Mol Cell Biochem 2011; 353: 305-313.
- Astrand O, Carlsson M, Nilsson I, Lindström T, Borga M, Nystrom FH. Fast Food Study Group. Weight gain by hyperalimentation elevates C-reactive protein levels but does not affect circulating levels of adiponectin or resistin in healthy subjects. Eur J Endocrinol 2010; 163: 879-885.
- 37. Hivert MF, Sun Q, Shrader P, Mantzoros CS, Meigs JB, Hu FB. Higher adiponectin levels predict greater weight gain in healthy women in the Nurses' Health Study. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2011; 19: 409-415.
- 38. Faraj M, Havel PJ, Phélis S, Blank D, Sniderman AD, Cianflone K. Plasma acylationstimulating protein, adiponectin, leptin, and ghrelin before and after weight loss induced by gastric bypass surgery in morbidly obese subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003; 88: 1594-1602.
- 39. Swarbrick MM, Stanhope KL, Austrheim-Smith IT, Van Loan MD, Ali MR, Wolfe BM et al. Longitudinal changes in pancreatic and adipocyte hormones following Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery. Diabetologia 2008; 51: 1901-1911.
- 40. Hube F, Lietz U, Igel M, Jensen PB, Tornqvist H, Joost HG et al. Difference in leptin mRNA levels between omental and subcutaneous abdominal adipose tissue from obese humans. Horm Metab Res 1996; 28: 690-693.
- 41. Van Harmelen V, Reynisdottir S, Eriksson P, Thörne A, Hoffstedt J, LönnqvistF et al. Leptin secretion from subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue in women. Diabetes 1998; 47: 913-917.
- 42. Stanhope KL, Griffen SC, Bremer AA, Vink RG, Schaefer EJ, Nakajima K et al. Metabolic responses to prolonged consumption of glucose- and fructose-sweetened beverages are not associated with postprandial or 24-h glucose and insulin excursions. Clin Nutr 2011; 94: 112-119.

Chapter 3

Apparent sex-specific divergence of Acylation Stimulating Protein (ASP) levels with respect to metabolic parameters of pathogenetic and clinical relevance

Reza Rezvani, Altan Onat, Gunay Can and Katherine Cianflone

Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism, 2012

3.1 Résumé

La protéine stimulant l'acylation (ASP) est une hormone provenant du tissu adipeux qui stimule la synthèse des triglycérides et le transport du glucose. Des liens entre l'ASP ainsi que son précurseur, la protéine C3 du complément, ont été observés avec l'obésité, la résistance à l'insuline, le diabète ainsi que les maladies cardiovasculaires. L'objectif de cette étude était d'évaluer les niveaux d'ASP et de C3 et leurs liens avec des facteurs de risques cardiométaboliques dans une population d'adultes Turques. Les niveaux d'ASP chez les femmes étaient plus faibles que chez les hommes (p=0.059) et ceci a été observé lorsqu'il y avait présence ou non de désordres cardiométaboliques. De façon intéressante, l'ASP corrélait de façon différente entre les sexes avec des paramètres tels que, les triglycérides, le glucose, la taille, l'âge etc. Ce dimorphisme sexuel est un aspect propre à cette population Turque qui a aussi été observé pour divers paramètre lipidiques (HDL, LP(a)) ainsi que son association avec les risques cardiométaboliques liés au tabagisme et à la prise d'alcool et l'état pro-inflammatoire lié à l'adiposité. Les données présentées ici sur l'ASP corrobore avec ce qui a déjà été observé en terme de différences sexuelles mais aussi de corrélation entre l'ASP et l'état métabolique des sujets.

3.2 Abstract

Background: Acylation stimulating protein (ASP) is an adipose tissue-derived hormone that regulates triglyceride (TG) synthesis and glucose transport. Associations of ASP and/or its precursor complement C3 have been demonstrated with obesity, insulin resistance, diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases. *Objective*: To determine fasting serum ASP in a relatively high-risk Turkish adult population sample and assess relationships with cardiometabolic risk factors. *Study design*: Cross-sectional population-based study recruiting 224 men and women from the Turkish Adult Risk Factor (TARF) study. *Results*: Mean ASP levels in women (271 nmol/l) tended to be lower than men (290.2 nmol/l) (p=0.059), and this was also true in most subgroups with *vs*. without cardiometabolic disorders. Interestingly, correlations with ASP diverged in direction across genders with TG, glucose, height, age and other risk variables. *Conclusion*: Gender divergence is an aspect of this Turkish population that has also been noted for various lipid parameters (HDL, Lp(a)), association of cardiometabolic risk with smoking and alcohol intake and the response of the pro-inflammatory state to adiposity. This is consistent in the present study, where metabolic states correlate with ASP, but are divergent between genders.

3.3 Introduction

Cardiometabolic risk is a constellation of metabolic and underlying risk factors that significantly increase an individual's risk of having a cardiovascular event or developing metabolic abnormalities such as type 2 diabetes (T2D). Metabolic syndrome (MetS) has been considered as a specific subset of cardiometabolic risks that, when clustered together, impart a relative increase in risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD)(1). Approximately 9%, 21%, and 35% of normal weight, overweight, and obese adolescents (2) and 23.5%, 48.7% and 68.3% of normal weight, overweight, and obese adults respectively (3) have cardiometabolic risk factor clustering in U.S. The prevalence of metabolic syndrome (MetS) is approximately 34.6% in the United States, 17.8-34.0% in Europe and 12.8-41.1% in Asia (4). Various studies based on the results of National Health and Nutrition Examination (NHANES) (2,3) indicate that over a 10- to 15- year period, the prevalence of obesity, metabolic syndrome (MetS), and diabetes has increased by 34%, 48%, and 19% respectively. Obese individuals are characterized by a state of chronic low-grade inflammation (5) that may be casual in the development of insulin resistance and other disorders associated with obesity, such as hyperlipidemia, metabolic syndrome, or atherosclerosis (5).

Recently, adipose tissue has been recognized as a rich source of hormones (adipokines), some of which are pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory mediators (6). Alteration of adipose tissue function, including modified adipokine secretion, plays a key role in the pathogenesis of obesity and metabolic disorders (7). Acylation Stimulating Protein (ASP, aka C3adesArg) is one candidate, potentially contributing to the etiology of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disorders (8). ASP is an adipokine generated by the ordered interaction of complement C3, factor B, and adipsin through activation of the alternative complement pathway, all produced by adipocytes (ASP review (9)). However, ASP/C3adesArg is also generated systemically following pro-inflammatory immune activation (8).

The main known roles of ASP are stimulation of free fatty acid incorporation into adipose tissue by increasing triglyceride synthesis and storage (9), increase in glucose

uptake through enhanced translocation of glucose transporters (9) and reduction of triglyceride lipolysis in adipocytes through inhibition of hormone sensitive lipase (9). The autocrine effect of ASP in human adipose tissue was shown to be mediated through binding to its receptor, C5L2, mediated through activation of protein kinase C, PI3kinase and Akt (10).

Several studies have been shown that fasting ASP levels are increased in subjects with obesity (11,12), insulin resistance (13), and type 2 diabetes (T2D) (14,15). These studies strongly support the idea that obesity and/or insulin resistance are associated with increased ASP levels (16). However, higher ASP values were also observed in several metabolic disorders including the cardiovascular disease (17), polycystic ovary syndrome (18), renal disease (19) and nonalcoholic steatotic hepatitis (13) and dyslipidemia (9), without necessarily being associated with obesity and/or insulin resistance.

The prevalence of obesity and its consequences are rapidly increasing in developing countries (20). Obesity and abdominal obesity are major and growing problems for Turkish adults, especially for Turkish women (20). The Turkish population is known for the following characteristics: 1) The prevalence of obesity in the adult Turkish population (20.6% in men and 39.9% in women) is higher than most Western European countries (10-25% in Europe) and comparable with the United States (29% in with men and 50% in black women) (20, 21). 2) The prevalence of obesity is similar in rural and urban areas in Turkey (20). 3) In the Turkish population there is a high prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors including metabolic syndrome components (Onat A, review,(22)). Consequently, there is an increased rate of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes (22). 4) Studies suggest that prevalence of abdominal obesity, MetS, and T2D are significantly as great among Turkish women as men (23,24). 5) Adult Turks are recognized to generally have lower levels of plasma cholesterol and higher levels of triglyceride (TG) than Westerners (22). The Turkish Adult Risk Factor (TARF) study, an established prospective population-based study, has contributed novel information on characterization of this population, including disorders with systemic inflammation (22).

The aims of this study were: to evaluate the adipokine ASP, in a large sample from a homogenous Turkish population and to evaluate the relationship of this adipokine with cardiometabolic risk factors in men as compared to women.

3.4 Methods

3.4.1 Sample population

224 adult men and women were recruited randomly from participants of the 2005-2008 follow-up surveys of the TARF Study, a prospective study on cardiac disease and its risk factors in a representative sample of adults in Turkey, carried out biennially since 1990 in 59 communities throughout 7 geographical regions of the country (22). Samples from available deep-frozen sera were randomly selected for study, without knowledge of any clinical or biochemical data. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty, Istanbul University. Written informed consent for participation was obtained from all individuals. Data were obtained on medical and familial history via a questionnaire, physical examination, and blood samples.

3.4.2 Measurement of risk factors

Blood pressure (BP) was measured with an aneroid sphygmomanometer (Erka, Germany) in the sitting position on the right arm, and the mean of two recordings 3 min apart was recorded. Waist circumference was measured with the subject standing and wearing only underwear, at the level midway between the lower rib margin and the iliac crest. Blood samples were collected, after an overnight fast >11 hours, spun at 1000g and shipped on cooled gel packs to Istanbul to be stored at -75°C, until analyzed in a central laboratory. Serum concentrations of apolipoprotein apoB, apoA-I and C-reactive protein (CRP) were measured by nephelometry (BN Prospec, Behring Diagnostics, Westwood, MA). Plasma fibrinogen levels were assayed by modified Clauss method using Behring Fibrinometer II coagulometer and multifibren U kit. Serum concentrations of triglycerides and glucose, measured in the fasting state, as well as of total, low density lipoprotein (LDL) and high density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol (LDL-C, HDL-C plus 2nd generation,

direct quantification) were determined using enzymatic kits from Roche Diagnostics with a Hitachi 902 autoanalyzer.

Fasting concentrations of sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) and insulin were assayed by electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (ECLIA) on Roche Elecsys 2010 immunautoanalyzer (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany). ASP concentration was measured using an in-house sandwich ELISA, following previously published methodology (26).

3.4.3 Definitions

Atherogenic dyslipidemia was defined as TG>1.7 mmol/L and HDL-C \leq 1.03 mmol/L (28). MetS was positive when 3 of 5 criteria of the National Cholesterol Education Program ATP-III were met, modified for prediabetes (fasting glucose 5.56-6.95 mmol/L) (27) with male central obesity defined as a waist circumference >95 cm, as assessed in the Turkish Adult Risk Factor study (28). In 2% of individuals exhibiting two MetS components and missing data on fasting triglycerides, the MetS status of a previous survey was adopted. Diabetes was diagnosed with the criteria of the American Diabetes Association (29), namely by self-report, plasma fasting glucose>7mmol/L or with 2-h postprandial glucose >11.1 mmol/L. HOMA was calculated as [insulin (mIU/L) x glucose (mmol/L)]/ 22.5. Nonfatal coronary heart disease (CHD) was identified by presence of angina pectoris, a history of myocardial infarction with/without accompanying Minnesota codes of the ECG (30) or a history of myocardial revascularization. Typical angina and, in women, age>45 years, were prerequisites for a diagnosis when angina was isolated. ECG changes of "ischemic type" of greater than minor degree (Codes 1.1-2, 4.1-2, 5.1-2, 7.1) were considered as myocardial infarct sequelae or myocardial ischemia, respectively.

3.4.4 Data statistical analysis

This study is a cross-sectional population-based study. The study population characteristics according to gender are reported as mean values \pm standard deviations for continuous variables and proportions for categorical variables. Graphical and statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism and SPSS. Two sided t-tests and Fisher's

exact test were used to analyze the differences between means and proportions of two groups, respectively. Spearman's correlation coefficients served to analyze univariate correlations. A value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant. Stepwise multiple forward regression analysis was applied for the study of association of ASP with cardiometabolic risk factors.

3.5 Results

The study sample consisted of 224 adult Turkish men and women. The average age of the population was 51.5 yrs. This group was middle-aged to older, overweight (mean BMI=28.1 men and 29.9 women), prone to abdominal obesity and similar to the overall cohort of the Turkish Adult Risk Factor study. In the group as a whole, presence of cardiometabolic disorders (at least one of these disorders; CHD, MetS, hypertension (HT), T2D) was 60.7% (60.8% in men, 60.6% in women). The study group characteristics and metabolic profiles, separated based on gender are shown in Table 3.1.

There was no significant difference in age, waist and blood pressure values between men and women, but there were significant differences in height (men>women, p<0.001) and BMI (women>men, p<0.01). In general there was no significant difference between men and women in distribution of cardiovascular and metabolic disorders (Table 3.1). Total cholesterol, HDL-C, TG, glucose, creatinine, apolipoprotein A1, sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG), and testosterone were significantly different between men and women, but apolipoprotein B and C-reactive protein, were not significantly different. The ASP values ranged from 51 to 1277 with a geometric mean value of 290.2 nmol/l (SD \pm 1.86fold) in men and 271 nmol/l (SD \pm 1.73-fold) in women (p=0.059)(Table 3.1).

In Figure 3.1, geometric mean ASP concentrations based on presence/absence of specific cardiometabolic disorders (CHD, metabolic syndrome, type-2 diabetes and hypertension) is shown in men and women. Levels were non-significantly higher in men with MetS and diabetes than without. Otherwise, including overall in women, ASP concentrations were non-significantly lower in the presence of cardiometabolic disorders.

		Women n=94		Men	Men n=130	
Parameters	Unit	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	p-value
Age	Year	52.2	12.9	51	11.1	Ns
Waist	Cm	95.3	15.5	97.8	10.4	Ns
Height	Cm	156.2	6.60	168.5	6.70	<0.001
BMI	kg/m ²	29.9	5.20	28.1	3.90	<0.01
Systolic BP	mmHg	127	22.5	125.4	21.5	Ns
Diastolic BP	mmHg	76.4	10.5	76.5	10.6	Ns
Total C	mg/dl	200.6	42.6	188.8	43	<0.05
HDL C	mg/dl	51.1	11.8	41.4	10.8	<0.001
LDL C	mg/dl	120.7	35.3	114.8	36.8	Ns
TG	mg/dl	148	76.6	181.9	119.4	<0.01
Glucose	mg/dl	97.2	22	106.9	41.5	<0.05
Creatinine	mg/l	0.75	0.15	0.93	0.16	<0.001
ApoAI	mg/dl	145	23.2	128.8	22.6	<0.001
АроВ	mg/dl	103	34	100.1	31.9	Ns
Insulin¶	µIU/mL	8.97	2.09	7.76 1.89		Ns
CRP	mg/l	3.10	3.30	3.90	5.40	Ns
Fibrinogen	mg/dl	3.20	0.84	3.13	1.03	Ns
SHBG	nmol/l	61.1	37.7	42.5	24.5	<0.001
Testosterone	nmol/l	0.56	7.39	10	9.08	<0.05
ASP*	nmol/l	271	242-305	305	274-339	0.059
		Women	n Men			
Metabolic disorder		N/%	N/%			Fisher test
CHD		7 / 7.4%		16 / 12.3%		Ns
MetS		44 / 47%		61 / 47%	Ns	
T2D		7 / 7.4%		22 / 17%	0.068	
НТ		45 / 48% 49 / 38 %			Ns	

 Table 3.1 Characteristics of the study population according to sex.

log-transformed values. Mean and SD are provided for men and women (*for ASP, geometric mean and 95th confidence limits are provided), where Apo apolipoprotein, BP blood pressure, C cholesterol, CHD coronary heart disease, CRP C-reactive protein, HT hypertension, MetS metabolic syndrome, T2D type 2 diabetes, TG triglyceride, SHBG sex hormone binding globulin.





Figure 3.1 Geometric mean serum ASP concentrations in women (upper panel) and men (lower panel) without and with CHD, metabolic syndrome, type-2 diabetes and hypertension.

Levels were non-significantly higher in men with MetS and diabetes than without. Otherwise, including overall in women, ASP concentrations were non-significantly lower in the presence of cardiometabolic disorders. Log-transformed ASP values.

Correlation of ASP with various parameters in these subgroups is shown in Table 3.2. Overall, subjects with hypertension (HT) had several factors that correlated with ASP including SHBG, C-reactive protein (CRP), fibrinogen and creatinine. In subjects without hypertension there were positive correlations with height and negative with LDL-C. Similarly, ASP correlated with height, HDLC and SHBG in subjects with metabolic syndrome, but not in those without.

	All subjects (224)					
	r	p value	r	p value		
Height	0.17	0.01				
SHBG	-0.1	0.08				
Parameters	Healthy (88)		Non-Hee	althy (136)		
Height	0.17	0.12	0.16	0.07		
SHBG	0.04	0.77	-0.30	< 0.01		
Parameters	Non-MetS (119)		With Me	With MetS (105)		
Glucose	-0.17	0.08	0.13	0.22		
Height	0.1	0.29	0.15	0.03		
HDL-C	-0.09	0.31	-0.20	0.04		
SHBG	-0.02	0.86	-0.31	<0.01		
Parameters	Without HT (130)		With H	With HT (94)		
Height	0.19	0.03	0.07	0.47		
HDL-C	-0.16	0.07	-0.06	0.56		
LDL-C	-0.18	0.04	0.13	0.21		
SHBG	-0.03	0.77	-0.33	<0.01		
CRP	0.05	0.52	0.21	<0.05		
FIBRINOGEN	-0.04	0.68	0.25	<0.05		
CREATININE	0.13	0.17	-0.21	0.05		
AGE	0.06	0.47	-0.19	0.06		

Table 3.2 Spearman correlation coefficients of ASP with certain variables according to metabolic disorders.

Spearman Correlation (r values) and significance level (p values) are provided according to metabolic disorder where CRP C reactive protein, HT hypertension, MetS metabolic syndromeSHBG sex hormone binding globulin. Values with p<0.1 are indicated in bold.

Correlation analysis of ASP was then performed stratified by sex, presence of MetS or other metabolic disorders (Table 3.3). Overall, correlations with ASP were stronger in men than in women in whom certain variables exhibited the opposite direction to those in men. Correlations of ASP overall in men were significant and positive with height, triglyceride, and glucose and tended to be so with CRP, with an inverse correlation with age and SHBG. In men with cardiometabolic disorders or with MetS, these correlations persisted and even tended to be accentuated as compared to men without MetS. Overall these correlations with ASP were in the opposite direction in women, even in healthy women. Significant inverse correlations were displayed with fasting glucose, LDL

cholesterol, and testosterone and tended to be so with total cholesterol and fasting TG. Significant positive correlations with waist girth, (diastolic) BP, and age have been shown. These correlations were strongly attenuated in the presence of MetS or otherwise "non-healthy" women. Correlation of ASP to height tended to be inversely, although very weakly, correlated in "non-healthy" women.

	r pvalue		r p value		
All (224)	Men (130)		Women (94)		
Age	-0.19	0.030	0.08	0.47	
Height	0.26	0.003	-0.03	0.79	
Glucose	0.19	0.031	-0.23	0.03	
Triglyceride	0.19	0.031	-0.18	0.09	
CRP	0.16	0.069	0.04	0.73	
Testosterone	0.05	0.630	-0.26	0.04	
SHBG	-0.19	0.064	-0.01	0.95	
Healthy (88)	Men (51)		Women (37)		
LDL-C	0	0.964	-0.36	0.03	
Creatinine	0.26	0.079	-0.12	0.49	
Non-healthy (138)	Men (79)		Women (59)		
Age	-0.29	0.010	0.13	0.35	
Height	0.27	0.016	-0.17	0.20	
BMI	0.22	0.049	0.13	0.33	
Triglyceride	0.24	0.037	-0.15	0.26	
HDL-C	-0.30	0.025	0.16	0.22	
Glucose	0.21	0.046	-0.27	0.05	
SHBG	-0.32	0.014	-0.19	0.23	
Without MetS (119)	Mei	n (69)	Women (50)		
Age	-0.21	0.083	0.16	0.28	
Height	0.27	0.024	-0.06	0.70	
WC	-0.10	0.393	0.31	0.03	
Diastolic BP	-0.12	0.316	0.33	0.02	
Systolic BP	-0.09	0.485	0.26	0.07	
ТС	0.07	0.558	-0.24	0.09	
With MetS (105)	Men (61)		Women (44)		
Height	0.23	0.075	-0.21	0.18	
Glucose	0.31	0.020	-0.21	0.17	
Fibrinogen	0.28	0.061	0.04	0.83	
SHGB	-0.28	0.064	-0.20	0.26	
CRP	0.23	0.049	0.03	0.86	

 Table 3.3 Spearman correlation coefficients of ASP with certain variables according to gender

Spearman Correlation (r values) and significance level (p values) are provided according to metabolic disorder where BMI body mass index, BP blood pressure, C cholesterol, CRP C reactive protein, HT hypertension, MetS metabolic syndrome, SHBG sex hormone binding globulin, WC waist circumference. Values with p<0.1 are indicated in bold.

3.6 Discussion

The salient findings in this population-based cross-sectional study among middleaged Turkish adults were: 1) Higher average ASP concentrations in comparison with those reported in other ethnicities. 2) Diverging correlations across genders between ASP levels on the one hand and TG, glucose and height among other risk variables.

The average concentration of ASP in all Turkish subjects in this study was generally higher (mean= 344.7±214.2, median=292.1 nmol/l) than in other studies (9). Factors such as obesity, metabolic disorders, ethnic and nutritional differences may all contribute to this (9). The ASP values measured here were higher than other ethnic groups such as Caucasian (12,31,32), African American (31), Pima Indian (12), Inuit from Nunavik (32) and Chinese (33) that have been measured so far, although the present group also contained a much higher percentage of known non-healthy subjects. ASP values were more similar to severely obese subjects (11). Further, there was a borderline sex difference (p=0.059) between men and women, which was not seen in a normal-weight North American population, although there were differences between severely obese men and women (11). As mentioned above, the present group has a high percentage of overweight and obese subjects as well as metabolic disorders (hypertension, metabolic syndrome, cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes). As mentioned above, previous studies show that obese subjects, T2D subjects and subjects with cardiovascular diseases have higher ASP levels (58-400%) vs. normal weight controls (9). A study by Yang et al. showed an increased ASP level in diabetic subjects even in the absence of obesity (15), and this was also true of women with polycystic ovary disease (18). All of these factors likely contributed to the higher ASP levels.

The level of ASP may also be influenced by the concentration of its precursors (9). ASP precursor components adipsin, C3, and factor B increase in obesity by approximately 30% for C3, 45% for factor B, and 37% for adipsin, however, small changes in substrate (C3) and enzyme (adipsin) may produce much larger changes in product (ASP) (34). In several studies, C3 mRNA expression has been reported to be increased in older vs. younger subjects and in omental vs. subcutaneous tissue (9).

A number of studies have demonstrated that plasma ASP correlates positively with various indices of body size (9). This includes BMI and percentage ideal body weight (17,35), waist to thigh or waist to hip ratio (33), total fat mass or percentage body fat (17,36). In this study, BMI in non-healthy men had a significant positive correlation with ASP concentration and waist circumference, in women (without metabolic syndrome), this also correlated. Height was a body size marker that consistently correlated significantly with ASP in men, regardless of the group tested. Stepwise multiple forward analysis in this study indicated that height was an independent covariate of ASP only in men (results are not shown). In Caucasian population studies, it has been shown that height has an inverse association with CVD (37). However, in rapidly developing populations, the protective effect of height on cardiovascular mortality or its risk factors is less obvious (38). In an Asian (Hong Kong) population, height was inversely associated with increased blood pressure and raised fasting plasma glucose but only after adjustment for central obesity (38).

In both the present study and other studies, ASP consistently correlated with plasma lipid profile, factors commonly related to metabolic syndrome, diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Whether the increase in plasma ASP is a cause or a consequence of abnormal lipid metabolism cannot be determined simply by correlation studies, but examination of ASP function is supportive of linkages. It has been proposed that a decrease in the ASP cell-surface receptor concentration or ASP response are related to hyperapoB, and that an elevated plasma ASP in patients with hyperapoB identifies individuals likely to have reduced cellular response to ASP stimulated peripheral TG synthesis and glucose transport (39). Further, there are strong supports that ASP binding and subsequent response may be a significant factor in determining regional differences in fat distribution (40).

Enhanced ASP action in subcutaneous tissue can lead to an increase in triglyceride storage. Impaired ASP action in visceral adipose tissue, however, can contribute to decreased efficiency of triglyceride storage and increase circulating fatty acid fluxes, leading to metabolic imbalance and disorders that are commonly associated with visceral obesity, such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease (40). Reduced adipose tissue response to ASP could contribute to an increased fatty acid flux, which leads to stimulation of hepatic apolipoprotein B lipoprotein production, explaining the associations between plasma ASP and lipid parameters (9). With the identification of an ASP receptor, C5L2, in adipose tissue and other insulin-sensitive tissues (41) the presence of chronically elevated levels of ASP, in conjunction with insulin resistance and plasma lipid abnormalities, would be consistent with the hypothesis of 'ASP resistance' (14,42).

Correlation between plasma ASP and other factors was different between men and women, and sex hormones could play a partial role in this. Overall, plasma ASP levels in normal weight girls were significantly higher than normal weight boys (33). An in vitro study by Wen et al. (43) indicated that physiological concentrations of progesterone as well as high concentrations of testosterone induce ASP resistance in both adipocytes and preadipocytes, although other explanations are possible. While ASP may be increased as a response to the insulin resistance, some cellular studies support the interpretation that the alteration in ASP pathway may be a direct response to the effect of the sex steroid hormones on downregulation of C5L2. For instance, physiological increases in sex steroid hormones in PCOS (polycystic ovary syndrome) and late pregnancy likely induce decreased C5L2 expression and signaling, leading to ASP resistance (18,44).

A study by Xia and Cianflone (34) demonstrated marked changes in expression of factors involved in ASP generation associated with increased obesity that were very different in men and women. Specifically, with increased BMI, in women there was a decreased expression of C3 and adipsin, while in men there was increased expression of C3, factor B, and adipsin. In women, subcutaneous tissue was the primary target, while in men visceral tissue was more often affected. These results also demonstrated a greater relative expression in visceral than subcutaneous tissue with development of obesity in both men and women. Koistinen et al. demonstrated an increase in C3 mRNA in adipose tissue from obese men compared to lean men (42). While these obese men only demonstrated a slight but not significant increase in plasma C3, they did have a substantial increase in plasma ASP. Interestingly, the level of C3 mRNA correlated inversely with glucose disposal rate but positively with BMI and postprandial triglyceride clearance (42).

Other divergent gender related associations have also been noted in this Turkish population. Gender influences the pro-inflammatory response to overall adiposity, central obesity and associated impaired function of HDL, with women affected to a greater extent (45). Association of inflammatory mediators is largely independent of MetS components in men, but tends to act in conjunction in women (45). Gender modulates response of cardiometabolic risk variables to moderate alcohol consumption and smoking status (45). Aggregation of Lp(a) to apoA1 to form an immune complex contributes as a CHD risk factor (45) and gender divergence in Lp(a) and LP-PLA2 has also been noted in this population (25). This inverse correlation, particularly in women, is in line with an enhanced role of pro-inflammatory status/oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular risk in Turkish women compared with men, and might relate to various HDL parameters (HDL, apoA1, apo CIII) (25). The present findings pertaining to divergent associations in genders of fasting glucose, triglycerides and height (and circulating total testosterone) could be consistent with a notion that ASP is related to variations in Lp (a) and LP-PLA2 (data not shown) and possibly HDL and related parameters, reflecting a pro-inflammatory state.

This population-based study has potential limitations in being cross-sectional in design wherein the causal role of ASP in cardiometabolic risk cannot be assessed. Secondly, the sample size for some cardiometabolic disorders (CHD, T2D) was less than adequate and precluded correlation analyses in subgroups. On the other hand, the availability of diverse lipid and non-lipid parameters, and identification of various cardiometabolic disorders in a population-based study comprising adults prone to enhanced low-grade inflammation, form its strength.

We conclude that ASP levels not only reflect dysglycemia and atherogenic dyslipidemia in men but also other inflammation and anti-inflammatory biomarkers as well as height. The addition of MetS marginally accentuates these associations. In contrast, in women, correlations with ASP (notably triglycerides, glucose, LDL-C and height) are in the opposite direction, as are those with serum Lp (a) (data not shown), already in the absence of current definitions of MetS.

3.7 References

- 1. Cardiometabolic Risk Working Group: Executive Committee, Leiter LA, Fitchett DH, Gilbert RE, Gupta M, Mancini GB, McFarlane PA, Ross R, Teoh H, Verma S, Anand S, Camelon K, Chow CM, Cox JL, Després JP, Genest J, Harris SB, Lau DC, Lewanczuk R, Liu PP, Lonn EM, McPherson R, Poirier P, Qaadri S, Rabasa-Lhoret R, Rabkin SW, Sharma AM, Steele AW, Stone JA, Tardif JC, Tobe S, Ur E. Cardiometabolic risk in Canada: a detailed analysis and position paper by the cardiometabolic risk working group. Can J Cardiol. 2011 Mar-Apr;27(2):e1-e33. Review.
- 2. Camhi SM, Katzmarzyk PT. Prevalence of cardiometabolic risk factor clustering and body mass index in adolescents. J Pediatr. 2011 Aug;159(2):303-7.
- 3. Wildman RP, Muntner P, Reynolds K, McGinn AP, Rajpathak S, Wylie-Rosett J, Sowers MR . The obese without cardiometabolic risk factor clustering and the normal weight with cardiometabolic risk factor clustering: prevalence and correlates of 2 phenotypes among the US population (NHANES 1999-2004). Arch Intern Med. 2008 Aug 11;168(15):1617-24.
- 4. Tziomalos K, Athyros VG, Karagiannis A, Mikhailidis DP. Endothelial dysfunction in metabolic syndrome: prevalence, pathogenesis and management. Nutrition, Metabolism & Cardiovascular Diseases (2010) 20, 140e146.
- 5. Gualillo O, González-Juanatey JR, Lago F. The emerging role of adipokines as mediators of cardiovascular function: physiologic and clinical perspectives. 2007 Nov;17 (8):275-83.
- 6. Paul Trayhurn and I. Stuart Wood, Adipokines: inflammation and the pleiotropic role of white adipose tissue, British Journal of Nutrition (2004), 92, 347–355
- Armani A, Mammi C, Marzolla V, Calanchini M, Antelmi A, Rosano GM, Fabbri A, Caprio M. Cellular models for understanding adipogenesis, adipose dysfunction, and obesity. Centre for Clinical and Basic Research, IRCCS San Raffaele Pisana, Rome, Italy. 2010 Jun 1;110(3):564-72.
- 8. Onat A, Can G, Rezvani R, Cianflone K., Complement C3 and cleavage products in cardiometabolic risk. Clin Chim Acta. 2011 Jun 11;412(13-14):1171-9
- 9. Cianflone K, Xia Z, Chen LY. Critical review of acylation-stimulating protein physiology in humans and rodents. 2003 Jan 31;1609 (2):127-43.
- 10. Maslowska M, Legakis H, Assadi F, Cianflone K. Targeting the signaling pathway of acylation stimulating protein. J Lipid Res. 2006 Mar;47(3):643-52.

- 11. Maslowska M, Vu H, Phelis S, Sniderman AD, Rhode BM, Blank D, Cianflone K. Plasma acylation stimulating protein, adipsin and lipids in non-obese and obese populations. Eur J Clin Invest. 1999 Aug;29(8):679-86.
- 12. Weyer, C. & Pratley, R.E. Fasting and postprandial plasma concentrations of acylationstimulation protein (ASP) in lean and obese Pima Indians compared to Caucasians. 1999, Obesity Research, 7, 444–452.
- 13. Yesilova, Z., Ozata, M., Oktenli, C. et al. Increased acylation stimulating protein concentrations in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease are associated with insulin resistance. 2005, The American Journal of Gastroenterology, 100, 842–849.
- Ozata, M., Gungor, D., Turan, M. et al. Improved glycemic control increases fasting plasma acylation-stimulating protein and decreases leptin concentrations in type II diabetic subjects. 2001, Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 86, 3659– 3664.
- 15. Yang, Y., Lu, H.L., Zhang, J. et al. Relationships among acylation stimulating protein, adiponectin and complement C3 in lean vs obese type 2 diabetes. 2006, International Journal of Obesity, 30, 439–446.
- 16. St-Pierre DH, Cianflone K, Smith J, Coderre L, Karelis AD, Imbeault P, Lavoie JM, Rabasa-Lhoret R. Change in plasma acylation stimulating protein during euglycaemichyperinsulinaemic clamp in overweight and obese postmenopausal women: a MONET study. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2009 Apr;70(4):539-46. Epub 2008 Aug 13.
- 17. Cianflone K, Zhang XJ, Genest J Jr, Sniderman A. Plasma acylation-stimulating protein in coronary artery disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1997 Jul;17(7):1239-44.
- 18. Wu, Y., Zhang, J., Wen, Y. et al. Increased acylation-stimulating protein, C-reactive protein, and lipid levels in young women with polycystic ovary syndrome. 2009, Fertility and Sterility, 91, 213–219.
- 19. Tang, J.H., Wen, Y., Wu, F. et al. Increased plasma acylation-stimulating protein in pediatric proteinuric renal disease. 2008, Pediatric Nephrology, 23, 959–964.
- 20. Onat A, Hergenç G, Can G. obesity and abdominal obesity; an alarming challenge for cardio-metabolic risk in Turkish adults. Anadolu Kardiyol Derg. 2009 Apr; 9(2):147
- 21. Seidell JC, Prevalence and time trends of obesity in Europe., J Endocrinol Invest. 2002 Nov; 25(10):816-22. Review.
- 22. Altan Onat, risk factors and cardiovascular disease in turkey, Review article Atherosclerosis 156 (2001) 1-10.

- 23. Sanisoglu SY, Oktenli C, Hasimi A, Yokusoglu M, Ugurlu M. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome-related disorders in a large adult population in Turkey. BMC Public Health. 2006 Apr 10;6:92.
- 24. Onat A, Hergenç G, Keleş I, Doğan Y, Türkmen S, Sansoy V.Sex difference in development of diabetes and cardiovascular disease on the way from obesity and metabolic syndrome. Metabolism. 2005 Jun;54(6):800-8.
- 25. Onat A, Hergenç G, Can G, Uğur M, Nartop F. Dual activity of serum lipoproteinassociated phospholipase A(2) yielding positive and inverse associations with cardiometabolic risk. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2011 Aug;49(8):1349-57. Epub 2011 Jul 14.
- 26. Saleh J, summers LK. Cianflone K, Fielding BA, Sniderman AD and Frayn KN. Coordination release of acylation stimulating protein and triacylglycerol clearance by human adipose tissue in vivo in the postprandial period. J Lipid Res, 1998; 39:884-891
- 27. National Cholesterol Education Expert Panel. Executive summary of the third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). JAMA 2001; 285:2486-2497.
- 28. Onat A, Sari İ, Hergenç G, Yazici M, Uyarel H, Can G, Sansoy V. Predictors of abdominal obesity and high susceptibility of cardiometabolic risk to its increments among Turkish women: a prospective population-based study. Metabolism 2007;56:348-56
- 29. Genuth S, Alberti KG, Bennett P, Buse J, Defronzo R, Kahn R, Kitzmiller J, Knowler WC, Lebovitz H, Lernmark A, Nathan D, Palmer J, Rizza R, Saudek C, Shaw J, Steffes M, Stern M, Tuomilehto J, Zimmet P; Expert Committee on the Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. Follow-up report on the diagnosis of diabetes mellitus: The Expert Committee on the Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Care 2003; 26:3160-3167.
- 30. Rose GA, Blackburn H, Gillum RF, Prineas RJ. Cardiovascular Survey Methods, 2nd edn. Geneva, World Health Organization, p 1982; 124-127
- 31. Scantlebury-Manning T, Bower J, Cianflone K, Barakat H., Racial difference in Acylation Stimulating Protein (ASP) correlates to triglyceride in non-obese and obese African American and Caucasian women. Nutr Metab (Lond). 2009 Apr 17;6:18.
- 32. Smith JD, Cianflone K, Dewailly E, Château-Degat ML, Vohl MC, Julien P. Acylation stimulating protein is higher in Inuit from Nunavik compared to a southern Quebec population. Int J Circumpolar Health. 2009 Dec;68(5):421-32.

- 33. Wamba PC, Mi J, Zhao XY, Zhang MX, Wen Y, Cheng H, Hou DQ, Cianflone K. Acylation stimulating protein but not complement C3 associates with metabolic syndrome components in Chinese children and adolescents. 2008 Dec;159 (6):781-90.
- 34. Xia Z, Cianflone K. Acylation-stimulating protein precursor proteins in adipose tissue in human obesity. Metabolism. 2003 Oct;52(10):1360-6.
- 35. Cianflone K, Lu H, Smith J, Yu W, Wang H. Adiponectin, acylation stimulating protein and complement C3 are altered in obesity in very young children. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2005 May;62(5):567-72. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2005 May;62(5):567-72.
- 36. de Lind van Wijngaarden RF, Cianflone K, Gao Y, Leunissen RW, Hokken-Koelega AC. Cardiovascular and metabolic risk profile and acylation-stimulating protein levels in children with Prader-Willi syndrome and effects of growth hormone treatment. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010 Apr;95(4):1758-66. Epub 2010 Feb 19.
- 37. McCarron et al. respond to "height-cardiovascular disease relation": are all risk factors equal? Am J Epidemiol. 2002 Apr 15;155(8):690-1.
- 38. Schooling CM, Thomas GN, Leung GM, Ho SY, Janus ED, Lam TH. Is height associated with cardiovascular risk in Chinese adults? Epidemiology. 2007 Mar;18(2):274-8.
- 39. Zhang XJ, Cianflone K, Genest J, Sniderman AD.Plasma acylation stimulating protein (ASP) as a predictor of impaired cellular biological response to ASP in patients with hyperapoB. Eur J Clin Invest. 1998 Sep;28(9):730-9.
- 40. Saleh J, Christou N, Cianflone K. Regional specificity of ASP binding in human adipose tissue. Am J Physiol. 1999 May;276(5 Pt 1):E815-21.
- 41. Kalant D, Cain SA, Maslowska M, Sniderman AD, Cianflone K, Monk PN. The chemoattractant receptor-like protein C5L2 binds the C3a des-Arg77/acylation-stimulating protein. J Biol Chem 2003; 278: 11123–11129.
- 42. Koistinen HA, Vidal H, Karonen SL, Dusserre E, Vallier P, Koivisto VA, Ebeling P. Plasma acylation stimulating protein concentration and subcutaneous adipose tissue C3 mRNA expression in nondiabetic and type 2 diabetic men. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2001 Jun;21(6):1034-9.
- 43. Wen Y, Wang H, MacLaren R, Lu H, Hu XF, Cianflone K. Sex steroid hormones induce acylation stimulating protein resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. J Cell Biochem. 2008 Oct 1;105(2):404-13.

- 44. Saleh J, Cianflone K, Chaudhary T, Al-Riyami H, Al-Abri AR, Bayoumi R. Increased plasma acylation-stimulating protein correlates with hyperlipidemia at late gestation. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2007 Mar;15(3):646-52.
- 45. Onat A, Hergenç G. Low-grade inflammation, and dysfunction of high-density lipoprotein and its apolipoproteins as a major driver of cardiometabolic risk. Metabolism, 2011 Apr; 60(4):499-512. Epub 2010 May 23. Review

Chapter 4

Cross sectional associations of Acylation Stimulating Protein (ASP) and adipose tissue gene expression with estradiol and progesterone in pre and postmenopausal women

Reza Rezvani, Abhishek Gupta, Jessica Smith, Pegah Poursharifi, Picard Marceau, Louis Pérusse, Claude Bouchard, André Tchernof and Katherine Cianflone

Clinical Endocrinology, 2014

4.1 Résumé

Les hormones stéroïdiennes jouent un rôle important dans le métabolisme du gras et l'obésité. Nous avons donc proposé une implication entre la protéine stimulant l'acylation (ASP) et les hormones ovariennes. On a donc mesuré, chez 392 femmes âgées de 18 à 69 ans (avec un IMC entre 17 et 90 kg/m²), les niveaux plasmatiques d'ASP, hormones sexuelles, glucose, adiponectine ainsi que les lipides et apolipoprotéines, en plus des facteurs déterminants du syndrome métabolique. Dans un sous-groupe, on a aussi mesuré l'expression génique du précurseur de l'ASP (C3) et des récepteurs qui y sont reliés; C5L2, C3aR et C5aR dans les tissus adipeux viscéral et sous-cutanés. L'ASP corrélait de façon négative avec l'estrogène (p<0.001), le progestérone (p<0.05), l'adiponectine (p<0.001) ainsi que l'ApoA1 (p<0.001) alors qu'elle corrélait positivement avec les niveaux d'ApoB (p<0.001), la tension artérielle systolique (p<0.001), le tour de taille (p<0.001) et les triglycérides (p<0.05). Chez des sous-groupes de personnes non-obèses (maigre et surpoids), obèses mais métaboliquement saines (MHO) et obèses avec syndrome métabolique (MSO), on a observé une augmentation séquentielle des niveaux d'ASP (p<0.001) alors que ceux d'adiponectine (P<0.0001) et d'estradiol (p<0.001) diminuaient et que la progestérone restait similaire. D'un autre côté, la progestérone corrélait positivement avec l'expression génique de C3 dans le tissu viscéral (p<0.05) et négativement avec l'expression de C5L2 au niveau viscéral (p<0.01) et sous-cutané (p < 0.05). Ces résultats soulignent le concept que les hormones sexuelles affectent de façon différente les niveaux d'ASP et l'expression génique dans le tissu adipeux et ceci, en fonction du dépôt adipeux.

4.2 Abstract

Sex steroid hormones play an important regulatory role in fat metabolism and obesity. Objective: We hypothesized involvement of interactions between ovarian hormones with Acylation Stimulating Protein (ASP). Design, Patients and measurements: In 392 women with wide age (18 to 69 years) and body size (BMI: 17 to 90 kg/m2) ranges, fasting plasma levels of ASP, ovarian hormones, glucose, adiponectin and lipids/apolipoproteins were assessed, along with determination of metabolic syndrome (MS) features. Gene expression of C3 (ASP precursor) and related receptors C5L2, C3aR and C5aR in subcutaneous and omental adipose tissues were measured in a subset. Results: ASP correlated negatively with concentrations of estradiol (p<0.0001), adiponectin (p<0.001) and apolipoprotein A1 (p<0.001) and positively with apolipoprotein B levels (P<0.001), systolic blood pressure (p< 0.001), waist circumference (p<0.001), and triglyceride concentrations (p<0.01). In aged-matched groups of lean, overweight, metabolically healthy obese (MHO) and obese with metabolic syndrome (MSO), there was a stepwise increase in ASP levels (p<0.001) while concentrations of adiponectin (p<0.0001) and estradiol (p<0.001) but not those of progesterone decreased. Progesterone but not estradiol levels correlated positively with C3 gene expression in omental adipose tissue (p<0.05) and negatively with C5L2 expression in both omental (p<0.01) and subcutaneous (p<0.05) adipose tissues. Conclusion: Our results are consistent with the concept that sex hormones differentially influence circulating ASP and adipose tissue gene expression of its related proteins in a depot-specific manner. ASP may play a role in the regulation of regional fat metabolism through interactions with sex hormones in women.

4.3 Introduction

Obesity is recognized as an important risk factor for metabolic syndrome, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, Type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. However, there can also be a clustering of cardiometabolic abnormalities among normal-weight individuals and, conversely, some overweight and obese individuals are considered metabolically healthy. Adipose tissue plays a central role in glucose and lipid metabolism ¹. The adipocyte secretes a variety of bioactive molecules, collectively termed adipokines, which mediate many autocrine and paracrine functions ¹. Adipose tissue accumulates in numerous depots, primarily grouped as subcutaneous and visceral depots with distinctive characteristics ². The differential expansion of these depots is of importance because the association with metabolic disorders is stronger for visceral than for subcutaneous ², possibly because of proximity to the liver, or possibly because different adipose tissue depots JP, 2013) ². Moreover, differences in gene expression profiles or in biochemical and metabolic properties may also contribute to excess visceral adipose tissue being preferentially associated with metabolic dysfunction ².

Acylation Stimulating Protein (ASP) is an adipokine that is identical to C3adesArg, a byproduct of innate immunity activation. It is derived from the cleavage product of complement C3 ³. Cleavage of C3 generates C3a, which binds the C3aR receptor. C3a is then desarginated by carboxypeptidase to generate C3adesArg (ASP), which interacts with its receptor C5L2 ⁴. ASP enhances lipid storage in adipocytes through stimulation of glucose uptake, fatty acid esterification, and lipoprotein lipase activity, effects that are independent and additive to insulin ³. In addition to ASP, the C5L2 receptor also binds C5a and C3a. These proteins, which are structurally similar to ASP, also bind their classical receptors C3aR and C5aR, while C5L2 also hetero-dimerizes with C5aR. All three receptors have roles in immunity, as well as recently identified roles in energy homeostasis and lipid metabolism ⁵.

In addition to adipokines, sex hormones are widely involved in the regulation of adipose tissue metabolism and have been reported to affect insulin sensitivity, glucose homeostasis and body weight ⁶. Sex hormones have also been shown to influence adipokine

secretion and adipose tissue function ⁶⁻⁸. Studies have demonstrated that with decreased production of sex hormones there is an increase in the mass of abdominal, visceral adipose tissue ⁹, associated with increased risk factors, which have an important impact on women's health ². Ovarian hormones appear to be protective against the metabolic syndrome; prior to menopause, women have much fewer obesity-related metabolic disorders, and the prevalence of these metabolic disorders increases in women after menopause.

Estradiol, the predominant natural form of estrogen during reproductive age, is involved in many physiological functions, including development, growth, energy homeostasis, and reproductive physiology ¹⁰. Estrogen-action is mediated by two specific estrogen receptors (ER) with possible effects on lipogenic enzymes such as lipoprotein lipase and hormone sensitive lipase ¹¹. An anti-lipolytic function for ER- α , specifically in subcutaneous adipose tissue, has been reported ¹². Progesterone plays an important role in ovulation, reproduction and in mammary gland growth.

The progesterone receptor has been identified in many tissues/organs including uterus, ovaries, mammary glands, bones, and central nervous system as well as adipose tissue ¹³. The role of progesterone in energy homeostasis, lipid metabolism and fat distribution has been investigated in animal and human studies. Progesterone administration in female rats increased subcutaneous adipose tissue and altered gene expression of adipokines involved in energy homeostasis regulation ¹⁴. Castrogiovanni et al. demonstrated that although the lipogenic effect of an obesogenic diet remained or was enhanced after previous progesterone administration, the metabolic, endocrine and adipose tissue dysfunction induced by diet could be prevented with high-dose progesterone treatment ¹⁵. Furthermore, a specific stimulatory effect of progesterone on lipogenic enzyme gene expression in subcutaneous adipose tissue in female rats has been shown in a recent study ¹⁶. Adipose tissue also has the enzymatic machinery to inactivate progesterone ¹⁷. Although not completely consistent, *in vivo* and *in vitro* data have suggested that adipose tissue may represent a significant target organ for progesterone action affecting adipose tissue lipid metabolism and fat distribution, much like androgens and estrogens¹. In human studies, a higher energy intake during luteal vs follicular phase was demonstrated ¹⁸. Very recently, a randomized control trial by Prior et al. demonstrated that administration of oral micronized progesterone for three months to healthy early postmenopausal women was neutral towards cardiovascular and inflammatory markers (such as BMI, glucose, blood pressure), but tended to improve endothelial function ¹⁹.

Previous human studies have shown gender and regional differences in ASP levels and function (both binding and activity) in adipose tissue in mice and humans (reviewed by Saleh J. 2011²⁰). As progesterone levels were found to be closely and significantly linked to plasma ASP levels *in vivo*²⁰, cell studies were conducted to evaluate sex hormone effects on ASP response *in vitro*. Adipocytes incubated with high level progesterone and estradiol rapidly demonstrate a dose-dependent inhibition of ASP function ^{7;8} and decreases in C5L2 expression ⁷. However the effect of menopausal status coupled to obesity on circulating ASP levels and gene expression of its related receptors in omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues with a wide range of BMI has not been evaluated. Given the published data, we hypothesized that both circulating ASP levels and related gene expressions would vary as a function of sex hormone levels in women.

4.4 Methods

4.4.1 Study subjects

Blood samples were obtained from three sources: I) CRIUCPQ (Centre de Recherche Institut Universitaire de Cardiologie et de Pneumologie de Québec) Tissue Bank (<u>http://www.criucpq.ulaval.ca/index.php/en/tissue-bank</u>): 253 women (all severely obese) who were undergoing bariatric surgery with biliopancreatic diversion with pre-operative fasting blood samples and adipose tissue samples taken at the time of bariatric surgery (sub-group only) II) the Gynecology Unit, Laval University Medical Center: 41 women who were candidates for elective surgery (total abdominal hysterectomy or right/left and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy) with pre-operative fasting blood samples and adipose tissue samples taken at the time of surgery (sub-group only) and III), Quebec Family Study (QFS): 98 women with fasting blood samples available. For the QFS study, families of French descent (Caucasians) were recruited with three cycles of data collection between 1979 and 2002 in Quebec City, to participate in a longitudinal prospective cohort study to examine genetic determinants of fitness, obesity, and cardiovascular and diabetes risk

factors. The design of QFS and methods are described elsewhere ²¹ and the results have been recently reviewed by Chaput et al ²².

All subjects (from all three sources) met the following eligibility criteria for inclusion in the present evaluation: adult women, no ovariectomy, no lipid lowering medication, no diabetes, and fasting blood sample availability. All blood samples in first and second groups were obtained before surgery. Altogether, the analysis group included 392 women, aged between 18-69 years old, and all data were pooled prior to analysis. Among these subjects, there were 139 individuals from the first and second group with frozen subcutaneous and omental adipose tissue samples available for gene expression analysis. The ethics committee of the CRIUCPQ approved the experimental protocol. Laval University Medical Center approved the study of subgroup II. The QFS study was previously approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Laval University. All participants provided written informed consent for participation in medical research.

4.4.2 Study design and criteria for metabolic syndrome

Individuals were classified based on BMI as lean (BMI<25kg/m²), overweight $(25kg/m^2 < BMI<30kg/m^2)$ and obese (BMI \ge 30kg/m²). Obese subjects were further divided according to presence (metabolic syndrome obese, MSO) or absence (metabolically healthy obese, MHO) of metabolic syndrome or according to the number of metabolic syndrome features from 0=having no feature to 5= having all 5 features. Metabolic syndrome was defined according to the US National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III guidelines and modified as recommended in the latest American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Scientific Statement ²³ with a lower cutoff for fasting glucose (5.6 mmol/L). Metabolic syndrome (MSO) was defined as having 3 of the following metabolic risk factors: (1) central obesity (waist circumference >88 cm in women), (2) hypertriglyceridemia (fasting triglycerides >1.69 mmol/L, (3) low HDL cholesterol (fasting HDL<1.29 mmol/L in women), (4) glucose intolerance (fasting glucose >5.6 mmol/L, and (5) hypertension (sitting blood pressure 130/85 mm Hg obtained as a mean of two readings taken after resting for at least 10 minutes or on regular antihypertensive medications). MHO was defined as having ≤ 2 metabolic risk factors.

4.4.3 Clinical and Plasma Measurements

Clinical Assessment: Anthropometric measurements (height, weight, waist circumference, hip circumference) and blood pressure were measured on the day before or on the morning of surgery/blood sampling. Premenopausal and postmenopausal status was determined based on self-reporting by the subject.

Plasma analysis: Blood samples were obtained from participants after overnight fasting and collected into EDTA-containing tubes. The hospital clinical biochemistry laboratory measured fasting plasma glucose, triglyceride, total cholesterol, low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), apolipoprotein B (Apo B), and apolipoprotein A1 (Apo A1) according to standardized clinical methodology. The following assays were measured in the research laboratory for all samples: estrone and estradiol (RIA, Beckman Coulter Canada LP, Mississauga, ON), adiponectin (RIA, Millipore, Billerica. MA, USA), progesterone (ELISA, ALPCO, Salem, NH, US) and C-reactive protein (CRP), ELISA, Ray Biotech, Burlington, ON) following instructions of the manufacturers. ASP concentration was measured using an in-house sandwich ELISA, following previously-published methodology ²⁴.

4.4.4 Adipose tissue Sampling and Analysis:

Biopsies: Adipose tissue biopsy samples were obtained from subcutaneous and omental depots during bariatric or gynecological surgery. Adipose tissue samples were washed with sterile Krebs-Ringer-HEPES buffer, placed in liquid nitrogen, and then immediately transported and stored at -80°C.

RNA Extraction and Real Time qPCR Analysis: All samples (maximum 100 mg adipose tissue) were homogenized in Qiazol (Qiagen Inc, Mississauga, ON, Canada). Total RNA was extracted from homogenates using the RNeasy Plus Universal Mini Kit (Qiagen Inc.) according to the manufacturer's instructions. From the total amount, 0.1 µg of purified RNA was retrotranscribed to cDNA using a QuantiTec® Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen Inc.) with a final volume of 20 uL. Genomic DNA contamination was eliminated by DNase treatment included in QuantiTec® Reverse Transcription Kit. For real-time PCR

evaluation of gene expression, 1 ul of cDNA was used for each reaction. RT2 SYBR® Green qPCR Master Mix (Qiagen Inc.) was used and a 3-step PCR was performed using CFX96[™] Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Mississauga, ON, Canada), using the following protocol: an initial denaturation step at 95°C for 10 minutes, 39 cycles of 95°C for 15 s, 55° C for 10 40 s, 72°C for 30 s was followed by a final extension step of 95°C for 10 s and melt curve 65°C to 95° C. Real time RT-PCR was performed to quantify human C3, C3aR, C5aR, and C5L2 relative to glyceraldehyde-3phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH). C5L2 (GPR77: QT00243971) and C3 (Hs C3 2 SG, NM 000064) primers were purchased from Qiagen (QuantiTect Primer Assay, Qiagen, Mississauga, ON, Canada). The sequences for the GAPDH, C3aR and C5aR primers obtained from Alpha-DNA (Montreal, Canada) were: C3aR1-Right; 5′-AGCAGAGAAAGACGCCATTG-3', C3aR1-Left; 5'-ACTGTGGCTAAGTGTGGGGA-TATCCACAGGGGTGTTGAGG-3', 3′. C5R1-Right; 5′-C5R1-Left: 5'-5′-GCCCAGGAGACCAGAACAT-3', and GAPD-Right; AATGAAGGGGTCATTGATGG-3', GAPD-Left; 5'-AAGGTGAAGGTCGGAGTCAA-3'. For data analysis the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method was used, as performed with Bio-Rad CFX manager software (version 1.5)(Bio-Rad Laboratories). All procedures followed Minimum Information for Publication of Quantitative Real-Time PCR Experiments (MIQE) guidelines including specificity, appropriate controls and assay performance²⁵.

4.5 Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 5 (GraphPad Software Inc, La Jolla, CA, USA) or Sigmastat 3.5 (Systat Software Inc, San Jose, CA, USA). Descriptive parameters are provided as mean ± SEM or in percentages. For non-normally distributed parameters, values were log-transformed for statistical analysis. Normality was assessed by Shapiro-Wilk test. Two sided t-tests were used to analyze the differences between means and proportions of two groups. The 95% confidence interval for the difference between two means was used to specify a range of values within which the difference between the means of the two populations may lie. One-way ANOVA analyses were used to compare more than two groups (as indicated). Spearman rank correlation coefficient was used for evaluating the degree of linear association or correlation between

two independent variables, to be conservative given the use of multiple statistical tests. A p<0.05 was considered statistically significant for all analyses

4.6 **Results**

4.6.1 Relationship of ASP with sex hormones, anthropometric values and metabolic profile

Characteristics of the participants are given in Table (4.1). The subjects covered a wide age range (18-69 years, average age 41 years old) and BMI (16.3 to 89.9 kg/m²), with 30% postmenopausal. Plasma ASP ranged from 2.8 to 125 nmol/L and correlated with estradiol (r=-0.24, p<0.001), a correlation that was maintained when the postmenopausal women were excluded (Figure 4.1A, premenopausal n=274, r=-0.23, p<0.001). While there was a weak correlation of ASP with progesterone (r=-0.14, p<0.05) this was lost when postmenopausal women were excluded. ASP also correlated with adiponectin (p<0.001) and CRP (p<0.0001) as well as with most of the metabolic syndrome criteria including waist circumference (p<0.001), BMI (p<0.0001), blood pressure (systolic and diastolic; both p<0.01) and triglyceride levels (p<0.01) and other circulating lipid parameters Apo B, Apo A1, and Apo A1/B ratio (p<0.0001, p<0.001 and p<0.0001, respectively) (Table 4.1) correlations which remained significant with exclusion of postmenopausal women (data not shown).

The subjects were grouped by plasma ASP quartiles to evaluate the associations with metabolic and lipid parameters and adiponectin. There was a decrease in sex hormones across the four groups (estradiol p<0.001; progesterone p<0.05, ANOVA with trend) although there was no difference in age across these groups. As well, Apo A1 and adiponectin decreased (Figure 4.1B, C), while CRP and ApoB increased (ANOVA p<0.001, Figure 1B, C). Metabolic syndrome parameters including systolic blood pressure (p<0.001), diastolic blood pressure (p<0.05), BMI (p<0.05), waist circumference (p<0.001), and triglyceride concentrations (p<0.05) increased significantly across ASP groups (Figure 4.1D). Exclusion of postmenopausal women did not change the results (data not shown).

							ASP correlations	
	Parameters	Mean	SEM	MIN	MAX	95% CI of Mean	r	p value
	Age (yrs)	41.2	0.5	18.3	69	40.0 - 42.2	0	ns
Metabolic syndrome criteria	Waist Circumference (cm)	123	2	58	195	120 - 127	0.22	P<0.001
	BMI (kg/m ²)	41.9	0.70	16.8	89.9	40.7 - 43.6	0.26	P<0.0001
	Systolic BP (mmHg)	130	1	85	188	128 - 132	0.21	P<0.01
	Diastolic BP (mmHg)	79.6	0.70	29	185	78.1 - 80.6	0.17	P<0.01
	Glucose (mmol/L)	5.5	0.10	3.6	15.4	5.35 - 5.62	0.10	ns
	Triglyceride (mmol/L)	1.53	0.05	0.45	4.48	1.46 - 1.61	0.16	P<0.01
	HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.34	0.02	0.36	2.45	1.31 - 1.37	-0.06	ns
Circulating parameters	Total Cholesterol (mmol/L)	4.99	0.05	1.52	15.1	4.88 - 5.09	0.09	ns
	LDL-C (mmol/L)	2.94	0.04	0.75	6.29	2.86 - 3.02	0.08	ns
	Apo B (g/L)	0.89	0.02	0.23	2.35	0.84 - 0.92	0.22	P<0.0001
	Apo A1 (g/L)	1.10	0.02	0.06	1.95	1.02 - 1.10	-0.20	P<0.001
	Apo A1/B	1.43	0.04	0.05	4.58	1.36 - 1.51	-0.26	P<0.0001
	ASP (nmol/L)	26.6	0.90	2.8	125	24.4 - 27.7		
	Adiponectin (µg/ml)	15.7	1	1	112	13.7 - 17.7	-0.23	P<0.001
	CRP (mg/L)	8.64	0.49	0.15	34.8	7.67 - 9.61	0.30	P<0.0001
an nes	Estradiol (pmol/L)	184	9.97	18.4	963	164 - 203	-0.24	P<0.0001
vari	Estrone (pg/ml)	71.2	2.70	9.10	322	65.9 - 76.6	0.10	ns
0 hoi	Progesterone (nmol/L)	6.70	0.38	0.25	48.9	5.95 - 7.44	-0.14	P<0.05

Table 4.1 Baseline characteristics, anthropometric measurements, and metabolic analysis of participants.

Spearman rank correlation coefficients of ASP with variables. APO; Apolipoprotein, BMI; Body Mass Index, BP; blood pressure, CRP; C-reactive protein, HDL-C; high density lipoprotein-cholesterol. Ranges represent minimum to maximum values. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM for n=392 women, p<0.05 is considered significant, where p ns indicates not significant.



Figure 4.1 Association of acylation stimulating protein (ASP) with ovarian hormones and metabolic profile.

A) Linear plot correlations of estradiol with ASP plasma levels in premenopausal women. (B) adiponectin (right *y*-axis), C-reactive protein (CRP) (left *y*-axis) and (C) Apolipoprotein A1 (ApoA1), Apolipoprotein B (ApoB) plasma levels in subjects divided based on ASP quartile (pre- and postmenopausal women). (D) Metabolic syndrome parameters: systolic blood pressure (SBP), waist circumference (WC) and triglyceride (TG, inset) in ASP quartile groups (pre-and postmenopausal women). Statistical differences were analysed with one-way anova test for parametric data and Kruskal–Wallis for nonparametric values where P < 0.05 is considered as significant. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM.
4.6.2 Comparison of adipokines and sex hormones with metabolic profiles between Lean, Overweight, and Obese MHO and MSO groups:

Subjects were then separated into four groups: (i) Lean subjects (BMI<25 kg/m² (ii) Overweight subjects (25kg/m² <BMI<30kg/m²) (iii) Metabolically healthy obese subjects (MHO: BMI>30, MS score ≤ 2) and (iv) Obese subjects with metabolic syndrome (MSO: BMI>30, MS score \geq 3). The group characteristics are given in Table 4.2. As shown in Figure 4.2 (A and B) the trend from Lean to Overweight to MHO to MSO for adjockines and sex hormones indicated that ASP increased overall (Figure 4.2A, p<0.001) while adiponectin decreased (p<0.0001). This trend was also seen with estradiol, which decreased (Figure 4.2B, p<0.001), but not with progesterone (Figure 4.2B) or estrone (data not shown). One-way ANOVA P values for waist circumference, BMI, systolic BP, diastolic BP, glucose, TG, HDL-C, Apo A1 and Apo A1/B ratio were all significant (Table 4.2). Individual comparisons (ANOVA post-hoc test and 95% confidence intervals (95%CI) indicated that MHO, in comparison with the Lean group, had significantly higher levels of ASP (p < 0.05) but lower concentrations of estradiol (p < 0.05) and adiponectin (p < 0.001), although there was no difference in age (Figure 4.2B). There was also no difference in estrone (data not shown) and progesterone (Figure 4.2B). In the MSO group, ASP was higher, while adiponectin and estradiol were lower as compared to Lean, although there was no difference in age (Figure 4.2A and B). As expected, several differences were found in metabolic parameters in the MHO and MSO groups, which were significantly different from the Lean group (Table 4.2).

Spearman correlations among study parameters in the three individual groups showed that the associations of ASP with estradiol in Lean vs Overweight vs MHO vs MSO was progressively stronger (Lean r=-0.19, p=0.2, Overweight r=0.16, p=0.5, MHO r=-0.27, P<0.05 and MSO r=-0.35, P<0.001). In the MSO group, ASP correlated with Apo B levels (r=0.26, p<0.0001), the Apo A1/B ratio (r=-0.24, p<0.01) and progesterone concentrations (r=-0.19, p<0.05).

	Lean (N=71)		Overwo (N=45)	eight	MHO (N=60)		MSO (N=210)				
Pre/Post-Menopausal	63/3		40/5		46/14		144/66			MSO vs Lean	MSO vs MHO
Parameters	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	ANOVA	95% CI	95% CI
Age (yrs)	41	1.29	46	1.38	40	1.32	41	0.76	ns	_	_
Waist Circumference (cm)	74.1	0.89	86.9	1.27	134**	3.43	144**†††	1.25	p<0.0001	-74.1 to -65.4	-15.9 to -4.32
BMI (kg/m ²)	22.2	0.21	27.3	0.23	45.5***	1.4	50.4***†††	0.63	p<0.0001	-30.4 to -26.1	-7.68 to -2.19
Systolic BP (mmHg)	112	1.94	117	1.7	123***	1.46	141***†††	1.06	p<0.0001	-33.7 to -25.3	-22.6 to -14.2
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	68.3	1.28	71.1	1.44	74.7***	0.92	86.5***††††	0.88	p<0.0001	-21.5 to -14.9	-15.1 to -8.40
Glucose (mmol/L)	5.08	0.07	5.02	0.09	5.3*	0.11	5.79**	0.12	p<0.01	-1.11 to -0.31	_
Triglyceride (mmol/L)	1.19	0.06	1.45	0.09	1.28*	0.08	1.73**†	0.05	p<0.0001	-0.74 to -0.35	-0.52 to -0.04
LDL-C (mmol/L)	2.75	0.08	3.32	0.11	2.81	0.13	2.95*	0.02	ns	-0.40 to -0.00	_
HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.46	0.04	1.41	0.04	1.41	0.03	1.26**††††	0.05	p<0.0001	0.12 to 0.27	0.07 to 0.22
Total Cholesterol (mmol/L)	4.73	0.10	5.48	0.11	4.82	0.26	4.96	0.06	ns	_	_
Apo B (g/L)	0.89	0.02	1.04	0.03	0.77*	0.04	0.89†	0.03	ns	_	-0.24 to -0.00
Apo A1 (g/L)	1.35	0.02	1.40	0.03	1.06**	0.05	0.9**††	0.03	p<0.0001	0.35 to 0.54	0.05 to 0.26
Apo (A1/B)	1.59	0.05	1.41	0.05	1.67	0.11	1.32*††	0.06	p<0.01	0.06 to 0.47	0.11 to 0.59
CRP (mg/L)	1.92	0.36	2.10	0.30	10.3***	1.33	14.39***††	0.64	p<0.0001	-14.2 to -10.7	-6.73 to -1.43

Table 4.2 Comparison of Non-Obese, Metabolically Healthy Obese (MHO) and Obese with Metabolic Syndrome (MSO) groups.

Statistical differences were determined by one-way ANOVA. APO; Apolipoprotein, BMI; Body Mass Index, BP; blood pressure, CRP; C-reactive protein, HDL-C; high density lipoprotein- cholesterol, LDL-C; low density lipoprotein-cholesterol, Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM, where *p<0.05, **p<0.001, ***p<0.0001, vs Lean group, and $\dagger p<0.05$, $\dagger \dagger p<0.01$, $\dagger \dagger \dagger p<0.001$, $\dagger \dagger \dagger \dagger p<0.001$, vs MHO group and p ns indicates non-significan



Figure 4.2 Acylation stimulating protein (ASP), adiponectin and ovarian hormone levels in subjects based on obesity and metabolic syndrome

(A, B) Circulating levels of ASP, ovarian hormones, adiponectin and age in lean, overweight, metabolically healthy obese (MHO) and obese with metabolic syndrome (MSO) groups assessed by one-way anova. (C,D Circulating levels of ASP, adiponectin (ADIPO) and ovarian hormones (estradiol and progesterone) in groups separated based on the number of diagnostic metabolic syndrome (MS) criteria met by individuals where no metabolic syndrome is present indicated as a score ≤ 2 (MS–) and Metabolic Syndrome (MS+) is a score ≥ 3 . Statistical differences were determined by one-way anova where P < 0.05 is considered significant. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM where *P < 0.05, ***P < 0.001 and P ns indicates not significant.

4.6.3 Association of metabolic syndrome score with adipokines and sex hormones

The relationship with metabolic syndrome was further examined evaluating the individual MS score (number of MS features) with sex hormones and adipokines (Figure 4.2C and D). Overall, ASP levels increased (p<0.01) with increasing MS score, while adiponectin (p<0.001) and estradiol (p<0.001) decreased with no change in progesterone and estrone (data not shown). These relationships remained with exclusion of the postmenopausal women (data not shown). Spearman rank correlation analysis showed a significant correlation of MS score with total cholesterol (r=0.11, p<0.05), Apo A1 (r=-0.47, p<0.00001) and Apo (A1/B) (r=-0.33, p<0.00001).

4.6.4 mRNA expression of C3 and receptors C5L2, C5aR and C3aR in adipose tissue

In a subset of subjects (n=139) with subcutaneous and omental adipose tissue samples, expression of ASP-related genes (ASP precursor protein complement C3, ASP receptor C5L2 and related receptors C3aR and C5aR) were evaluated for associations with sex hormones: estradiol, progesterone and estrone. The characteristics of this subgroup were comparable to the overall group (Table 4.1). Although no association was found between estradiol and mRNA abundance of these genes, progesterone correlated negatively with C5L2 in both omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue (Figure 4.3A and B). C3aR also correlated inversely with progesterone in subcutaneous adipose tissue, while C3 had a positive correlation with progesterone in omental adipose tissue (Figure 4.3C and D).

As the subjects ranged in BMI from 19.5 to 78.9 kg/m², the association with progesterone was further evaluated in Non-Obese (Lean and Overweight, n=35) vs Obese (n=104) subjects, which were then further divided into 2 equal groups based on progesterone (top 50%, bottom 50%) as shown in Figure 4.4. For C3aR and C5aR, expression in omental tissue was comparable for all 4 groups. However in subcutaneous tissue, there was a progressive decrease in expression levels with increasing progesterone and increasing obesity (Figure 4.4A and B). By contrast, for C3 there was no difference in the 4 groups in subcutaneous tissue, but increasing expression in both Non-Obese and Obese with higher progesterone (Figure 4.4D) while C5L2 mRNA expressions in both

Non-Obese and Obese subjects decreased significantly (p<0.05) in omental adipose tissue of the high progesterone groups (Figure 4.4C).





Linear plot correlation of progesterone levels with (A) subcutaneous C5L2 mRNA expression, (B) omental C5L2 gene expression (C) subcutaneous C3aR gene expression and (D) omental C3 expression in adipose tissue. Coefficients are given for Pearson correlation (r) where p<0.05 is considered significant.



Figure 4.4 Gene expressions relative to progesterone in Non-obese and Obese subjects.

Groups were classified based on BMI into Non-Obese and Obese and further separated based on progesterone levels (high progesterone =HP and low progesterone =LP). Comparison of mRNA expression of A) C3aR B) C5aR C) C5L2 and D) C3 in both subcutaneous and omental adipose tissues. Statistical differences were determined by one-way ANOVA for more than 2 groups and Mann Whitney test for two groups (for non-parametric values) where p<0.05 is considered significant and p ns indicates not significant. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM.

4.7 Discussion

In this study, we investigated circulating ASP and its association with plasma levels of ovarian hormones and adiponectin as well as metabolic syndrome parameters among women with a wide range in age, body size, and ovarian hormone status (pre-menopausal and post-menopausal). Expression of relevant genes in omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues was evaluated in a subsample. Collectively, the results indicate: 1) an association of circulating ASP with the ovarian hormones estradiol and progesterone; 2) an association of progesterone but not estradiol with C3 and receptors C5L2, C5aR and C3aR gene expressions in adipose tissue; 3) associations of ASP and estradiol (but not progesterone) with components of the metabolic syndrome; 4) under conditions of high progesterone there is down-regulation of C5L2 (ASP receptor) and up-regulation of C3 expression (ASP precursor) in omental but not subcutaneous adipose tissue.

Earlier findings in humans point to a significant association between circulating concentrations of reproductive hormones and ASP variations in women. ASP is increased in late gestation, luteal phase of the menstrual cycle and in polycystic ovary syndrome ²⁰. Plasma ASP levels in late pre-pubertal girls are significantly higher than in boys of comparable developmental stage ²⁶, while in women of reproductive age, ASP levels are significantly lower than in males of comparable age and BMI ²⁷, indirectly suggesting direct ovarian hormone influences on ASP production. It should be noted that ASP levels are rapidly responsive to changes in ovarian hormones. ASP levels did not change across the follicular phase of the cycle but changed significantly starting in the ovulatory phase and sharply increased in the mid-luteal phase coinciding with increasing progesterone levels ²⁰.

Such rapid and direct effects of ovarian hormones on ASP production have also been demonstrated *in vitro*. In cultured adipocytes, physiological levels of estradiol, and, to a greater extent progesterone, decreased ASP production without affecting C3 production, suggesting an effect on conversion of C3 to ASP ⁸. These results are consistent with our findings of a negative correlation between circulating ASP and progesterone or estradiol levels as well as with a positive correlation between omental adipose tissue C3 expression

and progesterone. The impact of estradiol and progesterone in other tissues or cell types may also be informative: estradiol is a powerful stimulus for C3 production in uterine epithelial cells ²⁸, and estradiol increases C3 expression in ovarian as well as parametrial adipose tissue ²⁹. *In vivo* vaginal administration of the progesterone antagonist RU486 increased cervical C3 deposition, macrophage infiltration and increased serum C3adesArg (ASP) and C5adesArg levels in rats ³⁰. Although blood samples in this study were not obtained at a defined menstrual cycle stage such as the luteal phase, given the rapid effects of sex hormones in cell studies, we speculated that ASP levels and related gene expressions would change as a function of concurrent sex hormone levels in women, allowing us to generate further testable hypotheses.

On the other hand, decreased estradiol and progesterone in menopause or a defect in aromatase action are associated with insulin resistance and increased fat deposition ⁶. As increased plasma ASP and complement C3 are also associated with obesity and insulin resistance ³, the ASP association with ovarian hormones may be indirect. Late pregnancy, characterized by increased estradiol and progesterone, is associated with both insulin resistance and increased plasma ASP ²⁰. Some studies have shown that estradiol can interfere with specific components of the insulin-signaling pathway involved in glucose transport stimulation in adipocytes and muscle ³¹. As these pathways are also targeted by ASP, we speculate that there may be a mechanism of ovarian hormone-induced ASP resistance characterized by increased ASP. These published results are consistent with our present findings to the effect that plasma ASP levels are higher in severely obese women with the metabolic syndrome (vs other groups of comparable age) and are correlated inversely with estradiol and, to a lesser extent, progesterone levels.

The capacity of adipose tissue to produce ASP and the increased adipose tissue conversion of androgens into estrogens within adipose tissue in obese individuals, which is associated with hyperinsulinemia, hyperglycemia, and chronic inflammation ³², potentially supports the hypothesis of close interrelationships between ASP, ovarian hormones and insulin resistance, especially in adipose tissue. Yet, estrone, one of the products of aromatization known to be increased in obese women ³³, was not related to ASP levels and expression of ASP-related transcripts in the present study. Other steroid hormone

conversions taking place locally in adipose tissue may be of relevance. For example, increased conversion of cortisone to cortisol by 11 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 in hypertrophied, abdominal adipocytes ³⁴ may contribute to alter the dynamics of ovarian hormone action and ASP production and/or signaling in a depot-specific manner.

Similarly, adipose tissue gene expression of C3 and the related receptors C5L2, C5aR and C3aR was related to progesterone levels. In support of these findings, *in vitro* progesterone treatment of adipocytes leads to down-regulation of C5L2, as well as interference in the ASP–C5L2 signaling pathway ⁷, while progesterone diminished cell surface C5aR in macrophages ³⁰. Altogether, estradiol associations with plasma ASP, coupled to the progesterone associations with adipose tissue expression of ASP-related genes suggests a strong sex hormone influence on the ASP pathway.

As a consequence, physiological ovarian hormonal states wherein plasma ASP is high and the related receptors, particularly C5L2, are down-regulated, may be reflective of an ASP-resistant state. ASP resistance has been previously proposed in several studies ^{7;35} and may co-exist with an insulin resistant state. A recent study on diet-induced obesity in mice demonstrated increased plasma ASP, decreased adipose tissue C5L2 expression and signaling, and decreased *in vivo* ASP response, providing direct evidence for ASP resistance ³⁵.

However, the present study was undertaken only in women and is based on a crosssectional study design with only a single time-point evaluation. As samples were not taken within a defined menstrual cycle phase, direct progesterone associations are difficult to show. Further, to be conservative, due to multiple statistical testing, Spearman correlational analysis was used. These limitations prevent conclusions on cause-and-effect relationships.

In summary, our results, while primarily hypothesis generating, are consistent with the concept that ovarian hormones (estradiol and progesterone) may differentially influence circulating ASP and adipose tissue gene expression of its related proteins (C3, C5L2, C5aR and C3aR) in a depot-specific manner. Further, we speculate that changes in these hormones may favor the development of an "ASP-resistant" state. Taken together, this

cross-sectional study of the metabolic profile based on circulating parameters and adipose tissue gene expression suggests that the ASP pathway may play a role in the regulation of regional fat metabolism through interaction with ovarian hormones in women.

4.8 References

- (1) Kershaw EE, Flier JS. Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89[6], pp. 2548-2556. 2004.
- (2) Tchernof A, Després JP. Pathophysiology of human visceral obesity: an update. Physiol Rev 93[1], pp. 359-404. 2013.
- (3) Cianflone K, Xia Z, Chen LY. Critical review of acylation-stimulating protein physiology in humans and rodents. Biochim Biophys Acta 1609, pp. 127-143. 2003.
- (4) Kalant D, Cain SA, Maslowska M, Sniderman AD, Cianflone K, Monk PN. The chemoattractant receptor-like protein C5L2 binds the C3a des-Arg77/acylation-stimulating protein. J Biol Chem 278, pp. 11123-11129. 2003.
- (5) Lim J, Iyer A, Suen JY, Seow V, Reid RC, Brown L, et al. C5aR and C3aR antagonists each inhibit diet-induced obesity, metabolic dysfunction, and adipocyte and macrophage signaling. FASEB J 27, pp. 822-831. 2013.
- (6) Mayes JS, Watson GH. Direct effects of sex steroid hormones on adipose tissues and obesity. Obes Rev 5[4], pp. 197-216. 2004.
- (7) Wen Y, Wang H, MacLaren R, Lu H, Hu XF, Cianflone K. Sex steroid hormones induce acylation stimulating protein resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. J Cell Biochem 105[2], pp. 404-413. 2008.
- (8) Gao Y, Gauvreau D, Cianflone K. Hormone and pharmaceutical regulation of ASP production in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. J Cell Biochem 109[5], pp. 896-905. 2010.
- (9) Bjorntorp P. Hormonal control of regional fat distribution Hum. Reprod 12[Suppl], p. S21-S25. 1997.
- (10) Shi H, Clegg DJ. Sex differences in the regulation of body weight. Physiol Behav 97[2], pp. 199-204. 2009.
- (11) Palin SL, Mc Ternan PG, Anderson LA, Sturdee DW, Barnett AH, Kumar S. 17-Beta-estradiol and anti-estrogen ICI: compound 182 780 regulate expression of lipoprotein lipase and hormone sensitive lipase in isolated subcutaneous abdominal adipocytes. Metabolism 52, pp. 383-388. 2003.
- (12) Pedersen SB, Kristensen K, Hermann PA, Katzenellenbogen JA, Richelsen B. Estrogen controls lipolysis by up-regulating alpha2A-adrenergic receptors directly in human adipose tissue through the estrogen receptor alpha. Implications for the female fat distribution. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89[4], pp. 1869-1878. 2004.

- (13) Rodriguez-Cuenca S, Monjo M, Proenza AM, Roca P. Depot differences in steroid receptor expression in adipose tissue: possible role of the local steroid milieu. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 288, p. E200-E207. 2005.
- (14) Stelmanska E, Kmiec Z, Swierczynski J. The gender- and fat depot-specific regulation of leptin, resistin and adiponectin genes expression by progesterone in rat. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 132[1-2], pp. 160-167. 2012.
- (15) Castrogiovanni D, Alzamendi A, Ongaro L, Giovambattista A, Gaillard RC, Spinedi E. Fructose rich diet-induced high plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) production in the adult female rat: protective effect of progesterone. Nutrients 4[8], pp. 1137-1150. 2012.
- (16) Stelmanska E, Swierczynski J. Up-regulation of lipogenic enzyme genes expression in inguinal white adipose tissue of female rats by progesterone. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 134, pp. 37-44. 2013.
- (17) Zhang Y, Nadeau M, Faucher F, Lescelleur O, Biron S, Daris M, et al. Progesterone metabolism in adipose cells. Mol Cell Endocrinol 298[1-2], pp. 76-83. 2009.
- (18) Barr SI, Janelle KC, Prior JC. Energy intakes are higher during the luteal phase of ovulatory menstrual cycles. Am J Clin Nutr 6[1], pp. 39-43. 1995.
- (19) Prior JC, Elliott TG, Norman E, Stajic V, Hitchcock CL. Progesterone therapy, endothelial function and cardiovascular risk factors: a 3-month randomized, placebo-controlled trial in healthy early postmenopausal women. PLoS One 9[1], p. e84698. 2014.
- (20) Saleh J, Al-Wardy N, Farhan H, Al-Khanbashi M, Cianflone K. Acylation stimulating protein: a female lipogenic factor? Obes Rev 12[6], pp. 440-448. 2011.
- (21) Bouchard C. Genetic epidemiology, association, and sib-pair linkage: result from the Québec Family Study, G.R.D. Bray (Ed.). Molecular and genetic aspects of obesity, Louisiana State University Press, pp. 470-481. 1996.
- (22) Chaput JP, Pérusse L, Després JP, Tremblay A, Bouchard C. Findings from the Quebec Family Study on the Etiology of Obesity: Genetics and Environmental Highlights. Curr Obes Rep 3, pp. 54-66. 2014.
- (23) Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Daniels SR, Donato KA, Eckel RH, Franklin BA, et al. Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome: an American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute scientific statement: Executive Summary. Crit Pathw Cardiol 4[4], pp. 198-203. 2005.
- (24) Smith JD, Cianflone K, Martin J, Poirier P, Broderick TL, Noël M. Plasma adipokine and hormone changes in mountaineers on ascent to 5300 meters. Wilderness Environ Medn 22[2], pp. 107-114. 2011.

- (25) Bustin SA, Benes V, Garson JA, Hellemans J, Huggett J, Kubista M, et al. The MIQE guidelines: minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments. Clin Chem 55[4], pp. 611-622. 2009.
- (26) Wamba PC, Mi J, Zhao XY, Zhang MX, Wen Y, Cheng H, et al. Acylation stimulating protein but not complement C3 associates with metabolic syndrome components in Chinese children and adolescents. Eur J Endocrinol 159, pp. 781-790. 2008.
- (27) Cianflone K, Zakarian R, Couillard C, Delplanque B, Despres JP, Sniderman AD. Fasting acylation-stimulating protein is predictive of postprandial triglyceride clearance. J Lipid Res 45, pp. 124-131. 2004.
- (28) Li SH, Huang HL, Chen YH. Ovarian steroid-regulated synthesis and secretion of complement C3 and factor B in mouse endometrium during the natural estrous cycle and pregnancy period. Biol Reprod 66, pp. 322-332. 2002.
- (29) Alexanderson C, Stener-Victorin E, Kullberg J, Nilsson S, Levin M, Cajander S, et al. A single early postnatal estradiol injection affects morphology and gene expression of the ovary and parametrial adipose tissue in adult female rats. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 122, pp. 82-90. 2010.
- (30) Gonzalez JM, Franzke CW, Yang F, Romero R, Girardi G. Complement activation triggers metalloproteinases release inducing cervical remodeling and preterm birth in mice. Am J Pathol 179[2], pp. 838-849. 2011.
- (31) Muraki K, Okuya S, Tanizawa Y. Estrogen receptor alpha regulates insulin sensitivity through IRS-1 tyrosine phosphorylation in mature 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Endocr J 53[6], pp. 841-851. 2006.
- (32) Dossus L, Kaaks R. Nutrition, metabolic factors and cancer risk. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 22[4], pp. 551-571. 2008.
- (33) Kumar A, Mittal S, Buckshee K, Farooq A. Reproductive functions in obese women. Prog Food Nutr Sci 17[2], pp. 89-98. 1993.
- (34) Veilleux A, Rhéaume C, Daris M, Luu-The V, Tchernof A. Omental adipose tissue type 1 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase oxoreductase activity, body fat distribution, and metabolic alterations in women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94[9], pp. 3550-3557. 2009.
- (35) Fisette A, Lapointe M, Cianflone K. Obesity-inducing diet promotes acylation stimulating protein resistance. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 437, pp. 403-407. 2013.

Chapter 5

Complement receptors C5aR and C5L2 are associated with metabolic profile, sex hormones and liver enzymes in obese women pre- and post-bariatric surgery

Reza Rezvani, Jessica Smith, Marc Lapointe, Picard Marceau, Andre Tchernof, Katherine Cianflone.

Journal of Obesity, 2014

5.1 Résumé

L'obésité est associée à une dysfonction métabolique qui présente des différences entre les sexes ainsi qu'un état inflammatoire de faible niveau. Nous avons proposé que l'expression hépatique des récepteurs immunitaires reliés au facteur du complément C3 (C3aR, C5aR, and C5L2) serait associée au statut ménopausal ainsi qu'au profil métabolique de femmes souffrant d'obésité sévère. Notre hypothèse étant que le ratio C5L2/C5aR prédirait le profil métabolique suite à une chirurgie bariatrique, potentiellement en agissant à travers les voies ASP/C5L2 (métabolique) et C5a/C5aR (immunitaire). Les résultats pour 91 patientes ayant subi une chirurgie bariatrique démontrent que l'expression hépatique d'ARNm de C5L2 était plus élevée chez les femmes pré-ménopausées (p<0.01) et que ceci corrélait positivement avec : les niveaux d'estradiol, d'estrone, d'ApoB, d'ApoA1, du ratio ApoA1/B, le tour de taille, l'âge et les niveaux de LDL-C (p < 0.05). Malgré le fait que les niveaux d'ASP étaient plus faibles chez les femmes pré-ménopausées (p<0.01), les niveaux hépatiques du ratio d'ARNm C5L2/C5aR étaient augmentées (p<0.001) et corrélaient positivement avec les niveaux d'estrone (p<0.01) et d'estradiol (p<0.001) mais négativement avec l'ApoB en circulation ainsi que les enzymes hépatiques : ALT, AST, GGT (p<0.05). Au cours des 12 mois suivants la chirurgie, dans le groupe avec un ratio d'expression d'ARNm C5L2/C5aR plus faible, les niveaux d'enzymes hépatiques étaient plus élevés (ALP et ALT, p<0.05, AST et GGT, p<0.001 2-way-ANOVA). L'association C5L2-C5aR avec d'autres médiateurs tels les estrogènes, pourrait contribuer au métabolisme hépatique ainsi qu'à l'inflammation.

5.2 Abstract

Objective: Obesity is associated with metabolic dysfunction with sex differences and chronic, low-grade inflammation. We proposed that hepatic expression of immune complement C3 related receptors (C3aR, C5aR, C5L2) would be associated with pre/postmenopausal status and metabolic profile in severely obese women. We hypothesized that C5L2/C5aR ratio, potentially influencing the ASP/C5L2 metabolic vs. C5a/C5aR immune response, would predict metabolic profiles after weight loss surgery. Materials/Methods: Fasting plasma (hormone, lipid and enzyme analysis) and liver biopsies (RT-PCR gene expression) were obtained from 91 women during surgery. Results: Hepatic C5L2 mRNA expression was elevated in pre- vs. postmenopausal women (p<0.01), and correlated positively with circulating estradiol, estrone, ApoB, ApoA1, ApoA1/B, waist circumference, age and LDL-C (all p < 0.05). While plasma ASP was lower in pre- vs postmenopausal women (p<0.01), the hepatic C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio was increased (p < 0.001), correlated positively with estrone (p < 0.01) and estradiol (p < 0.001) and negatively with circulating ApoB and liver enzymes ALT, AST, GGT (all p<0.05). Over 12-months postoperatively (4 time points), all liver enzyme levels in the low C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio group remained higher (ALP and ALT, both p<0.05, AST and GGT, both p<0.001 2-way-ANOVA). Conclusion: C5L2-C5aR association with other mediators including estrogens may contribute to hepatic metabolic and inflammatory function.

5.3 Introduction

Obesity is associated with increased morbidity and mortality from cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes and fatty liver disease, all of which have been clearly linked to a chronic, low-grade inflammatory status. Multi-organ involvement of obesity-induced inflammation (liver and adipose tissue), sex differences in obesity and obesity-related conditions (including: pre vs. postmenopausal status) and dynamic interactions between immune and metabolic responses (termed metaflammation) [1] are all considered important determinants of metabolic disease in obesity.

The complement system is recognized as a key immune regulatory system for cell and tissue homeostasis [2]. Complement component C3 plays a central role in the activation of the complement system [3]. One major source of circulating complement proteins, such as C3, is the liver [4], although adipose tissue and macrophages also secrete C3 [5]. The liver is constantly exposed to complement-activating pathogens via the portal venous system [6]. Proximal and distal activation of complement C3 leads to production of anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a, respectively, which have multiple immune functions including stimulation of histamine secretion and oxidative burst, chemotactic activity as well as secretion of various cytokines (reviewed in [7]). In recent years, C3a and C5a have also been found to have multiple metabolic functions in tissue homeostasis [8, 9, 10], tissue regeneration [11] as well as brain development [12].

In circulation, C5a and C3a are rapidly cleaved by carboxypeptidases to generate C5adesArg and C3adesArg, respectively. C3adesArg, also known as acylation stimulating protein (ASP), is a lipogenic hormone, involved in lipid storage and energy homeostasis (reviewed in [13]). ASP stimulates free fatty acid incorporation into adipose tissue by

increasing triglyceride synthesis and glucose uptake and reducing triglyceride lipolysis in adipocytes [13]. These complement components bind to a family of three receptors, which belong to the superfamily of G-protein-coupled receptors: the C3a receptor (C3aR), C5a receptor (C5aR) and C5a receptor-like 2 (C5L2). All three receptors (C3aR, C5aR, C5L2) have demonstrated roles in the immune process with more recent data in knockout (KO) mice demonstrating emerging roles in energy metabolism [8, 10, 14, 13].

C3aR, which binds C3a, has demonstrated roles in asthma, sepsis, liver regeneration as well as neuron maturation [12]. Further, based on studies in C3aR knockout mice, C3aR plays a role in insulin resistance and adipose tissue macrophage infiltration [9].

C5aR, which binds C5a and, to a lesser extent, C5adesArg, is involved in many inflammatory diseases including asthma, sepsis, rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory bowel diseases as well as cancer and liver diseases [7]. One previous study showed that C5a stimulates food intake after central administration [15], while a very recent study in C5aR knockout mice demonstrated decreased body weight and fat storage regardless of diet (low fat chow or diet-induced obesity regimen) [8].

C5L2 binds C5a as well as C5adesArg, the latter with a higher affinity than to C5aR [16]. C5L2 has been postulated to be both a non-signaling decoy receptor for C5a [17, 18] as well as a signaling receptor [19]. In previous studies, we have demonstrated a role for C5L2 in ASP function [20, 21], with binding of ASP/C3adesArg and C3a to C5L2 [20, 16], downstream signaling activation [19, 22] and functional output (such as increased glucose uptake and TG synthesis) [23, 24], however the binding of ASP/C3adesArg to C5L2 remains controversial [25]. Recent studies have demonstrated formation of C5L2/C5aR homo- and heterodimers, with co-localization upon stimulation with either ASP/C3adesArg or C5a [26], as confirmed recently [27].

Sex steroids are an additional factor impacting body fat distribution patterns, circulating lipids and prevalence of metabolic diseases. Recent studies have shown that 17β -estradiol may play a role in reducing the inflammatory response in adipose tissue as well as the cardiovascular and neural systems [28, 29, 30]. Further, various cell studies have indicated that sex hormones may play a role in the regulation of C3 [31], C5aR [32, 33] and the C5L2/ASP response [34].

In relation to liver function specifically, a recent study in humans indicated that plasma C3a was associated with liver steatosis and hepatocellular injury in individuals consuming considerable amounts of alcohol daily as well as in severely obese people [35]. C3KO mice and C5L2KO mice on a high-fat diet are prone to develop enhanced hepatic steatosis as a result of increased hepatic triglyceride content, lipogenesis-related gene expression and hepatic glucose uptake, and reduced fatty acid oxidation [8, 24, 36]. A role for C5L2 and ASP in liver regeneration in mice has also been suggested, as administration of ASP in C3KO mice restores adequate liver regeneration, an effect absent in C5L2 knockout mice [37]. Together, these findings, suggest a protective role for C3/C3 peptides and C5L2 against the development of hepatic steatosis.

Based on this, we hypothesized that hepatic expression of C3, C3aR, C5aR, C5L2 in humans would be associated with hormonal status and specific metabolic profiles in severely obese pre- and post-menopausal women. Further, we hypothesized that specific liver expression patterns might predict improvement in post-operative metabolic profile and liver enzymes of subjects over one year following biliopancreatic diversion surgery to induce weight loss.

5.4 Materials and Method

5.4.1 Ethics Statement

The experimental protocol was approved by the university hospital ethics committee (CRIUCPQ): Centre de Recherche de l'Institut Universitaire de Cardiologie et Pneumologie du Québec) and all participants provided written informed consent for participation in medical research.

5.4.2 Study subjects

Samples selected from the CRIUCPQ Tissue were Bank (http://www.criucpq.ulaval.ca/index.php/en/tissue-bank) among severely obese women who had undergone bariatric surgery with biliopancreatic diversion (BPD) based on the following criteria: surgery within a 3 year period (2007-2010), no ovariectomy, no lipid lowering medication, no diabetes, liver biopsy and blood sample availability. Of the 252 pre- and postmenopausal severely obese women identified, estradiol was measured (see below) and 91 subjects were chosen based on their plasma estradiol levels; <25th percentile (n=46) and $> 75^{\text{th}}$ percentile (n=45) of the cohort tested. Fasting blood samples were collected prior to the surgery, and at 3, 6 and 12 months post operatively. Body composition was assessed prior to surgery and at 12 months. The experimental protocol was approved by the ethics committee of the CRIUCPQ and all participants provided written informed consent for participation in medical research. Patient selection criteria for bariatric surgery included body mass index (BMI), the presence of co-morbidities and a history of prior weight loss attempts.

5.4.3 Clinical and Plasma Measurements

Clinical Assessment: Anthropometric measurements (height, weight, waist circumference and hip circumference) were measured the day before surgery. Height, circumferences, and body weight of subjects were measured on a scale with 0.5 cm and 0.5 kg increments, respectively, and BMI (kg/m²) was calculated. Blood pressure was recorded using an automatic blood pressure cuff.

Pre-operation Plasma analysis: Blood samples were obtained from participants after overnight fasting and collected into EDTA-containing tubes. The hospital clinical biochemistry laboratory measured fasting plasma glucose (GLU), triglyceride (TG), total cholesterol (TC), low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), apolipoprotein B (Apo B), apolipoprotein A1 (Apo A1), and liver enzymes aspartate transaminase (AST), alanine transaminase (ALT), alkaline phosphatase (ALP), gamma glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT). The following assays were measured directly in the research laboratory: Estrone (E1) and estradiol (E2) (both RIA, Beckman Coulter Canada LP, Mississauga, ON), adiponectin (RIA, Millipore, Billerica. MA, USA) and sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG) (ELISA, ALPCO, Salem, NH, US) following instructions of the manufacturers. ASP concentration was measured using an in-house sandwich ELISA, following previously published methodology (38).

Post-operation analysis: Weight, fasting TG, HDL-C, LDL-C, GLU, and liver enzymes (ALT, AST, ALP and GGT) were measured at 3, 6 and 12 months after surgery as described above.

5.4.4 Liver Sampling and Analysis

Biopsies: Liver biopsies were performed according to standard CRIUCPQ Tissue Bank procedures, and approved by the ethics committee of the CRIUCPQ. Liver biopsy samples (250-500 mg tissue) were obtained during bariatric surgery. The liver biopsies were washed with sterile Kreb-Ringer-HEPES buffer, placed in liquid nitrogen, and then immediately transported and stored at -80°C.

RNA Extraction and Real Time qPCR Analysis: All samples (maximum 40 mg liver tissue) were homogenized in Qiazole (Qiagen Inc, Mississauga, ON, Canada). Total RNA was extracted from homogenates using the RNeasy Plus Universal Mini Kit (Qiagen Inc.) according to the manufacturer's instructions. From the total amount, $0.1 \mu g$ of purified RNA was retrotranscribed to cDNA using a QuantiTec® Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen Inc.) with a final volume of 20 uL. Genomic DNA contamination was eliminated by DNase treatment included in QuantiTec® Reverse Transcription Kit. For real-time PCR evaluation of gene expression, 1 ul of cDNA was used for each reaction. RT2 SYBR® Green qPCR Master Mix (Qiagen Inc.) was used and a 3-step PCR was performed using CFX96[™] Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Mississauga, ON, Canada), using the following protocol: an initial denaturation step at 95°C for 10 minutes, 40 cycles of 95°C for 10 s, 55° C for 10 s, 72°C for 30 s was followed by a final extension step of 95°C for 10 s and melt curve 65°C to 95° C. Real time RT-PCR was performed to quantify human C3, C3aR, C5aR, and C5L2 relative to glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) as a housekeeping gene, with primers obtained from Alpha-DNA (Montreal, Canada).

The sequences for the primers used were: C5L2/GPR77- Right; 5' TCCGAGAGGTCGCTGTAATC-3', C5L2/GPR77-Left; 5'-TCAAGGACTCCCAAAACCAG-3', C3aR1-Right; 5'-AGCAGAGAAAGACGCCATTG-3', C3aR1-Left; 5'-ACTGTGGCTAAGTGTGGGGA-3', C5R1-Right; 5'- TATCCACAGGGGTGTTGAGG-3', C5R1- Left; 5'-GCCCAGGAGACCAGAACAT-3', C3- Right; 5'-GCAATGATGTCCTCATCCAG-3', C3-Left; 5'- CCTGGACTGCTGCAACTACA-3', and GAPD-Right; 5'-AATGAAGGGGTCATTGATGG-3', GAPD-Left; 5'-AAGGTGAAGGTCGGAGTCAA-3'. For data analysis the ΔΔCt method was used, as performed with Bio-Rad CFX manager

5.5 Statistics

software (version 1.5)(Bio-Rad Laboratories).

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 5 (GraphPad software, CA, USA) or Sigmastat 3.5 (Systat software, San Jose, CA, USA). Descriptive parameters are provided as mean ± SEM or in percentages. For non-normally distributed parameters, values were log-transformed for statistical analysis. Two-tailed t-tests were used to analyze the differences between means and proportions of two groups. Two-way ANOVA analyses were used to compare among groups (as indicated). Pearson correlation was used to analyze bivariate correlation. Fisher exact test was used in the analysis of 2X2 contingency tables. Stepwise forward multiple regression analysis was used to assess how gene expression predicts variables of the metabolic profile. A p<0.05 was considered statistically significant for all analyses.

5.6 Results

5.6.1 Relationship of Hormone Status with Gene Expression

Baseline patient characteristics of the 91 severely obese women ranging in BMI $(37.5\geq BMI\geq 78.9 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ and age (21-69 years) are given in Table 5.1. The subjects were grouped based on fasting estradiol (E2), into pre- and postmenopausal status groups as shown in Table 5.1. Biochemical analysis indicated that subjects in the high E2 subgroup (p<0.0001) also had higher levels of estrone (E1) (p<0.0001), progesterone (p<0.05), and were younger (p<0.0001) reflecting their premenopausal status. The high E2 group also had lower Apo B levels (p<0.0001), higher Apo A1 (p=0.025), and higher ApoA1/B ratio (p<0.0001), despite having significantly higher waist circumference (p<0.05) and lower HDL-C (p<0.05).

Hepatic gene expression of C3 and the three related receptors (C5L2, C3aR and C5aR) in pre- vs post-menopausal groups are shown in Figure 5.1A. While expression levels of C3, C3aR and C5aR were not different between the two groups, C5L2 gene expression was higher in premenopausal status women (higher E2)(p<0.01). Further, C5L2 gene expression also correlated directly with plasma E2 and E1 levels (E2 r=0.27, p<0.05; E1 r=0.42, p<0.0001) as shown in Figure 1B and 1C, while C3 correlated inversely with SHBG (r=-0. 28, p<0.01, data not shown).

	All subjects			Premenopausal status	Postmenopausal status	
	Mean					Т
Parameters	(n=91)	Min	Max	Mean (n=45)	Mean (n=46)	TEST
Estradiol (pg/ml)	47.6 ± 5.3	6.1	294	81.4 ± 8.2	14.6 ± 0.7	N/A
Age (yrs)	40 ± 1	21	69	35 ± 1	45 ± 2	P<001
BMI (kg/m^2)	51.1 ± 0.9	37.5	78.9	51.9 ± 1.4	50.3 ± 1.1	NS
Waist Circumference						
(cm)	146 ± 2	119	184	150 ± 2	142 ± 2	P <0.05
Hip Circumference (cm)	137 ± 2	97	177	136 ± 3	138 ± 2	NS
SBP (mmHg)	136 ± 2	109	186	137 ± 2	136 ± 2	NS
DBP (mmHg)	84.4 ± 1.3	43.0	113	83.3 ± 2.2	85.5 ± 1.4	NS
Glucose (mmol/L)	5.6 ± 0.1	3.7	11.6	5.4 ± 0.2	5.7 ± 0.1	NS
Cholesterol (mmol/L)	$\textbf{4.9} \pm \textbf{0.1}$	3.1	7.3	$\textbf{4.8} \pm \textbf{0.1}$	5.0 ± 0.1	NS
HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.31 ± 0.03	0.61	2.26	1.24 ± 0.04	1.37 ± 0.05	P<0.05
LDL-C (mmol/L)	$\textbf{2.8} \pm \textbf{0.1}$	1.0	4.9	$\textbf{2.8} \pm \textbf{0.1}$	$\textbf{2.8} \pm \textbf{0.1}$	NS
Triglyceride (mmol/L)	1.7 ± 0.1	0.6	4.5	1.7 ± 0.1	1.8 ± 0.1	NS
ApoB (g/L)	$\textbf{0.84} \pm \textbf{0.05}$	0.27	2.27	$\boldsymbol{0.64 \pm 0.04}$	1.04 ± 0.07	P<0001
ApoA1 (g/L)	$\textbf{0.81} \pm \textbf{0.04}$	0.06	1.95	$\boldsymbol{0.98 \pm 0.04}$	$\boldsymbol{0.79 \pm 0.07}$	P<0.05
Apo A1/B	1.4 ± 0.1	0.1	4.6	1.8 ± 0.1	1.1 ± 0.1	P<0001
Adiponectin (µgl/ml)	7.5 ± 0.9	2.5	41.1	6.3 ± 0.5	9.6 ± 1.9	NS
Estrone (pg/ml)	75 ± 5	9	267	106 ± 7	44 ± 4	P<0001
SHBG (pg/ml)	181 ± 12	15.2	573	162 ± 15	199 ± 18	NS
Progesterone (ng/ml)	$\textbf{2.4} \pm \textbf{0.3}$	0.1	6.9	$\textbf{2.9} \pm \textbf{0.4}$	1.6 ± 0.3	P<0.05
AST (IU/L)	23.4 ± 1.9	12.2	123	20.5 ± 6.6	25.1±18.9	NS
GGT (IU/L)	40.3 ± 6.8	10.1	382	39.1 ± 75.2	40.9 ± 33.7	NS
ALP (IU/L)	95.5 ± 3.8	49.0	210	99.9 ± 28.8	92.7 ± 29.8	NS
ALT (IU/L)	25.5 ± 1.5	2.0	61.0	23.8 ± 11.3	26.6 ± 12.6	NS

Table 5.1 Characteristics of pre- and postmenopausal Obese Women.

Estradial was measured in the 252 severely obese women evaluated, and subjects in the lowest quartile ($<25^{th}$ percentile, n=46 postmenopausal) and highest quartile (> 75th percentile, n=45 premenopausal) were selected for further evaluation of plasma and liver tissue, and were compared by t-test. Apo; Apolipoprotein, ALT; Alanine transaminase, ALP; Alkaline phosphatase, AST; Aspartate transaminase, BMI; Body Mass Index, DBP; diastolic blood pressure, GGT; Gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase, HDL-C; high density lipoprotein-cholesterol, SHBG; sex hormone-binding globulin, SBP; systolic blood pressure. P < 0.05 is considered significant.



Figure 5.1 Association of liver C5L2 mRNA expression with circulating estrogen levels.

mRNA was extracted from liver biopsies, reverse-transcribed to cDNA and gene expression was evaluated by RT-PCR with the indicated primers with all results expressed relative to GAPDH using the $\Delta \Delta Ct$ method as described in detail in Methods. A) Hepatic mRNA expression levels of C3 and the three related receptors (C5L2, C3aR and C5aR) in the pre- vs. postmenopausal groups. (B & C) Linear correlation plot of C5L2 mRNA expression with plasma estradiol (E2) and estrone (E1).

5.6.2 Hepatic Complement Gene Expression and Metabolic Profile

The relationships between hepatic gene expression and various anthropometric parameters and metabolic profile were then evaluated. Hepatic C3 expression correlated inversely with the liver enzyme GGT (r=-0.28, p<0.05, data not shown). C3aR was associated with adiponectin (Figure 5.2A, r=0.36, p<0.05) while C5aR correlated with BMI (Figure 5.2B, r=0.34, p<0.01) and liver enzyme AST (r=0.32, p<0.05, data not shown). Hepatic gene expression of C5L2 correlated with ApoA1 (Figure 5.2C, r=0.25, p<0.05), ApoA1/B (r=0.25, p<0.05, data not shown) and waist circumference (r=0.25, p<0.05, data not shown), with inverse correlations between C5L2 and ApoB (Figure 5.2D, r=-0.25, p<0.05), age (r=-0.26, p<0.05, data not shown) and LDL-C (r=-0.23, p<0.05, data not shown).

Forward stepwise regression analyses indicated that the dependent variable C5aR could be predicted from a linear combination of the independent variables age, BMI and glucose (pooled $r^2=0.20$, p<0.001) and the dependent variable C5L2 could be best predicted from a linear combination of independent variables LDL-C and E1 (pooled $r^2=0.24$ p<0.001).



Figure 5.2 Hepatic mRNA Expression relative to Metabolic Parameters.

A-D: Linear plot correlations of hepatic mRNA expressions and metabolic parameters. mRNA was extracted from liver biopsies, reverse-transcribed to cDNA and gene expression was evaluated by RT-PCR with the indicated primers with all results expressed relative to GAPDH using the $\Delta \Delta Ct$ method as described in detail in Methods.

5.6.3 C5L2/C5aR Ratio and Metabolic Parameters

As recent *in vitro* experimental evidence indicates a direct interaction (heterodimerization) between C5aR and C5L2 receptors [38, 26] which could affect subsequent cellular signaling and response, we tested associations of the C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio with various metabolic indices in our subjects. While plasma ASP levels were significantly lower in premenopausal women vs postmenopausal women (p<0.01), the hepatic C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio was higher (Figure 5.3A, p<0.001). Further, positive correlations between C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio and sex hormones were identified (E1: r=0.28, p<0.01 and E2: r=0.38, p<0.001, data not shown).

Interestingly, the hepatic C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio was inversely associated with circulating liver enzymes (ALT, AST and GGT) and ApoB (Figure 5.3B-E), as well as age (r=-0.29, p<0.01, data not shown). Because of significant correlations between the C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio and pre-operative liver enzymes and metabolic parameters, subjects were partitioned based on high vs. low C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio. Before bariatric surgery, ALT, AST and GGT but not ALP were significantly higher in the low-C5L2/C5aR group, with a lower ApoA1/B ratio, although there was no significant difference in BMI between these two groups (Figure 5.3F).





Figure 5.3 Association of hepatic C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio with menopausal status and metabolic profile.

mRNA was extracted from liver biopsies, reverse-transcribed to cDNA and gene expression was evaluated by RT-PCR with the indicated primers with all results expressed relative to GAPDH using the $\Delta \Delta Ct$ method as described in detail in Methods. (A): Comparison of hepatic C5L2/C5aR mRNA expression ratio and plasma ASP levels in premenopausal and postmenopausal groups. ASP values were log transformed for statistical analysis. (B-D): linear plot correlation of liver enzymes ALT, AST and GGT with C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio, (E): linear plot correlation of ApoB and C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio. (F): Comparison of preoperative BMI (kg/m²) and fasting liver enzymes (IU/L) (left y-axis) and ApoA1/B ratio (right y-axis) before bariatric surgery in subjects separated based on low vs. high C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio, compared by unpaired student T test.

5.6.4 Relationship of C5L2/C5aR ratio with bariatric surgery outcome

Metabolic profile and anthropometric results were evaluated postoperatively and compared to baseline data. As expected, the anthropometric and metabolic profile of subjects substantially improved over a 12-month follow-up after bariatric surgery. Hepatic C5L2 mRNA expression was positively associated with % weight loss (Figure 5.4A, r=0.22, p<0.05).

Following bariatric surgery, subjects were routinely followed in the surgical clinic at 3, 6 and 12 months. Globally, over the 12 month period, all liver enzyme levels in the low C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio group remained higher than in the high C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio group (Figures 5.5 A-D, ALP p<0.05, ALT p<0.05, AST p<0.001 and GGT p=0.0002 by 2-way ANOVA), although there was no significant different in BMI reduction curves (data not shown). One-year changes in BMI, LDL-C, HDL-C, total cholesterol, glucose and triglyceride are shown in Figure 5.4B. Although the expected improvements in all parameters were not significantly different between the two groups, the relative change in TG was significantly different between the low and high C5L2/C5aR mRNA groups (Fisher exact test, p=0.02).



Figure 5.4 Metabolic profile after surgery.

mRNA was extracted from liver biopsies, reverse-transcribed to cDNA and gene expression was evaluated by RT-PCR with the indicated primers with all results expressed relative to GAPDH using the $\Delta \Delta Ct$ method as described in detail in Methods. (A) Linear correlation plot of liver C5L2 mRNA expression at time of surgery vs % weight loss 12 months after surgery, analyzed by Pearson correlation test. (B) Percentage changes of metabolic profile before and after bariatric surgery and categorical comparisons between the high and low C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio subgroups, analyzed by Fisher exact test.. BMI; Body Mass Index, GLU; fasting glucose, HDL-C; high density lipoprotein- cholesterol, LDL-C; low density lipoprotein-cholesterol, TG; triglyceride, TC; total cholesterol.



Figure 5.5 Plasma liver enzyme levels relative to C5L2/C5aR Expression.

(A-D) Plasma liver enzyme levels before surgery and during one year following surgery in high vs low C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio subgroups, 2-way ANOVA comparison.

5.7 Discussion

In this study we investigated liver tissue mRNA expression of complement C3 and its cleavage product receptors, C3aR, C5aR and C5L2 and their relationship with hormonal status among severely obese women who underwent BPD. In addition, we assessed the subjects' metabolic profile before and up to one year after surgery in relation to partitioning between high and low liver C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio. The major findings of this study are: 1) associations of hepatic complement-related gene expression in severely obese women with sex hormones and metabolic profile and 2) associations of hepatic C5L2/C5aR ratio with pre- and post-operative metabolic profile.

Although many studies have examined the role of complement C3, and to a lesser extent, the role of related receptors C5L2, C5aR and C3aR, overall the major focus of these studies has been in an immune context. More recently, however, the impact of C5L2, C5aR, and C3aR in the area of energy (lipid and glucose) metabolism has been recognized as a result of studies in gene knockout mice [8, 9, 10, 14].

However, there is little information available on gender and sex hormone influence on complement-related receptors, and their potential roles in liver function. In the present study, the positive correlation of hepatic C5L2 (and C5L2/C5aR ratio) with circulating estrogens (E1, E2), and the decrease in expression in post-menopausal women indirectly suggest an estrogenic influence. *In vitro* cellular and *in vivo* animal studies support the notion that estrogens increase adipose C3 expression [31] and neural C5aR expression [32] but have differential effects on C5L2 depending on estrogen receptor targeting (ER α and β) in different tissues [33]. It is now well recognized that most tissues in both men and women are influenced by estrogens [39], and the liver is particularly sensitive, including effects on

lipid metabolism [40]. Estrogen withdrawal results in increased hepatic lipogenesis, decreased VLDL lipoprotein production and secretion and decreased lipid oxidation with associated gene expression changes [40, 41]. In the present study, given the correlations between C5L2 and various lipid parameters, including apoA1 and apoB, estrogens may mediate the effects either directly, or indirectly via hepatic lipid changes.

The increased plasma ASP levels commonly seen in metabolic dysfunction (including type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular diseases) have been proposed as indicating an "ASP resistant state" [24, 14, 42]. A recent study demonstrated that diet-induced obesity in mice results in increased plasma ASP, decreased adipose C5L2 expression and decreased in vivo ASP response: providing proof-of-concept of ASP resistance [43]. The lower hepatic C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio with yet higher ASP plasma level in postmenopausal obese women suggests the presence of ASP resistance in hepatic cells. Pathologically, if the ASP/C5L2 signaling is disturbed in adipose tissue, as in the case of decreased expression of the ASP receptor (a decrease in ASP function), this may enhance diversion of available glucose and fatty acids to other tissues (muscle, liver, arterial wall), leading to lipotoxicity, unless disposal mechanisms are up-regulated such as increased fatty acid oxidation [44]. This consequence was demonstrated in C5L2KO mice where it was shown that in response to reduced TG storage in white adipose tissue, C5L2KO mice developed a compensatory mechanism of increased muscle fat oxidation [23]. We speculate that the presence of ASP resistance in postmenopausal women may contribute to their metabolic dysfunction.

The C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio was also informative in predicting post-operative outcomes: higher values of this ratio were associated with greater relative weight loss, greater decreases in fasting TG and lower liver enzymes both before surgery and over the follow-up. In the pre-operative state, increased C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio was associated
with lower BMI, apoB and liver enzymes, and yet higher apoA1. Overall, these data suggest that a high hepatic C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio is a beneficial feature, and raises the question of what the specific functional roles of C5L2 and C5aR are in relation to lipid metabolism in the liver.

While there is little data on the function of complement-related receptors directly in liver cells (either parenchymal hepatocytes or non-parenchymal cells), the complement system may contribute in either a beneficial or detrimental manner. In cells, C3 production in hepatocytes is stimulated by PPAR α , TNF α , IL-6 and LPS [45, 46] while C5a, via interaction with hepatic C5aR, is involved in proliferation, glycogen phosphorylase and glucose output [47, 48, 49]. *In vivo*, the complement system can both promote inflammation/injury and play a homeostatic role in repairing damaged tissue. While C3, C3aR, C5aR and C5L2 blockade/deficiency can protect from liver failure and improve sepsis survival in mice [50, 51], by contrast, the presence of these same proteins, and the C3 products ASP and C3a, play roles in promoting liver regeneration, liver transplant tolerance, and protection from steatosis [9, 37, 52, 53].

In relation to metabolic effects, an obesogenic diet induces increased liver expression of C3, C5aR, and C5L2 [54, 8, 14], while C3KO, C5aRKO, C5L2KO and C3aRKO mice are resistant to diet-induced obesity [55, 8, 23, 24, 9]. Finally, C3 and ASP/C3a have been implicated in human studies of fatty liver disease [56, 57].

How the balance between the various ligands (C3a, ASP, C5a/C5adesArg) and their receptors (C3aR, C5L2, C5aR) could influence overall hepatic function remains to be elucidated. Recent studies suggest that the ability of several ligands binding to the same receptor to evoke differential signaling and biological responses constitutes a phenomenon referred to as "biased agonism" [58]. Depending on the local environment and the

circumstances under which complement proteins are generated, they may contribute to cell and tissue homeostasis, to benefit or burden inflammation, or to tissue regeneration vs fibrosis [7]. For example, while in mid-grade sepsis, blockage (or gene absence) of either C5aR or C5L2 improved survival, in high-grade sepsis combined blockage of these two receptors was necessary [19]. Further, ASP demonstrated a biphasic role with a balance between inflammation/injury vs, regeneration [37].

While C3aR neither homodimerizes nor heterodimerizes, by contrast, C5aR and C5L2 both homo- and hetero-dimerize [26, 59]. The potential for cooperative interaction between C5L2 and C5aR has been evaluated in *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies. C5L2 acts as a positive modulator for both C5a- and C3a-induced responses in neutrophils, macrophages and fibroblasts and is critical for optimal signaling [60]. Conversely, another study on human neutrophils demonstrated that C5L2 functions as an intracellular receptor, becoming colocalized with C5aR after C5a binding, acting as a negative modulator through the beta-arrestin pathway [38]. Further, a recent study demonstrated formation of C5L2/C5aR heterodimers in adipocytes and macrophages, with co-internalization/co-localization upon stimulation with either ASP/C3adesArg or C5a [26]. Such dimerization may be one mechanism underlying the potential positive/negative modulatory effect of C5L2 on C5a or ASP/C3a effector functions.

Limitations of this study should be noted: all of the interpretations and conclusions are based on the evaluation of obese subjects, and all analyses were in women. In addition based on the limited availability of small quantities of frozen tissue from liver biopsies, the present study relied on C5aR and C5L2 mRNA expression without addressing the possible post-translational modifications, protein levels or functional assays of the examined

receptors. Further, as this is a cross-sectional study, the potential links between cause and effect can only be speculated upon.

5.8 Conclusion

In this study, evidence is presented to integrate data suggesting that complementrelated proteins correlate with sex hormones and metabolic profile in liver tissue. C5L2-C5aR interactions and the association with other mediators, such as estrogens, may have a role in metabolic and inflammatory functions of complement-related proteins in human liver cells.

5.9 Refrences

- 1. G. S. Hotamisligil, "Inflammation and metabolic disorders," Nature, vol. 444, no. 7121, pp. 860–867, 2006.
- 2. D. Ricklin, G. Hajishengallis, K. Yang, and J. D. Lambris, "Complement: a key system for immune surveillance and homeostasis," Nature Immunology, vol. 11, no. 9, pp. 785–797, 2010.
- 3. A. Sahu and J. D. Lambris, "Structure and biology of complement protein C3, a connecting link between innate and acquired immunity," Immunological Reviews, vol. 180, pp. 35–48, 2001.
- 4. C. A. Alper, A. M. Johnson, A. G. Birtch, and F. D. Moore, "Human C°3: evidence for the liver as the primary site of synthesis," Science, vol. 163, no. 3864, pp. 286–288, 1969.
- 5. R. C. Strunk, K. S. Kunke, and P. C. Giclas, "Human peripheral blood monocyte-derived macrophages produce haemolytically active C3 in vitro," Immunology, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 169–174, 1983.
- 6. A. I. Jacob, P. K. Goldberg, and N. Bloom, "Endotoxin and bacteria in portal blood," Gastroenterology, vol. 72, no. 6, pp. 1268–1270, 1977.
- A. Klos, A. J. Tenner, K. O. Johswich, R. R. Ager, E. S. Reis, and J. Köhl, "The role of the anaphylatoxins in health and disease," Molecular Immunology, vol. 46, no. 14, pp. 2753–2766, 2009.
- 8. C. Roy, A. Gupta, A. Fisette, et al., "C5a receptor deficiency alters energy utilization and fat storage," PLoS ONE, vol. 8, no. 5, Article ID e62531, 2013.
- 9. Y. Mamane, C. C. Chan, G. Lavallee et al., "The C3a anaphylatoxin receptor is a key mediator of insulin resistance and functions by modulating adipose tissue macrophage infiltration and activation," Diabetes, vol. 58, no. 9, pp. 2006–2017, 2009.
- 10. J. Lim, A. Iyer, J. Y. Suen, et al., "C5aR and C3aR antagonists each inhibit diet-induced obesity, metabolic dysfunction, and adipocyte and macrophage signaling," The FASEB Journal, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 822–831, 2013.
- 11. C. W. Strey, M. Markiewski, D. Mastellos et al., "The proinflammatory mediators C3a and C5a are essential for liver regeneration," Journal of Experimental Medicine, vol. 198, no. 6, pp. 913–923, 2003.
- 12. M. Bénard, B. J. Gonzalez, M.-T. Schouft et al., "Characterization of C3a and C5a receptors in rat cerebellar granule neurons during maturation:

neuroprotective effect of C5a against apoptotic cell death," Journal of Biological Chemistry, vol. 279, no. 42, pp. 43487–43496, 2004.

- 13. K. Cianflone, Z. Xia, and L. Y. Chen, "Critical review of acylation-stimulating protein physiology in humans and rodents," Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, vol. 1609, no. 2, pp. 127–143, 2003.
- 14. D. Gauvreau, A. Gupta, A. Fisette, et al., "Deficiency of C5L2 increases macrophage infiltration and alters adipose tissue function in mice," PLoS ONE, vol. 8, no. 4, Article ID e60795, 2013.
- 15. C. A. Williams, N. Schupf, and T. E. Hugli, "Anaphylatoxin C5a modulation of an alpha-adrenergic receptor system in the rat hypothalamus," Journal of Neuroimmunology, vol. 9, no. 1-2, pp. 29–40, 1985.
- 16. S. A. Cain and P. N. Monk, "The orphan receptor C5L2 has high affinity binding sites for complement fragments C5a and C5a des-Arg74," Journal of Biological Chemistry, vol. 277, no. 9, pp. 7165–7169, 2002.
- 17. S. Okinaga, D. Slattery, A. Humbles et al., "C5L2, a nonsignaling C5A binding protein," Biochemistry, vol. 42, no. 31, pp. 9406–9415, 2003.
- K. Johswich, M. Martin, J. Thalmann, C. Rheinheimer, P. N. Monk, and A. Klos, "Ligand specificity of the anaphylatoxin C5L2 receptor and its regulation on myeloid and epithelial cell lines," Journal of Biological Chemistry, vol. 281, no. 51, pp. 39088–39095, 2006.
- 19. D. Rittirsch, M. A. Flierl, B. A. Nadeau et al., "Functional roles for C5a receptors in sepsis," Nature Medicine, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 551–557, 2008.
- D. Kalant, S. A. Cain, M. Maslowska, A. D. Sniderman, K. Cianflone, and P. N. Monk, "The chemoattractant receptor-like protein C5L2 binds the C3a des-Arg77/acylation-stimulating protein," Journal of Biological Chemistry, vol. 278, no. 13, pp. 11123–11129, 2003.
- 21. D. Kalant, R. MacLaren, W. Cui et al., "C5L2 is a functional receptor for acylation-stimulating protein," Journal of Biological Chemistry, vol. 280, no. 25, pp. 23936–23944, 2005.
- 22. W. Cui, M. Simaan, S. Laporte, R. Lodge, and K. Cianflone, "C5a- and ASPmediated C5L2 activation, endocytosis and recycling are lost in S323I-C5L2 mutation," Molecular Immunology, vol. 46, no. 15, pp. 3086–3098, 2009.
- 23. S. Paglialunga, P. Schrauwen, C. Roy et al., "Reduced adipose tissue triglyceride synthesis and increased muscle fatty acid oxidation in C5L2 knockout mice," Journal of Endocrinology, vol. 194, no. 2, pp. 293–304, 2007.

- A. Fisette, M. N. Munkonda, K. Oikonomopoulou, S. Paglialunga, J. D. Lambris, and K. Cianflone, "C5L2 receptor disruption enhances the development of diet-induced insulin resistance in mice," Immunobiology, vol. 218, no. 1, pp. 127–133, 2013.
- 25. A. Klos, E. Wende, K. J. Wareham, et al., "International Union of Pharmacology. LVII. Complement peptide C5a, C4a, and C3a receptors," Pharmacological Reviews, vol. 65, no. 1, pp. 500–543, 2013.
- 26. P. Poursharifi, M. Lapointe, D. Petrin, et al., "C5L2 and C5aR interaction in adipocytes and macrophages: insights into adipoimmunology," Cellular Signalling, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 910–918, 2013.
- 27. D. E. Croker, R. Halai, D. P. Fairlie, et al., "C5a, but not C5a-des Arg, induces upregulation of heteromer formation between complement C5a receptors C5aR and C5L2," Immunology and Cell Biology, vol. 91, no. 10, pp. 625–633, 2013.
- S. Ghisletti, C. Meda, A. Maggi, and E. Vegeto, "17β-estradiol inhibits inflammatory gene expression by controlling NF-κB intracellular localization," Molecular and Cellular Biology, vol. 25, no. 8, pp. 2957–2968, 2005.
- 29. C. Caliceti, G. Aquila, M. Pannella, et al., "17β-estradiol enhances signalling mediated by VEGF-A-Delta-like ligand 4-notch1 axis in human endothelial cells," PLoS ONE, vol. 8, no. 8, Article ID e71440, 2013.
- 30. J. Pamidimukkala and M. Hay, "17β-estradiol inhibits angiotensin II activation of area postrema neurons," The American Journal of Physiology—Heart and Circulatory Physiology, vol. 285, no. 4, pp. H1515–H1520, 2003.
- 31. C. Alexanderson, E. Stener-Victorin, J. Kullberg et al., "A single early postnatal estradiol injection affects morphology and gene expression of the ovary and parametrial adipose tissue in adult female rats," Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, vol. 122, no. 1-3, pp. 82–90, 2010.
- I. Farkas, M. Sárvári, M. Aller et al., "Estrogen receptor alpha and beta differentially mediate C5aR agonist evoked Ca2+-influx in neurons through Ltype voltage-gated Ca2+ channels," Neurochemistry International, vol. 60, no. 6, pp. 631–639, 2012.
- 33. I. Farkas, P. Varju, E. Szabo et al., "Estrogen enhances expression of the complement C5a receptor and the C5a-agonist evoked calcium influx in hormone secreting neurons of the hypothalamus," Neurochemistry International, vol. 52, no. 4-5, pp. 846–856, 2008.
- 34. Y. Wen, H. Wang, R. MacLaren, H. Lu, X.-F. Hu, and K. Cianflone, "Sex steroid hormones induce acylation stimulating protein resistance in 3T3-L1

adipocytes," Journal of Cellular Biochemistry, vol. 105, no. 2, pp. 404-413, 2008.

- 35. N. Wlazlo, M. M. van Greevenbroek, I. Ferreira, et al., "Activated complement factor 3 is associated with liver fat and liver enzymes: the CODAM study," European Journal of Clinical Investigation, vol. 43, no. 7, pp. 679–688, 2013.
- 36. I. Bykov, M. Jauhiainen, V. M. Olkkonen et al., "Hepatic gene expression and lipid parameters in complement C3-/- mice that do not develop ethanol-induced steatosis," Journal of Hepatology, vol. 46, no. 5, pp. 907–914, 2007.
- 37. S. He, C. Atkinson, F. Qiao, K. Cianflone, X. Chen, and S. Tomlinson, "A complement-dependent balance between hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury and liver regeneration in mice," Journal of Clinical Investigation, vol. 119, no. 8, pp. 2304–2316, 2009.
- 38. J. D. Smith, K. Cianflone, J. Martin, P. Poirier, T. L. Broderick, and M. Noël, "Plasma adipokine and hormone changes in mountaineers on ascent to 5300 meters," Wilderness and Environmental Medicine, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 107–114, 2011.
- 39. C. E. Bamberg, C. R. Mackay, H. Lee et al., "The C5a receptor (C5aR) C5L2 is a modulator of C5aR-mediated signal transduction," Journal of Biological Chemistry, vol. 285, no. 10, pp. 7633–7644, 2010.
- 40. D. R. Ciocca and L. M. Roig, "Estrogen receptors in human nontarget tissues: Biological and clinical implications," Endocrine Reviews, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 35–62, 1995.
- 41. J. M. Lavoie and A. Pighon, "NAFLD, estrogens, and physical exercise: the animal model," Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism, vol. 2012, Article ID 914938, 13 pages, 2012. V
- 42. J. P. Camporez, F. R. Jornayvaz, H. Y. Lee, et al., "Cellular mechanism by which estradiol protects female ovariectomized mice from high-fat diet-induced hepatic and muscle insulin resistance," Endocrinology, vol. 154, no. 3, pp. 1021–1028, 2013.
- 43. D. H. St-Pierre, K. Cianflone, J. Smith et al., "Change in plasma acylation stimulating protein during euglycaemic- hyperinsulinaemic clamp in overweight and obese postmenopausal women: a MONET study," Clinical Endocrinology, vol. 70, no. 4, pp. 539–546, 2009.
- 44. A. Fisette, M. Lapointe, and K. Cianflone, "Obesity-inducing diet promotes acylation stimulating protein resistance," Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, vol. 437, no. 3, pp. 403–407, 2013.

- 45. Z. Xia, K. L. Stanhope, E. Digitale et al., "Acylation-stimulating protein (ASP)/complement C3adesArg deficiency results in increased energy expenditure in mice," Journal of Biological Chemistry, vol. 279, no. 6, pp. 4051–4057, 2004.
- 46. D. A. Mogilenko, I. V. Kudriavtsev, V. S. Shavva, et al., "Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor a positively regulates complement C3 expression but inhibits tumor necrosis factor a mediated activation of C3 gene in mammalian hepatic-derived cells," Journal of Biological Chemistry, vol. 288, no. 3, pp. 1726–1738, 2013.
- 47. M. S. Wright, N. J. Sund, and T. G. Abrahamsen, "Modulation of C3 gene expression in HepG2 human hepatoma cells," Immunology Letters, vol. 76, no. 2, pp. 119–123, 2001.
- 48. M. Daveau, M. Benard, M. Scotte et al., "Expression of a functional C5a receptor in regenerating hepatocytes and its involvement in a proliferative signaling pathway in rat," Journal of Immunology, vol. 173, no. 5, pp. 3418–3424, 2004.
- 49. G. Schlaf, M. Schmitz, E. Rothermel, K. Jungermann, H. L. Schieferdecker, and O. Götze, "Expression and induction of anaphylatoxin C5a receptors in the rat liver," Histology and Histopathology, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 299–308, 2003.
- 50. H. L. Schieferdecker, G. Schlaf, K. Jungermann, and O. Götze, "Functions of anaphylatoxin C5a in rat liver: direct and indirect actions on nonparenchymal and parenchymal cells," International Immunopharmacology, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 469–481, 2001.
- 51. S. Sun, Y. Guo, G. Zhao et al., "Complement and the alternative pathway play an important role in LPS/D-GalN-induced fulminant hepatic failure," PLoS ONE, vol. 6, no. 11, Article ID e26838, 2011.
- 52. P. A. Ward and H. Gao, "Sepsis, complement and the dysregulated inflammatory response," Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine, vol. 13, no. 10, pp. 4154–4160, 2009.
- 53. S. P. Cordoba, C. Wang, R. Williams et al., "Gene array analysis of a rat model of liver transplant tolerance identifies increased complement C3 and the STAT-1/IRF-1 pathway during tolerance induction," Liver Transplantation, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 636–643, 2006.
- 54. I. L. Bykov, A. Väkevä, H. A. Järveläinen, S. Meri, and K. O. Lindros, "Protective function of complement against alcohol-induced rat liver damage," International Immunopharmacology, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. 1445–1454, 2004.

- 55. A. Recinos III, B. K. Carr, D. B. Bartos et al., "Liver gene expression associated with diet and lesion development in atherosclerosis-prone mice: induction of components of alternative complement pathway," Physiological Genomics, vol. 19, pp. 131–142, 2005.
- 56. I. Murray, P. J. Havel, A. D. Sniderman, and K. Cianflone, "Reduced body weight, adipose tissue, and leptin levels despite increased energy intake in female mice lacking acylation-stimulating protein," Endocrinology, vol. 141, no. 3, pp. 1041–1049, 2000.
- 57. S. S. Rensen, Y. Slaats, A. Driessen et al., "Activation of the complement system in human nonalcoholic fatty liver disease," Hepatology, vol. 50, no. 6, pp. 1809–1817, 2009.
- 58. Z. Yesilova, M. Ozata, C. Oktenli et al., "Increased acylation stimulating protein concentrations in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease are associated with insulin resistance," The American Journal of Gastroenterology, vol. 100, no. 4, pp. 842–849, 2005.
- 59. R. D. Ye, "Biased agonism in chemoattractant receptor signaling," Journal of Leukocyte Biology, vol. 87, no. 6, pp. 959–961, 2010. View at Publisher ·
- 60. M. J. Rabiet, E. Huet, and F. Boulay, "Complement component 5a receptor oligomerization and homologous receptor down-regulation," Journal of Biological Chemistry, vol. 283, no. 45, pp. 31038–31046, 2008.
- 61. N. J. Chen, C. Mirtsos, D. Suh et al., "C5L2 is critical for the biological activities of the anaphylatoxins C5a and C3a," Nature, vol. 446, no. 7132, pp. 203–207, 2007.

Chapter 6

Summary and discussion

6.1 Summary

This thesis investigated the role of adipokines, in particular ASP and their relationship with diet, sex hormones and cardio-metabolic risk factors in a series of experiments using human models. In general, these four studies provide additional evidence to show that:

- I. Obesity is strongly linked to diet composition. Production and secretion of adipokines are dynamically regulated, including through nutritional influence.
- II. Obesity is determined by interactions between exogenous and endogenous factors. The regulation of balance between energy intake and energy expenditure and the subsequent metabolic profile that evolves during positive energy imbalance are mediated by a complex network of signals originating from a number of endocrine tissues, such as adipose tissue, liver and gonads.
- III. Obesity is a key player in the pathogenesis of multiple morbid disorders. There is a plethora of data indicating that changes in adipose tissue-secreted hormones respond not only to the mass of adipose tissue but also to presence of these abnormalities.

We have made the following novel observations:

- I. From the first study (Chapter 2)
 - Long-term sugar consumption with ad libitum diet leads to changes in circulating levels of adipokines: ASP, adiponectin, and leptin.
 - Fasting and postprandial ASP were associated with postprandial triglycerides while in the fructose diet, women have greater increases in postprandial ASP than men.

- Fasting adiponectin was associated with baseline abdominal/visceral fat.
- The differential effects of fructose and glucose on 24-hour circulating leptin concentrations were sustained during long-term consumption of the 2 sugars.
- II. From the second study (Chapter 3)
 - There are higher average ASP concentrations in a Turkish population in comparison with those reported in other ethnicities.
 - There are diverging correlations across genders between ASP levels and metabolic variables among cardiovascular risk factors.
- III. From the third study (Chapter 4)
 - There is a differential influence of sex hormones on circulating ASP and adipose tissue gene expression of related proteins in an adipose tissue depot-specific manner.
- IV. From the fourth study (Chapter 5)
 - There are correlations between sex hormones and hepatic complement-related proteins and metabolic profiles.
 - There is an association of hepatic C5L2/C5aR ratio with pre- and post- operative profiles.

6.2 Metabolic syndrome and obesity, current concepts

Several pathophysiological explanations for the metabolic syndrome have been proposed involving insulin resistance, chronic inflammation and ectopic fat accumulation following adipose tissue saturation. For a long time, the metabolic syndrome was originally proposed as a cluster of metabolic abnormalities that could be potentially explained by a common pathophysiologic link, insulin resistance (357). More recently, the emphasis was directed to the functional failure of an organ, mainly adipose tissue that manifests through inflammatory response and adipokine dysregulation (42). Currently, the emphasis is on mechanistic molecular-level analyses of the link between inflammation and insulin resistance (358), a broad focus on the signaling pathways to account for the modulation of physiological changes and the commencement of pathological deviation .

This thesis effectively demonstrates that the mechanisms of obesity-related metabolic syndrome are intricately involved in multiple metabolically and structurally complex systems, that is, in tissue and cells which communicate with other cells within the same tissue, organ or at a systemic inter-organ level.

6.3 **Obesity determinants**

6.3.1 Adipose tissue dysfunction model

This model (reviewed in (359)) is proposed for explaining the metabolic syndrome and is based on the failure of the adipose tissue in buffering lipids during postprandial periods, which are an equilibrium between two states: draining free fatty acids that come mainly from triglyceride-rich lipoproteins during the postprandial period or releasing them during the fasting period. Switching between the two states is regulated by a multifactorial system including substrate and hormone levels as well as the functional state of the adipose tissue itself (359). A failure of the adipose tissue function in taking up dietary fat (being switched to releasing free fatty acids) might lead to excess lipid flux towards other tissues, during the postprandial period and even during the fasting period, and to a decreased clearance of triglyceride-rich lipoprotein particles (360). Concurrently, the increased availability of free fatty acids stimulates the liver, packaging them in triglycerides that are released in apoB-containing lipoproteins (VLDL). The interaction of these particles with HDL and LDL lead to the typical dyslipidemic profile (361). On the other hand, circulating fatty acids and those released by lipoprotein lipase modify the energy draining paths in peripheral tissues, impairing glucose use (359).

Given this profile, it is not surprising that in our studies (chapter 2, 3, 4, 5), ASP and its related proteins as well as leptin and adiponectin consistently correlated with plasma lipid profile, factors commonly related to metabolic syndrome, diabetes, cardiovascular disease and liver steatosis. Whether the increase in plasma ASP is a cause or a consequence of abnormal lipid metabolism cannot be determined simply by correlation studies, but examination of ASP function is supportive of such links.

In addition, adipose tissue is at the crossroads in the development of the metabolic syndrome, inflammation and atherosclerosis largely because the accumulation of excessive circulating energy in this tissue induces cell enlargement and stress (42). This accumulation leads to the release of alarm cytokines (362) which induces the infiltration of immune system cells (241)(238). The consequence of this process is the development of a nonclassical inflammatory state that becomes chronic because normal immune system mechanisms cannot successfully fight the agents (excess nutrients) ultimately responsible for the inflammatory response (241)(359). Therefore, adipose tissue affects not only metabolism but also many functions of organs and tissues, such as brain, muscle, liver, and blood vessels.

In chapter 4 and 5 we have demonstrated an association of complement C3-related immune system proteins in both liver and adipose tissue with metabolic profiles. Interestingly, association of C5L2/C5aR ratio, two anaphylatoxin receptors, with liver enzymes, sex hormones and metabolic profile could represent another example of the interaction of inflammatory and metabolic processes.

6.3.2 Adipose tissue dysfunction and diet

Nutrition represents a lifestyle element that can directly influence health; therefore preventive nutrition and weight control should become a main focus of health care systems. Despite wide publicity, and the popularity and promotion of low fat diets, nonetheless the putative decline in dietary fat consumption has not corresponded to a decrease in obesity, in fact, the opposite trend has emerged (54). Indeed, foods high in saturated fats and cholesterol have been shown to induce weight gain, insulin resistance, atherosclerosis and hyperlipidemia in humans and animals, but the emphasis on fat reduction has had no significant benefits relative to the obesity epidemic (61). Increasing evidence now suggests that the emphasis must be put on the excess of energy derived from high-energy carbohydrate-rich diets, especially those containing excessive fructose, and the role in inducing obesity and metabolic syndrome (65)(84). However a very recent study by Chiu S. et al showed that an isocaloric exchange of fructose for other carbohydrates does not induce non-alcoholic fatty liver disease changes (363).

The processes involved in regulating energy homeostasis and intermediary lipid and carbohydrate metabolism are linked by common neuroendocrine mediators and adipositydriven hormones such as leptin, ASP, and adiponectin. As we have shown in chapter 2, the production/function of all theses three adipocyte hormones appear to be regulated by diet and nutritional status (fasting/postprandial). We have shown dietary effects of long-term consumption of two marcronutrient on adipose tissue function.

6.3.2.1 Leptin

Long-term high fat diet induced obesity is characterized by hyperleptinemia and impaired leptin signaling (« leptin resistance ») to reduce food intake and increase energy expenditure in humans and mice (364)(365). Recently, Koch et al. have demonstrated that leptin deficient ob/ob mice treated by chronic intracerebroventricular infusion of leptin develop leptin resistance on a high fat diet independent of hyperleptinemia (366). They suggested hypothalamic inflammation might play a key role in the induction of diet-induced glucose intolerance. On the other hand, the 24-h diurnal leptin concentrations are reduced on a day when three high-fat meals are consumed when compared with high-carbohydrate/low-fat meals, which induced larger postprandial glucose excursions and greater insulin secretion (367). However, recently, it has been demonstrated that chronic central leptin treatment can decrease food intake, as well as body weight, in both high fat and low fat diet mice suggesting that diet-induced obese mice are not resistant to chronic central leptin treatment (368).

On a fructose diet, our results in chapter 2 showed sustained differential effects of fructose and glucose on 24-hour circulating leptin concentrations. This result is in agreement with data from in vitro experiments in isolated adipocytes (369) and from clinical studies in human subjects (370), supporting the idea that production of leptin is regulated by insulin-mediated glucose metabolism in adipocytes. The endocrine effects of dietary fat and fructose, resulting in decreased insulin secretion and leptin production, suggest a mechanism by which consumption of diets high in energy derived from fat and fructose, could lead to overconsumption of calories, weight gain, and obesity. However, fasting leptin concentrations increased in both groups with the changes from baseline being significantly and positively associated with the changes in body weight.

6.3.2.2 Adiponectin

Adiponectin knockout mice demonstrated aggravated high fat diet-induced obesity, metabolic derangements, and cardiac dysfunction (371). Recently, studies have shown an increase in adiponectin and adiponectin transgenic-overexpressing mice prevented diet-induced obesity and fatty liver, improved insulin sensitivity (372) and promoted adipose tissue vascularity (373) under conditions of long term high fat diet-induced obesity.

A recent study on diets high in monounsaturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids demonstrated that different types of dietary fatty acids regulate adiponectin production and proteins involved in fatty acid metabolism in adipose tissue. Yet the fatty acid composition of the diets had minimal effects on altering adipose tissue function and inflammation in the context of a long-term high fat diet (Enns et al 2014 (374)). A recent study in rhesus monkeys revealed that a high-fructose diet was related to insulin resistance and features of metabolic syndrome, with elevated leptin and decreased adiponectin concentrations (375).

In chapter 2 we showed a significant increase of adiponectin at 2 weeks in subjects consuming glucose and not fructose suggesting insulin-stimulated glucose utilization effect on adiponectin production. However, some results indicate that the total amount of caloric intake rather than the source of calories may play a more important role in controlling adiponectin levels (376). The importance of the visceral depot in determining circulating adiponectin concentrations is also supported by our results in chapter 2 showing association of fasting adiponectin with baseline abdominal/visceral fat.

6.3.2.3 ASP

In wild-type mice on a chow diet, ASP administration induces paradoxical glucosesensitizing yet proinflammatory effects evidenced by plasma, adipose tissue, liver and skeletal muscle changes (377). On a high-fat diet, ASP exacerbates adipose tissue lowgrade chronic inflammation, which is linked to other obesity-derived metabolic disorders such as insulin resistance. In C3KO mice, which are obligate ASP-deficient, a shift in the metabolic potential of skeletal muscle toward increased fatty acid utilization (227) has been reported during high fat feeding. In C5L2KO mice on a high fat diet, triglyceride storage in white adipose tissue is reduced and postprandial triglyceride clearance is delayed (233) yet they develop more severe insulin resistance than wild type mice through altered substrate partitioning, ectopic fat deposition and a pro-inflammatory phenotype. Furthermore, a high fat/high fructose diet resulted in the development of ASP insensitivity in mice (229), which exhibited higher basal levels of plasma ASP and lower C5L2 expression in adipose tissue compared to chow-fed mice. Interestingly, injection of recombinant ASP failed to accelerate fat clearance (378). On a high fructose diet, the changes in fasting plasma ASP concentration observed in our study of extended sugar consumption are in line with the hypothesis that moderate or high sugar diet interventions promotes a state of positive energy intake and favors the development of dyslipidemia, and as a consequence increases adiposity biomarkers such as ASP.

Interestingly, we also have shown in chapter 2 that subjects consuming fructose with 0-1 metabolic risk factors had higher postprandial ASP responses than those with 2-3 risk factors. We suggested that although obesity results in high levels of circulating ASP, high ASP responses to diets that induce increased levels of TG may be an adaptive response to maintain metabolic equilibrium. This result is in agreement with the hypothesis that adaptive mechanisms, which helped man to survive in times of famine, infection and stress, may become maladaptive in the current obesogenic environment, favoring the manifestation of the metabolic syndrome (379), the same mechanisms as insulin resistance.

Fructose consumption led to increases in postprandial TG profiles and remnant lipoproteins (53). The differential effect of fructose versus glucose in post-heparin lipoprotein lipase activity demonstrated (380) may be one contributing factor leading to decreased peripheral postprandial TG clearance. On the other hand, in animal studies, a high fructose diet leads to an increase in plasma triglyceride concentrations (381). These TG, present as apoB48-containing chylomicrons, were shown to originate from fructose conversion into fatty acids within the enterocyte via intestinal *de novo* lipogenesis (382). Thus, fructose also stimulates chylomicron production. In consequence, food is one primary factor stimulating and regulating ASP production and secretion. This is supported by an *in vitro* study showing that chylomicrons stimulate adipocyte ASP production up to 150 fold (383).

However, fatty acids themselves do not affect ASP production in mature human adipocytes (220). *In vitro* data suggest that it is the interaction between chylomicrons specifically with the ASP precursor C3 which directly leads to increased ASP (384). The increased postprandial profile in *ad libitum* with fructose diets may be driving the increase in local ASP production. Although there was no difference in diurnal ASP levels in the general circulation, the persistent fructose-mediated chylomicron stimulation of local ASP production could, over time, explain a chronic increase in general circulating ASP levels (as evidenced in chapter 2).

However, the weight gain and positive energy balance cannot solely explain the metabolic consequences of fructose consumption, because these effects were absent in the glucose-consuming participants, despite a comparable weight gain. Stanhope and Havel suggested the possibility of an interaction of positive energy balance and/or weight gain with fructose consumption resulting in greater effects on lipid and carbohydrate metabolism than if the subjects had been studied only in a state of neutral energy balance (385). Increased consumption of fructose coupled to the *ad libitum* diet may be one factor that is contributing to increased ASP. Changes in ASP levels seem to be particularly associated with the combination of *ad libitum* and fructose feeding, suggesting a role of energy intake in ASP production. While ASP had no immediate diurnal or postprandial related changes, with fructose-*ad libitum* diets, circulating fasting and postprandial levels were consistently increased.

In addition, the increase in ASP correlated with changes in energy intake, postprandial lipemia, *de novo* lipogenesis (DNL), insulin sensitivity and visceral adipose tissue. However, whether the increased ASP levels result in a compensatory mechanism (related to insulin resistance) or lead in turn to an "ASP resistant" state remains to be determined. These associations are in agreement with previous studies (215), and raise the idea that ASP could be considered as a metabolic disorder biomarker. Further study on the contribution of these changes to metabolic outcomes will be needed. Therefore, our results in addition to previous animal studies show that ASP has a tissue-specific function, which is also influenced by diet composition and availability.

6.3.3 Adipose tissue dysfunction and sex hormones

6.3.3.1 Distribution of ASP in regional adipose tissue

The consequences of increased ASP production, especially in a site-specific manner, are relevant. A number of studies have examined the correlations of ASP, and its components with parameters that reflect body size or fat distribution. Many have demonstrated positive correlations of plasma ASP and C3 (ASP precursor) with BMI, total fat mass, percentage body fat and waist-to-hip ratio (215). These associations also have been shown in our studies. Because visceral adipose tissue as compared to subcutaneous adipose tissue has a limited capacity to prevent fatty acids from reaching the liver and stimulating hepatic lipoprotein synthesis (386), abdominal obesity may represent an example of impaired activity of the ASP pathway even if the dysfunction would be a secondary feature.

Growing evidence suggests that a tissue-specific function of ASP might be an important component of the hormonal interplay that enhances subcutaneous lipogenesis in females, and may therefore contribute to fat storage typical to females (387). The previous *in vitro* studies on regional and sex differences in adipose tissue response to ASP have shown higher triglyceride synthesis in subcutaneous adipose tissue compared with visceral adipose tissue (386) as well as higher binding affinity of ASP to plasma membrane extracts from subcutaneous adipose tissue compared with visceral adipose tissue particularly in women (388). As we have shown in chapter 4, under conditions of high progesterone, there is down-regulation of C5L2 (ASP receptor) and up-regulation of C3 expression (ASP precursor) in visceral but not subcutaneous adipose tissue.

In adipose tissue of women, mRNA expression of C3 and adipsin in subcutaneous adipose tissue is inversely correlated with BMI (215). In men, there was a pronounced increase in C3, adipsin, and Factor B mRNA expression in visceral adipose tissue with increasing BMI. Consequently, in both genders, the VAT-to-SAT ratio of all three factors involved in ASP production increased with increasing BMI. Dusserre et al. (389) suggested that ASP (in fact C3) gene expression was increased in visceral adipose tissue as a compensatory phenomenon to counteract the greater lipolytic capacity of the visceral cells.

In our fructose study (380), VAT area increased significantly with fructose supplementation, while SAT increased with glucose supplementation. In chapter 2 we suggest the fructose *ad libitum* effect on ASP may help to promote lipid deposition in VAT. This may be especially true under conditions of insulin resistance.

6.3.3.2 Influence of ovarian sex hormone on ASP production

Fasting plasma ASP levels have been shown to display sex differences. In chapter 3, we showed that in women, correlations with ASP (notably triglyceride, glucose, LDL-C, SHBG and height) are in the opposite direction than in men in the absence of MetS. In chapter 4, we demonstrated an association of ASP in circulation with sex hormones estradiol and progesterone. These findings may reflect increased responsiveness to ASP in women during reproductive age compared with men, and that as female hormone levels decrease in postmenopausal women, ASP resistance may develop. These findings are supported by studies showing that plasma C3 levels increased in older healthy women compared with younger women (390). The ASP resistance may also develop in obesity where obese females showed a higher level of ASP compared with obese males, which may also be a result of increased basal ASP production from subcutaneous fat mass in these women (216).

Our results, in addition to gender and regional differences in ASP levels and functions, as well as recent *in vivo* studies (391)(392)(393) are suggestive of hormonal influences on ASP production. We have shown (in chapter 5) an association of progesterone but not estradiol with C3 and related receptors C5L2, C5aR and C3aR gene expression in adipose tissue. In two longitudinal studies on normal weight young females, the ASP levels increased significantly starting in the ovulatory phase and sharply increased in the mid-luteal phase coinciding with increasing progesterone levels (391)(394). No significant correlation was seen with estrogen, luteinizing hormone or follicle-stimulating hormone. On the other hand, insulin did not show significant changes throughout the cycle and did not correlate with any of the female hormones measured (391). In agreement with these findings, it was shown in humans, that in the luteal phase, endometrium synthesizes

complement C3 *de novo*, whereas in the follicular phase, endometrium produces little or no C3 (395).

As progesterone levels were found to be tightly linked to plasma ASP levels *in vivo* and *in vitro* (396), Saleh et al. (387) hypothesized that progesterone may stimulate 'estrogen pretreated' adipocyte cells. The luteal phase in women is characterized by increased progesterone levels that are preceded or accompanied by estrogen elevations. Estrogen would therefore create significant changes in adipocyte function, which may include enhancing progesterone action by up-regulating specific binding sites (387).

Integrating our results and previously published results (391)(392)(393)(394)(395)(396), I speculate that there is an increased resistance to ASP-C5L2 function at high progesterone levels, and this may contribute to enhanced ASP production during high progesterone states such as the luteal menstrual phase and the mid-to-late pregnancy phase. This is comparable to the recognized variations in response to insulin, showing insulin responsiveness during early pregnancy and increased insulin resistance as pregnancy progresses where high progesterone levels, in spite of their lipogenic effects, exhibit anti-insulin effects (397).

6.3.3.3 Influence of sex hormones in ASP function

ASP metabolism may be altered in association with sex hormone disturbances probably contributing to accompanying lipid alterations (218)(398). High levels of ASP and C3 in PCOS women regardless of their BMI, and a decrease in ASP levels after treatment with metformin, are in agreement with this notion. An indirect evidence for the interplay between metabolic syndrome, ASP and sex hormone is the fact that, when treating components of one, parameters of the other can be improved as well.

Influence of sex hormones on circulation/function of ASP may be explained by the *ponderostat hypothesis*. It is proposed that the ponderostat system regulates lipid storage to an optimally adjusted mass, but that obesity-related metabolic disorders rapidly change the pre-established ponderostat settings in such a way that either the brain becomes less sensitive to the signal(s) from white adipose tissue or this tissue shows a decreased capability to synthesize the signaling molecule(s) (399). It has been hypothesized that in obesity, the brain has lost its ability to control the size of adipose tissue (400) probably because of inadequate sensing of adipose tissue actual size due to either lower levels or insensitivity to ponderostat signals.

Estrone is synthesized in significant amounts by adipose tissue (401) which stores it largely as its oleoyl-ester (402), a precursor of a postulated ponderostat signal (403). The effects of oleoyl-ester on lipids can be summarized in the inhibition of lipogenesis in adipose tissue (404). These effects include decreased lipoprotein lipase expression and activity in adipose tissue (and hepatic lipase in liver), but increased activity in muscle (405), while intracellular lipolysis is unaffected (404). However, estrone levels were not related to ASP and its related proteins in our study. Therefore other, as yet unidentified, steroid hormone conversions may be of relevance.

I hypothesize that ASP levels increase in females, probably under sex hormone influence, and may enhance lipogenesis in favour of subcutaneous fat storage, as evidenced by functional and binding studies in vitro. On the other hand, reduced ASP responsiveness associated with decreased female hormone levels, may contribute to directing fat storage towards abdominal fat depots predisposing to adverse metabolic events. I conclude that although ASP levels and function are positively associated with increased fat mass. ASP levels may also be influenced by sex hormone changes that may enhance ASP action promoting subcutaneous fat storage characteristic in females.

6.4 Adipose tissue dysfunction, ASP and obesity related consequences

In chapter 3 and 4, we have shown evidence that points to a close crosstalk between metabolic organs (liver, adipose tissue) and innate immunity (C3 and its related proteins) in the course of metabolic disorders and liver steatosis. In particular, hormonal factors of innate immunity, C3, ASP and their related receptors are thought to contribute to metabolic dysregulation of adipose tissue or liver, and I propose that there are two major consequences of adipose dysfunction: 1) energy re-partitioning that provides the impetus for excess lipid accumulation in non-adipose tissues which is referred to as ectopic fat and

2) low-grade system/local inflammation. All these conditions are linked to the development of abdominal obesity and insulin resistance.

6.4.1 ASP and energy re-partitioning

With a lipogenic diet, surplus FFA flux to liver, skeletal muscle and pancreas provides the potential for excess lipid accumulation in non-adipose tissue, which is referred to as ectopic fat. This can lead to lipotoxicity of the cell, causing cellular dysfunction and even cell death. I speculate that, in an ASP resistance state, when fatty acid utilization / availability ratio is low, as in conditions of obesity and insulin resistance, there is a build-up of fatty acid intermediates which can induce insulin resistance. On the other hand, during fasting when fatty acid utilization relative to availability is high, as in high ASP sensitivity, these subjects will be more insulin sensitive. This is the case in endurance-trained athletes, where elevated skeletal muscle triglyceride are associated with greater energy demands and fatty acid oxidative capacity (406).

ASP-deficient mice have delayed postprandial TG clearance, are hyperphagic, and display increased energy expenditure with a shift in the metabolic potential of skeletal muscle toward increased fatty acid utilization (227)(228). By contrast, it has been demonstrated that C5L2KO mice fed a diabetogenic diet develop more severe insulin resistance than wild type mice through altered substrate partitioning, ectopic fat deposition and a pro-inflammatory phenotype (230). Lipid content of both liver and skeletal muscle is increased in C5L2KO mice in diet-induced obesity vs wild type (230). In chapter 5 we illustrated higher hepatic C5L2/C5aR ratio in pre-menopausal women while ASP levels were lower. Inversely, association of liver enzymes with this ratio is evident in subjects with high ASP levels (ASP resistant, postmenopausal women) where liver enzymes are higher, indicating liver steatosis status. Therefore, I suggest that ASP-C5L2 dysregulation has a role in energy re-partitioning, with the potential for excess lipid accumulation in non-adipose tissue. This can lead to lipotoxicity of the cell, causing cellular dysfunction and even cell death.

6.4.2 ASP and inflammation

In chapter 4 and 5, association of liver and adipose tissue complement cleavage proteins and receptors with metabolic profiles in women has been shown. Increasing evidence points to multiple functions of the complement system beyond immunity. Interestingly, the effects of complement seem to be context- and organ-dependent (238)(407). Complement components C3 and C5 and their derivatives C3a, C3adesArg (ASP), and C5a are central players influencing the physiology and pathology of liver and adipose tissue.

Basal levels of complement activation have rather beneficial metabolic effects, ranging from stimulation of insulin secretion in pancreatic β -cells (ASP, Factor H) to insulin-like actions with regards to adipocyte maturation and energy regulation (Factor D/adipsin, ASP, C3a, C5a) (238). In contrast, increased complement action can contribute to metabolic pathology. In the pancreas, complement activation can contribute to type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) and T2DM. In obesity, complement components promote inflammatory cells and proteins to adipose tissue, thereby facilitating inflammation and the associated insulin resistance (222)(238). Interestingly, the complement system contributes to both liver homeostasis and disease (238).

Chronic recombinant ASP administration in C3 (-/-) mice enhances the high fat diet induced inflammatory response leading to an insulin-resistant state (378). C5L2 serves a dual function, binding the lipogenic hormone acylation stimulating protein (ASP), and C5a, involved in innate immunity. Disruption of C5L2 increases macrophage presence in white adipose tissue, contributing to obesity-associated pathologies, and further supports a dual role of complement in adipose tissue (230). Songqing et al have shown a dual role of ASP-C5L2 interaction in the balance between hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury and liver regeneration in mice (305).

6.4.3 Fatty liver; an example for association of ectopic fat and inflammation

In chapter 5, we demonstrated that hepatic C3-related receptors were associated with metabolic profile in women. In fact, we hypothesized that the obesity-associated chronic low-grade inflammation seen in the liver is unequivocally linked to the development of metabolic syndrome and liver steatosis. C3 and C5 complement may contribute through different mechanisms to the pathogenesis of liver steatosis. Interestingly, the complement system contributes to both liver homeostasis and inflammatory diseases. Depending on the context, complement factors can act in either a beneficial or detrimental manner. For instance, the effects of complement activation during alcoholic and non-alcoholic liver disease are very distinct, while C3 (-/-) mice demonstrated a reduced steatosis in alcoholic liver disease (294), it did not change or rather enhanced the steatosis associated with high-fat diet (294)(296) and liver regeneration (305). Similar results have been reported by inhibition of C5 (293). C3-deficient mice have been found to be protected from alcohol-induced steatosis and from microvesicular and macrovesicular hepatic triglyceride accumulation (294)(295)(241). In addition, C3deficient mice on an ethanol diet have a decreased expression of lipogenic enzymes, elevated serum and liver adiponectin levels, and a reduced ethanol-mediated induction of serum alanine aminotransferase activity (294)(296)(295) (241).

Higher C5L2/C5aR ratios in women with lower liver steatosis status (lower liver enzymes) demonstrates the potential of C5L2 to suppress C5a-C5aR-mediated responses, indicating two things: I) regulatory role of C5L2 in inflammatory function of C5aR, here as a liver protector protein II) evidence for interaction between C5L2-C5aR. In agreement with these results, a very recent publication on C5L2 (-/-) mice demonstrated dramatic increases in inflammation in allergic contact dermatitis as compared to wild-type mice. These increases were completely reversed following administration of mAb against C5aR (408). In another study, a protective role for C5L2 and ASP in liver regeneration in mice has also been suggested, as administration of ASP in C3KO mice restores adequate liver regeneration, an effect absent in C5L2KO mice (305).

6.4.4 ASP and cardiometabolic risk factors

Associations of ASP with cardiometabolic risk factors have been shown in chapters 3 and 4. Whether acute phase complement proteins such as C3, its cleavage product ASP and its related receptors are only biomarkers of inflammatory and cardiovascular diseases, or whether, they play crucial roles in cardiometabolic and athero-thrombosis (409) disorders remains to be proven. C3 has been recently identified as predicting coronary or cardiovascular events in several studies, whether independently (410) or dependently (411) of traditional established risk factors. In patients with coronary artery disease, complement proteins have been observed to be deposited and activated in the vessel wall (412). Plasma C3 levels may contribute independently through direct effects in atherosclerosis development or may simply reflect plasma ASP values.

We have shown in chapter 3 that there are diverging correlations across genders between ASP levels with some metabolic profiles among risk variables. Compared with women, C3 in men is independently and weakly related to the cluster of metabolic syndrome and exhibits an independent diabetogenic component (413), while in females C3 is tightly linked to a strong pro-inflammatory state, an additional component comprised in metabolic syndrome. Serum triglyceride levels were closely linked to C3 and ASP concentrations, mediating the risk for coronary heart disease (CHD). The role of gender is related to the question of whether elevated C3 and ASP may be part of the cluster of metabolic syndrome, or whether gender confers additional CHD risk (414).

Obesity itself may partly explain the increased C3 and ASP seen in metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease, as evidenced in chapter 4. On the other hand, C3 and cleavage products play a role in many processes that are altered in these cardiometabolic diseases. Activation of the complement C3 cascade leads to production and formation of anaphylotoxins, which likely mediate immune and inflammatory responses in ischemic myocardium (415).

Extensive activation of C3 and its activation products (C3a, C3b) are considered to be involved in the atherothrombotic process (416), and the association of complement C3b with lipid components in the vessel wall may induce an atherosclerotic process (417).

Elevated levels of activated complement byproducts including C3 have been found in blood and atherosclerotic plaques of patients with myocardial infarction (412). The complement dysregulation in the absence of CD55, a membrane inhibitor of the C3 convertase, provoked increased C3adesArg production that, in turn, caused altered lipid handling, resulting in atheroprotection and increased adiposity (418).

In the postprandial phase, lipoproteins such as chylomicrons and HDL contribute to C3 activation in the blood (419). The changing cytokine levels may contribute to the development of insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome (412). Current evidence suggests that elevated C3 and ASP concentrations constitute a prominent determinant of metabolic syndrome in both sexes and contribute in men independently and additively from the latter to the risks of diabetes and CHD. C3 appears to be part of the pro-inflammatory/oxidative state crucial in the mechanism of cardiometabolic disorders among women.

Results in chapter 3, and 4 evidence that elevated circulating C3 and ASP is not only a marker but may be a risk factor for the development of cardiometabolic disorders. Clinically, it may directly influence vulnerability of atherosclerotic plaques and enhance the development of acute coronary syndromes, or may trigger immune mechanisms and mediate impairment in function of apolipoproteins on HDL particles (420).

6.5 ASP resistance

Similar to insulin resistance, an ASP-resistant state has been proposed to contribute to the disturbed adipose tissue metabolism and dyslipidemia common in diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Hypothetically, ASP resistance would be evidenced by a reduced response to ASP, coupled with increased plasma ASP and associated lipids such as apoB (220). In other words, having increased levels of hormone (ASP; ligand) and increased levels of target substrates (triglyceride or glucose) yet decreased tissue receptor (C5L2) would be indicative of a decreased responsiveness. The underlying mechanism behind the C5L2 downregulation in adipose tissue in obesity remains to be elucidated. Chronically elevated ASP levels, as seen in obesity in both mice and humans (409), could be directly responsible for ASP resistance. Obesity is associated with increased fatty acids and inflammatory factors. Similarly, fatty acids (as dietary chylomicrons or non-esterified fatty acids) also increase ASP production and decrease C5L2 expression and protein (409)(226)(220). In both instances this is associated with decreased ASP-C5L2 pathway functional responses.

In addition, a high ASP level in circulation could be explained as an adaptive mechanism which has also been proposed for insulin resistance (379). In addition to positive regulation of ASP function in energy homeostasis, nature has evolved a number of ways to change ASP action in response to certain conditions, including fasting, inflammation, stress and pregnancy in a way to allow mobilization of stored energy substrates. It has been shown in some physiological situations, such as late gestation in pregnancy or in the luteal phase of the menstrual cycle in women, that ASP is increased. In a cross sectional study (421) in the Inuit population in Northern Quebec, which has been characterized as having a lower risk for ischemic heart disease compared to Caucasian populations, ASP was still « sensitive » despite increased ASP levels suggesting that the higher ASP levels were in response to the traditionally higher dietary fat consumption as a compensatory mechanism.

In conditions of positive energy balance, in the current environment (Western lifestyle), limited "adipose tissue expandability" (422) and induced central obesity, may

lead to dysfunctional adipose tissue. This would then result in increased flux of FFAs into the circulation and uptake by the liver or muscle cells and other organs, as well as a lowgrade inflammation, which together with chronic stress would activate the same mechanism as in insulin resistance, favoring the development of the metabolic syndrome. Thus, the manifestation of the metabolic syndrome in Western lifestyle could present a maladaptive phenotype in the current environment. In chapter 2 we have shown that consumption of both glucose and fructose markedly increased plasma ASP levels at 2 and 8 weeks. We believe this increase was a result of increasing postprandial triglyceride as well as a positive energy balance.

Furthermore, while ASP may be increased as a response to insulin resistance, some cellular studies support the interpretation that the alteration in ASP pathway may be a direct response to the effect of the sex steroid hormones on the downregulation of C5L2. For instance, physiological increases in sex steroid hormones in PCOS (polycystic ovary syndrome) likely induce decreased C5L2 expression and signaling, leading to ASP resistance (based on interpretations from cellular studies). In chapter 4 and 5 we have shown a higher ASP concentration in severely obese postmenopausal women vs premenopausal women, and associations of ASP and estradiol with components of the metabolic syndrome as well as a down-regulation of C5L2 (ASP receptor) and up-regulation of C3 expression (ASP precursor) in visceral but not subcutaneous adipose tissue in conditions of high progesterone. Sex hormones interfere with specific components of the insulin signaling pathway involved in glucose transport stimulation in adipocytes and muscle (423)(424)(425). As these signalling pathways are also targeted by ASP, I speculate that this may be a mechanism of ovarian hormone-induced ASP resistance characterized by increased ASP as "an adaptive stress response".

6.6 Bariatric surgery outcome

By improving the components of the metabolic syndrome (dyslipidemia, hypertension, insulin resistance, and central obesity), bariatric surgery alters the cardiovascular risk profile of morbidly obese patients (426). While the contribution of gastrointestinal hormones to this improvement have been well documented, recent findings suggest that pancreatic hormones (glucagon and pancreatic polypeptides) as well as adipose tissue hormones (visfatin, leptin, ASP and adiponectin) may contribute to the resolution of insulin resistance in the long term (427). Bariatric surgery (specifically, BPD with duodenal switch) rapidly corrects ASP and C3 (within days) which is then associated with early improvement of insulin and glucose metabolism long before significant weight loss has occurred, it also improves or cures hypertension and corrects dyslipidemia (343)(428). Optimal results for the remission of obesity-related complications after bariatric surgery will occur especially if patients who are best suited to the surgery are identified. Therefore, to be able to make such decisions, we need preoperative information on the association between possible predictors and outcome. Duration of diabetes was the best predictor of success after gastric bypass surgery in Asian patients (429). Pre-surgery β -cell glucose sensitivity and meal-stimulated GLP-1 response were the only predictors of remission after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy (430). C-peptide is also proposed as a predictor for remission of type 2 diabetes after bariatric surgery. Thus, bariatric surgery is recommended for obesity-related T2DM patients with elevated C-peptide (431). In addition, it has been shown that preoperative adiponectin concentrations may be predictive of the extent of weight loss, and both the changes in ASP and adiponectin are predictive of decreased apolipoprotein B and improved insulin action, respectively (343).

In chapter 5 we have shown that in the pre-operative state, increased C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio was associated with lower BMI, apoB and liver enzymes, and yet higher apoA1. Further, higher values of hepatic C5L2/C5aR ratio were associated with greater relative weight loss, greater decreases in fasting triglyceride and lower liver enzymes both before surgery and over the follow-up. Overall, these data suggest that a high hepatic C5L2/C5aR mRNA ratio is a beneficial feature, but the specific functional roles of C5L2 and C5aR in relation to lipid metabolism in the liver remains to be elucidated.

6.7 Conclusion

ASP and its receptor C5L2 are important factors in the regulation of fat metabolism. ASP responds differently according to gender, ethnicity, metabolic disorder, sex hormone levels and diet composition. It acts as a key factor in the crossroad of adipo-hepatic axis, reproductive hormones and inflammation which are determinants of obesity and obesity consequences. This thesis favors a need for a conceptual shift from adipose tissue mass (defined as obesity) to adipose tissue function

Bibliography

- 1. Ogden CL, Fryar CD, Carroll MD, Flegal KM. Mean body weight, height, and body mass index, United States 1960-2002. Adv Data. 2004 Oct 27;(347):1–17.
- 2. Marlowe FW. Hunter-gatherers and human evolution. Evol Anthropol Issues, News, Rev. 2005 Apr 13;14(2):54–67.
- 3. Wang T, Hung CCY, Randall DJ. The comparative physiology of food deprivation: from feast to famine. Annu Rev Physiol. Annual Reviews; 2006 Jan 6;68:223–51.
- 4. McArdle WD. Exercise Physiology: Energy, Nutrition, and Human Performance. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2007.
- 5. Schoeller D a. The energy balance equation: looking back and looking forward are two very different views. Nutr Rev. 2009 May;67(5):249–54.
- 6. Close RN, Schoeller DA, Watras AC, Nora EH. Conjugated linoleic acid supplementation alters the 6-mo change in fat oxidation during sleep. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007 Sep;86(3):797–804.
- 7. Mattes RD, Kris-Etherton PM, Foster GD. Impact of peanuts and tree nuts on body weight and healthy weight loss in adults. J Nutr. 2008 Sep;138(9):1741S–1745S.
- 8. Hall KD, Heymsfield SB, Kemnitz JW, Klein S, Schoeller D a, Speakman JR. Energy balance and its components: implications for body weight regulation. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012 Apr;95(4):989–94.
- 9. Ross AC. Modern Nutrition in Health and Disease, 11th Ed. Lippincott Williams & amp; Wilkins; 11 edition; 2012.
- 10. Stiegler P, Cunliffe A. The role of diet and exercise for the maintenance of fat-free mass and resting metabolic rate during weight loss. Sports Med. 2006 Jan;36(3):239–62.
- 11. Lee M-J, Wu Y, Fried SK. Adipose tissue heterogeneity: implication of depot differences in adipose tissue for obesity complications. Mol Aspects Med. 2013 Feb;34(1):1–11.
- 12. Lenard NR, Berthoud H-R. Central and peripheral regulation of food intake and physical activity: pathways and genes. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2008 Dec;16 Suppl 3:S11–22.

- 13. Rui L. Brain regulation of energy balance and body weight. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2013 Dec;14(4):387–407.
- 14. Plata-Salamán CR. Regulation of hunger and satiety in man. Dig Dis. 1991 Jan;9(5):253-68.
- 15. Garcia-Garcia RM. Integrative control of energy balance and reproduction in females. ISRN Vet Sci. 2012 Jan;2012:121389.
- 16. Obesity, The Metabolic Disease | Ethicon [Internet]. [cited 2014 Mar 28]. Available from: http://77.246.41.16/obesity/obesity-overview
- 17. Appropriate body-mass index for Asian populations and its implications for policy and intervention strategies. Lancet. 2004 Jan 10;363(9403):157–63.
- Bei-Fan Z. Predictive values of body mass index and waist circumference for risk factors of certain related diseases in Chinese adults: study on optimal cut-off points of body mass index and waist circumference in Chinese adults. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 2002 Dec;11 Suppl 8:S685–93.
- 19. Kanazawa M, Yoshiike N, Osaka T, Numba Y, Zimmet P, Inoue S. Criteria and classification of obesity in Japan and Asia-Oceania. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 2002 Dec;11(s8):S732–S737.
- 20. Bastien M, Poirier P, Lemieux I, Després J-P. Overview of epidemiology and contribution of obesity to cardiovascular disease. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 56(4):369–81.
- 21. WHO global status report 2010 [Internet]. [cited 2014 Mar 28]. Available from: http://www.who.int/nmh/publications/ncd_report_full_en.pdf
- 22. IOTF REPORT 2010 [Internet]. [cited 2014 Apr 1]. Available from: http://www.worldobesity.org/site_media/uploads/IOTF_Strategic_Plan_-_August_2010_11_08_10_pdf.pdf
- 23. Monasta L, Lobstein T, Cole TJ, Vignerová J, Cattaneo A. Defining overweight and obesity in pre-school children: IOTF reference or WHO standard? Obes Rev. 2011 Apr;12(4):295–300.
- 24. Williams G, Gema F. Obesity: science to practice [Internet]. [cited 2014 Mar 30]. Available from: http://ca.wiley.com/WileyCDA/WileyTitle/productCd-0470019115,subjectCd-HE80.html
- 25. Kelly T, Yang W, Chen C-S, Reynolds K, He J. Global burden of obesity in 2005 and projections to 2030. Int J Obes (Lond). 2008 Sep;32(9):1431–7.

- 26. Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Ogden CL. Prevalence of obesity and trends in the distribution of body mass index among US adults, 1999-2010. JAMA. 2012 Feb 1;307(5):491–7.
- 27. Fitzgerald KR. Review of article: Prevalence of obesity and trends in the distribution of body mass index among US adults, 1999-2010 by Katherine M. Flegal, PhD; Margaret D. Carroll, MSPH; Brian K. Kit, MD; Cynthia L. Ogden, PhD (JAMA 2012;307:491-7). J Vasc Nurs. 2013 Sep;31(3):131–2.
- 28. Janssen I. The public health burden of obesity in Canada. Can J diabetes. 2013 Apr;37(2):90-6.
- 29. Von Ruesten A, Steffen A, Floegel A, van der A DL, Masala G, Tjønneland A, et al. Trend in obesity prevalence in European adult cohort populations during follow-up since 1996 and their predictions to 2015. PLoS One. 2011 Jan;6(11):e27455.
- 30. Barton M. Childhood obesity: a life-long health risk. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2012 Mar;33(2):189-93.
- 31. Bessesen DH. Regulation of body weight: what is the regulated parameter? Physiol Behav. 2011 Sep 26;104(4):599–607.
- 32. Farooqi IS, O'Rahilly S. Genetic factors in human obesity. Obes Rev. 2007 Mar;8 Suppl 1:37–40.
- 33. Wu Q, Suzuki M. Parental obesity and overweight affect the body-fat accumulation in the offspring: the possible effect of a high-fat diet through epigenetic inheritance. Obes Rev. 2006 May;7(2):201–8.
- 34. Chen H, Simar D, Lambert K, Mercier J, Morris MJ. Maternal and postnatal overnutrition differentially impact appetite regulators and fuel metabolism. Endocrinology. 2008 Nov;149(11):5348–56.
- 35. Martin J, Smith J, Bastien M, Cianflone K, Bussières J, Marceau S, et al. Comparison between arterial and venous sampling of circulating hormones, substrates and peptides in severe obesity. Clin Invest Med. 2011 Jan;34(2):E82–7.
- 36. Smith J, Cianflone K, Biron S, Hould FS, Lebel S, Marceau S, et al. Effects of maternal surgical weight loss in mothers on intergenerational transmission of obesity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009 Nov;94(11):4275–83.
- Montague CT, Farooqi IS, Whitehead JP, Soos MA, Rau H, Wareham NJ, et al. Congenital leptin deficiency is associated with severe early-onset obesity in humans. Nature. 1997 Jun 26;387(6636):903–8.

- Clément K, Vaisse C, Lahlou N, Cabrol S, Pelloux V, Cassuto D, et al. A mutation in the human leptin receptor gene causes obesity and pituitary dysfunction. Nature. 1998 Mar 26;392(6674):398–401.
- 39. Goldstone AP, Beales PL. Genetic obesity syndromes. Front Horm Res. 2008 Jan;36:37-60.
- 40. Sjöstrand M, Eriksson JW. Neuroendocrine mechanisms in insulin resistance. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2009 Jan 15;297(1-2):104–11.
- 41. Keith SW, Redden DT, Katzmarzyk PT, Boggiano MM, Hanlon EC, Benca RM, et al. Putative contributors to the secular increase in obesity: exploring the roads less traveled. Int J Obes (Lond). 2006 Nov;30(11):1585–94.
- 42. Maury E, Brichard SM. Adipokine dysregulation, adipose tissue inflammation and metabolic syndrome. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2010 Jan 15;314(1):1–16.
- 43. Rolls ET. Brain mechanisms that analyse umami taste and their relation to the control of feeding. Forum Nutr. 2003 Jan;56:84–7.
- 44. Maliphol AB, Garth DJ, Medler KF. Diet-induced obesity reduces the responsiveness of the peripheral taste receptor cells. PLoS One. 2013 Jan;8(11):e79403.
- 45. Jaillard T, Roger M, Galinier A, Guillou P, Benani A, Leloup C, et al. Hypothalamic reactive oxygen species are required for insulin-induced food intake inhibition: an NADPH oxidase-dependent mechanism. Diabetes. 2009 Jul;58(7):1544–9.
- 46. Archer E, Blair SN. Physical activity and the prevention of cardiovascular disease: from evolution to epidemiology. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 53(6):387–96.
- 47. Prevalence of Regular Physical Activity Among Adults --- United States, 2001 and 2005 [Internet]. [cited 2014 Mar 30]. Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5646a1.htm
- 48. Gabbard C. The Need for Quality Physical Education. J Sch Nurs. 2001 Apr 1;17(2):73–5.
- 49. Andersen RE, Crespo CJ, Bartlett SJ, Cheskin LJ, Pratt M. Relationship of physical activity and television watching with body weight and level of fatness among children: results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. JAMA. 1998 Mar 25;279(12):938–42.
- 50. Aronne LJ, Segal KR. Weight gain in the treatment of mood disorders. J Clin Psychiatry. 2003 Jan;64 Suppl 8:22–9.
- 51. Kanoski SE, Davidson TL. Western diet consumption and cognitive impairment: links to hippocampal dysfunction and obesity. Physiol Behav. 2011 Apr 18;103(1):59–68.
- 52. Fernández-Quintela A, Churruca I, Portillo MP. The role of dietary fat in adipose tissue metabolism. Public Health Nutr. 2007 Oct;10(10A):1126–31.
- 53. Stanhope KL. Role of fructose-containing sugars in the epidemics of obesity and metabolic syndrome. Annu Rev Med. 2012 Jan;63:329–43.
- 54. Willett WC. Dietary fat plays a major role in obesity: no. Obes Rev. 2002 May;3(2):59-68.
- 55. Astrup A, Ryan L, Grunwald GK, Storgaard M, Saris W, Melanson E, et al. The role of dietary fat in body fatness: evidence from a preliminary meta-analysis of ad libitum low-fat dietary intervention studies. Br J Nutr. 2000 Mar;83 Suppl 1:S25–32.
- 56. Dietary Guidelines for Americans 2010 [Internet]. [cited 2014 Mar 30]. Available from: http://www.cnpp.usda.gov/Publications/DietaryGuidelines/2010/PolicyDoc/PolicyD oc.pdf
- 57. Hooper L, Abdelhamid A, Moore HJ, Douthwaite W, Skeaff CM, Summerbell CD. Effect of reducing total fat intake on body weight: systematic review and metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials and cohort studies. BMJ. 2012 Jan;345:e7666.
- 58. Field AE, Willett WC, Lissner L, Colditz GA. Dietary fat and weight gain among women in the Nurses' Health Study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2007 Apr;15(4):967–76.
- 59. Forouhi NG, Sharp SJ, Du H, van der A DL, Halkjaer J, Schulze MB, et al. Dietary fat intake and subsequent weight change in adults: results from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition cohorts. Am J Clin Nutr. 2009 Dec;90(6):1632–41.
- 60. Wang H, Troy LM, Rogers GT, Fox CS, McKeown NM, Meigs JB, et al. Longitudinal association between dairy consumption and changes of body weight and waist circumference: the Framingham Heart Study. Int J Obes (Lond). 2014 Feb;38(2):299–305.
- 61. Basciano H, Federico L, Adeli K. Fructose, insulin resistance, and metabolic dyslipidemia. Nutr Metab (Lond). 2005 Feb 21;2(1):5.
- 62. Cummings JH, Stephen AM. Carbohydrate terminology and classification. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2007 Dec;61 Suppl 1:S5–18.

- 63. Howard B V, Manson JE, Stefanick ML, Beresford SA, Frank G, Jones B, et al. Low-fat dietary pattern and weight change over 7 years: the Women's Health Initiative Dietary Modification Trial. JAMA. 2006 Jan 4;295(1):39–49.
- 64. Halkjaer J, Tjønneland A, Thomsen BL, Overvad K, Sørensen TIA. Intake of macronutrients as predictors of 5-y changes in waist circumference. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006 Oct;84(4):789–97.
- 65. Tappy L, Lê K-A. Metabolic effects of fructose and the worldwide increase in obesity. Physiol Rev. 2010 Jan;90(1):23–46.
- 66. Tappy L, Lê K-A. Metabolic effects of fructose and the worldwide increase in obesity. Physiol Rev. 2010 Jan 1;90(1):23–46.
- 67. Lee BM, Wolever TM. Effect of glucose, sucrose and fructose on plasma glucose and insulin responses in normal humans: comparison with white bread. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1998 Dec;52(12):924–8.
- 68. Bantle JP, Laine DC, Thomas JW. Metabolic effects of dietary fructose and sucrose in types I and II diabetic subjects. JAMA. 1986 Dec 19;256(23):3241–6.
- 69. Sievenpiper JL, de Souza RJ, Cozma AI, Chiavaroli L, Ha V, Mirrahimi A. Fructose vs. glucose and metabolism: do the metabolic differences matter? Curr Opin Lipidol. 2014 Feb;25(1):8–19.
- 70. Stanhope KL, Havel PJ. Endocrine and metabolic effects of consuming beverages sweetened with fructose, glucose, sucrose, or high-fructose corn syrup. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008 Dec;88(6):1733S-1737S.
- 71. Stanhope KL, Havel PJ. Fructose consumption: recent results and their potential implications. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010 Mar;1190:15–24.
- 72. Stanhope KL, Schwarz J-M, Havel PJ. Adverse metabolic effects of dietary fructose: results from the recent epidemiological, clinical, and mechanistic studies. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2013 Jun;24(3):198–206.
- 73. Johnson RK, Appel LJ, Brands M, Howard B V, Lefevre M, Lustig RH, et al. Dietary sugars intake and cardiovascular health: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2009 Sep 15;120(11):1011–20.
- 74. Ferder L, Ferder MD, Inserra F. The role of high-fructose corn syrup in metabolic syndrome and hypertension. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2010 Apr;12(2):105–12.
- 75. Malik VS, Hu FB. Sweeteners and Risk of Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes: The Role of Sugar-Sweetened Beverages. Curr Diab Rep. 2012 Jan 31;

- 76. Bray GA. Fructose: should we worry? Int J Obes (Lond). 2008 Dec;32 Suppl 7:S127-31.
- 77. Yon M a, Mauger SL, Pickavance LC. Relationships between dietary macronutrients and adult neurogenesis in the regulation of energy metabolism. Br J Nutr. 2013 May;109(9):1573–89.
- 78. Dubois L, Farmer A, Girard M, Peterson K. Regular sugar-sweetened beverage consumption between meals increases risk of overweight among preschool-aged children. J Am Diet Assoc. 2007 Jun;107(6):924–34; discussion 934–5.
- 79. Brown CM, Dulloo AG, Montani J-P. Sugary drinks in the pathogenesis of obesity and cardiovascular diseases. Int J Obes (Lond). 2008 Dec;32 Suppl 6:S28–34.
- 80. Bray GA. Soft drink consumption and obesity: it is all about fructose. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2010 Mar;21(1):51–7.
- 81. Funari VA, Crandall JE, Tolan DR. Fructose metabolism in the cerebellum. Cerebellum. 2007 Jan;6(2):130–40.
- 82. Van der Borght K, Köhnke R, Göransson N, Deierborg T, Brundin P, Erlanson-Albertsson C, et al. Reduced neurogenesis in the rat hippocampus following high fructose consumption. Regul Pept. 2011 Feb 25;167(1):26–30.
- 83. Bocarsly ME, Powell ES, Avena NM, Hoebel BG. High-fructose corn syrup causes characteristics of obesity in rats: increased body weight, body fat and triglyceride levels. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 2010 Nov;97(1):101–6.
- 84. Sheludiakova A, Rooney K, Boakes RA. Metabolic and behavioural effects of sucrose and fructose/glucose drinks in the rat. Eur J Nutr. 2012 Jun;51(4):445–54.
- 85. Lovejoy JC, Sainsbury a. Sex differences in obesity and the regulation of energy homeostasis. Obes Rev. 2009 Mar;10(2):154–67.
- 86. Tchernof A, Després J-P. Pathophysiology of human visceral obesity: an update. Physiol Rev. 2013 Jan;93(1):359–404.
- Tooze JA, Schoeller DA, Subar AF, Kipnis V, Schatzkin A, Troiano RP. Total daily energy expenditure among middle-aged men and women: the OPEN Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007 Aug;86(2):382–7.
- Johnstone AM, Murison SD, Duncan JS, Rance KA, Speakman JR. Factors influencing variation in basal metabolic rate include fat-free mass, fat mass, age, and circulating thyroxine but not sex, circulating leptin, or triiodothyronine. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005 Nov;82(5):941–8.

- 89. R Roubenoff VAH. The effect of gender and body composition method on the apparent decline in lean mass-adjusted resting metabolic rate with age. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2000;55(12):757 60.
- 90. Paul DR, Novotny JA, Rumpler W V. Effects of the interaction of sex and food intake on the relation between energy expenditure and body composition. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004 Mar;79(3):385–9.
- 91. Shen W, Punyanitya M, Wang Z, Gallagher D, St-Onge M-P, Albu J, et al. Total body skeletal muscle and adipose tissue volumes: estimation from a single abdominal cross-sectional image. J Appl Physiol. 2004 Dec;97(6):2333–8.
- 92. Westerterp KR, Goran MI. Relationship between physical activity related energy expenditure and body composition: a gender difference. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1997 Mar;21(3):184–8.
- 93. Westerterp KR, Meijer GA, Janssen EM, Saris WH, Ten Hoor F. Long-term effect of physical activity on energy balance and body composition. Br J Nutr. 1992 Jul;68(1):21–30.
- 94. Couillard C, Bergeron N, Prud'homme D, Bergeron J, Tremblay A, Bouchard C, et al. Gender difference in postprandial lipemia : importance of visceral adipose tissue accumulation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1999 Oct;19(10):2448–55.
- 95. Blackburn P, Lamarche B, Couillard C, Pascot A, Tremblay A, Bergeron J, et al. Contribution of Visceral Adiposity to the Exaggerated Postprandial Lipemia of Men With Impaired Glucose Tolerance. Diabetes Care. 2003 Dec 1;26(12):3303–9.
- 96. Godsland IF, Wynn V, Crook D, Miller NE. Sex, plasma lipoproteins, and atherosclerosis: prevailing assumptions and outstanding questions. Am Heart J. 1987 Dec;114(6):1467–503.
- 97. Nimitphong H, Phongkitkarun S, Rattarasarn C, Kongsooksai A, Chanprasertyothin S, Bunnag P-A, et al. Hepatic fat content is a determinant of postprandial triglyceride levels in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with normal fasting triglyceride. Metabolism. 2008 May;57(5):644–9.
- Kim HJ, Kim HJ, Lee KE, Kim DJ, Kim SK, Ahn CW, et al. Metabolic significance of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in nonobese, nondiabetic adults. Arch Intern Med. 2004 Oct 25;164(19):2169–75.
- 99. Westerveld HT, Meyer E, de Bruin TW, Erkelens DW. Oestrogens and postprandial lipid metabolism. Biochem Soc Trans. 1997 Mar;25(1):45–9.
- 100. Tchernof A, Després J-P. Pathophysiology of human visceral obesity: an update. Physiol Rev. 2013 Jan 1;93(1):359–404.

- Tchoukalova YD, Koutsari C, Karpyak M V, Votruba SB, Wendland E, Jensen MD. Subcutaneous adipocyte size and body fat distribution. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008 Jan;87(1):56–63.
- 102. Snijder MB, Dekker JM, Visser M, Bouter LM, Stehouwer CDA, Yudkin JS, et al. Trunk fat and leg fat have independent and opposite associations with fasting and postload glucose levels: the Hoorn study. Diabetes Care. 2004 Mar;27(2):372–7.
- Adiels M, Taskinen M-R, Packard C, Caslake MJ, Soro-Paavonen A, Westerbacka J, et al. Overproduction of large VLDL particles is driven by increased liver fat content in man. Diabetologia. 2006 Apr;49(4):755–65.
- 104. Heilbronn L, Smith SR, Ravussin E. Failure of fat cell proliferation, mitochondrial function and fat oxidation results in ectopic fat storage, insulin resistance and type II diabetes mellitus. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2004 Dec;28 Suppl 4:S12–21.
- 105. Roden M. Mechanisms of Disease: hepatic steatosis in type 2 diabetes--pathogenesis and clinical relevance. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab. 2006 Jun;2(6):335–48.
- 106. Kantartzis K, Rittig K, Balletshofer B, Machann J, Schick F, Porubska K, et al. The relationships of plasma adiponectin with a favorable lipid profile, decreased inflammation, and less ectopic fat accumulation depend on adiposity. Clin Chem. 2006 Oct;52(10):1934–42.
- 107. Kotani K, Tokunaga K, Fujioka S, Kobatake T, Keno Y, Yoshida S, et al. Sexual dimorphism of age-related changes in whole-body fat distribution in the obese. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1994 Apr;18(4):207–2.
- Piché M-È, Martin J, Cianflone K, Bastien M, Marceau S, Biron S, et al. Changes in predicted cardiovascular disease risk after biliopancreatic diversion surgery in severely obese patients. Metabolism. 2014 Jan;63(1):79–86.
- Krotkiewski M, Björntorp P, Sjöström L, Smith U. Impact of obesity on metabolism in men and women. Importance of regional adipose tissue distribution. J Clin Invest. 1983 Sep;72(3):1150–62.
- 110. Moran A, Jacobs DR, Steinberger J, Steffen LM, Pankow JS, Hong C-P, et al. Changes in insulin resistance and cardiovascular risk during adolescence: establishment of differential risk in males and females. Circulation. 2008 May 6;117(18):2361–8.
- 111. Asarian L, Geary N. Modulation of appetite by gonadal steroid hormones. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2006 Jul 29;361(1471):1251–63.
- 112. Clegg DJ, Brown LM, Woods SC, Benoit SC. Gonadal hormones determine sensitivity to central leptin and insulin. Diabetes. 2006 Apr;55(4):978–87.

- 113. Jones ME, Thorburn AW, Britt KL, Hewitt KN, Wreford NG, Proietto J, et al. Aromatase-deficient (ArKO) mice have a phenotype of increased adiposity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000 Nov 7;97(23):12735–40.
- 114. Simpson ER, Jones ME. Of mice and men: the many guises of estrogens. Ernst Schering Found Symp Proc. 2006 Jan;(1):45–67.
- 115. Rebuffé-Scrive M, Eldh J, Hafström LO, Björntorp P. Metabolism of mammary, abdominal, and femoral adipocytes in women before and after menopause. Metabolism. 1986 Sep;35(9):792–7.
- 116. Lindberg UB, Crona N, Silfverstolpe G, Björntorp P, Rebuffé-Scrive M. Regional adipose tissue metabolism in postmenopausal women after treatment with exogenous sex steroids. Horm Metab Res. 1990 Jun;22(6):345–51.
- 117. Després J-P, Lemieux I, Bergeron J, Pibarot P, Mathieu P, Larose E, et al. Abdominal obesity and the metabolic syndrome: contribution to global cardiometabolic risk. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2008 Jun;28(6):1039–49.
- 118. Relationship of body size and shape to the development of diabetes in the diabetes prevention program. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2006 Nov;14(11):2107–17.
- 119. Canoy D, Boekholdt SM, Wareham N, Luben R, Welch A, Bingham S, et al. Body fat distribution and risk of coronary heart disease in men and women in the European Prospective Investigation Into Cancer and Nutrition in Norfolk cohort: a populationbased prospective study. Circulation. 2007 Dec 18;116(25):2933–43.
- 120. Peverill RE, Teede HJ, Malan E, Kotsopoulos D, Smolich JJ, McGrath BP. Relationship of waist and hip circumference with coagulation and fibrinolysis in postmenopausal women. Clin Sci (Lond). 2007 Nov;113(9):383–91.
- 121. Hocking SL, Chisholm DJ, James DE. Studies of regional adipose transplantation reveal a unique and beneficial interaction between subcutaneous adipose tissue and the intra-abdominal compartment. Diabetologia. 2008 May;51(5):900–2.
- 122. Heitmann BL, Frederiksen P, Lissner L. Hip circumference and cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in men and women. Obes Res. 2004 Mar;12(3):482–7.
- 123. Garaulet M, Hernandez-Morante JJ, Lujan J, Tebar FJ, Zamora S. Relationship between fat cell size and number and fatty acid composition in adipose tissue from different fat depots in overweight/obese humans. Int J Obes (Lond). 2006 Jun;30(6):899–905.
- 124. Wajchenberg BL. Subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue: their relation to the metabolic syndrome. Endocr Rev. 2000 Dec;21(6):697–738.

- 125. Geer EB, Shen W. Gender differences in insulin resistance, body composition, and energy balance. Gend Med. 2009 Jan;6 Suppl 1:60–75.
- 126. Carr MC, Hokanson JE, Zambon A, Deeb SS, Barrett PH, Purnell JQ, et al. The contribution of intraabdominal fat to gender differences in hepatic lipase activity and low/high density lipoprotein heterogeneity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001 Jul;86(6):2831–7.
- 127. Kershaw EE, Flier JS. Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004 Jun;89(6):2548–56.
- 128. Jones ME, Thorburn AW, Britt KL, Hewitt KN, Misso ML, Wreford NG, et al. Aromatase-deficient (ArKO) mice accumulate excess adipose tissue. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2001 Dec;79(1-5):3–9.
- 129. Herrmann BL, Saller B, Janssen OE, Gocke P, Bockisch A, Sperling H, et al. Impact of estrogen replacement therapy in a male with congenital aromatase deficiency caused by a novel mutation in the CYP19 gene. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002 Dec;87(12):5476–84.
- 130. Carter S, McKenzie S, Mourtzakis M, Mahoney DJ, Tarnopolsky MA. Short-term 17beta-estradiol decreases glucose R(a) but not whole body metabolism during endurance exercise. J Appl Physiol. 2001 Jan;90(1):139–46.
- Louet J-F, LeMay C, Mauvais-Jarvis F. Antidiabetic actions of estrogen: insight from human and genetic mouse models. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 2004 May;6(3):180– 5.
- 132. Baba T, Shimizu T, Suzuki Y-I, Ogawara M, Isono K-I, Koseki H, et al. Estrogen, insulin, and dietary signals cooperatively regulate longevity signals to enhance resistance to oxidative stress in mice. J Biol Chem. 2005 May 22;280(16):16417–26.
- 133. D'Eon TM, Souza SC, Aronovitz M, Obin MS, Fried SK, Greenberg AS. Estrogen regulation of adiposity and fuel partitioning. Evidence of genomic and non-genomic regulation of lipogenic and oxidative pathways. J Biol Chem. 2005 Oct 28;280(43):35983–91.
- 134. Perrone G, Liu Y, Capri O, Critelli C, Barillaro F, Galoppi P, et al. Evaluation of the body composition and fat distribution in long-term users of hormone replacement therapy. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 1999 Jan;48(1):52–5.
- 135. Musatov S, Chen W, Pfaff DW, Mobbs C V, Yang X-J, Clegg DJ, et al. Silencing of estrogen receptor alpha in the ventromedial nucleus of hypothalamus leads to metabolic syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007 Mar 13;104(7):2501–6.

- 136. Ohlsson C, Hellberg N, Parini P, Vidal O, Bohlooly-Y M, Bohlooly M, et al. Obesity and disturbed lipoprotein profile in estrogen receptor-alpha-deficient male mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2000 Dec 30;278(3):640–5.
- 137. Okura T, Koda M, Ando F, Niino N, Ohta S, Shimokata H. Association of polymorphisms in the estrogen receptor alpha gene with body fat distribution. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2003 Sep;27(9):1020–7.
- 138. Pfeilschifter J, Köditz R, Pfohl M, Schatz H. Changes in proinflammatory cytokine activity after menopause. Endocr Rev. 2002 Mar;23(1):90–119.
- 139. Arenas IA, Armstrong SJ, Xu Y, Davidge ST. Chronic tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibition enhances NO modulation of vascular function in estrogen-deficient rats. Hypertension. 2005 Jul;46(1):76–81.
- 140. Steinberg GR. Inflammation in obesity is the common link between defects in fatty acid metabolism and insulin resistance. Cell Cycle. 2007 May 15;6(8):888–94.
- 141. Tworoger SS, Eliassen AH, Missmer SA, Baer H, Rich-Edwards J, Michels KB, et al. Birthweight and body size throughout life in relation to sex hormones and prolactin concentrations in premenopausal women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2006 Dec;15(12):2494–501.
- 142. Santoro N, Lasley B, McConnell D, Allsworth J, Crawford S, Gold EB, et al. Body size and ethnicity are associated with menstrual cycle alterations in women in the early menopausal transition: The Study of Women's Health across the Nation (SWAN) Daily Hormone Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004 Jul;89(6):2622–31.
- 143. Yeung EH, Zhang C, Albert PS, Mumford SL, Ye A, Perkins NJ, et al. Adiposity and sex hormones across the menstrual cycle: the BioCycle Study. Int J Obes (Lond). 2013 Mar;37(2):237–43.
- 144. Kalkhoff RK. Metabolic effects of progesterone. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1982 Mar 15;142(6 Pt 2):735-8.
- 145. O'Brien SN, Welter BH, Mantzke KA, Price TM. Identification of progesterone receptor in human subcutaneous adipose tissue. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1998 Mar;83(2):509–13.
- 146. Gray JM, Wade GN. Cytoplasmic estrogen, but not progestin, binding sites in male rat adipose tissues. Am J Physiol. 1980 Oct;239(4):E237–E241.
- 147. Pedersen SB, Kristensen K, Richelsen B. Anti-glucocorticoid effects of progesterone in vivo on rat adipose tissue metabolism. Steroids. 2003 Aug;68(6):543–50.

- 148. Lacasa D, Le Liepvre X, Ferre P, Dugail I. Progesterone stimulates adipocyte determination and differentiation 1/sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1c gene expression. potential mechanism for the lipogenic effect of progesterone in adipose tissue. J Biol Chem. 2001 May 13;276(15):11512–6.
- 149. Björntorp P. Hormonal control of regional fat distribution. Hum Reprod. 1997 Oct;12 Suppl 1:21–5.
- 150. Zhang Y, Nadeau M, Faucher F, Lescelleur O, Biron S, Daris M, et al. Progesterone metabolism in adipose cells. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2009 Jan 27;298(1-2):76–83.
- 151. Hirschberg AL. Sex hormones, appetite and eating behaviour in women. Maturitas. 2012 Mar;71(3):248–56.
- 152. Wade GN, Schneider JE. Metabolic fuels and reproduction in female mammals. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 1992 Jan;16(2):235–72.
- 153. Kim S, Moustaid-Moussa N. Secretory, endocrine and autocrine/paracrine function of the adipocyte. J Nutr. 2000 Dec;130(12):3110S–3115S.
- 154. Vázquez-Vela MEF, Torres N, Tovar AR. White adipose tissue as endocrine organ and its role in obesity. Arch Med Res. 2008 Nov;39(8):715–28.
- 155. Samuel VT, Petersen KF, Shulman GI. Lipid-induced insulin resistance: unravelling the mechanism. Lancet. 2010 Jul 26;375(9733):2267–77.
- 156. Rosen ED, Spiegelman BM. Adipocytes as regulators of energy balance and glucose homeostasis. Nature. 2006 Dec 14;444(7121):847–53.
- 157. Trujillo ME, Scherer PE. Adipose tissue-derived factors: impact on health and disease. Endocr Rev. 2006 Dec;27(7):762–78.
- 158. Guerre-Millo M. Adipose tissue and adipokines: for better or worse. Diabetes Metab. 2004 Feb;30(1):13–9.
- 159. Klein S, Allison DB, Heymsfield SB, Kelley DE, Leibel RL, Nonas C, et al. Waist Circumference and Cardiometabolic Risk: a Consensus Statement from Shaping America's Health: Association for Weight Management and Obesity Prevention; NAASO, the Obesity Society; the American Society for Nutrition; and the American Diabetes Associat. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2007 May;15(5):1061–7.
- 160. Cao H. Adipocytokines in obesity and metabolic disease. J Endocrinol. 2014 Feb 1;220(2):T47–59.
- 161. Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation and metabolic disorders. Nature. 2006 Dec 14;444(7121):860–7.

- 162. Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest. 2003 Dec;112(12):1796–808.
- 163. Xu H, Barnes GT, Yang Q, Tan G, Yang D, Chou CJ, et al. Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. 2003 Dec;112(12):1821–30.
- 164. Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. J Clin Invest. 2007 Jan;117(1):175–84.
- 165. Strissel KJ, Stancheva Z, Miyoshi H, Perfield JW, DeFuria J, Jick Z, et al. Adipocyte death, adipose tissue remodeling, and obesity complications. Diabetes. 2007 Dec;56(12):2910–8.
- Cani PD, Amar J, Iglesias MA, Poggi M, Knauf C, Bastelica D, et al. Metabolic endotoxemia initiates obesity and insulin resistance. Diabetes. 2007 Jul;56(7):1761– 72.
- 167. Ye J, McGuinness OP. Inflammation during obesity is not all bad: evidence from animal and human studies. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2013 Mar 1;304(5):E466–77.
- Ye J, Keller JN. Regulation of energy metabolism by inflammation: a feedback response in obesity and calorie restriction. Aging (Albany NY). 2010 Jun;2(6):361–8.
- 169. Ye J, McGuinness OP. Inflammation during obesity is not all bad: evidence from animal and human studies. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2013 Mar 1;304(5):E466–77.
- 170. Friedman JM, Halaas JL. Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. Nature. 1998 Oct 22;395(6704):763–70.
- 171. Minokoshi Y, Kim Y-B, Peroni OD, Fryer LGD, Müller C, Carling D, et al. Leptin stimulates fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. Nature. 2002 Jan 17;415(6869):339–43.
- 172. Cohen P, Miyazaki M, Socci ND, Hagge-Greenberg A, Liedtke W, Soukas AA, et al. Role for stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 in leptin-mediated weight loss. Science. 2002 Jul 12;297(5579):240–3.
- 173. Kamohara S, Burcelin R, Halaas JL, Friedman JM, Charron MJ. Acute stimulation of glucose metabolism in mice by leptin treatment. Nature. 1997 Oct 25;389(6649):374–7.

- 174. St-Pierre J, Tremblay ML. Modulation of leptin resistance by protein tyrosine phosphatases. Cell Metab. 2012 Mar 7;15(3):292–7.
- 175. Bates SH, Stearns WH, Dundon TA, Schubert M, Tso AWK, Wang Y, et al. STAT3 signalling is required for leptin regulation of energy balance but not reproduction. Nature. 2003 Mar 20;421(6925):856–9.
- 176. Morton GJ, Gelling RW, Niswender KD, Morrison CD, Rhodes CJ, Schwartz MW. Leptin regulates insulin sensitivity via phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase signaling in mediobasal hypothalamic neurons. Cell Metab. 2005 Dec;2(6):411–20.
- 177. Matarese G, Carrieri PB, Montella S, De Rosa V, La Cava A. Leptin as a metabolic link to multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Neurol. 2010 Aug;6(8):455–61.
- 178. Zhang X, Zhang G, Zhang H, Karin M, Bai H, Cai D. Hypothalamic IKKbeta/NFkappaB and ER stress link overnutrition to energy imbalance and obesity. Cell. 2008 Oct 3;135(1):61–73.
- 179. Luukkaa V, Pesonen U, Huhtaniemi I, Lehtonen A, Tilvis R, Tuomilehto J, et al. Inverse correlation between serum testosterone and leptin in men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1998 Oct;83(9):3243–6.
- 180. Simon D, Charles MA, Lahlou N, Nahoul K, Oppert JM, Gouault-Heilmann M, et al. Androgen therapy improves insulin sensitivity and decreases leptin level in healthy adult men with low plasma total testosterone: a 3-month randomized placebocontrolled trial. Diabetes Care. 2001 Dec;24(12):2149–51.
- 181. Margetic S, Gazzola C, Pegg GG, Hill RA. Leptin: a review of its peripheral actions and interactions. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2002 Dec;26(11):1407–33.
- 182. Van Harmelen V, Reynisdottir S, Eriksson P, Thörne A, Hoffstedt J, Lönnqvist F, et al. Leptin secretion from subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue in women. Diabetes. 1998 Jul;47(6):913–7.
- Flier JS. Clinical review 94: What's in a name? In search of leptin's physiologic role. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1998 May;83(5):1407–13.
- 184. Flier JS. Obesity wars: molecular progress confronts an expanding epidemic. Cell. 2004 Jan 23;116(2):337–50.
- 185. Ebihara K, Ogawa Y, Masuzaki H, Shintani M, Miyanaga F, Aizawa-Abe M, et al. Transgenic overexpression of leptin rescues insulin resistance and diabetes in a mouse model of lipoatrophic diabetes. Diabetes. 2001 Jun;50(6):1440–8.

- 186. Otte C, Otte J-M, Strodthoff D, Bornstein SR, Fölsch UR, Mönig H, et al. Expression of leptin and leptin receptor during the development of liver fibrosis and cirrhosis. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes. 2004 Jan;112(1):10–7.
- 187. Anstee QM, Goldin RD. Mouse models in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and steatohepatitis research. Int J Exp Pathol. 2006 Mar;87(1):1–16.
- 188. Imajo K, Yoneda M, Kessoku T, Ogawa Y, Maeda S, Sumida Y, et al. Rodent models of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease/nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Int J Mol Sci. 2013 Jan;14(11):21833–57.
- 189. Scherer PE, Williams S, Fogliano M, Baldini G, Lodish HF. A novel serum protein similar to C1q, produced exclusively in adipocytes. J Biol Chem. 1995 Dec 10;270(45):26746–9.
- 190. Batterham RL, Cowley MA, Small CJ, Herzog H, Cohen MA, Dakin CL, et al. Gut hormone PYY(3-36) physiologically inhibits food intake. Nature. 2002 Aug 8;418(6898):650–4.
- 191. Yamauchi T, Kamon J, Waki H, Terauchi Y, Kubota N, Hara K, et al. The fatderived hormone adiponectin reverses insulin resistance associated with both lipoatrophy and obesity. Nat Med. 2001 Aug;7(8):941–6.
- 192. Berg AH, Combs TP, Du X, Brownlee M, Scherer PE. The adipocyte-secreted protein Acrp30 enhances hepatic insulin action. Nat Med. 2001 Aug;7(8):947–53.
- 193. Ma K, Cabrero A, Saha PK, Kojima H, Li L, Chang BH-J, et al. Increased beta oxidation but no insulin resistance or glucose intolerance in mice lacking adiponectin. J Biol Chem. 2002 Oct 20;277(38):34658–61.
- 194. Shibata R, Sato K, Pimentel DR, Takemura Y, Kihara S, Ohashi K, et al. Adiponectin protects against myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury through AMPK- and COX-2-dependent mechanisms. Nat Med. 2005 Oct;11(10):1096–103.
- 195. Yamauchi T, Kamon J, Ito Y, Tsuchida A, Yokomizo T, Kita S, et al. Cloning of adiponectin receptors that mediate antidiabetic metabolic effects. Nature. 2003 Jul 12;423(6941):762–9.
- 196. Yamauchi T, Nio Y, Maki T, Kobayashi M, Takazawa T, Iwabu M, et al. Targeted disruption of AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 causes abrogation of adiponectin binding and metabolic actions. Nat Med. 2007 Mar;13(3):332–9.
- 197. Liu J, Divoux A, Sun J, Zhang J, Clément K, Glickman JN, et al. Genetic deficiency and pharmacological stabilization of mast cells reduce diet-induced obesity and diabetes in mice. Nat Med. 2009 Aug;15(8):940–5.

- 198. Ryo M, Nakamura T, Kihara S, Kumada M, Shibazaki S, Takahashi M, et al. Adiponectin as a biomarker of the metabolic syndrome. Circ J. 2004 Dec;68(11):975–81.
- 199. Dastani Z, Hivert M-F, Timpson N, Perry JRB, Yuan X, Scott RA, et al. Novel loci for adiponectin levels and their influence on type 2 diabetes and metabolic traits: a multi-ethnic meta-analysis of 45,891 individuals. PLoS Genet. 2012 Jan;8(3):e1002607.
- 200. Xu A, Wang Y, Keshaw H, Xu LY, Lam KSL, Cooper GJS. The fat-derived hormone adiponectin alleviates alcoholic and nonalcoholic fatty liver diseases in mice. J Clin Invest. 2003 Jul;112(1):91–100.
- 201. Maeda N, Shimomura I, Kishida K, Nishizawa H, Matsuda M, Nagaretani H, et al. Diet-induced insulin resistance in mice lacking adiponectin/ACRP30. Nat Med. 2002 Jul;8(7):731–7.
- 202. Ouchi N, Kihara S, Funahashi T, Nakamura T, Nishida M, Kumada M, et al. Reciprocal association of C-reactive protein with adiponectin in blood stream and adipose tissue. Circulation. 2003 Mar 11;107(5):671–4.
- 203. Takemura Y, Ouchi N, Shibata R, Aprahamian T, Kirber MT, Summer RS, et al. Adiponectin modulates inflammatory reactions via calreticulin receptor-dependent clearance of early apoptotic bodies. J Clin Invest. 2007 Mar;117(2):375–86.
- 204. Okamoto Y, Kihara S, Ouchi N, Nishida M, Arita Y, Kumada M, et al. Adiponectin reduces atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circulation. 2002 Dec 26;106(22):2767–70.
- 205. Kobayashi H, Ouchi N, Kihara S, Walsh K, Kumada M, Abe Y, et al. Selective suppression of endothelial cell apoptosis by the high molecular weight form of adiponectin. Circ Res. 2004 Mar 5;94(4):e27–31.
- 206. Cnop M, Havel PJ, Utzschneider KM, Carr DB, Sinha MK, Boyko EJ, et al. Relationship of adiponectin to body fat distribution, insulin sensitivity and plasma lipoproteins: evidence for independent roles of age and sex. Diabetologia. 2003 Apr;46(4):459–69.
- 207. Salas-Salvadó J, Granada M, Bulló M, Corominas A, Casas P, Foz M. Plasma adiponectin distribution in a Mediterranean population and its association with cardiovascular risk factors and metabolic syndrome. Metabolism. 2007 Dec;56(11):1486–92.
- 208. Nishizawa H, Shimomura I, Kishida K, Maeda N, Kuriyama H, Nagaretani H, et al. Androgens decrease plasma adiponectin, an insulin-sensitizing adipocyte-derived protein. Diabetes. 2002 Oct;51(9):2734–41.

- 209. Bugianesi E, McCullough AJ, Marchesini G. Insulin resistance: a metabolic pathway to chronic liver disease. Hepatology. 2005 Nov;42(5):987–1000.
- 210. Paschos P, Paletas K. Non alcoholic fatty liver disease and metabolic syndrome. Hippokratia. 2009 Jan;13(1):9–19.
- 211. Targher G, Bertolini L, Rodella S, Zoppini G, Scala L, Zenari L, et al. Associations between plasma adiponectin concentrations and liver histology in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2006 Jun;64(6):679–83.
- 212. Kaser S, Moschen A, Cayon A, Kaser A, Crespo J, Pons-Romero F, et al. Adiponectin and its receptors in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. Gut. 2005 Jan;54(1):117–21.
- 213. Cianflone K, Rodriguez MA, Walsh M, Vu H, Sniderman AD. The effect of a plasma protein fraction on lipid synthesis in cultured skin fibroblasts from normals and patients with hyperapobetalipoproteinemia. Clin Invest Med. 1988 May;11(2):99–107.
- 214. Baldo A, Sniderman AD, St-Luce S, Avramoglu RK, Maslowska M, Hoang B, et al. The adipsin-acylation stimulating protein system and regulation of intracellular triglyceride synthesis. J Clin Invest. 1993 Oct;92(3):1543–7.
- 215. Cianflone K, Xia Z, Chen LY. Critical review of acylation-stimulating protein physiology in humans and rodents. Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr. 2003 Jan;1609(2):127–43.
- 216. Maslowska M, Vu H, Phelis S, Sniderman AD, Rhode BM, Blank D, et al. Plasma acylation stimulating protein, adipsin and lipids in non-obese and obese populations. Eur J Clin Invest. 1999 Aug;29(8):679–86.
- 217. Cianflone K, Kalant D, Marliss EB, Gougeon R, Sniderman AD. Response of plasma ASP to a prolonged fast. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1995 Sep;19(9):604–9.
- 218. Wu Y, Zhang J, Wen Y, Wang H, Zhang M, Cianflone K. Increased acylationstimulating protein, C-reactive protein, and lipid levels in young women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril. 2009 Jan;91(1):213–9.
- 219. Meijssen S, van Dijk H, Verseyden C, Erkelens DW, Cabezas MC. Delayed and exaggerated postprandial complement component 3 response in familial combined hyperlipidemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2002 May 1;22(5):811–6.
- 220. Maslowska M, Wang HW, Cianflone K. Novel roles for acylation stimulating protein/C3adesArg: a review of recent in vitro and in vivo evidence. Vitam Horm. 2005 Jan;70:309–32.

- 221. Faraj M, Sniderman AD, Cianflone K. ASP enhances in situ lipoprotein lipase activity by increasing fatty acid trapping in adipocytes. J Lipid Res. 2004 Apr;45(4):657–66.
- 222. Van Harmelen V, Reynisdottir S, Cianflone K, Degerman E, Hoffstedt J, Nilsell K, et al. Mechanisms involved in the regulation of free fatty acid release from isolated human fat cells by acylation-stimulating protein and insulin. J Biol Chem. 1999 Jun 25;274(26):18243–51.
- 223. Ohno M, Hirata T, Enomoto M, Araki T, Ishimaru H, Takahashi TA. A putative chemoattractant receptor, C5L2, is expressed in granulocyte and immature dendritic cells, but not in mature dendritic cells. Mol Immunol. 2000 Jun;37(8):407–12.
- 224. Zhang X, Schmudde I, Laumonnier Y, Pandey MK, Clark JR, König P, et al. A critical role for C5L2 in the pathogenesis of experimental allergic asthma. J Immunol. 2010 Dec 1;185(11):6741–52.
- 225. Poursharifi P, Rezvani R, Gupta A, Lapointe M, Marceau P, Tchernof A, et al. Association of Immune and Metabolic Receptors C5aR and C5L2 with Adiposity in Women. Mediators Inflamm. 2014 Jan;2014:413921.
- 226. Fisette A, Cianflone K. The ASP and C5L2 pathway: another bridge between inflammation and metabolic homeostasis. Clin Lipidol. Future Medicine Ltd London, UK; 2010 Jun 17;5(3):367–77.
- 227. Roy C, Paglialunga S, Fisette A, Schrauwen P, Moonen-Kornips E, St-Onge J, et al. Shift in metabolic fuel in acylation-stimulating protein-deficient mice following a high-fat diet. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2008 Jun;294(6):E1051–9.
- 228. Xia Z, Stanhope KL, Digitale E, Simion O-M, Chen L, Havel P, et al. Acylationstimulating protein (ASP)/complement C3adesArg deficiency results in increased energy expenditure in mice. J Biol Chem. 2004 Feb 6;279(6):4051–7.
- 229. Fisette A, Lapointe M, Cianflone K. Obesity-inducing diet promotes acylation stimulating protein resistance. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2013 Aug 2;437(3):403–7.
- 230. Fisette A, Munkonda MN, Oikonomopoulou K, Paglialunga S, Lambris JD, Cianflone K. C5L2 receptor disruption enhances the development of diet-induced insulin resistance in mice. Immunobiology. 2013 Jan;218(1):127–33.
- 231. Gao H, Neff TA, Guo R-F, Speyer CL, Sarma JV, Tomlins S, et al. Evidence for a functional role of the second C5a receptor C5L2. FASEB J. 2005 Jun;19(8):1003–5.

- 232. Gerard NP, Lu B, Liu P, Craig S, Fujiwara Y, Okinaga S, et al. An antiinflammatory function for the complement anaphylatoxin C5a-binding protein, C5L2. J Biol Chem. 2005 Dec 2;280(48):39677–80.
- 233. Paglialunga S, Schrauwen P, Roy C, Moonen-Kornips E, Lu H, Hesselink MKC, et al. Reduced adipose tissue triglyceride synthesis and increased muscle fatty acid oxidation in C5L2 knockout mice. J Endocrinol. 2007 Aug;194(2):293–304.
- 234. Saleh J, Blevins JE, Havel PJ, Barrett JA, Gietzen DW, Cianflone K. Acylation stimulating protein (ASP) acute effects on postprandial lipemia and food intake in rodents. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2001 May;25(5):705–13.
- 235. Wellen KE, Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation, stress, and diabetes. J Clin Invest. American Society for Clinical Investigation; 2005 May 2;115(5):1111–9.
- 236. Bastard J-P, Maachi M, Lagathu C, Kim MJ, Caron M, Vidal H, et al. Recent advances in the relationship between obesity, inflammation, and insulin resistance. Eur Cytokine Netw. 2006 Mar;17(1):4–12.
- 237. Köhl J. The role of complement in danger sensing and transmission. Immunol Res. 2006 Jan;34(2):157–76.
- 238. Phieler J, Garcia-Martin R, Lambris JD, Chavakis T. The role of the complement system in metabolic organs and metabolic diseases. Semin Immunol. 2013 Feb;25(1):47–53.
- 239. Harboe M, Mollnes TE. The alternative complement pathway revisited. J Cell Mol Med. 2008 Aug;12(4):1074–84.
- 240. Haas P-J, van Strijp J. Anaphylatoxins: their role in bacterial infection and inflammation. Immunol Res. 2007 Jan;37(3):161–75.
- 241. Klos A, Tenner AJ, Johswich K-O, Ager RR, Reis ES, Köhl J. The role of the anaphylatoxins in health and disease. Mol Immunol. 2009 Sep;46(14):2753–66.
- 242. Kim DD, Song W-C. Membrane complement regulatory proteins. Clin Immunol. 118(2-3):127–36.
- 243. Kalant D, MacLaren R, Cui W, Samanta R, Monk PN, Laporte SA, et al. C5L2 is a functional receptor for acylation-stimulating protein. J Biol Chem. 2005 Jun 24;280(25):23936–44.
- 244. Bamberg CE, Mackay CR, Lee H, Zahra D, Jackson J, Lim YS, et al. The C5a receptor (C5aR) C5L2 is a modulator of C5aR-mediated signal transduction. J Biol Chem. 2010 Mar 5;285(10):7633–44.

- 245. Chen N-J, Mirtsos C, Suh D, Lu Y-C, Lin W-J, McKerlie C, et al. C5L2 is critical for the biological activities of the anaphylatoxins C5a and C3a. Nature. 2007 Mar 8;446(7132):203–7.
- 246. Poursharifi P, Lapointe M, Pétrin D, Devost D, Gauvreau D, Hébert TE, et al. C5L2 and C5aR interaction in adipocytes and macrophages: insights into adipoimmunology. Cell Signal. 2013 Apr;25(4):910–8.
- 247. Rittirsch D, Flierl MA, Ward PA. Harmful molecular mechanisms in sepsis. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008 Oct;8(10):776–87.
- 248. Bosmann M, Haggadone MD, Zetoune FS, Sarma JV, Ward PA. The interaction between C5a and both C5aR and C5L2 receptors is required for production of G-CSF during acute inflammation. Eur J Immunol. 2013 Jul;43(7):1907–13.
- 249. Cui W, Paglialunga S, Kalant D, Lu H, Roy C, Laplante M, et al. Acylationstimulating protein/C5L2-neutralizing antibodies alter triglyceride metabolism in vitro and in vivo. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2007 Dec;293(6):E1482–91.
- 250. Lim J, Iyer A, Suen JY, Seow V, Reid RC, Brown L, et al. C5aR and C3aR antagonists each inhibit diet-induced obesity, metabolic dysfunction, and adipocyte and macrophage signaling. FASEB J. 2013 Mar;27(2):822–31.
- 251. Roy C, Gupta A, Fisette A, Lapointe M, Poursharifi P, Richard D, et al. C5a receptor deficiency alters energy utilization and fat storage. PLoS One. 2013 Jan;8(5):e62531.
- 252. WHO | Overweight and obesity. World Health Organization;
- 253. Berrington de Gonzalez A, Hartge P, Cerhan JR, Flint AJ, Hannan L, MacInnis RJ, et al. Body-mass index and mortality among 1.46 million white adults. N Engl J Med. 2010 Dec 2;363(23):2211–9.
- 254. Whitlock G, Lewington S, Sherliker P, Clarke R, Emberson J, Halsey J, et al. Bodymass index and cause-specific mortality in 900 000 adults: collaborative analyses of 57 prospective studies. Lancet. 2009 Mar 28;373(9669):1083–96.
- 255. Simmons RK, Alberti KGMM, Gale EAM, Colagiuri S, Tuomilehto J, Qiao Q, et al. The metabolic syndrome: useful concept or clinical tool? Report of a WHO Expert Consultation. Diabetologia. 2010 May;53(4):600–5.
- 256. Klöting N, Fasshauer M, Dietrich A, Kovacs P, Schön MR, Kern M, et al. Insulinsensitive obesity. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2010 Oct;299(3):E506–15.
- 257. Vanuzzo D, Pilotto L, Mirolo R, Pirelli S. [Cardiovascular risk and cardiometabolic risk: an epidemiological evaluation]. G Ital Cardiol (Rome). 2008 May;9(4 Suppl 1):6S–17S.

- 258. Early J. Comprehensive management of cardiometabolic risk factors. Clin Cornerstone. 2007 Jan;8(3):69–80.
- 259. Huang PL. A comprehensive definition for metabolic syndrome. Dis Model Mech. 2(5-6):231–7.
- 260. Gupta A, Gupta V. Metabolic syndrome: what are the risks for humans? Biosci Trends. 2010 Oct;4(5):204–12.
- 261. Ritchie SA, Connell JMC. The link between abdominal obesity, metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2007 May;17(4):319–26.
- 262. Grundy SM, Brewer HB, Cleeman JI, Smith SC, Lenfant C. Definition of metabolic syndrome: report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute/American Heart Association conference on scientific issues related to definition. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004 Feb;24(2):e13–8.
- 263. Elks CM, Francis J. Central adiposity, systemic inflammation, and the metabolic syndrome. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2010 May;12(2):99–104.
- 264. Hoerger TJ, Ahmann AJ. The impact of diabetes and associated cardiometabolic risk factors on members: strategies for optimizing outcomes. J Manag Care Pharm. 2008 Feb;14(1 Suppl C):S2–14; quiz 15–6.
- 265. Tziomalos K, Athyros VG, Karagiannis A, Mikhailidis DP. Endothelial dysfunction in metabolic syndrome: prevalence, pathogenesis and management. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2010 Mar;20(2):140–6.
- 266. Ford ES. Risks for all-cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes associated with the metabolic syndrome: a summary of the evidence. Diabetes Care. 2005 Jul;28(7):1769–78.
- 267. Wilson PWF, D'Agostino RB, Parise H, Sullivan L, Meigs JB. Metabolic syndrome as a precursor of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Circulation. 2005 Nov 15;112(20):3066–72.
- 268. Gami AS, Witt BJ, Howard DE, Erwin PJ, Gami LA, Somers VK, et al. Metabolic syndrome and risk of incident cardiovascular events and death: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007 Jan 30;49(4):403–14.
- 269. Meshkani R, Adeli K. Hepatic insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease. Clin Biochem. 2009 Oct;42(13-14):1331–46.
- 270. Wang Z, Nakayama T. Inflammation, a link between obesity and cardiovascular disease. Mediators Inflamm. 2010 Jan;2010:535918.

- 271. Després J-P, Lemieux I. Abdominal obesity and metabolic syndrome. Nature. 2006 Dec 14;444(7121):881–7.
- 272. Duvnjak L, Duvnjak M. The metabolic syndrome an ongoing story. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2009 Dec;60 Suppl 7:19–24.
- 273. Dimmeler S, Fleming I, Fisslthaler B, Hermann C, Busse R, Zeiher AM. Activation of nitric oxide synthase in endothelial cells by Akt-dependent phosphorylation. Nature. 1999 Jul 10;399(6736):601–5.
- 274. Balkau B, Deanfield JE, Després J-P, Bassand J-P, Fox KAA, Smith SC, et al. International Day for the Evaluation of Abdominal Obesity (IDEA): a study of waist circumference, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes mellitus in 168,000 primary care patients in 63 countries. Circulation. 2007 Oct 23;116(17):1942–51.
- 275. Mathieu P, Lemieux I, Després J-P. Obesity, inflammation, and cardiovascular risk. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2010 Apr;87(4):407–16.
- Boyko EJ, Fujimoto WY, Leonetti DL, Newell-Morris L. Visceral adiposity and risk of type 2 diabetes: a prospective study among Japanese Americans. Diabetes Care. 2000 May;23(4):465–71.
- 277. Guerrero R, Vega GL, Grundy SM, Browning JD. Ethnic differences in hepatic steatosis: an insulin resistance paradox? Hepatology. 2009 Mar;49(3):791–801.
- 278. Carroll JF, Chiapa AL, Rodriquez M, Phelps DR, Cardarelli KM, Vishwanatha JK, et al. Visceral fat, waist circumference, and BMI: impact of race/ethnicity. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2008 Mar;16(3):600–7.
- 279. Preis SR, Massaro JM, Hoffmann U, D'Agostino RB, Levy D, Robins SJ, et al. Neck circumference as a novel measure of cardiometabolic risk: the Framingham Heart study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010 Aug;95(8):3701–10.
- 280. Matteoni CA, Younossi ZM, Gramlich T, Boparai N, Liu YC, McCullough AJ. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a spectrum of clinical and pathological severity. Gastroenterology. 1999 Jul;116(6):1413–9.
- 281. Lucey MR, Mathurin P, Morgan TR. Alcoholic hepatitis. N Engl J Med. 2009 Jul 25;360(26):2758–69.
- 282. Kotronen A, Yki-Järvinen H. Fatty liver: a novel component of the metabolic syndrome. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2008 Jan;28(1):27–38.
- 283. Kotronen A, Westerbacka J, Bergholm R, Pietiläinen KH, Yki-Järvinen H. Liver fat in the metabolic syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007 Oct;92(9):3490–7.

- 284. Postic C, Dentin R, Girard J. Role of the liver in the control of carbohydrate and lipid homeostasis. Diabetes Metab. 2004 Dec;30(5):398–408.
- 285. Fabbrini E, Magkos F, Mohammed BS, Pietka T, Abumrad NA, Patterson BW, et al. Intrahepatic fat, not visceral fat, is linked with metabolic complications of obesity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009 Oct 8;106(36):15430–5.
- 286. Liu J, Musani SK, Bidulescu A, Carr JJ, Wilson JG, Taylor HA, et al. Fatty liver, abdominal adipose tissue and atherosclerotic calcification in African Americans: the Jackson Heart Study. Atherosclerosis. 2012 Oct;224(2):521–5.
- 287. Deivanayagam S, Mohammed BS, Vitola BE, Naguib GH, Keshen TH, Kirk EP, et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is associated with hepatic and skeletal muscle insulin resistance in overweight adolescents. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008 Aug 1;88(2):257–62.
- 288. Després J-P. Body fat distribution and risk of cardiovascular disease: an update. Circulation. 2012 Sep 4;126(10):1301–13.
- 289. Barzilai N, Gupta G. Revisiting the role of fat mass in the life extension induced by caloric restriction. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 1999 Mar;54(3):B89–96; discussion B97–8.
- 290. Klein S, Fontana L, Young VL, Coggan AR, Kilo C, Patterson BW, et al. Absence of an effect of liposuction on insulin action and risk factors for coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med. 2004 Jul 17;350(25):2549–57.
- 291. Klein S. The case of visceral fat: argument for the defense. J Clin Invest. 2004 Jul;113(11):1530–2.
- 292. Donnelly KL, Smith CI, Schwarzenberg SJ, Jessurun J, Boldt MD, Parks EJ. Sources of fatty acids stored in liver and secreted via lipoproteins in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Invest. 2005 May;115(5):1343–51.
- 293. Phieler J, Garcia-Martin R, Lambris JD, Chavakis T. The role of the complement system in metabolic organs and metabolic diseases. Semin Immunol. 2013 Feb;25(1):47–53.
- 294. Bykov I, Junnikkala S, Pekna M, Lindros KO, Meri S. Complement C3 contributes to ethanol-induced liver steatosis in mice. Ann Med. 2006 Jan;38(4):280–6.
- 295. Pritchard MT, McMullen MR, Stavitsky AB, Cohen JI, Lin F, Medof ME, et al. Differential contributions of C3, C5, and decay-accelerating factor to ethanolinduced fatty liver in mice. Gastroenterology. 2007 Mar;132(3):1117–26.

- 296. Bykov I, Jauhiainen M, Olkkonen VM, Saarikoski ST, Ehnholm C, Junnikkala S, et al. Hepatic gene expression and lipid parameters in complement C3(-/-) mice that do not develop ethanol-induced steatosis. J Hepatol. 2007 May;46(5):907–14.
- 297. Cohen JI, Roychowdhury S, McMullen MR, Stavitsky AB, Nagy LE. Complement and alcoholic liver disease: role of C1q in the pathogenesis of ethanol-induced liver injury in mice. Gastroenterology. 2010 Aug;139(2):664–74, 674.e1.
- 298. Van Greevenbroek MMJ, Jacobs M, van der Kallen CJH, Vermeulen VMM-J, Jansen EHJM, Schalkwijk CG, et al. The cross-sectional association between insulin resistance and circulating complement C3 is partly explained by plasma alanine aminotransferase, independent of central obesity and general inflammation (the CODAM study). Eur J Clin Invest. 2011 May;41(4):372–9.
- 299. Yesilova Z, Ozata M, Oktenli C, Bagci S, Ozcan A, Sanisoglu SY, et al. Increased acylation stimulating protein concentrations in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease are associated with insulin resistance. Am J Gastroenterol. 2005 May;100(4):842–9.
- 300. Rensen SS, Slaats Y, Driessen A, Peutz-Kootstra CJ, Nijhuis J, Steffensen R, et al. Activation of the complement system in human nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology. 2009 Dec;50(6):1809–17.
- Sreekumar R, Rosado B, Rasmussen D, Charlton M. Hepatic gene expression in histologically progressive nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology. 2003 Jul;38(1):244–51.
- 302. Gregoire FM, Zhang Q, Smith SJ, Tong C, Ross D, Lopez H, et al. Diet-induced obesity and hepatic gene expression alterations in C57BL/6J and ICAM-1-deficient mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2002 Mar;282(3):E703–13.
- 303. He S, Atkinson C, Evans Z, Ellett JD, Southwood M, Elvington A, et al. A role for complement in the enhanced susceptibility of steatotic livers to ischemia and reperfusion injury. J Immunol. 2009 Oct 1;183(7):4764–72.
- 304. Michalopoulos GK. Liver Regeneration. Science (80-). 1997 Apr 4;276(5309):60-6.
- 305. He S, Atkinson C, Qiao F, Cianflone K, Chen X, Tomlinson S. A complementdependent balance between hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury and liver regeneration in mice. J Clin Invest. 2009 Aug;119(8):2304–16.
- 306. Strey CW, Markiewski M, Mastellos D, Tudoran R, Spruce LA, Greenbaum LE, et al. The proinflammatory mediators C3a and C5a are essential for liver regeneration. J Exp Med. 2003 Oct 15;198(6):913–23.

- 307. Markiewski MM, DeAngelis RA, Strey CW, Foukas PG, Gerard C, Gerard N, et al. The regulation of liver cell survival by complement. J Immunol. 2009 May 1;182(9):5412–8.
- 308. Clark A, Weymann A, Hartman E, Turmelle Y, Carroll M, Thurman JM, et al. Evidence for non-traditional activation of complement factor C3 during murine liver regeneration. Mol Immunol. 2008 Jul;45(11):3125–32.
- 309. Abu-Amara M, Yang SY, Tapuria N, Fuller B, Davidson B, Seifalian A. Liver ischemia/reperfusion injury: processes in inflammatory networks--a review. Liver Transpl. 2010 Oct;16(9):1016–32.
- 310. Ruderman NB, Schneider SH, Berchtold P. The "metabolically-obese," normalweight individual. Am J Clin Nutr. 1981 Aug;34(8):1617–21.
- 311. Phillips CM. Metabolically healthy obesity: definitions, determinants and clinical implications. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2013 Sep;14(3):219–27.
- 312. Aguilar-Salinas CA, García EG, Robles L, Riaño D, Ruiz-Gomez DG, García-Ulloa AC, et al. High adiponectin concentrations are associated with the metabolically healthy obese phenotype. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008 Oct;93(10):4075–9.
- 313. Meigs JB, Wilson PWF, Fox CS, Vasan RS, Nathan DM, Sullivan LM, et al. Body mass index, metabolic syndrome, and risk of type 2 diabetes or cardiovascular disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006 Aug;91(8):2906–12.
- 314. Karelis AD, Brochu M, Rabasa-Lhoret R. Can we identify metabolically healthy but obese individuals (MHO)? Diabetes Metab. 2004 Dec;30(6):569–72.
- 315. Wildman RP, Muntner P, Reynolds K, McGinn AP, Rajpathak S, Wylie-Rosett J, et al. The obese without cardiometabolic risk factor clustering and the normal weight with cardiometabolic risk factor clustering: prevalence and correlates of 2 phenotypes among the US population (NHANES 1999-2004). Arch Intern Med. 2008 Aug 11;168(15):1617–24.
- 316. Dervaux N, Wubuli M, Megnien J-L, Chironi G, Simon A. Comparative associations of adiposity measures with cardiometabolic risk burden in asymptomatic subjects. Atherosclerosis. 2008 Dec;201(2):413–7.
- 317. Gómez-Ambrosi J, Silva C, Galofré JC, Escalada J, Santos S, Millán D, et al. Body mass index classification misses subjects with increased cardiometabolic risk factors related to elevated adiposity. Int J Obes (Lond). 2012 Mar;36(2):286–94.
- 318. Gómez-Ambrosi J, Silva C, Galofré JC, Escalada J, Santos S, Gil MJ, et al. Body adiposity and type 2 diabetes: increased risk with a high body fat percentage even having a normal BMI. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2011 Jul;19(7):1439–44.

- 319. Flegal KM, Kit BK, Orpana H, Graubard BI. Association of all-cause mortality with overweight and obesity using standard body mass index categories: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. 2013 Jan 2;309(1):71–82.
- 320. Hamer M, Stamatakis E. Metabolically healthy obesity and risk of all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012 Jul;97(7):2482–8.
- 321. Li S, Chen W, Srinivasan SR, Xu J, Berenson GS. Relation of childhood obesity/cardiometabolic phenotypes to adult cardiometabolic profile: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Am J Epidemiol. 2012 Oct 1;176 Suppl S142–9.
- 322. Appleton SL, Seaborn CJ, Visvanathan R, Hill CL, Gill TK, Taylor AW, et al. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease outcomes in the metabolically healthy obese phenotype: a cohort study. Diabetes Care. 2013 Aug;36(8):2388–94.
- 323. Wildman RP. Healthy obesity. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2009 Jul;12(4):438–43.
- 324. O'Connell J, Lynch L, Hogan A, Cawood TJ, O'Shea D. Preadipocyte factor-1 is associated with metabolic profile in severe obesity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011 May;96(4):E680–4.
- 325. Wildman RP, Kaplan R, Manson JE, Rajkovic A, Connelly SA, Mackey RH, et al. Body size phenotypes and inflammation in the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2011 Jul;19(7):1482–91.
- 326. Alam I, Ng TP, Larbi A. Does inflammation determine whether obesity is metabolically healthy or unhealthy? The aging perspective. Mediators Inflamm. 2012 Jan;2012:456456.
- 327. Marques-Vidal P, Velho S, Waterworth D, Waeber G, von Känel R, Vollenweider P. The association between inflammatory biomarkers and metabolically healthy obesity depends of the definition used. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2012 May;66(4):426–35.
- 328. Koster A, Stenholm S, Alley DE, Kim LJ, Simonsick EM, Kanaya AM, et al. Body fat distribution and inflammation among obese older adults with and without metabolic syndrome. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2010 Dec;18(12):2354–61.
- 329. Doumatey AP, Bentley AR, Zhou J, Huang H, Adeyemo A, Rotimi CN. Paradoxical Hyperadiponectinemia is Associated With the Metabolically Healthy Obese (MHO) Phenotype in African Americans. J Endocrinol Metab. 2012 May 1;2(2):51–65.
- 330. Asterholm IW, Scherer PE. Enhanced metabolic flexibility associated with elevated adiponectin levels. Am J Pathol. 2010 Mar;176(3):1364–76.

- 331. Phillips CM, Perry IJ. Does inflammation determine metabolic health status in obese and nonobese adults? J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013 Oct;98(10):E1610–9.
- 332. Goldstein DJ. Beneficial health effects of modest weight loss. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1992 Jul;16(6):397–415.
- 333. Clinical guidelines on the identification, evaluation, and treatment of overweight and obesity in adults [Internet]. [cited 2014 Mar 31]. Available from: http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/guidelines/obesity/ob_gdlns.pdf
- 334. Abeles D, Shikora SA. nd future directions.Bariatric surgery: current concepts a. Aesthet Surg J. 2008 Jan 1;28(1):79–84.
- 335. Buchwald H, Oien DM. Metabolic/bariatric surgery Worldwide 2008. Obes Surg. 2009 Dec;19(12):1605–11.
- 336. Marceau P, Biron S, Hould F-S, Lebel S, Marceau S, Lescelleur O, et al. Duodenal switch: long-term results. Obes Surg. 2007 Nov;17(11):1421–30.
- 337. Van Hee RHGG. Biliopancreatic diversion in the surgical treatment of morbid obesity. World J Surg. 2004 May;28(5):435–44.
- 338. Valverde I, Puente J, Martín-Duce A, Molina L, Lozano O, Sancho V, et al. Changes in glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) secretion after biliopancreatic diversion or vertical banded gastroplasty in obese subjects. Obes Surg. 2005 Mar;15(3):387–97.
- 339. Scopinaro N, Marinari GM, Pretolesi F, Papadia F, Murelli F, Marini P, et al. Energy and nitrogen absorption after biliopancreatic diversion. Obes Surg. 2000 Oct;10(5):436–41.
- 340. Tataranni PA, Mingrone G, Raguso CA, De Gaetano A, Tacchino RM, Castagneto M, et al. Twenty-four-hour energy and nutrient balance in weight stable postobese patients after biliopancreatic diversion. Nutrition. 1996 May;12(4):239–44.
- Sarson DL, Scopinaro N, Bloom SR. Gut hormone changes after jejunoileal (JIB) or biliopancreatic (BPB) bypass surgery for morbid obesity. Int J Obes. 1981 Jan;5(5):471–80.
- 342. Patriti A, Facchiano E, Sanna A, Gullà N, Donini A. The enteroinsular axis and the recovery from type 2 diabetes after bariatric surgery. Obes Surg. 14(6):840–8.
- 343. Faraj M, Havel PJ, Phélis S, Blank D, Sniderman AD, Cianflone K. Plasma acylation-stimulating protein, adiponectin, leptin, and ghrelin before and after weight loss induced by gastric bypass surgery in morbidly obese subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003 Apr;88(4):1594–602.

- 344. Kotidis E V, Koliakos GG, Baltzopoulos VG, Ioannidis KN, Yovos JG, Papavramidis ST. Serum ghrelin, leptin and adiponectin levels before and after weight loss: comparison of three methods of treatment--a prospective study. Obes Surg. 2006 Dec;16(11):1425–32.
- 345. Sjöström L. Review of the key results from the Swedish Obese Subjects (SOS) trial a prospective controlled intervention study of bariatric surgery. J Intern Med. 2013 Mar;273(3):219–34.
- 346. Buchwald H, Oien DM. Metabolic/bariatric surgery worldwide 2011. Obes Surg. 2013 Apr;23(4):427–36.
- 347. Sartorio A, Maffiuletti NA, Agosti F, Lafortuna CL. Gender-related changes in body composition, muscle strength and power output after a short-term multidisciplinary weight loss intervention in morbid obesity. J Endocrinol Invest. 2005 Jul;28(6):494– 501.
- 348. Tymitz K, Kerlakian G, Engel A, Bollmer C. Gender differences in early outcomes following hand-assisted laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery : gender differences in bariatric surgery. Obes Surg. 2007 Dec;17(12):1588–91.
- 349. Janssen I, Ross R. Effects of sex on the change in visceral, subcutaneous adipose tissue and skeletal muscle in response to weight loss. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1999 Oct;23(10):1035–46.
- Shi H, Strader AD, Woods SC, Seeley RJ. Sexually dimorphic responses to fat loss after caloric restriction or surgical lipectomy. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2007 Jul;293(1):E316–26.
- 351. Park HS, Lee K-U. Postmenopausal women lose less visceral adipose tissue during a weight reduction program. Menopause. 10(3):222–7.
- 352. Ma Y, Bertone ER, Stanek EJ, Reed GW, Hebert JR, Cohen NL, et al. Association between eating patterns and obesity in a free-living US adult population. Am J Epidemiol. 2003 Jul 1;158(1):85–92.
- 353. Drummond SE, Crombie NE, Cursiter MC, Kirk TR. Evidence that eating frequency is inversely related to body weight status in male, but not female, non-obese adults reporting valid dietary intakes. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1998 Mar;22(2):105– 12.
- 354. Westerterp-Plantenga MS, Goris AHC, Meijer EP, Westerterp KR. Habitual meal frequency in relation to resting and activity-induced energy expenditure in human subjects: the role of fat-free mass. Br J Nutr. 2003 Oct;90(3):643–9.

- 355. Perreault L, Ma Y, Dagogo-Jack S, Horton E, Marrero D, Crandall J, et al. Sex differences in diabetes risk and the effect of intensive lifestyle modification in the Diabetes Prevention Program. Diabetes Care. 2008 Jul;31(7):1416–21.
- 356. Berrahmoune H, Herbeth B, Samara A, Marteau J-B, Siest G, Visvikis-Siest S. Fiveyear alterations in BMI are associated with clustering of changes in cardiovascular risk factors in a gender-dependant way: the Stanislas study. Int J Obes (Lond). 2008 Aug;32(8):1279–88.
- 357. Cheal KL, Abbasi F, Lamendola C, McLaughlin T, Reaven GM, Ford ES. Relationship to insulin resistance of the adult treatment panel III diagnostic criteria for identification of the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes. 2004 May;53(5):1195–200.
- 358. O'Rourke RW. Molecular mechanisms of obesity and diabetes: at the intersection of weight regulation, inflammation, and glucose homeostasis. World J Surg. 2009 Oct;33(10):2007–13.
- 359. Laclaustra M, Corella D, Ordovas JM. Metabolic syndrome pathophysiology: the role of adipose tissue. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2007 Mar;17(2):125–39.
- 360. Kolovou GD, Anagnostopoulou KK, Pavlidis AN, Salpea KD, Iraklianou SA, Tsarpalis K, et al. Postprandial lipemia in men with metabolic syndrome, hypertensives and healthy subjects. Lipids Health Dis. 2005 Jan;4:21.
- 361. Avramoglu RK, Basciano H, Adeli K. Lipid and lipoprotein dysregulation in insulin resistant states. Clin Chim Acta. 2006 Jun;368(1-2):1–19.
- 362. Meijer K, de Vries M, Al-Lahham S, Bruinenberg M, Weening D, Dijkstra M, et al. Human primary adipocytes exhibit immune cell function: adipocytes prime inflammation independent of macrophages. PLoS One. 2011 Jan;6(3):e17154.
- 363. Chiu S, Sievenpiper JL, de Souza RJ, Cozma AI, Mirrahimi A, Carleton AJ, et al. Effect of fructose on markers of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD): a systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled feeding trials. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2014 Apr;68(4):416–23.
- 364. Banks WA, Coon AB, Robinson SM, Moinuddin A, Shultz JM, Nakaoke R, et al. Triglycerides induce leptin resistance at the blood-brain barrier. Diabetes. 2004 May;53(5):1253–60.
- 365. Townsend KL, Lorenzi MM, Widmaier EP. High-fat diet-induced changes in body mass and hypothalamic gene expression in wild-type and leptin-deficient mice. Endocrine. 2008 Apr;33(2):176–88.
- 366. Koch CE, Lowe C, Pretz D, Steger J, Williams LM, Tups a. High-fat diet induces leptin resistance in leptin-deficient mice. J Neuroendocrinol. 2014 Feb;26(2):58–67.

- 367. Havel PJ, Townsend R, Chaump L, Teff K. High-fat meals reduce 24-h circulating leptin concentrations in women. Diabetes. 1999 Mar;48(2):334–41.
- 368. Keung W, Palaniyappan A, Lopaschuk GD. Chronic central leptin decreases food intake and improves glucose tolerance in diet-induced obese mice independent of hypothalamic malonyl CoA levels and skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity. Endocrinology. 2011 Nov;152(11):4127–37.
- 369. Mueller WM, Gregoire FM, Stanhope KL, Mobbs C V, Mizuno TM, Warden CH, et al. Evidence that glucose metabolism regulates leptin secretion from cultured rat adipocytes. Endocrinology. 1998 Mar;139(2):551–8.
- 370. Wellhoener P, Fruehwald-Schultes B, Kern W, Dantz D, Kerner W, Born J, et al. Glucose metabolism rather than insulin is a main determinant of leptin secretion in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000 Mar;85(3):1267–71.
- 371. Guo R, Zhang Y, Turdi S, Ren J. Adiponectin knockout accentuates high fat dietinduced obesity and cardiac dysfunction: role of autophagy. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2013 Aug;1832(8):1136–48.
- 372. Ma Y, Liu D. Hydrodynamic delivery of adiponectin and adiponectin receptor 2 gene blocks high-fat diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance. Gene Ther. 2013 Aug;20(8):846–52.
- 373. Aprahamian TR. Elevated adiponectin expression promotes adipose tissue vascularity under conditions of diet-induced obesity. Metabolism. 2013 Dec;62(12):1730-8.
- 374. Enns JE, Hanke D, Park A, Zahradka P, Taylor CG. Diets high in monounsaturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids decrease fatty acid synthase protein levels in adipose tissue but do not alter other markers of adipose function and inflammation in diet-induced obese rats. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids. 90(2-3):77–84.
- 375. Bremer AA, Stanhope KL, Graham JL, Cummings BP, Wang W, Saville BR, et al. Fructose-fed rhesus monkeys: a nonhuman primate model of insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome, and type 2 diabetes. Clin Transl Sci. 2011 Aug;4(4):243–52.
- 376. Lee B, Shao J. Adiponectin and energy homeostasis. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2013 Oct 30;
- 377. Fisette A, Poursharifi P, Oikonomopoulou K, Munkonda MN, Lapointe M, Cianflone K. Paradoxical glucose-sensitizing yet proinflammatory effects of acute ASP administration in mice. Mediators Inflamm. 2013 Jan;2013:713284.
- 378. Munkonda MN, Lapointe M, Miegueu P, Roy C, Gauvreau D, Richard D, et al. Recombinant acylation stimulating protein administration to C3-/- mice increases

insulin resistance via adipocyte inflammatory mechanisms. PLoS One. 2012 Jan;7(10):e46883.

- 379. Tsatsoulis A, Mantzaris MD, Bellou S, Andrikoula M. Insulin resistance: an adaptive mechanism becomes maladaptive in the current environment an evolutionary perspective. Metabolism. Elsevier Inc.; 2013 May;62(5):622–33.
- 380. Stanhope KL, Schwarz JM, Keim NL, Griffen SC, Bremer AA, Graham JL, et al. Consuming fructose-sweetened, not glucose-sweetened, beverages increases visceral adiposity and lipids and decreases insulin sensitivity in overweight/obese humans. J Clin Invest. 2009 May;119(5):1322–34.
- 381. Wang L, Yu J, Walzem RL. High-carbohydrate diets affect the size and composition of plasma lipoproteins in hamsters (Mesocricetus auratus). Comp Med. 2008 May;58(2):151–60.
- 382. Taghibiglou C, Carpentier A, Van Iderstine SC, Chen B, Rudy D, Aiton A, et al. Mechanisms of hepatic very low density lipoprotein overproduction in insulin resistance. Evidence for enhanced lipoprotein assembly, reduced intracellular ApoB degradation, and increased microsomal triglyceride transfer protein in a fructose-fed hamster m. J Biol Chem. 2000 Mar 24;275(12):8416–25.
- 383. Maslowska M, Scantlebury T, Germinario R, Cianflone K. Acute in vitro production of acylation stimulating protein in differentiated human adipocytes. J Lipid Res. 1997 Jan;38(1):1–11.
- 384. Fujita T, Fujioka T, Murakami T, Satomura A, Fuke Y, Matsumoto K. Chylomicron accelerates C3 tick-over by regulating the role of factor H, leading to overproduction of acylation stimulating protein. J Clin Lab Anal. 2007 Jan;21(1):14–23.
- 385. Stanhope KL, Havel PJ. Fructose consumption: considerations for future research on its effects on adipose distribution, lipid metabolism, and insulin sensitivity in humans. J Nutr. 2009 Jul;139(6):1236S-1241S.
- Maslowska MH, Sniderman AD, MacLean LD, Cianflone K. Regional differences in triacylglycerol synthesis in adipose tissue and in cultured preadipocytes. J Lipid Res. 1993 Mar;34(2):219–28.
- 387. Saleh J, Al-Wardy N, Farhan H, Al-Khanbashi M, Cianflone K. Acylation stimulating protein: a female lipogenic factor? Obes Rev. 2011 Jun;12(6):440–8.
- 388. Saleh J, Christou N, Cianflone K. Regional specificity of ASP binding in human adipose tissue. Am J Physiol. 1999 May;276(5 Pt 1):E815–21.

- 389. Dusserre E, Moulin P, Vidal H. Differences in mRNA expression of the proteins secreted by the adipocytes in human subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissues. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2000 Jan 3;1500(1):88–96.
- 390. Muscari A, Massarelli G, Bastagli L, Poggiopollini G, Tomassetti V, Volta U, et al. Relationship between serum C3 levels and traditional risk factors for myocardial infarction. Acta Cardiol. 1998 Jan;53(6):345–54.
- 391. Saleh J, Al-Khanbashi M, Al-Maarof M, Al-Lawati M, Rizvi SG, Cianflone K. Acylation-stimulating protein increases and correlates with increased progesterone levels during the luteal phase of the menstrual cycle. Eur J Endocrinol. 2009 Feb;160(2):301–7.
- 392. Sodowski K, Zwirska-Korczala K, Kuka D, Kukla M, Budziszewska P, Zebaty A, et al. Acylation stimulating protein is associated with pregnancy weight gain. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2008 Oct;59 Suppl 4:33–43.
- 393. Saleh J, Cianflone K, Chaudhary T, Al-Riyami H, Al-Abri A-R, Bayoumi R. Increased plasma acylation-stimulating protein correlates with hyperlipidemia at late gestation. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2007 Mar;15(3):646–52.
- 394. Devi K, Malleshappa K, Jeyalakshmi L. Association of acylation stimulating protein with endogenous sex hormones & lipid profile during menstrual cycle. Indian J Physiol Pharmacol. 2012;56(2):147–53.
- 395. Hasty LA, Brockman WW, Lambris JD, Lyttle CR. Hormonal regulation of complement factor B in human endometrium. Am J Reprod Immunol. 30(2-3):63–7.
- 396. Wen Y, Wang H, MacLaren R, Lu H, Hu X-F, Cianflone K. Sex steroid hormones induce acylation stimulating protein resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. J Cell Biochem. 2008 Oct 1;105(2):404–13.
- 397. Jovanovic L, Knopp RH, Brown Z, Conley MR, Park E, Mills JL, et al. Declining insulin requirement in the late first trimester of diabetic pregnancy. Diabetes Care. 2001 Jul;24(7):1130–6.
- 398. Oktenli C, Ozgurtas T, Dede M, Sanisoglu YS, Yenen MC, Yesilova Z, et al. Metformin decreases circulating acylation-stimulating protein levels in polycystic ovary syndrome. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2007 Dec;23(12):710–5.
- 399. Alemany M. Steroid hormones interrelationships in the metabolic syndrome: an introduction to the ponderostat hypothesis. Hormones (Athens). 2012;11(3):272–89.
- 400. Levin BE, Patterson CM. Exercising the obese brain: resetting the defended body weight. Endocrinology. 2005 May;146(4):1674–5.

- 401. Killinger DW, Strutt BJ, Roncari DA, Khalil MW. Estrone formation from dehydroepiandrosterone in cultured human breast adipose stromal cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 1995 Mar;52(2):195–201.
- 402. Remesar X, Fernández-López JA, Blay MT, Savall P, Salas A, Díaz-Silva M, et al. Effect of oral oleoyl-estrone on adipose tissue composition in male rats. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2002 Aug;26(8):1092–102.
- 403. Vilà R, Cabot C, Villarreal L, Monegal A, Ayet E, Romero M del M, et al. Oleoylestrone is a precursor of an estrone-derived ponderostat signal. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2011 Apr;124(3-5):99–111.
- 404. Del Mar Romero M, Fernández-López JA, Esteve M, Alemany M. Site-related white adipose tissue lipid-handling response to oleoyl-estrone treatment in overweight male rats. Eur J Nutr. 2009 Aug;48(5):291–9.
- 405. Blay M, Peinado-Onsurbe J, Grasa MM, Díaz-Silva M, Fernandez-López JA, Remesar X, et al. Effect of oral oleoyl-estrone treatment on plasma lipoproteins and tissue lipase activities of Zucker lean and obese female rats. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2002 May;26(5):618–26.
- 406. Russell AP. Lipotoxicity: the obese and endurance-trained paradox. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2004 Dec;28 Suppl 4:S66–71.
- 407. Rittirsch D, Redl H, Huber-Lang M. Role of complement in multiorgan failure. Clin Dev Immunol. 2012 Jan;2012:962927.
- 408. Wang R, Lu B, Gerard C, Gerard NP. Disruption of the complement anaphylatoxin receptor C5L2 exacerbates inflammation in allergic contact dermatitis. J Immunol. 2013 Oct 15;191(8):4001–9.
- 409. Cianflone K, Xia Z, Chen LY. Critical review of acylation-stimulating protein physiology in humans and rodents. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2003 Jan 31;1609(2):127–43.
- 410. Palikhe A, Sinisalo J, Seppänen M, Haario H, Meri S, Valtonen V, et al. Serum complement C3/C4 ratio, a novel marker for recurrent cardiovascular events. Am J Cardiol. 2007 May 1;99(7):890–5.
- 411. Engström G, Hedblad B, Janzon L, Lindgärde F. Complement C3 and C4 in plasma and incidence of myocardial infarction and stroke: a population-based cohort study. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil. 2007 Jul;14(3):392–7.
- 412. Oksjoki R, Kovanen PT, Pentikäinen MO. Role of complement activation in atherosclerosis. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2003 Oct;14(5):477–82.

- 413. Onat A, Hergenç G, Keleş I, Doğan Y, Türkmen S, Sansoy V. Sex difference in development of diabetes and cardiovascular disease on the way from obesity and metabolic syndrome. Metabolism. 2005 Jul;54(6):800–8.
- 414. Onat A, Can G, Rezvani R, Cianflone K. Complement C3 and cleavage products in cardiometabolic risk. Clin Chim Acta. 2011 Jun 11;412(13-14):1171–9.
- 415. Yasuda M, Takeuchi K, Hiruma M, Iida H, Tahara A, Itagane H, et al. The complement system in ischemic heart disease. Circulation. 1990 Jan;81(1):156–63.
- 416. Yasojima K, Schwab C, McGeer EG, McGeer PL. Generation of C-reactive protein and complement components in atherosclerotic plaques. Am J Pathol. 2001 Mar;158(3):1039–51.
- 417. Bhakdi S, Torzewski M, Klouche M, Hemmes M. Complement and atherogenesis: binding of CRP to degraded, nonoxidized LDL enhances complement activation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1999 Oct;19(10):2348–54.
- 418. Lewis RD, Perry MJ, Guschina IA, Jackson CL, Morgan BP, Hughes TR. CD55 deficiency protects against atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice via C3a modulation of lipid metabolism. Am J Pathol. 2011 Oct;179(4):1601–7.
- 419. Alipour A, Elte JWF, van Zaanen HCT, Rietveld AP, Cabezas MC. Postprandial inflammation and endothelial dysfuction. Biochem Soc Trans. 2007 Jul;35(Pt 3):466–9.
- 420. Zarkadis IK, Mastellos D, Lambris JD. Phylogenetic aspects of the complement system. Dev Comp Immunol. 25(8-9):745–62.
- 421. Smith JD, Cianflone K, Dewailly E, Château-Degat M-L, Vohl M-C, Julien P. Acylation stimulating protein is higher in Inuit from Nunavik compared to a southern Quebec population. Int J Circumpolar Health. 2009 Dec;68(5):421–32.
- 422. Virtue S, Vidal-Puig A. It's not how fat you are, it's what you do with it that counts. PLoS Biol. 2008 Sep 23;6(9):e237.
- 423. Corbould A. Chronic testosterone treatment induces selective insulin resistance in subcutaneous adipocytes of women. J Endocrinol. 2007 Mar;192(3):585–94.
- 424. Muraki K, Okuya S, Tanizawa Y. Estrogen receptor alpha regulates insulin sensitivity through IRS-1 tyrosine phosphorylation in mature 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Endocr J. 2006 Dec;53(6):841–51.
- 425. Moreno M, Ordoñez P, Alonso A, Díaz F, Tolivia J, González C. Chronic 17betaestradiol treatment improves skeletal muscle insulin signaling pathway components in insulin resistance associated with aging. Age (Dordr). 2010 Mar;32(1):1–13.

- 426. Arterburn DE, Campos GM, Haneuse S, Sherwood NE, Bogart A, Sidney S, et al. The authors respond: a multisite study of long-term remission and relapse of type 2 diabetes mellitus following gastric bypass. Obes Surg. 2013 Sep;23(9):1456–7.
- 427. Swarbrick MM, Stanhope KL, Austrheim-Smith IT, Van Loan MD, Ali MR, Wolfe BM, et al. Longitudinal changes in pancreatic and adipocyte hormones following Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery. Diabetologia. 2008 Oct;51(10):1901–11.
- 428. Munkonda MN, Martin J, Poirier P, Carrington A, Biron S, Lebel S, et al. Acylation stimulating protein reduction precedes insulin sensitization after BPD-DS bariatric surgery in severely obese women. Nutr Diabetes. 2012 Jan;2:e41.
- Lee W-J, Chong K, Chen J-C, Ser K-H, Lee Y-C, Tsou J-J, et al. Predictors of diabetes remission after bariatric surgery in Asia. Asian J Surg. 2012 Apr;35(2):67– 73.
- 430. Nannipieri M, Baldi S, Mari A, Colligiani D, Guarino D, Camastra S, et al. Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy: mechanisms of diabetes remission and role of gut hormones. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013 Nov;98(11):4391–9.
- 431. Lee W-J, Chong K, Ser K-H, Chen J-C, Lee Y-C, Chen S-C, et al. C-peptide predicts the remission of type 2 diabetes after bariatric surgery. Obes Surg. 2012 Feb;22(2):293–8.